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Introduction

In this report, references to 'company’ or ‘United Utilities’ are to United Utilities PLC,
either alone or together with its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.
References to ‘group’ are to United Ultilities PLC together with its consolidated
subsiciaries. Beferences ta 'United Utitities Blectricity’ are to United Utilities Electricity
PLC. to “Your Communications’ are to Your Communications Group Limited and
subsidiaries, to ‘Eurocall’ are to Eurocall Holdings Limited and subsidiaries, to ‘United
Utilities Coniract Solutians’ are to United Utilities Contract Solutions Holdings Limited
and subsidiaries, to ‘United Utifities Industyial’ are to United Utilities Industrial Limited
and subsidiaries, to ‘United Utilities Networks™ are to United Utilities Networks
Lirnitedt and, up until 31 March 2003, the metering and connections activities of
United Utilities Water and United Utilities Electricity, to ‘United Utilities Customer
Sales’ are to United Utilities Customer Sales Limited and the customer relationship
activities of United Utilities Waler, to ‘United Utifities North West' are to United
Utilities North West PLC and to the asset management activities of the wastewater,
water and electricity network assets owned by United Utilities Water and United
Utilities Electricity, to *United Utilities Water are to United Utilities Water PLC, and
10 Wertex’ are 10 Vertex Data Science Limited which are all wholly owned subsidiaries
of the company.

References are also made to specific terms which bear the following meanings:
- ‘Megawatt’ (MW) - & megawatt is a unit of power equal 1o one million watls.

- 'Gigawatt’ {GW) - a gigawatt is a unit of power equal to one billion (one
thousand million} watts.

1

‘Gigawatt-hour' (GWh} - one gigawatt-hour represents one hour of electricity
consumption at a constant rate of TGW.

~ *Kilowatt’ (kW) - a kitowatt is a unit of power equal {0 one thousand watts,
— ‘Kilovolt' (kV) — a kilovolt is a unit of electricai potential equal to 1000 volts.
- ‘Megalitre’ (M} - one megalitre equais one miilion litres.

- ‘Microgram’ {ug) - a microgram is one rillionth of a gram.

The company’s registered office is tocated at Dawson House, Great Sankey,
Warringion, WAS 3LW, England and its telephone number is +44 (0)1925 237000.
The web site address is www.unitedutilities.com.

The company’s financial year ends on 31 March of each year. Unless the context
otherwise requires, references In this report to *financial year' or to a particutar year
{e.g. 2004/05) are to the 12 manths ended on 31 March of that year. Unless otherwise
indicated, the financiat information contained in this report has been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom
(UK GAAP}. Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements (pages 85 to 92)
contains reconciliations from UK GAAP of net income, shareholders’ equity and

the company's financial position to accounting principies generally accepted in the
United States of America {US GAAP). Unless otherwise indicated, a reference in this
report 1o ‘consolidated financial statements' is to the audited consolidated financial
staterments of the company (together with accompanying notes) prapared at the end
of each financial year. Unless otherwise indicated, financial information for the group
included in this report is presented on a consolidated basis and references 10
furnover' (revenue} with respect o a business segment are to the gross turnover

of such a segment {i.2. including share of joint ventures).

This is the report and accounts and Form 20-F of United Utifities PLC for the financial
year ended 31 March 2005. it contains the annual report and accounts in accordance
with UK generally accepted accounting principles and regulations and a reconciliation
to US generally accepted accounting pringiples, This document also incorporates

the annuat report on Form 20-F as required by the US Securities and Exchange
Commission {the *SEC"), however the docutnent filed with the SEC may be
supplemented with further information or amended if necessary.
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Financial highlights

2005 2004 2303
£2368.2m £231155m  £1,920.5m

Total operating profit {before goodwil
and exceptionat iterms)id £€91.8m £RO7.4m £561.7m

Total operating profit £645.9m £583.7m £524.9m
Profit before tax (before goodwil

and exceptional items)i® £407.7m £349.0m

Proft before tax £370.4m  £337.5m

Basic earnings per shargl? T 46.8p 54.5

Adjusted basic earnings per 'shareﬁl ) 61.4p 54.2p 55.5D
Dwidend per ordinary share 45.42p 44.31p £7.6p
Dividerd per Ashare 271p  22.156p N/A
Re-tresented dividend per ardinary sharels) 45.42p 4431p 43.180
Net debt T ea141Am  £34334m  £3.373.9m
Equity shareholders’ funds £31174m £30838m  £2.533.6m
Gearingn &67% 53% 57%
interest cover® 2.4 24 2.4
Dividend cover® T R 1.2 1.0
Notes:

{1 Turnover includes the groug's share of joint ventures’ tumover.

12)  Total operating profit (pefore goodwil and excaptional items) as shown on the face of the consolidated profit
and loss account is reconciied to lotal operating profit on page 15.

3] Prafit befare tax efare goodwil and excaptional items} as shown on the face of the consolidated profit and
loss account is reconciled to profit before tax on page 13

(4} Basic earnings per share has been restated for all penods rior to the rights issug using an adjustmant factor
based on the cansideralion received from the first stage of the rights issue.

{8 Adjusled basic eamings per shafe excludes deferred taxalion. exceptional tems and goothwill amartisation
and has been restated for all periods prior 1o the righls issue using an adjusiment factor based on the
congderation recelved from the first stage of the rights issue and assumed praceeds from the second stage.
which are duis 10 be received in June 2005,

i) Dividend per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2003 has been re-presented for comparative
purposes 1o take account of the honus glement of the first stage of the rights issue.

{fy  Gearing is measured as net cebt divided by total capital employed. Total capital employed s eguity
shareholders' tunds plus net debt.

@) (nferest cover is the number of times the interest charge is covered by total operating profit before guodwil
amortisation and exceptional items.

{©)  Dividend covet is calculated by dividing frofit for the year befare geodwill armorisation and exceptional itarms
by the dividerf charge.

Tris page has been exciuded from our Form 20-F fling with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Chairman’s review

1)

Strong results, which
demonstrate the success
of the group’s strategy...

29

Performance

{ am pleased to report ancther strong set of results. Turmnover
{including share of joint ventures) rose 11.9 per cent to £2,368.2
million, reflecting growth across all businesses. Total aperating
profit increased 10.7 per cent to £645.9 miflion compared with
last year. This increase reflects improved operating profits™ in
licensed multi-utility operations, infrastructure management and
business process outsourcing, and reduced operating losses™ in
{efecommunications.

Dividend

These results further demonstrate the success of our strategy, fo
improve the efficiency of our regulated businesses and to achieve
growth in our support services businesses. In line with our target
to maintain dividends in real terms, the board is propesing to
increase the final dividend by 2.5 per cent. Subject to
shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting, the final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2005 of 30.63 pence per
ordinary sharve and 15.315 pence per A share will be paid on 26
August 2005 to shareholders an the register at the close of
business on 10 June 2005,

People

We were pleased to welcome David Jones and Nick Salmon to
the board as non-executive directors eanrier this year. Much of
David's career has been spent in the utility sector, latterly as chief
executive of National Grid. Nick is currently chief executive of
Cookson Group e and has considerable experience of the
energy infrastructure sector. With their respective backgreunds, |
have no doubt that both will add 1o the quality of board debate.

In addition, it was particularly pleasing to welcome Tom Drury as
an executive director. Tom has led Vertex to become one of the
leading business process outsourcing companies in the UK and,
before that, he held cther senior management positions in the
group.

Finally, | wish to place on record the beard’s sincere thanks 1o
John Seed who will retire at the next annual general meeting,
having completed three thres-year terms of office. In particular,
John has ably chaired the remuneration committee for many
years and his experience and sound judgement wilt be greatly
missed

by his board colleagues.

2 United Utilities Annual Report & Accounts 2005
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Looking forward

Looking to the future, and following the conclusion of our
regulatory reviews, the board has set a target of maintaining
dividends in real terms over the next five years. This target is
dependent upon the group's regulated business at least meeting
its cost savings targets, and its non-regulated businesses
continuing to perform at least in line with current levels.

On behalf of the board, | want 1o acknowledge and thank all cur
staff for their commitment and hard work in achieving these
results.

st

Sir Richard Evans
Chairman

™ Operating profitioss is defined a5 fotal aperating profit before goodwill amorisation
and exceptional items for a segment as shown In the segmenrtai analysis by class of
business in nate 2 of the 4 financial st s,




Operating and financial review
Chief executive's overview

oo

Progress in our support
services businesses has
been excellent...

b

Business performance

This set of results is a further milestone in the implamentation of
our strategy, which we put in place over five years ago. Progress
in our support services businesses has been excallent, We have
now established United Utilities Contract Solutions as the UK's
leading utility infrastructure putsourcing business, and Vertex as
the third largest business process outsourcing company in the
country.

In addition to good profit growth in our licensed multi-utility
operations business, we accepted the final price determinations
for both our water and electricity businesses in December,
Although the efficiency targets set are demanding, the final
proposals allow almost £350 million mare revenue than the initial
draft determinations, reflecting welcome movement on the part of
the regulators in response to our representations. Having made
preparations in advance of receiving these proposals, we have
plans in place

which we believe meet the challenges set for us.

The second stage of owr rights issue, which is due later this
manth, will make an important contribution to the funding of

our regulated capital investment programmes over the 2005-10
period. in addition to the £2.9 billion programme that was set
out in its fina! determination, United Utilities Water is expecting
to spend approximately another £200 million as a result of carry-
over of obligations funded during the previous regulatory period.
Furthermore, we estimate that there is potential for up to
approximately £500 million of additional investment relating to
projects that were not part of our regulatory contract for 2005-10,
inciuding United Utilities Electricity’s £640 million investment
programme, our regulated businesses could be required to spend
over £4 billion on capital investment over the next five years.

QOur non-regulated businesses now cantribute over 40 per cent of
the growp's external revenues and for the first time have generated
more than £160 million of operating profit** in a single year. During
the past 12 months, they have also secured a number of
substantial new contracts with an expected total value of around
£3.3 billion.

Recent significant deals include a 15-year £1.,5 billion contract
renewal with Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, and a five-year cantract
win with Southem Water, which is worth around £750 million to
the consortium in which we are a major partner. Including our
own operations in the north west of England and our ongoing
coniract 1o manage Scottish Water's capital investiment
programme, United Utilities is involved in the operation or
management of assets for four water companies in the United
Kingdom, representing around 35 per cent of the indugtry’s asset
base. This means we can target significant economies of scale,
particularly through the procurement of materials and services

Copy of ULAR_02-14 for C House.qxd 15/07/2005 13:59 Pag%

and the transfer of best operational practice between the group
and its partners. .

Having recently signed ar eight-year £1.1 billion contrast

1o operate the north of England gas distribution network, the
contract successfully commenced on 1 June, with arcund 1,100
employees transferring from National Grid Transco fo United
Utilities. The network of around 36,000km provides gas 1o more
than six million people across the region.

During May, Vertex completed the acquisition of Marlborough
Stirfing, a provider of cutsourcing services and technology to
clients in the financial services sector, to give Verlex an entry
point into

this market. We believe that Marlborough Stirling has significant
untapped potential that can be unlocked by combining its sector-
specific knowledge with Vertex’s expertise in business process
outsourcing. We have identified immediate opportunities to
deliver efficiencies of arcund £6 million per annum, on a full-year
basis, from the acquisition, mainly derived from a reduction in
central overheads.

Despite difficult market conditions, our telecommunications
business, Your Communications, substantially reduced operating
losses™ in the year and achieved break-even™ in the second
haif of the year. Qur strategy for Your Communications remains
unchanged. We are continuing to develop the business with a
view o its disposal when shareholder value can be maximised.

Qutiook

With prices in our water and electricity businesses now fixed for
the 2005-10 period, and with plans in place which we believe will
meet our operating and capital efficiency targets, our regulated
businesses benefit from some of the maost predictable index-
linked income streams over the next five years.

Growth in earnings from our licensed multi-utility operations
business is complemented by growth in our non-requlated
activities. Having recently secured substantial new long-term
contract wins with public and utility secter clients, United Utilities
Contract Solutions and Vertex have excellent prospects for the
future. Locking farward, public sector outsourcing potential looks
promising, offering good further growth prospects for qur support
services businesses in the medium term.

ol @o@;k

John Robets
Chief executive

United Utilities Annual Report & Accounts 2005
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Operating and financial review
Business description

UNITED UTILITIES PLC

United Utitities PLC is a public limited company registered in
England and Wales. its multi-uiility operations, comprising United
Utilities Water PLC and United Utilities Electricity PLC, provide
wastewater and water services and efectricity distribution services,
respectively, to a population of some seven milion psople in narth
west England. The group's infrastructure management business,
United Utilities Contract Solutions, appiies the group's infrastructure
management expertise 1o competitive markets and is now the
leading utility outsourcing business in the United Kingdom. Vertex is
one of the United Kingdom’s iargest providers of business process
outsourcing, managing, and often transforming, the processes
which support a client's business. United Utilities aiso owns a
telecormmunications business through its subsidiary Your
Communications, which operates in the United Kingdom.

United Utilities' strateqy is to:

+ out-perform its new reguiatory contracts (effective 1 April 2005)
pursuant to which the group operates the wastewater, water and
electricity distribution networks;

* grow ifs two support services businesses, United Utilities
Contract Solutions and Vertex, by applying its core skills of
infrastructure management and business process management in
the provigion of these services to others. Through the expansion
of these suppcert services businesses, both organicaily and
through acquisition, the businesses now operate in overseas
markets including ceniral and eastern Europe, the Philippines,
United States of America, Ganada and Australiz; and

» United Utilities intends tc continue to develop Your
Communications with a view 1o its disposal when sharehoider
value can be maximised.

Table 1; Business overview

United Utilities PLC was incorporated on 1 April 1982 under the
Companies Act 1985 along with its subsidiary United Utilities Water
PLC. In November 1895, the company acquired United Utilities
Electricity PLC {then known as NORWEB plc), the distributor of
electricity in north west England, and at that time supplier of
glectricity and gas in the United Kingdorm, to form & miulti-utility
group. In August 2000, the company sold the electricity and gas
supply business, and, as a result, no longer has any significant
exposure to the competitive generation and energy supply markst.

United Utilities PLC’s shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange
and, in the form of ADSs, on the New York Stock Exchange. its
registered office is at Dawson House, Great Sankey, Warrington,
Cheshire, WAS 3LW, England. The telephone number is +44 Q) 1925
237000.

Qrganisational structure
Adlist of all principal operating subsidiary undertakings is contained
in note 14 to the consclidated financial staterents on page 70.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The group reports its results through four business segments.
References to segmental operating profit/loss are defined as the
total operating profit befora goodwill amertisation and exceptional
iterns” for a segment as shown in note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements. Total operating profit before goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items™ is reconciied to tofal operating
profit in table 4 ot page 185.

* Sge discussion on page 15.

Turnover Segmental operating profil Net operating assets

per cent of per cent of per cent of

Financial year ended 31 March 2005 £m group £m group £m group
Licensed mutti-utility operations 1,384.7 54,2 587.9 85.0 7.838.4 94.3

Licensed muiti-utility operations comprise the regulated monopoly activities of United Litilities Water (wastewater and water) and United
Utilities Electricity (electricity distribution). These companies own the respective infrastructure network assets representing around 94 per
cent of the group’s net operating assets at 31 March 2005. The businesses are capital intensive and are subject to both economic and
environmental regulation. These businesses generate 85 per cent of the group’s total operating profit before goodwill amortisation and
exceptional items*, of which approximately three quarters is derived from wastewaier and water and approximately one quarter from

efectricity distribution.
543.1

21.2 79.2 11.4 127.6 1.6

|
|
‘ ; infrastructure management
|

United Utitities Contract Solutions applies the group’s infrastructure management expertise ta other competitive markets, by providing a
senvice 1o clients in managing their infrastructure assets. In addition, it cwns the group's interest in non-regulated ulility assets. These
activities employ only a limited ameunt of capital, representing 1.5 per cent of the group’s net operating assets at 31 March 2005,

Business progess autsaurcing 3596.4

18.5 264 3.8 155.5 1.9

Vertex is one of the UK's largest providers of business process outsourcing services. It seeks to expleit United Utilities' business process
management skills by providing a service to manage its clients’ customers in accordance with its contract. These activities employ cnly &
fimited amount of capital, representing 1.9 per cent of the group’s net operating assets at 31 March 2C05.

Telecommunications 2338

9.1 5.1) ©.7) 236.8 2.8

Your Communications is a medium-sized alternative telecommunications provider with a dense network in the north of England,
complemented by a lean national network. it provides voice, basic and advanced data communication services to the public sector, and
small and medium-sized corporate customers, predominantly in central and northern England. Construction of the network infrastructure
is now complete. These activities employ only a limited amount of capital, representing 2.8 per cent of the group’s net cperating assets

at 31 March 2005.

Note: Financial data for the ysar ended 2005 has bsen extracted from note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, using 1he definitions sel out therein. Fuli analysis for the last three years
is contained within the note. Percantages ate calculated based on the gross totals disclosed in nete 2. In the abovs table, segmenial oparating profit as a percentage of group operating profit is
calculated basad on sagmental operating profitioss divided by total opsrating profit befora goodwill amortisalion and exceptional iterms*. Turnaver and percentags of group turnaver include

‘ : turnover from joint veniures and are stated before inler-business eliminalions.
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LICENSED MULTI-UTILITY OPERATIONS

United Utilities North YWest manages the operation of the licensed
wastewater and water network assets owned by United Utilities
Water, and the eleciricity gistribution assets owned by United
Uilities Electricity; in north west England. These businesses involve
the removal and treatment of wastewater from, and the treatment
and distribution of around 2.2 billion litres of water a day 10,

3.1 million homes and businesses, and the annual distribution

of approximately 25,500 GWh of slectricity to 2.2 million consumer
premises. These activities are:

o capital intensive — At privatisation in 1989, the wastewater and
water infragtructure inherited by United Utilities Water was in need
of substantial repair and replacement. Further improvernents have
been required in order o comply with applicable UK and European
Union environmental and drinking water quality regulations. Capital
expenditure relating 1o wastewater and water in the financial year
ended 31 March 2005 was £706.9 million {2004: £864.2 million,
2003: £590.6 million) with 52.5 per cent relating to the wastewater
network (including sewage sludge treatment and disposal), 38.3
per cent to the water network, and 9.2 per cent 1o quality and
efficiency. Capital expenditure for the financial year 2005 relating
to electricity distributicn was £151.8 millior {2004: £149.7 milion,
2003 £122.3 million), 21.9 per cant was load related (enabling
new connections to be made to the netwark and increasing the
amount of electricity able to be carried), 69.8 per cent was non-
load related tfor example, replacing assets due ‘0 statutory
cbligations or replacing faulty or ageing equipmert) and 8.3 per
cent was non-operational for example, information technology):

subject to economic regulation —1n general, these businesses
are monopolies and are subject to incentive-based econormic
regulation which imposes caps on increases in customer prices,
rewards efficiency and high standards of customer service and
penalises inefficiency and poor standards of customer service.
The economic reguiation of wastewater and water and the
economic regulation of elactricity distribution are described

in more detail beiow; and

subject to environmental regulations — In the five-year period
1o 31 March 2005 the group spent £1.56 billion on environmental
improvements across north west England. During the financial
year ended 31 March 2005, the group made environmental
improvements costing £399.9 million, including £194.7 million
on improving standards for wastewater and water treatment
works and £106.2 million on controlling pollution from storm-water
overflows (or unsatisfactory combined sewer outflows refered 1o
by the Environment Agency as Unsatistactory Intermitient
Discharges or ‘UiDs"). Key outputs for water included the
refurbishment of 815 kilometres of old water mains and the
replacernent of some 28,016 lead communication pipes. Water
meters were also instalied in 40,468 domestic properties under
the free meter option scheme, whereby customers ¢an have a
meter fitted free of charge and are given an opportunity to switch
to metered biling. Key outputs from the waslewater capital
investment programme included the refurbishrnent of two
wilometres of sewers, replacement of five kilometres of sewers
and the addressing of 145 UDs 10 achieve erwironmental
improverments. The environmental reguiation of wastewater and
water and the environmental regulation of electricity distribution
are described on pages 7 10 10.

The group cannot increase demand materially for its licensed multi-
utllity operations within its licensed area and, as detailed below, the
group's licensed multi-utility businesses are restricted in their ability
10 increase prices. The principal strategy for these businesses is to
contral costs and exploit the advantages of owning and operating
three wility networks with & largely common geography.

Customers, billing and debt collection

United Utilities North West places great importance on the
customner relationship activities invalved in supplying water and
related products and senvices to homes and businesses in north

west England. It manages the sales, biling, cash collection and
debt management activities and systerns for 3.1 million dormnestic
and business customers and has responsibility for improving the
quality of service and the range of services provided to these
customers. United Utilities Nortn West's am is to continually improve
the existing level of customner satisfaction, and to create value from
its customer relationships. As the Water Industry Act 1999 restricts
the ability of a licensed water utility to terminate services to
customers for non-payment, customer relationship management is
an important activity.

At present, United Utilities Neorth West supplies around 18 per cent
{by volume) of the UK large-user market (customers consuming
more than 250 megalitres of water per annurm). In the competitive
industrial market, its activities incluge on-site freatment of
wastewater and water at customers’ premises {together with
United Utilities Gontract Solutions}, and advice on controlling
leakage at customers' premiges and on the recycling of water.

It also has responsibility for rmanaging ongoing relationships

with these customers and for growing the customer base.

Wastewater collection, treatment and disposal operations

in accordance with its licence, United Utilities Water is responsible
for the collection, treatment and disposal of domestic wastewater,
wrade effiuent (non-domestic wastewater) and surface water in north
west England. Surface water, mainly from groundwater infittration
and nighway drainage, forms a major part of the wastewater

which United Utilities Water must treat. In somMe Cases, separate
sewers are provided for wastewater and surface water, s0 that
uncontaminated surface water may be piped directly to 2 watercourse.

United Utilities Water's wastewater treatrment works provide a
range of treatments. These inciude primary, secondary ang tertiary
treatment involving a variety of physical, chemical and biological
Processes. Treated liquid final effluent is discharged into rivers,
estuanies or via sea outfalls. A by-product of the treatment of
wastewater is sewage sludge. Sewage sludge is algo treated by

a range of physicat, chemical and biological processes. Currently,
arcund two thirds of the end product is recycled to agricutiural

land as a soi conditioner or used in land reclamation, and one

third is incinerated or disposed to landfill. However, due to the
government designating over 55 per cent of England as nitrate
vulnerable zones {that is, zones that aré subject to restrictions on the
armount of nitrogen that can be applied to agricuttural land), the
amount of end product that is recycled to agricultural land is fikely 10
decrease quite significantly in the short to medium term, while the
amount of end product that is incinerated is expected to increase.

Water supply operations, treatment and distribution

United Utitties Water obtains water from various sources including
reservoirs, tivers and aguifers. The majority of its reservoirs are in
the uplands of the Lake District and the Penning Hills, areas with
a higher than average rainfall. Conversely, the major population
centres it serves are in the lowlands cof Greater Manchester,
Lancashire and Cheshire. Merseyside, the other rmajor population
served by United Utllities Water, receves its water sUPplY principalty
from the River Dee and Lake Vyrmwy in north Wales. A large
proportion of water supplied by United Utilities Water flows freely
by gravity and does not need to be pumped. However, due to the
nature of the water catchments, being peaty mooriands of coal
measure strata, enhanced treatment methods are required to
ensure the water satisfies all regulatory and quality standards.

All water supplied is treated in order to meet the appropriate
standards enforced by the Drinking Water Inspectorate, the
government regulator of drinking water in England and Wales.

The type of treatment varies from disinfection onty, for some
borehole sources, o more complex processes using coagulation,
sedimentation, clarification and filtration and activated carbon
absorption for certain waters. United Utilities Water monitors water
quality by analysing sarmples regularly for both microbiological and
chemical parameters. In the calendar year 2004, the business
continued to improve quality, with 99.88 per cent of drinking water
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Operating and financial review
Business description continued

samples meeting the quality standards at customers’ taps, compared
with 99.82 per cent the previous year.

Treated water is dslivered to the end customer through a network
of large diameter trunk mains, trunk and distribution mains, service
reservoirs and water towers,

Economic regulation of wastewater and water

The UK government awarded Instruments of Appointment
{licences’) for the provision of wastewater services and water
supply in 1989, These licences continus in force for an indefinite
period, subject to potential termination rights as set out below.,
United Utilities Water helds the licence for an area of north west
England which comprises 3.1 miliion hames and businesses.

The Water Industry Act 1991 (the ‘Act’), as amended by the Water
Act 2003 (the "WA 2003"}, provides for the appeointment (by way of
licensing) of water and sewerage undertakers. Economic regulation
pursuant 1o these licences is currently the respeonsibility of the
Diractor General of Water Services (the ‘water regulator’), supported
by the Office of Water Services {'Ofwat'}. The water regulator

also exercises powers under UK competition legislation, most
significantly the Competition Act 1998 and the Enterprise Act 2002,

The WA 2003 is expected to e fully implemented by spring
2006 and is intended to promote greater water conservation and
planning for the Tuture by water companies {contributing to the
achievement of sustainable development}, revise the framework
for water abstraction and impounding, and help to build a mere
transparent regulatory environment,

The WA 2003 also aims to extend opportunities for competition

in the water industry in England and Wales, by introducing a new
framework for the licensing of water supply. Ofwat anticipates that,
froim Autumn 2005, water supply licensees will be able to provide
both retail supply {i.e. the supply of water purchased from a water
undertaker 1o an eligible custormer} and combined supply (i.e. the
introduction of water into an incumbent water company's existing
netwark for retail by the licensee to an efigible custorner], to non-
household users with an annual consumption of not less than

50 megalitres per year. A water undertaker Is obliged 1o allow a
iicensed water supplier to use its network for this purpose, subject
t¢ payment of a fee and certain conditions and rights of refusal. In
line with the new water supply licensing regime, from 1 April 2005
the threshold in the Act for an inset appeintment (whereby one
licensed undertaker repiaces another for a2 specific non-nousehold
uger) has also been reduced from 100 to 50 megalitres. United
Utilities Water had already developed and published policies which
allow other companies access to its water networks in order to
supply customers and to self-lay new water mains and service
pipes. These poiicies have been further developed to facilitate
competition in the industry under the Act and the company
welcomes the new competitive developments in this field.

The WA 2003 provides for the establishment of a regulatory board
to be known as the Water Services Regulation Authority (the ‘water
authority’) which will replace the individual Director General as the
water reguiator. It is intended that the water authority will be set

up on 1 April 2006. This brings the water industry into line with
uther regulated industries whose regulators have been moved to a
similar board structure, Appointments to the water authority will be
made by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs. This is in contrast to regulators in some states of the United
States who held public office and are required to stand for public
election, The current water regulator, Philip Fletcher, was appointed
o the post on 1 August 2000 for a fixed term of five years. The
chairman of the water authority will continue to be appointed for a
fixed term and may only be removed from his post for incapacity
or misbehaviour.

A new independent Consumer Council for Water (the ‘councii’)

will replace WaterVoice {previously the water regulators National
Customer Gounclt and the ragional Customer Service Committess).
The cauncil is expected to come into being on 1 October 2005,
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The water regulator must comply with the statutory duties set out
in the Act. He may receive guidance from the UK government in
areas such as social and envircnmental paolicy and its views on his
approach fo price sefting, and in the performance of his statutory
functions he is required to exercise judgernent. However, he is not
subject to direction about what those judgements shouid be and

is independent of government ministers. Under the Act, the water
regulator is (and the water authority will be) required o exercise
and perform his powers and duties in the manner that he considers
is best calculated to:

= further the consumer objective (to protect the interests of
consumers wherever appropriate by promoting effective
competition between persons engaged in, or in commercial
aciivities connected with, the provision of water and
Sewerage services);

* securs that the functions of a water undertaker and of &
sewerage undertaker are propenly carried out in regpect
of every area of England and Wales;

» secure that relevant undertakers are able (in particular, by
securing reasonable returns on their capital) to finance the
proper carrying out of their functions; and

* secure that the activities authorised by the licence of a licensed
water supplier and any statutory functions imposed on it in
consequence of the licence are properly carried oul.

The licences impose conditions on licensees, which the water
regulator enforces, along with licensees' principal duties uncler the
Act. Licence conditions can be modified by the water regulator,
either with the water undertaker’s agreement or following reference
to the Caompetition Commission for a decision on public interest
grounds. However, reference to the Competition Commission is
not requirect where the changes are necessary or expadient to
implement the new licensing regime for the supply of water
services to large nor-housetiold users.

United Utilities Water's licence resfricts its conduct in a number of
ways. These restrictions include prohibitions on undue preference
or discrimination between customers, restrictions on the declaration
and payment of dividends, and on cross-subsidies between United
Utifities Water and asscciated companies. United Utiities Water's
licance requires that it declares or pays dividends only in
accordance with a written dividend policy of the directors of the
company, which has been accepted by the water regulator as not
impairing its ability to finance its business. United Utiiities Water
must obtain the consent of the regulater before lending funds to
an associated company. Any other transactions between United
Utifities Waier and an associated company are required 1o be at
arm’s length. Any such transactions would underge a process

of market-testing, or invoive the associate being paid prices

no greater than the cost incurred in providing the goods and
services plus & reasonable rate of return on any capital employed.

The licence may be terminated on 25 years’ notice, with more
immediate revocation in certain specific circumstances (including,
for example, failure fo comply with an enforcement order made
by the water regulator).

The WA 2003 has also introduced financial penalties for breach

of licence conditions and other key duties to bring the industry into
iine with other regulated industries. From 1 April 2005, companies
may face a fine of up to ten per cent of turnover for breaching
ficence caonditions, standards ¢f performance or other obligations.
Turnover' is derived from the regulated activities for the preceding
regulatery year (in effect, the latest set of reguiated accounts), as
more specifically set out in the Water Industry {Deterrmination ¢f
Turnover for Penalties) Order 2005. Ofwat has published a
staterment of the policy that it intends to apply to the imposition of
any penalty and the determination of its amount. These penalties
can be appealed, on procedural grounds only, to the High Court.
The new legislation also requires water companies to disclose any
links between directors’ pay and company performance,




In practice, many regulatory issues arising between licensees and
the water regulator are settled without the need to resort to formal
proceedings. However, whera the water regulator is satisfied that a
licensee is in breach of the conditions of its licence, he has powers
1o secure compliance by means of an enforcement order. Failure
to comply with an enforcemesnt order can lead to enforcement

in gourt, payment of compensation by the licence holder to

the “injured’ party and, ultimatety, 10 revocation of the licence.
Alternatively, where actual or likely contravention of an enforcement
order {or of one of a licensee's principal statutory duties under the
Act) is so serious as to make it inappropriate for the licensee to
continue to hold its ficence, the regulator may, with the Secretary
of State'’s consent, apply to the High Court for the appointment of
a special administrator to run the company unti! arrangements can
be made for a new company to carry on the licensed activities.

A special administrator may also be appointed where the licensee
is, or is likely 1o be, unable to pay its debts.

The water regulater regulates wastewater and water charges

by capping the average increase in charges that a company can
impose in any year. The water regulator conducts a periodic raview
and sets price caps every five years, This price cap is set by
reference to inflation as measured by the retail price index in the
UK (RP) plus an adjustment factor known as ‘K, which is specific
10 each company and which can vary for each year of the review
petiod. The size of a company’s K factor (which can be positive,
negative or zero) reflects the scale of its capital investment
programme, its cost of capital, and its operational and environmental
obligations, together with the scope for it fo improve its efficiency.

Unlike ‘rate of return’ economic regulation, such as exists in many
states of the United States, 'price cap’ regulation in the UK is
performance based. Companies are incentivised to be efficient,
both in terms of their operating costs and in the implementation of
their capital expenditure programme. The benefit of any efficiency
savings achieved through effective management is retained by the
companies for a pericd of five years, after which time the benefit is
passed fo customers via the subsequent price sefting process. The
cost of any under-performance due to poor management is bome
by the companies. Companies are also incentivised to provide a
high guality of service and penalised if they provide a poor quality
of service by means of an adjustment to the K factor at the
subsequent price review, The last periodic review was completed
in Decemiper 2004 and covers the period from 1 April 2005 fo

31 March 2010. In the recent price review, the water regulator

set the following K factors; being the ameunt by which prices

are allowed to rise above inflation in each of the five financial

years commencing on 1 April 2005;

2005/06 5.0 per cent
2006/07 6.4 per cent
2007/68 4.4 percent
2008/09 3.5 per cent
200910 3.0 per cent

This equates to a real {before or excluding inflation) average annual
price increase over the five-year period of 4.5 per cent.

Unexpected costs or savings arising from changes in certaln
regulatory assurnptions during a review period are recorded and
agreed by the company and the water regulater. This process,
known as ‘logging up and down’, allows prices to be adiusted

up or down at the next periodic review to compensate for the
unexpected change. In addition, where the change exceeds the
specified materiality thresholds the company can raquest, and the
water regulator can instigate, a re-setfing of its price imit during the
five-year period, known as an Interim Cetermination of K ('IDoK).
United Utilities Water successfully obtained permission from the
regulator, through the IDoK process, to increase its charges for
2004405 by a further 4.4 per cent. In the case of adjusiments to the
quality improvement programmes (in partictlar, the environmental
programme), Ofwat published specific guidance in December 2004
as to the principles and outline procedures that must be complied

with in order to obtain confirmation, and recognition In future price
limits, of changes to the funded programme,

All water and sewerage companies’ licences now include a
‘shipwreck’ or 'substantial effect’ clause, which allows companies’
price [imits 1o be revised when evenis beyond their control have a
significant effect on their costs or revenues. With effect from the
last price review, this clause was incluced in United Utilities Water's
licence, allowing appropriate adjustment for unforeseen events both
acdverse and favourable.

Environmental regulation of wastewater and water

The wastewater and water industry in the UK is subject to substantial
domestic and European Union reguiation, placing significant statutory
obiigations on United Utilities Water with regard 10, among other
factors, the quality of treated wastewater and water. European
directives {including the Crinking Water Directive, the Bathing

Wiater Directive and the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive) are
transposed into UK faw by primary and secondary iegisiation such as
the Water Supply (Water Quality} Regulations 2000, the Water Acts
1989 and 2003, the Waler Industry Act 1991, the Water Resources
Act 1991 and the Erwvironmental Protection Act 1980.

All water and wastewater companies have a general duty to
exercise their powers to conserve and enhance natural beauty and
o promote the efficient use of water. Environmental regulation is the
responsibility of the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and
Rural Affairs together with:

« the Ervironment Agency, which is responsible for conserving and
redistributing water resources and securing the proper uses of
these resources, including the ficensing of water abstraction.

The Environment Agency also reguiates discharges to controlled
waters, including discharges from wastewater treatment works;

= the Orinking Water Inspeciorate, which enforces drinking water
quality standards; and

» English Nature, which is responsible for the protection of designated
sites for nature conservation, e.g. Sites of Special Scientific interest.
There is a statutory requirement 1o manage these sites to conserve
or improve biodiversity. As a result of new UK government targets,
English Nature is seeking improverments 1o approximately 50 per
cent of the sites within Uniteg Utilities” ownership.

United Utilities Water expects regulatory regimes in the field of
water and wastewater 10 continue to evolve and become more
onerous. Examples of such regulatory and legislative developments
include the following:

* The WA 2003, which makes new water abstraction licences
time-limited and unused licences more easily abie t¢ be revoked
or varied without compensation, and which makes damages
claitmable where water abstraction causes loss ar damage. Water
undertakers will have a duty 1o promote water conservation when
carrying out their functions, and must publish drought plans. The
government will also be able to require publication of flood plans
showing the effect of a reservoir dam failure;

« The Water Framework Directive, tfransposed into UK law in 2003,
which requites the UK government to:

— establish comprehensive river basin management plans, with
a first set of plans in place by 2009 foliowed by further sets
of plans on a six-year cycle;

- implernent the actions in the first set of river basin management
plans by December 2015 at the latest;

— implement measures necessary to prevent deterioration in the
ecological status of water bodies; and

- achieve ‘good’ water status by 2027 at the latest.

The Directive is likely to impact upon sewerage undertakers by
requiring further improverments in discharges from wastewater
neiworks and treatment works; and
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* The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2000, which
transpose into UK legistation the Drinking Water Directive and,
in particular, introduce more stringent lead standards (ten
micrograms per fitre (10ug/l) from 25 December 201 3) which will
oblige water undertakers to carry out improverments 1o treatment
works and distribution systems. To minirmise lead concentrations
at customers’ taps, United Utilities Water installed additional
phosphate dosing and pH cortrol assets in the AMP3 pericd
Aprit 2000 to 31 March 2005. Over the same period, the
company replaced 48,000 iead communication pipes with the
agreement of the Crinking Water Inspectorate (quality regulator,
and a further 113,000 were replaced as part of the routine
maintenance programme. Despite these steps, United Utiiities
Water may not achieve the final lead standara (of 10ug/l) in a
number of water supply zones unless some additional lead
communication pipes are replaced. The company has agreed
with the Drinking Water ingpectorate to replace 40,600 of
its lead communication pipes in the period 1 April 2005 to
31 March 2010 tknown as ‘AMP4") and expects to replace a
further 109,000 as part of its routine maintenance programme.

The European Union Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive, which
was transposed into UK legislation by the Urban Wastewater
Treaiment Regulations 1894, requires improvermnents in the
treatment of wastewater discharges, in particular, the provision
of secondary treatment. United Utilities Water continues to make
progress towards achieving this for wastewater treatment works
sening areas with a population equivalent of more than 2,000,
The European Union Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive also
requires measures 1o be taken to limit pollution from storm-water
overflows. The group is currently in dialogue with the reguiators
in refation to the scope of works required in order to meet this
obiigation and related regulatory requiremerts.

Tnere are ongoing infringement proceedings by the European
Cormmission against the United Kingdom regarding the
implementation of the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive, The
European Commission has sent a reasoned opinion to the United
Kingdom for failure to designate, and t¢ review correctly, sensitive
and less sensitive areas. The reply given by the United Kingdom is
undler technical assessment. The European Commission believes that
the United Kingdom has not taken all measures needed to reduce
the nutrients in wastewater 1o remedy problems in sensitive areas.
Depending upon the outcome of these deliberations, it could lead to
the designation of some of the lrish Sea a3 a sensitive area. This, in
turr, could lead to requirements being placed upon United Utilities
Water to reduce the levels of some nuirients in discharges from many
of s wastewatar treatment facifities which feed into the lrish Sea.

Pursuant to the European Union Bathing Water Directive, the
objective of which is to protect public health and the environmenit
from faecal pollution at bathing waters, the Enviranment Agency
samples and analyses certain designated bathing waters around
the UK coast for the presence or absence of various bacteria.
United Utilities Water's programme of wastewater network and
treatrment projects relating to its operational facilities to improve
the quality of, and meet the required standards for, bathing waters
in north west England continues.

There are proposals progressing at the European level which,

if finafly adopted, will introduce a new Bathing Water Directive
with more stringent micrebiclogical standards, and will amend the
Directive on the use of sewage shudge on agricultural land so as to
Introduce tighter limits for metals in sludge. While United Utilities
Water's preferred route of disposal for sewage sludge remaing
spreading on agricuitural land, it is taking steps to ensure that it has
sufficient disposal capacity if that route ceases to be acceptable,
Inciuding the censtruction of new incinerators.

A decision of the High Court in Landaon in May 2003 (Hournslow
LBC v Thames Water), that complaints of odour from wastewater
treatment works could enable enforcement action under the
statutory nuisance provisions of the Environmental Protection Act
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1990, increased the risk and cost of such measures. Ofwat’s final
determination of December 2004 allows United Utilities Water
expenditure of £29 milion to deal with odour, of which £11 millicn
relates to activity at three of its treatment works. 1t is also expected
that a voluntary code of practice on such odour problems will be
introduced during 2005.

As part of the five-year periodic review of prices, the water regulator
takes into congideration the capital investment programme which
United Utilities Water needs to achieve in order 1o comply with
environmental legistation.

Electricity distribution

United Utiliies Blectricity owns the distribution network which
carries electricity from the National Grid along power lines to
consumers’ premises on behalf of the electricity supply companies
wno are its customers. The income derived from the distribution
business depends in part on changes in the demand for electricity
by consumers in north west England. Dernand for electricity is
affected by such factors as growth and movements in population,
social trends, econamic and business growth or decline, changes
in the mix of energy sources used by consurners, weather
conditions, energy efficiency measures and other factors. The
electricity distribution business fs a regulated business in which the
average increase in charges which a company may impase in any
year is capped by the electricity regulator (as described in more
detail below). Accordingly, profit derived from the distribution
business of United Utilities Electricity also depends on efficiency,
achieved by reducing and controlling costs, and providing high
standards of service.

Key performance measures for the business relate to quality of
supply. Eiectricity supplies were available for 99.99 per cent of the
time during the financial year ended 2005, sustaining the business's
high level of performance in maneging the network to maintain
constant supplies for consurmers. All the overall standards of
performance set by the Gas and Electricity Markets Authority

{the 'electricity regulatar’) were achieved,

Excluding the impact of any exceptional events, for example

the storms experienced in January 2005 affecting Cumbria and
tancashire in the northern part of north west England, the average
number of interruptions per 100 consumers Per annum was
47.93%, out-performing the regulatory target for the year of 54.8,
The average number of minutes for which consumers were without
supply was 52.0%, beating the regulatory target for the year of
68.2 minutes. (Figures in this paragraph denoted by ¥ are as yet
unaudited by Ofgem).

Ececnomic regulation of electricity distribution

The electricity industry in Great Britain is regulated under the
Electricity Act 1989 (the *Electricity Act’) and the Utilities Act 2000
{the ‘Utilities Act') by the electricity regulator. The electricity regulator
governs and acts through the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets
(‘Ofgern’). The Electricity Act, as amended by the Utilities Act,
requires ali companies distributing electricity in Great Britain to

be licensed unless they are covered by an exemption. Economic
reguiation pursuant to these ficences is the respensibility of the
electricity regulator. The electricity regulator alsa exercises powers
under UK competition legisiation, most significantly the Competition
Act 1998 and the Enterprise Act 2002.

The elactricity regulator comprises a board, led by a chairman who
is an independent public servant appointed for a fixed term by the
Secretary of State for the Department of Trade and Industry. This
is in contrast to regulators in some states of the United States
who hold pubiic office and are required to stand for pubfic election.
The current chairman is Sir John Mogg, who was appcinted from
Qctober 2003 for a pericd of five years.

The electricity regulator must comply with the statutory duties
laid down In the Electricity Act as amended by the Utilities Act. in
doing so, the electricity regulator may recelve guidance from the
UK government in areas such as social and ervircnmental policy.




In carrying out lis staiutory duties, the electricity regulator is
reguired to exercise jugigement, but is not subject to direction

as to what those judgements should be and is independent of
government minisiers. The chairman of the electricity regulator
may only be removed from the post for incapacity or misbehaviour,

The primary duty of the electricity requlater is to protect the
interests of consumers, wherever appropriate, by promoting
effective competition. In canying out thig duty, the electricity
regulator is required to have regard to:

» the need to secure that all reasonable demands for electricity
are met; and

» the need to secure that licence hoiders are able to finance
their activities. :

The UK government awarded electricity distribution licences in
2001. The licences continue in force for an indefinite period, subject
to potential termination rights as set out below. United Utilities
Electricity holds an electricity distribution licence which authorises it
to distribute efectricity anywhere in Great Britain. Under that licence,
United Utilities distributes electricity across its distribution system
covering an area in north west England comprising 2.2 million
consumer premises.

The licence imposes restrictions. In particular, the disposal of

any part of the distribution system is restricted and distribution
busingsses must provide services on non-discriminatory terms.
Cross-subsidies to or from United Utilities Electricity's licensed
business are prohibited, and the board of directors of United
Utitities Electricity must provide a certificate of cornpliance before
declaring dividends or rmaking distributions affirming that the
directors are satisfied that it is in compliance with relevant licence
obligations and that the making of the distribution will not cause
it to be in material breach of any of the obligations in the future.
United Utilities Etectricity must also obtain the consent of the
regulator before lending funds that are not en an arm’s length
basis or engaging in any other transaction not on an arm's length
basis with Its afiiiated companies. In general, slectricity distribution
licences contain strict provisions to maintain and ring-fence the
financial and management resources of the licensed businesses.

The licence containg various conditions regulating the conduct of
the business. Licence conditions can be modified by the electricity
regulator either with the agresment of the licensee (or, in the case
of standard conditions, with the agreement of the requisite
proportion of licensees) or foliowing reference to the Competition
Commission for a decision on public interest grounds. The licence
can be terminated on 25 years' notice given by the Secretary of
State. The licence can also be revoked fn certain circumstances,
including where the licensee fails 1o comply with an enforcement
order made by the electricity regulator. The Energy Act 2004
infroduced a special administration regime, applicable to the
holders of electricity distribution licences, similar to that provided
for the water sector (see above).

The slectricity regulator is currently consulting on propesed
modifications to all distribution licences designed to preciude
discrimination by distribution network operaters in the provision
of "point of connection’ information to connections providers. A
decision is expected to be taken on the amendments later in 2005,

Unlike ‘rate of return’ economic regulation, such as exists in many
states of the United States, ‘price cap’ regulation in the UK is
performance based. Companies are incentivised 1o be efficient both
in terms of their operating costs and in the implementation of their
capital expenditure prograrme. The benefit of any efiiciency savings
achieved through effective management is retained by the companies
for a period of up 1o five years, after which time the benefit is passed
to customers via the price setting procass. The cost of any under-
performance due to poor management is borne by the companies.
Cornpanies are also incentivised 1o provide a high quality of service,
and penalised if they provide a poor quality of service through the
price review process, by means of an adjustment at the subsequent
price review.

Tre glectricity regulator regulates electricity distribution charges
by capping the average increase in charges which a company can
impose in any year. The electricity regulator conducts a periodic
review and sets price caps every five years. This price cap is sat
by reference to inflation as measured by the retall price index in
the UK (RPl) pius an adiustment factor known as X' which is
specific to each company and which can vary for each year of
the review pericd. The size of a company’s X factor {which can
be positive, negative or zero} reflects the scale of its cagital
investment programme, its cost of capital and its operational and
environmental cbligations, together with scope for it to improve its
efficiency. The last periodic review was completed at the end of
2004 and covers the period from 1 Aprit 2005 to 31 March 2010,
For the 2005-10 review period, United Utilities Electricity was
allowed a real (excluding inflation) price increase of 8.2 per cent
in 2005/06 followed by constant real prices thereafter.

The electricity regulator nas been consulting on the structure of
electricity distribution charges since 2000. As a result of this
consultation there has been cne significant amendment made to

&l distribution licences, including United Utilities Electricity’s. From

1 April 2005, distribution network operators have been obliged to
preduce and implerment charging methodologies (for both connection
to and use of their distribution systems) as a result of the coflective
medification of the standard licence condition relating to the
Distribution Use of System charges. The methodologies are required
1o set out the principles and methods by which electricity distribution
charges will be caiculated, inciuding cost reflectivity and facilitating
cormpetition, and must be approved by the electricity regulator.

United Utilities Electricity is required to maintain certain standards
relating to the quality of supply of electricity in its licence area.
These standards take the form of guarantees at the individual
customer level and are subject to monitoring and compliance
audits. Failure to meet guaranteed standards of performance will
result in a prescribed compensation payment 1o the customer
concerned. In addition, the electricity regulator is able 1o impose
fines on companies which fail to achieve the guaranteed standards
or are in breach of other ticence obiigations.

In practice, many regulatory issues arising between licensees and the
electricity regulator are settled without the rieed to resort to formal
proceedings. However, where the electricity reguiator is satisfied that
a company is in breach of the terms of its licence, it has powers to
secure compliance by means of an enforcement order. If a company
does not comply with the order (as well as potentialiy giving tise fo
third party action) compliance can be enforced by the courts and

the electricity regulator may revoke the licence.

An incentive scheme was introduced by the electricity regulator in
Aprit 2002 which provided greater focus on three specific service
areas: number of interruptions to customers' supplies; length of
those interruptions; and quality of the telephone response ta
customers. The electricity regulator consulted on its approach to
the incentive scheme as part of the price control review; including
the form of the scheme, targets and asscciated costs. It was
agreed that the disttibution network operators’ perfarmance in
those areas will continue 1o be incentivised. Under the scheme,
United Utilities Electricity is subject to annual rewards and penalties
depending cn its performance against pre-specified fargets. Both
rewards and penalties under the incentive scheme are capped at
3.0 per cent of annual revenues.

Environmental regulation of electricity distribution

All electricity companies have a general duty under the Electricity
Act to have regard to the desirability of environmerntal preservation
and conservation and the protection of sites of special interest
when they formulate proposals for development. United Utilities
Electricity may be required to carry out an environmental
assessment when it intends 1o lay cables, construct overhead
fines or carry out any other development in connection with its
ticensed activities. In response to discussions with environmental
organisations in United Utlliies Electricity's operating area, and
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with the backing of Ofgem, the company has undertaken work o
assess the cost of converting from cvernead cables to underground
cables in designated areas on aesthetic grounds. There is a small
allowance of £5 million allowed bty Ofgem for such work over the
petiod 2005-1C.

The possibility that electric and magnetic fields (EMFs) may cause
adverse health effects has been a topic of debate and research for
many years. Over the last 20 years, major research programmes
throughout the world have explored whether EMFs have an adverse
impact on health. A large epidemiclogical study ~ the UK Childhood
Cancer Study - reported in December 1999 that there was "no
evidence that exposure to magnetic fields associated with the
electricity supply in the UK increases risk for childhood feukaemia,
cancers of the nervous system, or any childhood cancer”.
International bodies such as the World Health Organisation and

he International Agency for Research on Cancer and, in the UK,
the National Radiclogical Protection Beard {NRPB) have
investigated this issue and have concluded that there is no
established causal link between EMFs and ill health. The NRPB
was the UK baody with statutory responsibility for advising on EMFs
until April 2005 when it was subsumed into the Health Protection
Agency, which has taken on its radiation protection functions.

In March 2001, the NBPB published a review of the state of the
science and concluded “for the vast majority of children in the UK
there is now considerable evidence that the EMF levels to which
they are exposed do not increase the risk of lsukaemia or other
malignant disease”. However, it also noted that the possibility
remains that intense and prolonged exposure 1O magnetic figlds can
increase the risk of leukaemia in children but the epidemiological
evidence is currently not strong enough 1o justify a firm conclusion
that such fields cause leukaemia in children. In the spirit of the
precautionary approach, the NRPB published in May 2003 a
consuitation docurment on how 1o imit exposure to EMFs and,

in particular, on whether the UK should adopt the more stringent
exposure guidelines of the international Commission on Non-
lonizing Radiation Protection ((CNIRF). In March 2004, the NRPB
recommended that the ICNIRP guidelines should be adopted.

United Utiities Electricity, in ine with other Energy Networks
Association (ENA) member companies, carries out jits activities

in accordance with Health Protection Agency guidance. The ENA
is the trade asscciation for electricity companies in the UK. The
ENA and its member companies are committed to rasponsible
behaviour in the light of the scientific evidence, including
considering any appropriate precautionary actions. United Utilities
Electricity believes that present evidence does not justify any
change in the electricity industry's operating practices, or the
everyday utilisation of electricity by its customers, but United
Utilities Electricity keeps this under review and lcoks 1o the Health
Protection Agency and UK government for advice cn the issus.

INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT

During the financial year ended 31 March 2005, United Ulilities
Contract Sclutions underwent a business reorganisation and now
has three market-facing businesses:

» Utility Solutions ~ develops and cperates contracts in the UK
applying the group's core infrastructure management skills;

* International — responsible for applying the group’s core
infrastructure management skills in selected overseas markets;,
and

* Industrial and Commercial Solutions — provides services to the
public sector and commercial market, including multi-utiity
connections, metering services, waler and liguid waste treatment
services and facilities management.

Disposal of Green Energy

During the financial year, United Utilities Contract Solutions sofd its
Green Energy business for £63 milion in ¢cash. This business had
been respansible for the development and operation of renewable
energy generation projects.
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Utility Solutions

The business davelops and operates contracts in the UK utility
market and sewices over 5.2 million people inthe UK. It has a
facused approach to pursuing opportunities, with the ohjective of
securing long-term operational sources of income while limiting
overall financial exposure. During the year, the business
successfully renegetiated a new cperations and maintenance
contract for up to 15 years, continuing the relationship with Dwr
Cyraru Welsh Water following the expiry of the first contract on

31 March 2005. Under the new contract, the business will provide
water and wastewater services in north Wales, and water senvices
in south Wales. The business will also provide shared services
throughout Wales, including education and conservation activities
and iransport.

The business continued to play a leading rcle in the delivery of
part of Scottish Water's four-year £1.8 billion capital investment
programme, the funding for which will be provided by Scottish
Water to improve its services to 2.2 milfion homes and businesses
across Scotland.

Prior 1o the approval of bids for new contracts, a full risk analysis

is carried out to assess the risks associated with a project and to
ensure that they are mitigated to the appropriate extent, dependent
upen expected returns and the expected degree of control over
the risks.

International

The international business develops and operates contracts in
selected overseas utility markets and senvices over 7.3 million pecple
outside the UK. The aim of the business is to focus on extending the
current portfolio of contracts in target argas, including Australia and
central and eastern Europe, securing long-term investment refurns
and operational sources of income while managing the overall
exposure ansing from the contracts.

Thne business continued to manage its existing portfotio of water and
wastewater operations through a number of joint ventures in parts of
Scotland, Australia, Poland, Estonia and Bulgaria.

In March 2005, the Philippine concession company successfully
listed on the Phiippine Stock Exchange. The International business
participated in this process by placing part of its total shareholding in
the business, reducing its stake to 11.7 per cent, but it remains the
designated international operator 1o the concession.

Generaily, the joint ventures have limited recaourse to United Utilities.
Howaver, the business has performance bonds and guarantees in
piace supporting joint venture operations (see ‘Performance
Guarantees’ on page 24) and in some cases there are bank letters
of credit supporting equity commitments.

On page 24 there is a discussion on the impact of foreign currency
fluctuations and the extent to which foreign currency net
invastrments are hedged by currency borrowings,

The International business is affected by a variety of regulatory
regimes and reguiatory risks, which are accepted te varying
degrees by the client, the concession company and/or the
operator. For those contracts where it Is the operator, United
Utilities is not the licensed entity but it may be a direct or indirect
investor in the licensed entity.

in 2002, United Utiliies completed its withdrawal from infrastructure
management in the Americas by withdrawing from IEBA, the
Argentine electricity utiity, and it disposed of its minority interest

in [EBA on 28 April 2005. [EBA defaulted on its repayments o
bondhoiders in September 2002, There is ne recaurse ta the group
in respect of these debts and the group has no further balance
sheet exposure to IEBA.

Industrial and Commercial Solutions
Industrial and Commercial Solutions is comprised of four distinct
businesses or:

+ Industrial - this business is a provider of specialist water and
wastewater services ¢ industry in the UK. In many instances,




wastewater is treated on site, under contract to the customey,

in a dedicated facility which is constructed and owned by the
business. The business alse owns two sites for the receipt and
treatment of tankered liquid waste from customers. United Utilites
Industrial currently treats approximately 13 milion tonnes of
wastewater a vear.

* Metering ~ the Metering business provides installation and
maintenance services for electricity, water and gas meters. In
the financia! year ended 31 March 2005, the business instalied
75,000 new water metéars and instailed or exchanged 168,000
electricity meters in north west England. In addition, 354,000 gas
meter installations were carried out under a contract with British
Gas Trading. Senvices under this contract commenced in
November 2002. In May 2004, a revised contract was agresd
which extended the confract for a further year to January 2009.
Under this contract both gas and electricity meters are installed
by the metering business, with rental income then being received
for up to 20 years after instalfation by a joint venture company
{in which the group has a 50 per cent interest), and which owns
the meter assets.

» Connections — the Connections business provides multi-utility
connections, to connect domestic, industrial and commercial
consumers 1o the existing utility network infrastructure. In
providing this service, the business designs and installs new
electricity, water, gas and telecommunications infrastructure.
Tne business has continued to pursue its strategy of expanding
beyond north west England and won £15.6 miflicn of crders
out-of-area in the financial year ended 31 March 2005.

* Facilities Management and Energy Services — the Facilities
Management business manages progerties for clients under
contract. The scope of operations includes arranging site services
such as reception and cleaning, managing vacant space and
office management. The Energy Services business pravides
energy efficient infrastructure, such as lighting, to customers.

BUSINESS PROCESS OUTSOURCING

Vertex is a leading UK provider of business process outsourcing
senviges and one of the UK's major customer management service
suppliers. It undertakes long-term contracts with clients to handle
administrative functions, such as biling and dealing with custorner
enquiries. It operates in the commercial, utility, central and Jocal
government sectors. Vertex administers and manages the various
processes, based on defined and measurable performance criteria.

Vertex commenced trading in the UK in 1998, It entered the
Canadian market in March 2002 and is expanding fis capabilities
into the business process outsourcing market in North America. In
March 2004, Vertex purchased a US debt collection agency, First
Revenue Assurance LLGC, based in Colorado. In May 2005, Vertex
completed its acauisition of Marbarough Stirling ple, a provider of
outsourcing services and techrolegy to clients in the financial
services sector.

Capital expenditure in the year ended 31 March 2005 was
£15.6 million (2004: £20.4 million, 2003: £34.8 miliion).

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Your Communications

Your Communications offers a range of fully integrated
cormunications services - voice, data, mobile and internet — to the
pubslic sector and small and medium-sized corporate customers
predominantly in central and northern England. It is focused on
delivering complete communications packages, tailored to fit
specific business heeds, and wholesale products for reseliers and
other operators. Capital expenditure In the year ended 31 March
2005 was £11.1 mitiion (2004: £9.4 milion, 2003: £21.1 million).

During the financial vear ended 31 March 2005, Eurocali Limited
{an independent provider of telecom services to the small and
medium-sized enierprise market), the acquisition of which was
announced in March 2004, was successfully integrated into Your
Communications’ business with £9 milion of synergies achieved.

The construction of Your Communications’ network was completed
in 2002/03 and the group reviewed the carrying value of its
telecommunications assets, in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard ('FRSY 11. As a result, an adjustment to vaiue of £25.5
miion was macde during the financial year ended 31 March 2003,
Under the obligations of FRS 11 to continualty review the camying value
of the assets, it was concluded that no further adjustment to vaiue was
necessary for the year ended 31 March 2005.

Your Communications' focus remains on growth in sales, becoming
cash generative and progressing towards profitability. The business
substantially reduced operating losses** in the year and achieved
break-even™ in the second half of the year ended 31 March 2005.
The business will continue to be developed with a view to disposal
when the shareholder vaiue ¢an be maximised.

Telecommunications regulation

As from 25 July 2003, Your Communications has been regulated
in accordance with the Communications Act 2003 {the 'CA 2003".
The CA 2003 incorporated into UK faw the requirements of the
Eurapean Union Communications Directives and created a new
regulatory framework of electronic communications networks and
service providers, Regulation of the telecommunications industry
in the UK became, with effect from 29 December 2003, the
responsibiity of the Office of Communications {Ofcom) as a unified
reguiator replacing the Director General of Telecommunications
{and the four other communications industry regulators).

For Yaour Comrmunications, the most significant operational change
has been the withdrawal of ihe Telecommunications Act 1984
licensing regime. Previous licensing requirements were replaced by
a general authorisation regime with general conditions of entitlement,
which apply 1o all communications providers (the ‘General
Condhtions'), and spectific conditions which apply only to individuals.

The General Conditions set out the general authorigation

provisions that apply to Your Communications as a communications
provider. The General Conditions are intended to ensure that the
communications provider provides communications services (which
include the running of a telecommunications network) in a manner
safe 1o the public and also that it acheres to a minimum set of
consumer protection measures, such as retail price publication and
independent dispute resolution for customers with ten employees
or fewer. The General Conditions aiso contain an obligation on the
part of a communications network provider 10 negotiate with other
netwark providers with a view to concluding an agreement {cr an
amendment to an existing agreement} for interconnection within a
reasonable period. Either party to a negotiation of an interconnection
agreement can refer a dispute o Ofcom for resolution.

Furthermore, Ofcom is required under the CA 2003 to carry out a
series of reviews of economic markets to identify communications
providers with significant market power. Ofcom has designated
Your Communications as having significant market power in the
market for fixed geographic cali termination cn its own network.
Your Communications is therefore required 1o provide network
access {that is, fixed geographic call termination services) to other
communications providers and to do so on fair and reasonable
terms. Your Communications is not subject to any price controls
in this or any other economic market identified by Cfcom.

Ofcom is currently undertaking & strategic review of the UK
telecommunications industry. A consultation document sefting out
Ofcom’s proposals for its future regulatory strategy was published
in November 2004. The main principle identified by Ofcom was the
need 1o ensure equality of access to British Telecommunications’
UK-wide network. The final phase of the review Is expected in the
second guarter of 2005. Your Communications has responded to
the consuitation request both directly and through its membershin
of the UK Competitive Telecommunications Association,

Your Communications' broadband wireless access licences in the
UK were awarded under the Wirgless Telegraphy Acts 1949 and
1998, which authorise the use of radic equiprment and frequencies
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and prescribe the conditions under which that equipment may

be used to provide broadband wirgiess access services on a
regional basis. Ofcomn may recover part, or all, of the spectrum
aflocated to the licensee if it appears that consumer interests are
net being met. The licences will remain in force until the end of
2015 unless revoked earlier by Ofcom, under specified and limited
circumstances, or surrendered by the licensee.

There has been concern in the UK over the possible health

effects of radiowaves emitted by base stations and mobile phones.
The report by the Independent Expert Group on Mobile Phones,
commissioned by the UK government, was published in May 2000.
It stated that the balance of evidence indicated that exposure ¢
radio frequency radiation below national and international guidelines
does not cause adverse health effects to the general population,
but that there may he bialogical effects. It recommended that a
precautionary approach be taken. The UK government's response
10 the report includes the publication of revised planning poticy
guidance on telecommunications, and the introduction of a
requirement that applications to erect hase stations with masts

of 15 metres or under should be subject to the more rigorous
public consultation procedures that apply to masts over that size.
Research is continuing into the possible health effects of base
staticns and mobile phenes. Foliowing the publication of the report
by the Independent Expert Group on Moblle Phones, a research
programme, cailed the Mobile Telecommunications and Heatth
Research Programme, was set up in February 2002 to look into
the possible health impacts of mobile telecommunications. Public
cancern about this matter could lead to a decrease in the demand
for Your Communications’ services.

PEQPLE ~ KEY CONTRIBUTORS TO CORPORATE SUCCESS
(See table 2)

Substantially all of the group's employees are hased in the
United Kingdom,

Good industrial relations rernain a priority for United Utilities
across the whole of its business and parts of the group have
been recognised in the UK for excellence in this area. The group
continues to recognise and work in partnership with & range of
trade unions operating across the sectors in which it operates.
A statement of principles underpins the approach to labour
relations across the group.

in summary:

¢ Licensed multi-utility operations — 99 per cent of employees within

United Utilities North Wast are now represented by trade unions
for collective bargaining purposes under the terms of a voluntary

‘ callective agreement, underpinned by a ‘working togsther in

| partnership’ agresment. Work is continuing to consolidate

| muitiple legacy agreements into a consistent set of simplified,

‘ standardised and contemporary terms and conditicns. Working
closely with five trade unicns, a programime of partnarship

| working for employee representatives and managers has

| developed, covering human resource practice, behaviour and
busingss knowledge. This has been funded in part by the
Department of Trade and industry.

+ Infrastructure management ~ trade union involvement in United
Utilities Contract Solutions increased significantly as a consequence
of the Welsh Water contract, where the workforce was heavily

Table 2: People — key contributors to corporate success

unicrised. Around 95 per cent of employess in Wales remain
covered by collective bargaining arangements. In the Industrial
and Commercial Sclutions business 70 per cent of its warkforce
are covered by collective bargaining arrangernents but, in the
remainder of United Ltilities Contract Solutions (with the exception
of a imited number of employees within United Utiities Industrial),
employees are employed on persongl contracts and are not
covered by collective agreements. During the first haif of 2005/086,
United Utilities Contract Solutions will increase #ts headcount by
around 2,500 through the transfer of staff into the business from
Thurrock Unitary Coungil, Southern Water and National Grid
Transco. The majority of those transferring wil have their terms and
conditions governed by cofiective agreerments with trade unions.

* Business process outsourcing — around 50 per cent of the Vertex
workforce is covered by collective bargaining arrangements and
thig is increasing as Vertex acquires new contracts in the public
sector in the UK. Vertex has a progressive approach to
partnership with its trade unions and has been recognised
externally for best practice in this area.

* Telecommunications — 26 per cent of the Your Communications
workforce is covered by collective bargaining arrangsmerts.

The graup’s employees are kay to achieving the business strategy
and enhancing shareholder value. A review of key employee and
safety issues arising in the year is contained within the ‘corporate
responsibility review' on page 32.

United Utilities rermains commiitted to maintaining high standards of
health and safety in every area cf its business. The group’s heaith
and salety aims and abjectives are integrated into the business
planning processes. Progress is monitored regularly at all levels
throughout the business.

Tne group’s risk profile Is characteristic of a large multi-utiiity. As

in previous years, the majority of accidents at work, resulted from
manual handiing activities and ‘slips, trips and falls’. There are already
specific programmes in place to manage these risks, together with
improved absence management arrangements, As the business
deveiops, the risk profile is continually monitored and the rigks arising
from the transition are managed appropriately. In this context, the
group works collaboratively with clients, contractors and partners in
joint ventures, sharing experience and best practice. The group met
last year's short-term published health and safety targets.

The group’s risk managament procedures remain effective

in nighlighting high rigk areas, which are then targeted for
improvement. For example, during the year ended 31 March 2005,
progress was made cn a number of initistives, including road risk,
health and weli-being, stress management and behavicura! safety
programmes. In addition, in response to the threat of terrorist
activity the group has reviewed the security of its assets and steps
have been taken to upgrade the existing security protection
measures in line with national guidance.

The involverment of all staff in these inftiatives is a prerequisite and
the group has continued to work in partnership with a range of
trade unions and employee representatives operating across the
businesses. These processes will continue and be developed
further over the year ahead.

The group is cormmitted to improving its employees’ skills
through training and development and nurturing a culture in which

Numibrer of employees - financig! year ended 31 March 2005 2004 2003
Licansed mutti-utiity operations 4,889 4,684 4,269
Infrastructure management 2,510 2,381 2,163
Business process cUISCUIGing 7,693 7,746 6,540
Telecommunications 682 703 681
Other activities 161 154 148
Average number of persons employed by the group during the year 15,935 15,674 13,802
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employees fee! valued. The group encourages employees to work
to their full potential and respecis the dignity and rights of every
employee and supports them in performing various roles in society.
The group also challenges prejudice and stereotyping. The group is
equally committed to involving employees through open and regular
communications about business developments and issues of
general interest, both formally and informally.

The group is committed to fulfiling its obligations in accardance
with the Disability Discrimination Act 19235 and best practice. As an
equal oppertunities employer, the group gives equal conglderation to
applicants with disabilities in its employment criferia and will modify
eguipment and working practices wherever it is safe and practical
to dio so, both for new employees, and for those employeses that
are disabled during the course of ther employment. Additionally, the
group is committed to providing full support and appropriate training
for employess who becorne disabled during the course of their
employment so they ¢an centinue to work in a pesition appropriate
to their experience and abilities.

PROPERTY

As at 31 March 2005, United Utilities Water had the principat
operating facilities shown in table 3, all of which are owned by
United Utllities Water and are freghold, except Sandon Dock which
is leasehold. United Utilities Water's wastewater operations involve
owning and managing assets, which include:

— 40,064 kilcmetres of sewers;

- 1,739 pumping stations;

- 371 storage tanks;

- 3,202 combined sewer overflows;

— 588 wastewater treatment works; and
- 39 sfudge treatment faciiities.

United Utilities Water's water operations involve owning and
managing assets which inciude:

— 192 raw water impounding reservoirs;

- 885 kilametres of raw water large diameter trunk mains;

— 117 water treatrment works;

- 1,144 kilometres of treated water large diameter trunk mains;
— 455 service reservoirs and water towers storing treated water;
- 648 pumping statioens; and

- 38,597 kilometres of frunk and distribution mains.

As at 31 March 2005, United Utllities Electricity's facilities
included 13,855 kilometres of overhead iines, 45,329 kilometres
of underground cables (operating at 132 kilovolts, 33 Klovolts,

25 kilovolts, 11 kilovolts, 8.6 kilovoits and 4007230 voits),

15,638 ground mounted sub-stations and 16,684 pole mounted
transformers. United Utilities Electricity holds wayleaves which
entitle it to run lines and cables through and across private land
and in some clrcumstances these can be terminated by the
landowner or accugier upon natice pursuant to the Electricity Act.

Table 3: Property

However, United Utilities Electricity has statutory rights to seek the
compulsory retention of a wayleave if termination is sought by the
landowner/occupier. United Lltilities Electricity does net anticipate
that any significant reiocation of these facilities will be required,
athough any relocation of a major portion of these facilities would
have a material adverse effect on the business and financial position
of United Utlities Electricity. Ground mounted sub-stations are
situated on properties either owned by United Utllities Electricity

or held under lease. Pole mounted transformers are generally held
under wayleave agreements. United Wtilities Electricity anticipates
that it will be able tc negotiate lease renewals on satisfactory

terms or relocate equipmert so that the non-renewal of any such
leases would not have a material adverse effect upon United
Utilities Electricity.

As at 31 March 2005, Your Communications’ facilities included
approximately 4,160 kilometres of underground fibre. Where the
fibre is otherwise than in the public highway, Your Communications
holds wayleaves which entitle it to run this fibre through and across
private land and in some circumstances these can be terminated
by the landowner or occupier upon notice. However, Your
Comrunications has statutory rights under the Communications
Act 2003 1o seek the compulsory retention of a wayleave if
termination is sought by the iandowner/oceupier. The exception to
this is land pwned by Crown Estates, Your Commurications does
not anticipate that any relocation of these facilities will be required.
Any such relocation of any individual faciiities would not have a
material adverse effect on the business and financial pesition of
Your Communications.

Your Communications also maintains 142 points of presence
{including 41 microwave radic sites and eight switchas) located

in England and Scotiand, from where senvices can be sold or
where network equipment is housed. These points of presence are
situaied on properties either owned or isased by United Utilities or
leased by Your Cammunications. Your Communications anticipates
that it will be able to negotiate lease renewals on satisfactory terms
or relocate equipment so that the non-renewal of any such leases
would not have a material adverse effect on the business and
financial condition of Your Commurnications. In addition, Your
Commurnications leases offices in Birmingham, Sheffield, Bolion,
Manchester and London. The headguarters and depot in
Manchester are leased from United Utilities Electricity.

At 31 March 2005, Vertexs facilities included leased customer
management centres at: Knowsley, Warrington, Whitshaven,
Beafard, Rayleigh, Edinburgh, Nairn, Forres, Dingwall, London,
Birmingham, Speke and New Delhi, India. Properties in Bolton and
Manchester are leased from the group’s infrastructure management
business. Following the purchase of First Revenue Assurance, it
also operates a debt coflection centre based in Denver, Colorado.
lts headquarters in Manchester are also lsasad.

Approximate area

Location Description in hactares()
Bowland Estate, Lancashire Reservair/gathering grounds 10,120
Haweswater Estate, Lake District, Cumbria Reservoir/gathering grounds 9,900
Longdendale Estate, Cheshire Reservoir/gathering grounds 7,490
West Pennine Moars, Lancashire Reservoir/gathering grounds 6,872
Thirimere Estate, Lake District, Cumbria Reservoir/gathering grounds 4,850
Huntington, near Chester, Cheshire Water treatment works 107
Dawyhulme, Greater Manchester Wastewater treatment works 89
Prescot, Merseyside Water treatment works 84
Woodgate Hill, Greater Manchester Water treatment works 40
Shell Green, Widnes, Cheshire Sludge processing centre 12
Watchgate, Cumbria Water treatrnent works 12
Sanden Dogk, Liverpoot Wastewater treatment works 8

{1} One hectare equals 2.47 sores.

o
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In addition 1o the properties described above, the group occupies
varlous non-operational properties consisting primarily of offices,
depots, warehouses and workshops. These are either owned by
the company or feased. It is anticipated that the company will be
able to negotiate renewals of any expiring leases, or relocate the
relevant facilities, without having a material adverse impact on the
company. The most significant of these non-operational properties
are: the company's London office, which is leased by the company;
the company’s headguarters and United Wiilities Water's operations
and customer centres in Warrington, which are owned by United
Utilitles Water and United Utilities Electricity's operations and
customer centres in Manchester, which are owned by United
Utilities Electricity. United Utilitles Contract Solutions' neadquarters
in Warrington is leased.

In February 2004, the company, through a subsidiary, entered intc a
15-year joint venture agreement with Amec Developments Limited to
develop land at Lingley Mere, Warrington. Over a period of time, the
company will invest up to £20 million in this joint venture, mainly in
the form of land.

The contaminated land regime in Part UA of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 places fiabifity for the clean-up of contaminated
iand upon any parson who caused the contamination or, in some
circumstances, who knew of its presence and failed t¢ prevent it

If no such person can be found after a reasonable enquiry has
been rmade, liability for clean-up falls upon the current owner or
occupier of the land. The regime provides for exemptions from
liabiiity in certain cases. The company is not aware of any liability
which it may have under the regime, which will have a material
adverse Impact on its businesses.

The company believes that all its properties are in a reasonabie
state of repair and are adequate for their purpose. The company
has a continuing programme of improving, replacing and disposing
of property when considered appropriate to meet the needs of its
business operations, The company is not aware of any material
environmental issues which would prevent the company’s
anticipated utitisation of the above-menticned properties. Some
non-operational areas of United Utilities Water's wastewater
treatment works, including Ilam, Manchester, may be affected

by contamination. At present, it is not clear how the liability for the
clean-up wili be aliocated, or the extent of the cost for such work.
However, this is not expected to have a material impact on the
company's results.
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Operating and financial performance review

In this discussion, references to ssgmental operating profit/loss

are defined as total operating profit before gocdwill amortisation
and exceptional items for a segment as shown in note 2 of the

consoclidated financial statements on page 63,

NON-GAAP MEASURES

The group gives certain additicnal information in order to provide
readers with an increased insight into the underlying performance
of the business, in line with management's own view. The measures
are either required or permitted under UK GAAR, but are considered
non-GAAP measures for the purposes of US GAAP. An explanation
of these presentations is given Delow.

Total operating profit before goodwill amartisation and exceptional items
and profit before tax before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items
Total operating profit before goodwill amortisation and exceptional
items is directly derived from the consolidated profit and ioss
account of tha consolidated financial statements. Management
believes this financial measure provides usefu! information to
investors as it represents the total of the operating profits/iosaes

for each segment, which is the measure that management uses

to evajuate segmental trading performance.

It therefore aligns the performance measure reported to investors
with that used by management o monitor performance and alocate
resources within the business. Management uses segmental
operating profits/osses to evaluate the trading performance of each
segment, because management believes that the exclusion of
goodwill amortisation & non-cash itemj and exceptional tems (which,
by virtue of their size or ingidence, have been disclosed separalely
and may vary significantly each year) provides a more accurate
comparison of annual segmental resutts, which in turn allows a
betier understanding of actual segmental frading performance.

In assessing the financial position and results of operations,
rmanagement believes that providing additional measures under

LK GAAR, which remove the positive and/or negative impact of
exceptional items and the non-cash impact of goodwili amortisation,
gives a clearer understanding of the group’s core trading activities,
is of relevance in assessing the future direction of the group and
clarifies the trends in trading performance. The inclusion of

total operating profit and total operating profit before goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items and profit before tax and profit
before tax before goodwit amortisation and exceptional items (as
reconciled in tables 4 and 5} alows a complate analysis of both the
core trading performance as well as the impact of these exceptional
and non-cash items.

ltems that meet the definition of exceptional items under UK GAAP
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 3, *Reporting financial
performance’, are either required or expressly permitted tc be
disciosed as exceptional iterms within the incomea or expernse

heading to which they refate. In addition, the profit and loss account
column approach, which separates goodwili amortisation and
exceptional items from other costs, is permitted under UK GAAR.

Exceptional tems are discussed in the section entitied ‘Exceptional
items’ on page 17.

Aithcugh management uses these financial measures and

the segmental analysis as shown in note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements to analyse trading performance, total operating
profit, which is reconciled 1o total operating profit before goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items in table 4, and profit before tax,
which s reconciied to profit before tax before gocdwill amortisation
and exceptional iterns in table 5, should also be considered.

Net debt

Net debt is a UK GAAP measwe ihat is required to be disclosed
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 1, ‘Cash flow
staternents (revised 1996)'. Net debt is defined as borrowings
{comprising debt, fogether with derivatives and obligations under
finance leases) less cash and liquid resources. Management uses
net debt, which is reconciled to gross debt in note 23 of the
consolidated financial statements, to assess the group’s liquidity
position by reference to the group’s committed leve! of funding,
The group seeks to ensure that sufficient funding is availabie to
meet foreseeable requirements plus headroom for contingencies.

Where these non-GAAP measures are included elsewhere in
the annua! report and Form 20-F (as indicated by the symbo! ),
the definitions included here should be referred to.

GROUP RESULTS

Overview

The results for the year demonstrate the continuing success
of the group’s strategy, in particular reflecting the growth of the
non-regulated businesses.

During the year, the regulated business received its final

price determinations, setiing prices for the water and electricity
businesses for the next five vears, both of which were accepied
by the group in December 2004, Following the conclusion of the
regulatory reviews, the board has set a target of maintaining
dividends in real terms over the next five years. This target (s
dependent upon the group’s regulated business at least meeting
its cost savings targets and the non-regulated businesses
continuing to perform at least in line with current levels,

In addition to the £2.9 billion capital investment programme that was
set out in its final determination, United Utilities Water is expecting

to spend approximately another £20G milion as a result of carry
over of obiigations funded during the previous regulatory period.
Furthermcre, the group estimates that there is potential for up

to approximately £500 mifion of additional investment relating to
projects that were not part of the group’s regulatory caorntract for

Table 4:
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
For ihe yoor ended 31 March £m £m £m £m £m
Total operating profit 645.9 583.7 524.9 533.4 506.8
Goodwill amortisation 16.2 88 75 80 4.0
Exceptional items 20.7 4.6 293 11.2 16.6
Discontinued operations - - - - 21.6)
Total operating profit before goodwill amartisation and exceptional items 691.8 507.1 561.7 553.3 505.8
Table 5:
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
For the year ended 31 March 2m £m £m £m £m
Profit before tax 370.4 337.5 327.5 3028 477.7
Goodwill amortisation 16.2 8.8 75 80 4.0
Exceptional items: - operating 29.7 4.6 29.3 11.9 16.6
— non-operating {8.6) {1.9) (34.0) - {191.2)
Discontinued operations - - - - (17.6)
Profit before tax before goodwill amartisation and exceptional items 407.7 349.0 3303 322.7 288.5
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2005-10. Including Ynited Utilities Electricity’s £64C million investment
programme, the regulated businesses could be required 1o spend
over £4 bilion on capital investment over the next five years.

To the extent that this additional expenditure, of up to approximately
£500 million, represents new obligations on United Utilities Water,

it will meet the criterion for a ‘refevant change of circumnstance’,
which means that it may be eligible for inclusion in any Interim
Determination of K ('1DoK’} application that United Ultilities Water
might make during the AMP4 (2005-10) period. If an [DoK application
is made and is successful, Ofwat would adjust United Utilities Water's
price limits during the AMP4 pericd to provide additional revenues

in respect of this capital expenditure and any other items that are
required to be taken into account in the 00K, If United Utilities

Water chose not to make an 1DoK application during AMP4, either
because the expenditure was not sufficiently material or it was offset
by reduced costs in other areas, then United Utilities Water expects
that this expenditure, 1o the extent that it represents additional
obligations, would be logged-up at the 2009 periodic review. The
additional expenditure would then be reflected in prices aver the
2010-15 period and beyond.

To assist in funding future investrment in the regulated water and
electricity businesses, the group wilt be undertaking the second
stage of the rights issue in June 2005 tc raise up to approximately
£1 billion (net of expenses) from its shareholders across both
tranches. The first tranche, received during September 2003, raised
around £501 million {net of costs) from the issuing of 309,286,997 A
shares. The second tranche of proceeds will reflect the subscription
for further A shares. Following the second subscription, all A shares
will be consolidated on a two-for-one basis and reclassified as £1
ordinary shares. The second stage of the rights issue will make an
important contribution to the funding of the regulated capital
investment programmes over the 2005-10 period.

In licensed muki-ulilty operations, segmental operating profit

has increased by 13.1 per cent, primarily reflecting the increase

in turnover, driven by an 8.9 per cent real increase in water prices
in line with the regulatory determinations, Segmental cperating
profit increased by 3.3 per cent in 2003/04 reflecting the increase
in turnover, offset by a number of factors, principaly higher operating
costs and depreciation.

Infrastructure management turnover has increased by 21.5 per cent
due largely to increased activity cn the British Gas Trading contract
and the first full-year contribution from the Scotfish Water contract.
This compares with an increase in tumnover of 12.5 per cent in
2003/04 due to the first full-year impact of the British Gas Trading
contract and the initiai impact of the Scottish Water contract.
Segmental operating profits have also increased by 34.7 per cent in
the iast two years. During the vear, two major outscurcing contracts
with Welsh Water and Scuthern Water, with a combined total
contract value of around £1.8 bilion to United Utilities, were secured.
Both contracts were successfully mobllised in April. Having recently
signed an eight-year, £1.1 biliion, contract to operate the north of
England gas distribution network, the contract successfully
commenced on 1 June 2005.

Turnover in business process cutsourcing has increased by

7.6 per cent, primarily due to the increase in volumes on public
sector contracts, notably the second phase of the Department for
Work and Pengions contract, and the first full-year contribution of
the North American debt collection activity, In 2003/04, the increase
in turnover of 19.8 per cent was primarily due to the first full-year
impact of the contracts with the Department for Work and Pensions
and Westminster City Council. Segmental operating margin of

8.7 per cent compares with 6.8 per cent in 2003/04 and 8.1 per
cent in 2002/03. Margin growth was held back by the higher than
normal level of bid costs in 2004/05 compared with 2003/04,

The segmental operating margin imgrovement in 2003/04 was
achieved rmainly due 10 the increased maturity of the external
contract portfolio. During May 2005, the business completed the
acquisition of Martborough Stiring ple, which will provide Vertex
with an entry peint into the financial services sector.

Buring the year, the infrastructure management and business
process outsourcing businesses began working in partnership to
secure contracts with local authorities such as Thurrock Unitary
Council, for which cantract activities commenced on 1 Aprit 2005,
ang Walsall Goungcil, far which the group has been named as
preferred supplier, working as a subcontractor to Fujitsu Services.

Growth in Your Communications’ turnover has continued, increasing
by 25,9 per cent in 2G04/056 ang 14.8 per ¢ent in 2003/04.
Segmental operating losses have also reduced by $9.3 per cent

in 2004/05 and 14.2 per cent in 2003/04, reflecting increased
turnover, control of operating costs and the successfui integration of
the Eurocall acquisiion, announced in March 2004, During the year,
the business completed the first three phases of its contract with
the Northwest Development Agency 1o provide broadband access
to Cumbria, ahead of schedule.

Financial performance

Group turnover (including share of joint ventures) increased by 11.9
per cent to £2,368.2 mifion in 2004/05 compared with an increase
of 10.2 per cent in 2003/04 and 2.6 per cent in 2002/03, These
rmovements reflect the impact of the allowed regulaiory revenues,
combined with continued growth in infrastructure management,
business process outsourcing and telecommunicaticns.

Total operating profit increased by 10.7 per cent in 2004/05 to
£645.9 million. Total operating profit before goodwiii amertisation
and excepticnal tems* increased by 15.9 per cent in 2004/05 to
£691.8 millian, principally reflecting improved segmental operating
profits in licensed multi-utility operations driven by an 8.9 per cent
real increase in water prices and infrastructure management,
reflecting the increasing maturity of contracts. Telecommunications
segmental operating 'osses have continued to reduce as revenues
and gross profits increase and the synergy benefits from the Eurccall
acquisition have been realised. Total operating profit before goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items™ increased by 6.3 per cent in
2003/04, mainiy due to improved segmental operating profits in
infrastructure management and business process outsourcing,
together with & marginal increase in the licensed businesses where
the increase in turnover was largely offset by a number of factors,
principalty higher operating costs and depreciatior on the expanded
asset base.

The net interest expense for the year was £284.1 million, compared
with £248.1 millicn in 2003/04 and £231.4 million in 2002/03.

The increase in both 2004/05 and 2003/04 primarily reflects

the nigher level of borrowings to fund the group’s capital
expenditure programimes.

Profit before tax in 2004/05 increased by 9.7 per cent to
£370.4 miliion. This is stated after net exceptional charges

of £21.1 milion (discussed below). The increase in profit before
tax is driven by improved segmental operating prcfits in licensed
rmuiti-utility operations, infrastructure management and business
process cutsourcing and reduced segmental operating losses
in telecommunications.

Profit before tax increased by 3.1 per cent to £337.5 million

in 2003/C4. The increase was due to improved resuits for all
segments. Profit before tax in 2003/04 included an exceptional
charge of £2.7 million (discussed below).

Basic earnings per share decreased by 14,1 per cent to 46.8 pence
in 2004/05, largely as a result of the increase in the deferred tax
charge. In 2003/04 basic earnings per share increasec by 19.0 per
cent to 54.5 pence, due to increased segmental operating profits.
Eamings per share has been restated for all pericds prior to the first
stage of the rights issue 1o reflect the bonus element of the rights
issue in accordance with FRS 14.

Adjusted basic eamings per share, excluding deferred tax ¥,
improved by 13.3 per cent to 61.4 pence, principaily reflecting the
impact of increased segmental operating profits. This compares
with a decrease cf 2.3 per cent in 2003/04 due 1o the increased
weighted average number of shares following the rights issue offset
by increased segmental operating profits. The calculation of and

{#) Disclosures related to atiusied earnings per share Nave bean excluded from our Form 20-F filing with the US Securities and Exchange Commission.
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reasons for the adjusted earnings per share measure are set out
in note 11 of the consolidated financial statements. Goodwili
amortisation was £316.2 million in 2004/05, £8.8 millicn in 2003/C4
and £7.5 million in 2002/03. Gooawill amartisation it 2004/05
consisted of £8.9 million relating to telecommunications (2003/04:
£4.0 million, 2002/03; £3.4 miliion), £5.4 miliion retating to business
process outsourcing {2003/04: £3.8 miion, 2002/03: £2.8 miffior}
and £0.9 million relating to infrastructure management (2003/04:
£1.0 million, 2002/03: £1.3 million}. The increase in 2004/05
principally reflacts the goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Eurccall by Your Communications, which was announced in
March 2C04. The increase in 2003/04 reflected the goodwill
arising from the acquisition of 7C by Vertex in December 2002,

The dividend per ordinary share for the year is 45,42 pence, an
increase of 2.5 per cent compared with the dividend per ordinary
share in 2003/04 of 44,31 pence.

The valuation of the group's pensions schemes under FRS 17
resiults in a net pension deficit at 31 March 2005 of £55.7 million
compared with a net deficit of £264.4 million at 31 March 2004
and £298.1 milion at 31 March 2003. The group made a lump sum
pensions contribution of £320 million, split between the group’s two
defined benefit pension schemes, on 31 March 2005, The group
does not expect to make any further cash contributions during the
2005-10 period into the defined benefit schemes although the
resuits of the next actuarial valuation will be incorporated into the
2007/08 financial statements.

Exceptiona) items

Under UK GAAPR, exceptional items are material items that derive
from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities

of a reporting entity and which individually, or if of a similar type in
agyregate, are required or expressly permitied 10 be disclosed by
viriue of their size or incidence if the financial statements are to give
a true and falr view.

Exceptional items, which are disclosed separately undet UK GAAP
in accardance with FRS 3 “Reporting financial performance’, are
as follows:

Table 6:
2005 2004 2003

For the year ended 31 March £m £m £m
Operating exceptional items:
Business restructuring 20.7) 4.8 (38
FRS 11 adustmant to carrying
value of telecoms assets - ~  (25.5)
Non-operating exceptionai items:
Profit on sale or termination of operations 4.5 43 340
Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets 4.1 (2.4) -

¢14) @27 4T

Business rastructuring costs in 2004/05 of £29.7 million mainty
relate 1o the restructuring programmes in licensed multi-utility
operations in preparation for mesting its 2005-10 efficiency
challenges, in infrastructure management relating to the
restructuring of the business units inte market-facing business
streams, focusing on their specific risks, and in business process
outsourcing, a restructuring to form a divisionaiised structure which
reflects the markets in which the business operates. Business
resfructuring costs in 2003/04 of £4.6 million related to costs
arising from the integration of the Eurocall business acquired by
Your Communications. In 2002/03, severance costs of £3.8 million
related to telecommunications. Busingss restructuring costs are
considered to be exceptional items under UK GAAP as they are
significant programmes for the businesses concerned. FRS 3
therefore expressly permits disclosure of these costs as exceptional
items within the income or expense heading 1o which they relate.

Under UK GAAP, the group performed an impairment review within
its telecommunications business in accordance with FRS 11 in the

vear ended 31 March 2003. This resulted in an adjustment to value
of £25.5 million, which was considered to be an exceptional item
by virtue of its size and nature. FRS 3 therefore expressly permits
disciosure of this adjustment as an exceptional item within the
incomea or expense heading to which it relates.

The profit on sale or termination of operations relates to the group's
withdrawal from various infrastructure management businesses. In
the year ended 31 March 2003, the group concluded it no longer
had a participating interest in IEBA, the Argentine utiity for which
United Utilities had been technical operator, and in which the group
had a minority interest. It therefore ceased to account for the
investment as a joini venture. The accounting provision that existed
at 31 March 2002 in respect of the investment in Argentina was
taken to the profit and loss account in 2003 which, aleng with

the disposal of US Water and costs associated with withdrawing
from infrastructure management in the Americas, gave rise to an
exceptional credit of £34.0 million. In 2004 and 2005, further credits
were recognised relating to the withdrawal from infrastructure
management in the Americas. In 2008, the group disposed of its
Green Energy business and reduced its shareholding in Manila
Water Company through an initial public offering. FRS 3 requires that
profits or losses on the sale or termination of an operation be shown
separately on the face of the profit and loss account after operating
profit and before interast.

The profit and loss on disposal of fixed assets in the years ended
31 March 2005 and 2004, respectively, relate 1o the disposal of
fixed asset investments. FRS 3 requires that profits or losses on
the disposal of fixed assets be shown separately on the face of the
profit and loss account after operating profit and before interest.

Taxation

The current UK mainstream corporation tax credits in 2004/05,
2003/04 and 2002/03 reflect the high level of accelerated tax
allowances arising from the capital invesiment undertaken by the
group and the benefits of Advance Corporation Tax (ACT) planning
established in earlier years. A tax credit has arisen in the current
year following the agreement of prior year tax returns.

The sffective current ordinary tax credit (excluding exceptional
iterns) is 8.1 per cent, compared with a credit of 6.1 per cent in
2003/04 and 9.0 per cent in 2002/03. Including deferred tax, there
is an effective ordinary tax charge (excluding exceptiona! items)

of 11.1 per ¢ent, compared with a credit of 7.1 per cent and a
charge of 17.6 per cent in 2003/04 and 2002/03, respectiveiy. An
exceptional deferred tax credit in 2004/05 of £8,1 million is primarily
due to restructuring costs incurred by the group. An exceptional
deferred tax credit in 2003/04 of £0.8 millicn arpse mainly from the
integration costs of the Eurocall business. An exceptional cradit of
£9.4 millicn {including £3.1 million deferred tax} was recorded in
2002/03, primarily due to the adjustiment to value in the
telecommunications business.

Deferred tax (excluding exceptional deferred tax) is a £75.3 milion
charge in 2004/05, compared with a £3.4 milion credit and a
charge of £85.9 millicn in 2003/04 and 2002/03, respectively.

The charge in 2004/05 arose because there had been no significant
movement in UK government bond rates during the year anc
reflects the movement in the discounted deferred tax liability. The
cradit in 2003/04 was principally due to the effect of increased UK
government bond rates on the discount of the deferred tax liability,
whereas the increased charge in 2002/03 refiected the effect of
reduced discount rates.

Cashflows

Net cash inflow from operating activiies decreased to £724.9 million,
from £923.5 million in 2003/04 and £851.5 million in 2002/03. The
decrease in 2004/05 reflects the lump sum pension contribution of
£320 million for the 2005-10 period, offset by increased operating
profits discussed above. Similarty, the increase in 2003/04 was
principally as a result of increased turnover and operating profits.

Returns on investment and servicing of finance includes £19.7 millicn
of cash received in 2004/05 due o the early termination of certain
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Operating and financial review

Operating and financial performance review continued

interest rate swap contracts. £83.0 million was received in 2003/04
through a similar exercise. This reduced credit exposures to swap
counterparties. The resultant gains are being deferred in the balance
sheet and will be released to the profit and loss account over the
pericd of the initial hedge.

Tax payments remain low reflecting the bensfits of previous tax
planning and the current tax charge discussed earfier.

A sgignificant level of capital investment continues o be made,
mainly as a result of the water and wastewater capital investment
programme. The 2004/05 capital investment of £883.8 million
represents a 13.2 per cent decrease over 2003/04, reflecting the
phasing of the AMP3 capital programme.

Cash receipts in 2004/05 include the proceeds from the initial pubiic
offering of part of the group’s investment in Manila Water Company
and the disposal of the Green Energy business, Cash payments in
2004/05 include the acqguisition of Capgemini's 14.6 per cent equity
stake in Vertex for £47.7 miliion (ncluding costs). Cash payments in
respect of acquisitions in 2003/04 inciLded the Eurocall acguisition
by Your Communications, the acquisitions of Park Environmental
Services and a waste management facility from Associated Octel
by United Utifities Contract Solutions and the acquisition of First
Revenue Assurance in Denver by Vertex. Cash recelpts In 2002/03
included the proceeds from the disposal of the group’s investment
in US Water, offset by the investment in 7C.

£20.0 milion was received from the issue of shares during the
year, reflecting the exercise of share options. This compared with
£504.1 mitlion received in 2003/04 mainly as a resuit of the first
tranche of the rights issue as described on page 16.

Dividend payments in 2004/05 represent an increase in ling with
the group’s dividend policy.

As a result of the above, net dept” increased by £702.7 million 1o
£4,141.1 million at 31 March 2005, Gearing, measured as net dett”
divided by total capital employed (being equity shareholders’ funds
plus net debt*), increased to 57 per cent, compared with 53 per
cent at 31 March 2004 and 57 per cent at 31 March 2003. The
group seeks to ensure that sufficient funding is available to meet
foreseeable requirements plus headroom for contingencies.

UNITED UTILITIES NORTH WEST

Business objectives

Unitad Utilities Narth West carries out the group’s licensed mutt-
utility operations and aims to create value through the efficient
management of its assets, The key objectives continue to be 1o
deliver its regulatory contracts, 1o align its resources efficiently
within the common geography of its licensed networks in north
west England and to continue to improve service for customers.
The business pursues strategies aimed at maximising the benefits
of its multi-utility status and integrating its systems and procedures
to generate efficiencies across its operations and provide a
seamless senvice for customers.

United Utilities North West was formed during 2004/05 from the
merger of the Customer Sales (which managed customer contact,
billing and collections) and Service Delivery (which managed the
regulated assets) business streamns. Within United Utllities North
West, three business streams have been created for water,
wastewater and electricity, to ensure end-to-end accountability and
balanced decision making on operating and capital expenditure. In
addition, the custormner business stream manages the relaticnship
with the group’s regulated customer base, including biling and
cash collection.

Financial highlights

Turnover increased by 6.5 per cent to £1,384.7 million in 2004/05,
largely due to a real increase of 8.9 per cent in water and wastewater
prices offset by 3.0 per cent real reduction in electricity revenues.
This compared with growth of 5.7 per cent in 2003/04, when water
and wastewater prices increased by 4.0 per cent in reai terms and
when a real reduction of 3.0 per cent in electricity distribution prices
was appfied.
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Segmental operating profit increased by 13.1 per cent to £587.9
million in 2004/05, primarity reflecting the increase in turnover.
Segmental operating profit increased by 3.3 per cent in 2003/04
reflecting the increase in turnover, offset by a number of factors,
principally higher operating costs and depreciation,

Capital investment for the year was £858.7 miition (2003/04:
£1,013.9 milion). £7086.9 million {2003/04; £864.2 milior) was
spent on water and wastewater and £151.8 million (2003/04:
£149.7 million) on electricity distribution. Tne capital invastment
programmes for water and wastewater are progressing in line
with the regulatory output schedule. In electricity, a programme of
asset replacement and load investment has allowsd the company
to further enhance the resilience of the electricity network, This
performance has been demonstrated by the improvement in
Ofgern's regulatory measures of tetal customer minutes lost

and total number of customer interruptions to supplies.

Business performance

Water quality performance improved to 99.74 per cent on

the Drinking Water Inspectorate’s water quality index, up from
88.72 per cent the previous year. United Utiiities maintained water
supplies to all customers during 2004/05 without the need for any
water use restrictions. Enhancements to the water supply system
have been undertaken to ensure that all parts of the region have
adequate water suppiies available in dry weather.

It is important for the business to take into consideration the
impact of its activities an all stakeholders and on the environment.
In 2004/05, the score in respect of non-compliant works
{measured per head of population served) was 0.002 per cent,

an improvement on the level achieved in 2003/04 of 0.26 per cent.
This was achieved by putting problem works into an ‘intensive care’
programme, increasing maintenance spend, operator involverment
and capital work. In 2004/05, as part of the capital investment
programme, 76 continuous discharge and 145 UID improvement
projects were defivered.

Furthermore, service levels continued to improve the Overall
Performance Assassmerit (OPA} score, as measured by Ofwat,
to 398 points in 2004/05 from 324 in 2003/04. The continued
objective is 10 sustain the level of operaticnal performance and
reduce the cost of short-term remedial work required.

In the year ended 31 March 2005, the business was prosecuted on
nine separate occasions relating to poliution incidents and consent
breaches {eight in 2004). The company contintes to work closely
with the Envirgnment Agency, highlighting the reduction in pollution
incidents as a particular target for the business. Investment in
cdour controt systems also increased, addressing an issue that has
becorre of growing concern to some customers. A serfes of health
and safety initiatives has been implemented 1o reduce risks, which
helped reduce the days lost due 1o accidents from 985 to 851,

Working in partnership with contractors, the business is
successfully delivering Ofwat's regulatory output schedule.

The policy to standardise designs and equipment, wherever
possible, is helping to make sure money is invested wissly and,
at the same time, reduce the whole-life costs of new plant

and equipment.

in December 2003, Ofwat published its final decision on the Interim
Determination of K {'IDoK'} application, which allowed an increase in
reat prices by a further 4.4 per cent in 2004/05. This was in addition
to the allowed 4.5 per cent real price rise, which was set at the last
price review and brought the total allowed real price increase for
2004/05 to 8.9 per cent. The increase reflects certain additional
costs the business had experienced since 2000 that were not inttially
aflowed in the five-year regulatory petiod 2000-05, including higher
construction costs and extra costs and loss of revenue following the
ban on disconnection of hauseholds for non-payment of bills.

When Ofwat adjusted price limits in December 2003 as a result of
United Litilities’ 100K, expenditure relating to a number of schemes in
the sewer overflow programme (also known as UIDs), which had been




identified as being poor value for money, was eliminated frorm 2004/05
prices. In the review of price limits completed in 2004, United Utilities
submitted a claim {which was agreed by the regulator) for work it had
caried out or planned to cary out before the end of the regulatory
period 2000-05 in refation to UIDs. In its final determination in
December 2004, Cwat included completed or proposed work it
considered to be cost-effective within 2005-10 pricas. If other work is
required In these catchments during 2005-10, then United Utilities
will seak the recovery of costs according to the procedures set out
in Ofwat’s protocol for dealing with changed requirerments between
price limits or through the next price review.

Throughout the year, reg! improvements it managing cash and
the problems associaied with long-standing customer debt have
continued 1o be delivered. Regulatory targets on all customer
service measures have been met or exceeded. The number of
telephone calls answered within 30 seconds was 93.9 per cent,
against a reguiatory target of 86 per cent and a 2003404 industry
average of 93.5 per cent.

United Utilities Water has migrated the vast majority of its
customers onte a new biling system, and this has been used 10
calculate and send customers’ bills for 2005/06. The new system
is targeted to deliver cost savings for the business in 2005/06 as
well as providing significant sendce improvements for customers.

in electricity distribution, both regutatory targets and the company’s
own internal targets for providing continucus supplies to customers
were out-performed. Customer interruptions and minutes lost per
connected customer were reduced. Through good contingency
planning and a rapid responsge, service teams were able 1o
minirmise the impact on customers of damage to the distribution
network caused by winter storms, notably the major incident
affecting Curnbria and Lancashirg in north west England, in which

a storm severely damaged the electricity network supply 1o
250,000 customers.

Business impacts

To ensuire that higher levels of performance continue to be achisved
following the acceptance of the final determinations in December
2004, new initiatives are being designed to improve efficiency and
reduce cost. Key to this aim, the business restructuring programime is
designed to streamline operations, achieve cost savings and enable
customer service 1o be led from one part of the business. Procedures
are now largely in place for the management of the next five-year
capital investment programmes in water, wastewater and electricity
distribution. This will ensure that the appropriate business processes,
organisation, systems and commergial contracts are in place to
provide maximum shareholder value from the asset base.

During May 2005, the company appointed partners to help defiver its
£2.9 bilion water and wastewater programme during the AMP4 {2005-
10) regulatory period. This covers the majority of the water quality and
environmenital improvements that will be carried out on its treatmernt
warks and major sewer overflows over the next five years.

The deiivery of United Utilities’ previous investment programme has
confirmed the success of its framework contractor approach, which
wags put in place during AMP3. The dgfivery strategy for AMP4
builds on this success with the group taking a leading role in
programme managsment, increasing its imernal resources in
engineering and design and placing a greater emphasis on
performance ranagement through the alignment of financlal targets
with partners and benchmarking out-turn resulis. A key enabler

is the creation of integrated work teams with responsibility for
defivaring projects from conception through to commissioning.
These changes will help the group deliver the capital efficiencies
required by Ofwat,

For the first time, the execution of the group's electricity distribution
investment programme is being more ciosely aligned with the
delivery of its water and wastewater network programmes. The
appointed pariners, who will help carry out work on the group's
network of sewers, pipes and cables during the 2005-10 pericd,

are Balfour Beatty and Morgan Est. This approach shoutd enabie
the group to target significant cost savings through the use of
common systems, improved scheduling and more integrated
supply chain management. Contractors will also be better
incentivised to make cost savings, without compromising

on quaiity, by aligning the sharing of efficiencies.

Operational strategy is being reafigned to deliver further efficiencies

in operations and maintenance. Areas that will vield benefits include
automation and the remote monitoring of plant, streamlining

of processes and the development of high performance teams.
Reductions in overheads and accornmedation costs and supply chain
management ghould maxirnise value from the scale of the business
and deliver benefit from long-term partnerships with key suppliers.

Having made preparations in advance of receiving the final regulatory
determinations, which the group accepted in Decermnber 2004, the
group has plans in place, which it believes will enable it to meet

the efficiency challenges over the 2005-10 perind. In its final
determination, Ofwat granted United Utilties Water an average annual
real price increase of 4.5 per cent over the next five years, The price
profile is front-end loaded, with the highest increases in the first two
years of the review period. In its final proposals, Ofgem allowed United
Utilities Electricity a real price increase of 8.2 per cent in 2005/06,
followed by constant real prices thereafter.

The price rises dlowed in the recent water price review caused
concern for United Utilities North West and its customers about
the affordability of water bills, particularly for wilnerable customers,
Processes ars in place to manage debt in & way that is fair to
customers and effective for the business. Furthermore, a range

of inftiatives is available that provide support, such as the
wilnerable customer tanff, an arrears afiowance scheme and
money advice services.

In 2005, an independent charitable trust was created, to which the
group intends to donate £15 million over the next five years. The
trust will help water customers facing financial difficulty by ciearing
outstanding water arrears and other, non-water, bills.

During the year, the business has issued communications 10 help
ensure that all cusiomers understand the reasons for increased
water bills, through, for example, the use of regional media to
carry local articles about the custorner benefits of the investrnent
programme, raising awareness of the water and wastewater
services supplied and through business customer seminars.
Infarmation on the group’s investment plang and the price review
process are also available through the group's web site, leaflets
and customers’ bills.

United Utifities North West has taken a leading role in the Debt
Focus Group of Water UK, an industry-wide body, iooking at ways
10 improve the Department for Work and Pensions' ‘Water Direct’
scheme. 1t continues to lobby for changes to the benefits system
to extend the range of benefits from which deductions can be
made and to improve the take-up of such schemes.

UNITED UTILITIES CONTRACT SOLUTIONS

Business ohjectives

United Uftilities Contract Solutions applies the group’s core
infrastnuciure managernent skills to growth markets in the UK and
overseas by seeking to develop secure long-temm income streams,
white managing the resultant changes t¢ the group’s risk profile.

Utility Solutions is responsible for the group’s utility outsourcing
contracts in the UK. The approach adopted by Scotlish Water
and Southern Water for the delivery of their capital investment
programmes shows the continuing trend for larger outsourcing
oppartunities. The portfolic of existing contracts, and the market-
focused offering of the Utility Solutions' business, means it is well
placed to take advantage of similar future opportunities.

The multi-utility expertise within Industrial and Ceormmercial
Sciutions presents real growth oppertunities within the UK
domestic, indusirial and commercial markets as companies
continue to seek new ways 10 deliver cost-effective services,
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Operating and financial review
Operating and financial performance review continued

The International division applies the group’s expertise in
infrastructure management and operations to develop and manage
utilfity projects around the world. It currently cperates concessions
in Bulgaria, Estonia, Poland, the Philippines and Australia.

Financial highlights

Turnover increased by 21.5 per cent to £543.1 million in 2004/C5,
largely due to increased activity on the British Gas Trading contract
and the first full-year impact of the Scottish Water contract. This
compares with an increase in turnover of 12.5 per cent in 2003/04
due to the first full-year impact of the British Gas Trading contract
and the initial impact of the Scottish Water contract.

Segmental operating profit increased by 16.8 per cent to £79.2
million in 2004/05, reflecting the increasing maturity of contracts,
the first full-year impact of the Scottish Water coniract, increased
shareholdings in European cencessions and increased activity on the
British Gas Trading cortract, Segmental operating profit in 2003/04
increased by 15.3 per cent to £67.8 million reflecting the increase in
contract activity, including the inftial impact of the Scottish Water
contract and increased sharehcldings in European concessions.

Business performance

Utility Solutions

During the year, two major outsourcing contracts with Welsh Water
and Southern Water were signed, which have a combined total
contract value of £1.8 billion to United Utilities. Both contracts
commenced successfully in April 2005. The originai Welsh Water
contract, signed in 2001, was scheduled 10 expire on 31 March
2005, Following a competitive tender process, Utility Sclutions
retained the provision of operations and maintenance services

on the water freatment assets in north and south Wales, and the
wastewater treatment agsets in narth Wales. The new contract,
which is for up 1o 15 years from 1 April 2005 and subject to five-
yearly performance reviews to coincide with future price control
periods, also requires the provision of specified shared services,
including an cperational activity centre, education and recreational
facilities. Over the course of the original contract to 2005, Dwr
Cymru Welsh Water moved from near the bottorn of the Overall
Performance Assessment tables to second position.

The contract with Southern Water is being managed by a
consartium consisting of United Wilities and Costain, which each
have shares of 40 per cent, and Montgomery Watson Harza, which
has a 20 per cent share, The cantract is worth around £750 million
to the consortium, which is responsibie for project managing,
designing and delivering more than 250 water and wastewater
Improvement schemes across parts of Hampshire, West and East
Sussex, Kent and the Isie of Wight.

The first full year of the Scottish Water Solutions contract has also
been successful. In partnership, Utiity Solutions is helping Scottish
Water deliver approximately £1.7 bilion of its capital investment
programme. During the year, the investment target of £426 mifion,
including efficienciss, was achieved. The joint venture company won
three awards at the annual Utility Industry Achieverment Awards
ceremeny, reflecting excallent business practices.

United Utilities’ eight-year contract to operate the north of England
gas distribution network commenced on 1 June 2005, with around
1,100 employses transferring from National Grid Transco

to United Utilities. The contract is worth around £1.1 billion and
covers the management of around 36,000 km of gas majns,
serving a popuation of mare than six million. The north of England
distrioution network extends from the Scottish border to South
Yorkshire and across to Carlisle and Cumbria.

International

In Manila, the icint venture company successfully {isted on the
Philippine Stock Exchange during March 2005, The International
business placed part of its overall shareholding in the business,
reducing its interest to 11.7 per cent. The International business
also retains the secure revenue stream as the designated
international cperator.
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in Australia, work is ongaing on the canstruction of a £7 miffion
advanced wastewater freatment plant and network at Victor Harkor
for the South Australian Water Corporation and state goverament.
Once consiruction is completed, the Australia business has a
20-year contract to operate and maintain the assets.

industrial and Commercial Solutions

Activity levels for the metering services contract with British Gas
Trading continue to be on target. The requirements of the contract
are now fully embedded in the operations of the business.

A 15-year coniract was signed during the year to provide
facilities and property management, highways engineering and
trangportation services to Thurrock Unitary Council, working
alongside Vertex.

The business has also been named as preferred bidder in
partnership with Fujitsu and Vertex to provide a similar range of
services to Walsall Council. This contract is expected to commence
Jater in the year. The contracts with Thurrock Unitary Council and
Walsall Councii, combined, are worth around £200 million to United
Utilities Contract Sclutions.

The Industrial business secured a five-year contract to operate and
maintain water and wastewater assets for the Atomic Weapens
Establishment. The contract provides for a potential extension to
20 years and the provision of ancillary services, such as capital
maintenance. The services do not include handling radicactive

or contaminant discharges.

Disposal of Green Energy

During December 2004, United Utilities sold its Green Energy
operational assets for £63 million in cash to Novera Macquarie
Renewabie Energy Limited, a company joirtly owned by Novera
Energy and Macquarie Bank of Australia.

Buginess impacts

United WUtilities Contract Solutions' businesses serve different
markets with different influences. The new management
structure, adopted during this financial year, increases focus
within the business on the differing risks which impact ¢n the
business streams.

A key issue as the business grows is to recruit, retain and develop
the right people. A sponsorship scheme for undergraduate students,
which invoives a job placement whilst at university, is now into its
second year. In addition, the business has been recruiting for its
apprenticeship programmes in Wales and Scotland,

The business aims to mitigate tisks from operations by partnering
with experienced and skilled specialist organisations to deliver the
services required under contract, where this is thought approgriate.
The ability to identify resources to meet developments within the
market is a priority of the business.

VERTEX

Business objectives

in order to accommodate the growth and broader business base of
the company, Vertex has recently restructured from a functionally
based organisation t¢ a divigionalised structure, which bestter
reflects the markets In which it operates. The company now
cperates through four distinct lines of business, with the creation
of a Pubiic Sector division, Financial Servicas division, Utilities and
Enterprise division and North American division, Vertex believes that
the regrganisation has positioned the company for further growth
and will enabie greater responsiveness to client requirements within
the target sectors.

North America

Vertex’s strategy in North America is: first, to optimise delivery on
the Hydro One contract in Canada (a ten-year deal worth nearfy
2140 million); and second, to pursue large North American energy
and utilities opportunities as the market continues to deregulate,
by feveraging off its UK energy and utiiities market deregulation
experience. In March 2004, Vertex acquired a US based debt
collection agency, First Revenue Assurance (FRA), giving it




a route to the larger utilities deals by gaining a footheld in the US
utiliies collections market and suppeorting its North America utilities
strategy. Finally, through its channel partners, who provide access
to key market areas, Vertex intends to pursue deals that have the
potential 1o utlise its facilities in India and it is already in discussions
with a number of potential clients.

Public sector

Vertex is successfuily pursuing its strategy of growing its husiness
in both local and central government, It regards the Westminster
City Council contract as a blueprint for transforming service delivery
in local government and a basis for its future expansion plans.

At the time of contract signature, it was the UK's largest iocal
government cutsourcing deal, worth up to £422 million. In this
contract, Vertex developed a fresh approach - called 'Citizen First’
- o deliver local authority services. This was applied to the
successiul bid for Thurrock Unitary Coungcil. This contract, secured
during the year, is one of the largest {ransformational outsourcing
deals in the UK, worth £427 milfior over 15 vears. In partnership
with Thurrock Unitary Councii, Vertex will manage and re-engineer
a number of their business processes, ranging from business
accounting and financial services to revenue services, procurermnent
and human resources. The contract is being managed in
partnership with United Utilities Contract Solutions, which is
providing facilities management, highways engineering and
transportation services 1o the council.

In the central government market, Vertex has operated the
successful ‘Payments Modernisation Programme’ for the
Department for Work and Pensions for the last two years

and is currently in discussions about a number of other central
government business process outsourcing opportunities.

Vertex, in partnership with United Utilities Contract Solutions, has
also been named as preferred suppilier to provide Walsall Council
with services to meet its modernising and efficiency agendas,
working as a subcontractor to Fujitsu Services. This is a similar
contract in size and scope to the contract with Thurreck Unitary
Council, and is expected to commence later in the year.

Utility and enterprise

Vertex continues to grow organically. It offers clients customer
management expertise, coupled with benefits from the economies
of scale available across its multi-client sites as it standardises
Drocesses across its operaticns, reducing the cost base, sharing
common infrastructure and improving margins.

Underpinning its strategy in both the utilities and private enterprise
sectors, Vertex has continued to grow its operations in New Deihi,
India and has comimissioned a second site to support that growth,
Vertex coffers clients a total sclution, efther combining vperational
locations in both India and the client's horme market or by
transferring client operations offshore. In Both models, clients
benefit from fast, low-risk access to the economic and educational
benefits of the Indian marketplace.

Financial services

Recently, Vertex acquired Marlborough Stirling pic. This acquisition
will provide Veertex with an entry point into the business process
outsourcing segment of the financial services market, The group
belleves that Marlborough Stirling has significant untapped potential
that can be unlocked by combining its sector specific knowledge
with Veertex’s expertise in business process outsourcing. The
merger of the two businesses also provides opportunities to
secure synergy savings. Vertex has already identified immediate
opporiunities to deliver efficiencies of around £6 million per annum
en a full-year basis from the acquisition. These savings will be
derived from a reduction in central overheads, such as corporate
costs, and the alignment and integraticn of Mariborough Stirling's
systems, processes and facilities with Vertex's existing operations.

Financial highlights

Turnover increased by 7.6 per cent to £396.4 milior in 2004/05,
predominantly due to the increase in volumes on public sector
contracts and the first full-year impact of the North American debt

O

collection activity. In 2003/04, the increase in turnover of 19.8 per
cent to £368.5 millicn was primarily due to the first full-year impact
of the contracts with the Department for Work and Pensions and
Westrrinster City Council.

Segmental operating profit improved by 5.2 per cent t¢ £26.4
million, reflecting the increased external contract activity, offset by
higher bid costs, principally on the Thurrock and Walsall contracts,
together with other contract cppartunities that Vertex is pursuing.
In 2003/04, the segmental operating profit increased by 33.5 per
cent to £25.1 mitiion, due t¢ the effect of increased activity and
improved marging,

Vertex's segmental operating margin (8.7 per cent margin in
2004/05) was comparable with the 6.8 per cent margin in the
previous year and higher than the 6.1 per cent margin in 2002/03,
Margin growth has been held back by the higher than narmal level
of bid costs in 2004/05 compared with 2003/04. The segmerital
operating margin improvement in 2003/04 was achieved due to
the Increased maturity of the external contract porifolio and cost
reductions on intra-group contracts, together with the relatively tow
level of contract mobilisation in 2003/04.

Business performance

In the financial year ended 31 March 2005, Vertex won contracts
with a total contract value in excess of £550 million. Contract
wins in 2003/04 and 2002/03 were valued at £219 million and
£593 million respectively. The Thurrock Unitary Council contract
announced in Novernber 2004 is Vertex's largest ever deal, with
a total contract value of £427 million.

Vertex's cutsourcing contract with Westminster City Council
continues to progress well. Since last year, the scope of the
contract has been extended to include parking services. This
extension is worth arcund £45 million over ten years in addition
to Vertex's original £422 million contract with Westminster.

Vertex has signed a new seven-year contract, with a review point
after four years, with Powergen Retail Limited, part of E.ON UK.
This amends its currert agreement, which began in 2033. The new
longer-term contract will redlistribute work on a functional basis

o enable hoth companies to maximise economies of scale,

In November 2004, United Utilities acquired Capgemini's 14.6

per cent equity stake in Vertex for £47.7 million (including costsj in
cash. Following this transaction, United Utilities now owns 100 per
cent of Vertex's share capital and Capgemini no longer has any
representation on the board of Vertex. This acquisition does not
alter the strategic aliance that exists between the two companies.

Business impacts

Vertex has an active and robust corporate governance programme
designed to manage sfrategic and tactical risks, which couid
impact the business. Risks are clearly identified and monitored on
a regular basis.

With clear objectives, and an experienced management team,
Vertex believes it is on course to continue its growth by increasing
the choice of services offered to clients and by helping them
transform the way they do business.

YOUR COMMUNICATIONS

Busingss objectives

Your Communications’ continuing cbiective is to sustain its
progress. lts sector is growing but is fiercely competitive. In March
2004, the business announced the acguisition of Eurocail, and
such consolidation strengthens Your Communications’ position
for the future.

Eurocall complemented existing operations and added significarit
breadth and depth to the customer base. The acquisition also
delivered synergy benefits by combining the operations of the two
crganisations, in the region of £9 million annually.

The group's strategy for Your Communications remains unchanged.
The business is continuing to be developed with a view to its disposal
when shareholder value can be maximised.
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Operating and financial review

Operating and financial performance review continued

Financial highlights

Turnaver increased by 25.9 per cent in 2004/05 1o £233.6 millien,
compared with an increase of 14.8 per cent in 2003/04, as a

resuft of the continued progress of the business in increasing its
proportion of higher value business sales combined with the
Eurocall acquisition. Segemental operating losses were recuced by
69.3 per cent to £5.1 million in 2004/05 compared 1o a reduction of
14.9 per cent in 2003/04. This was due to increased revenue,
control of oparating costs and the successful integration of Eurocall.

Business performance

The business substantially reduced segmental operating losses for
the fuil year and achieved break-even™ in the second half of the
year. This was achieved through close attention to the cost base of
the business, taking advantage of further efficiencies and
maintaining the synergy benefits gained as a result of the Eurccalt
acquisition, which provided a significant volume of new business,
and is now a fully integrated part of Your Communications. In
acditiort, the business has been able o reduce its indiract cost base
as a result of a programme to reach deeper into the operators’
networks, thus resulting in lower costs.

As at 31 March 2005, the first three phases of Your Communications’
contract with the Northwest Development Agency 1o provide
broadband access to Cumbria had been completed, approximately
one month ahead of schedule. To date, service is available to over
50 per cent of the designated public sector sites.

The company billed a total of 3.72 billion minutes in 2004705,
compared with 2.94 billion minutes in 2003/04.

Business impacts

The new unified industry regulator, Ofcomn, was established with effect
from Becember 2003 and is now undertaking a strategic review of the
UK telecommunications market as discussed on page 11.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The group's primary source of liquidity is cash generated from its
ongoing business operations. As reflected in the consolidated cash
flow statement on page 58, In the financial year ended 2005, net
cash flow generated from the group's trading operations was

£725 million, compared with £924 million in 2004 and £852 miliicn
in 2003. The water regulator and the elactricity regulator set a major
element of the group’s revenues from ongeing operations, providing
both a stable and a predictable source of funds.

Treasury policy

The group’s treasury function operates within poficies approved by
the board, does not act as a profit centre and does not undertake
any speculaiive trading activity. It seeks to ensure that sufficient
funding is available 1o meet foreseeabie needs and maintains
reasonable headroom for contingencies. Long-term borrowings
are sfructured or hedged tc match earnings, which are fargely in
sterling, indexed to inflation and subject to regulatory price reviews
every five years. Exposure 10 interest rate movements for the
following 12 moenths is largely eliminated at the start of each financial
year using short-term hedges. The credit quality of counterparties
and individual aggregate exposures are reviewed annually.

Debt financing

Moody's Investor Service rates the credit of United Utilities PLLC as
A3 on a fong-term basis with a stable outlook and P-2 on a short-
term basis. Equivalent ratings published by Standard and Poor’s
Rating Services are BBB+ long-term with a stable outlock and A-2
short-term.

The group’s net debt® (which is reconclled to gross debt in note 23
0 the consolidated financial statements) of £4,141.1 million at

31 March 2005 comprised £4,059.0 million of bonds, £654.4 milion
of loans from European Investment Bank (‘EIB", the group’s largest
investor, £81.0 milion of (ong-term leasing and £208.0 million of
barnk loans and other borrowings, offset by £861.3 million of cash
and short-term Investments,

Shorter-term liquidity
Short-term liquidity requirements are met from the group's normal
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operating cash flow. Further liquidity is provided by cash and
short-term investment balances, the company’s US$1.5 billion
euro commercial paper programme, supported by committed bank
facifities and committed but undrawn long-term credit facifities.

Cash and short-term investment balances were £861 million
at 31 March 2005, compared with £1,031 million at 20C4 and
£689 million at 31 March 2603,

Bank overdrafis and temporary borrowings, which are repayable
in fess than one year, were £37.1 million at 31 March 2005,
compared with £32.6 milion at 31 March 2004 and £157.5 milion
at 31 March 2003. The weighted average rate of interest on bank
overdrafts and temporary borrowings was 5,16 per cent (2004:
3.87 per cent, 2003: 4.25 per cent). Tne group had available
committed bank facilities of £875.C million (2004: £775.0 million,
2003: £935.0 millionj of which £873.4 mitlion was unutiised at

31 March 2005 (2004: £773.1 milfion, 2003: £934.2 milion).

Of the amounts unutilised, £100.0 million exgires within cne year,
£323.4 million expires after one year but in less than two years,
and the remaining £450.0 million expires in more than two years,

Although unutilised during the financial vear ended 31 March 20085,
the US$1.5 billion euro commercial paper programme stilt provides
for the periodic issuance of notes by United Utllities, United Uhilities
Water and United Utiiities Electricity. The notes will have a maturity
(not tess than one day and not more than 364 days) and an
interest rate determined at the time of issuance. United Utilities
has enterad into £875 miflion of credit facilities, as noted above,
used primarily as support for the US$1.5 billien euro commercial
paper programme.

Longer-term liquidity

The group has effective access to the international debt capital
markets through its €5 billion medium-term note programme which
provides for the pertiodic issuance by United Utifities, United Utllities
Water and United Utilities Blectricity of debt instruments o terms
and conditions determined at the time that the instruments are
issued. In addition, the group has a US$2 bilion shelf registration
with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

This enables effective access to the US bond market, allowing

the hoiding company flexibiiity to access the US rmarket in a simitar
way 1o the medium-term note programme. Neither programme
represents a funding commitment, with funding only becoming
committed when dabt securities have been successiully issued.
The currencies in which debt is held are disclosed in note 23

t¢ the consolidated financial statements.

The group aranged £50 million of new five-year medium-term
committed bank facilities and new facliities totalling £100 milion
were also agreed. In addition, an agreement was signed for
£200 million of funding from EIB which remains undrawr.

The group's term loans ware £4,884.3 million at 31 March 2005,
compared with £4,356.0 miifon at 31 March 2004 and £3,715.9
million at 31 March 2003. Amounts repayable after more than five
years comprise bank and other loans repayable between 2011 and
2053. Interest rates range from 1.135 per cent to 14.83 per cent
on £2,252.1 milion (2004: £1,852.9 million, 2003: £1,932.0 million)
and are at fioating rates on £342.6 million (2004; £361.5 miiion,
2003; £358.0 million}.

Interest rate management

The group manages interest rate exposure by seeking o ratch
financing costs as closely as possible with the revenues generated
by its assets. The group's exposure o interest rate fiuctuations

is managed in the medium term through the use of interest rate
swaps and the use of financial futures contracts traded on LIFFE.
The average interest rate for 2004/05 was 7.4 per cent, compared
with 7.0 per cent in 2003/04 and 6.9 per cent in 2002/03.

Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk

Risk management

The principal financial market risks faced by the company are the
risks of interest rate movements and foreign currency movements.




Table 7:

During the last financial year, the group received £556 million of term funding. The details of this financing are as follows:

Rate jagd
Medium-term notes:
GBP - 2035 5%M 200.0
UsD - 2009 Floating®) 57
EUR - 2020 4.25%® 350.4
Notes:
(3} Long-term debt issues swapped to a floating interest rate, set by reference to GEP LIBOR.
{2) Interest rate is set by reference lo USD LIBOR.
(3) Debit dencminated in a foreign cumency has been swappaed ta GBP with a floating intarest rale, set by reference ta GBP LIBOR.
Table 8: Interest rate risk
Market valua change Market value change
+1% -1% +1% ~t%
Market value movement movement Market value movement movement
31 March 2005 in interest rate in interest rate 31 March 2004 in interest rate ininterest rale
Interest rate movement £m m m £m £m £m
Long-term debt 5,002} 206 {342} {4,568} 266 (304}
Interest rate swaps @7 8) 25 {443 {116) 135
Currency swaps (6] {109) 126 100 @1 107
Tahle 9: Foreign currency risk
Market value change Market value change
+10% -10% +10% -10%
movement movemant movement movermant
Market valug in foreign in foreign Market value in foreign in foreign
31 March 2005 axchange rate axchange rale 31 March 2002 exshange rate exchange rate
£ £m £m £m tm £m
Long-term debt {5,002) 257 (304) (4,568) 227 (277)
Currency swaps {8) (252} 798 100 {2300 281
Table 10: Contractual obligations
Payments due by period
Less than More than
ane year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
£m £m m £m £m
Long-term debt 467.3 988.0 887.0 ?2,542.0 4,884.3
Interast on fong-term debt 2738 503.¢4 330.2 2,020.1 31275
Capital lease gbligations 08 1.3 168.2 527 81.0
Cperating leases 13.8 213 15.8 203.4 2543
Purchase obligations 87.1 19.1 35 a5 90.2
Capital commitments 277.9 42.8 7.1 4.2 332.0
Total contractual cash obligations 1,100.7 1,585.9 1,259.8 4,822.9 8,760.3
Table 11: Financial guarantees
Amount of commitment expiration per pariod
Less than More than
ong year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years Totat
£m £m £m £m £m
Guaraniees 134.9 2245 5.0 29C.0 654.4
Total commercial commitments 1349 2245 50 290.0 654.4
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Operating and financial review
Operating and financial performance review continued

Interest rate and foreign currency management

The company uses a combination of interest rate swaps, futures
and funding instruments to hedge exposure 1o interest rate volatility.
The company’s use of derivative instruments relates directly to
underlying indebtedness; no speculative or trading transactions
are undertaken. The proportion of debt at effective fixed rates of
interest for a period greater than one year is set in conjunction with
the level of floating rate debt and projected reguiatory revenues
that are expesed to inflationary adjustments (index linked). In
addition, the company aims to manage its short-term budgetary
commitments by ensuring that the majority of floating rate inferest
is fixed for pericds of less than one year through the use of
exchange-traded financial futures. The company has limited
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate movamenis, Interest
rate management and funding policies are set by the board,

The company has slected not 1o designate any of its derivative
instruments as hedges for US GAAP accounting purposes.

Quantitative disclosure of market risk

The analysis in tables 8 and 9 presents the sensitivity of the market
value of the group’s financial instruments to selected changes in
market rates and prices, The range of changes chosen reflects the
group’s view of changes that are reasonably possible over a one-
year period. Market values are quoted values, or, where these are
not available, those values are obtained by discounting cash flows
at market rates and prices. The market values for interest rate risk
are caloulated by using a standard zero coupon discounied cash
flow pricing model.

For leng-term debt, a favourable change in market value resuits
in a decline in the value of debt. For other financial instruments,

a favourable change in market value results in an increase in
market value.

Interest rate risk

The sensitivity analysis in table 8 assumes an instantaneous
1.0 per cent {100 basis points) move in interest rates for all
maturities and all currencies from thelr levels at 31 March 2008
and 31 March 2004, with all other variables held constant.

The movement in market value cf debt and instruments hedging
debt will not result in any immediate change to the group’ financial
staterments, since market values are net recognised on the group
balance sheet, An increase in short-term interest rates of all
currencies of 1.0 per cent would decrease group net interest
payable for the financial year by £3.1 milion (2004: decrease

of £4.5 miliion; 2003: increase of £2.0 million).

Foreign currency risk

The sensitivity analysis in table 9 assumes an instantaneous

10.0 per cent change in foreign currency exchange rates against
sterling from their levels at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004,
with all other variables held constant. The +10.0 per cent case
assumes a 10.0 per cent strengthening of sterling versus all cther
currenciss and the -10.0 per cent a weakening of sterling.

Market value changes from movements in currency rates in Jong-
term debt, currency swaps and forward contracts hedging debt are
taken through the group’s statement of total recognised gains and
losses in accordance with the hedge accounting requirements

in SSAR 20.

Substantiaily all cash and cash equivalents are held in sterling and
sterling denominated instruments,

Contractual obligations

Table 10 summarises the contractua! obligations of the group and
the effect such obligations are expected to have on the group’s
tiquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Table 11 discloses financial guarantees given by United Utilities
in support of borrewings by subsidiary companies, where the
underlying obligation is already reflected in the disclosure of iong-
term debt. The £654.4 million of financial guarantees relates to
borrowings by United Utilities Water and United Utilitles Electricity
from EIB.
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The capital commitrents of the group as at 31 March 2005 were
£332 mition, for which the group has contractual comrmitments.
The group also has cbiigations under its licence to comply with the
capital programmes as specified by the regulators.

The purchase obligations of the group primarily relate to services for
which the group has purchase orders or contractual commitments
at 31 March 2005.

Table 10 does not include the group's contributions to pensicn
schemes. A lump sum contribution of £320 milion was made

on 31 March 2005, split between the group’s two defined benefit
pension schemes. The group does net expect 1o make any further
cash contributions during the 2005-10 period into the defined
bensfit pension schemas although the results of the next actuarial
valuation will be incorporated into the 2007/08 financial statements.
Subsequent actuarial vauations will influence contricutions payable
in future years. Employer's contributions in the year ended

31 March 2005 for the defined benefit pension schemes were
£49.2 million, excluding the iump sum contribution.

Table 10 includes interest payments on kong-term debit held at

31 March 2005. This does not take into account incremental
financing in respect of future capital commitments and the
refinancing of existing long-term debt. It also does not take into
account interest receivable on cash balances. Floating interest rates
for certain debt items, which are not fixed, are assumed to remain
constant until the debt item is repaid. The interest payments shown
exclude the impact of derivative instruments, where applicable.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

Joint ventures

The group enters into ioint ventures with consortium partners.

The flnancial and legal structure of a joint veriture is designed to
limit the group's exposure ta the extent of the equity investment
and loans provided by the group, with no further recourse should
the joint venture default. Excluding the provision for joint venture
losses In accordance with FRS 9, for which the company has

ne financial commitment, the maximum exposure of the group

is limited to the carrying value of the investments, which was
£70.5 millicn at 31 March 2005 (2004: £70.0 million), and the irade
debtors due from the joint ventures of £14.6 milion at 31 March
2005 (2004: £11.1 million). All joint venture arrangements have
been consclidated into the comparny’s results on a gross equity
accounting basis. The joint venture normally enters into the main
contract with the customer, for example, by taking on ownership
of the assets subject to the contract, The consortium partners may
then enter into subcontracts with the joint venture for the provision
of senvices appropriate to their expertise. This enables the group
o take on only those risks that fall within its normal commercial
expertisg, such as infrastructure management, while other parties
wilt provide their skills to the joint venture and take on those risks
accordingly, for example, design and censtruction. However, the
performance of any joint venture will affect the group’s financial
performance to the extent of its interest in such a joint venture,

Performarice guarantees

As part of the commercial operations of the group, performance
guarantees are sometimes required by clients. These guarantees
may be called where the standards of service set out within the
relevant contract are not fulfilled, and other possible remedies
under the contract are not successful.

Total guarantees as at 31 March 2008, where a financial limit has
been specified, were £84.1 million {2004: £146.8 million; 2C03:
£1:33.8 miflion].

A guarantee whicht has unfimited fability is supparted by an
indemnification agreement from a third party external to the United
Uiilities group. This indemnification agreement follows the disposal
of certain operations o a third party, and contains no limit on the
value of indemnity available. Therefore any payments under this
guarantee may be fully recoverable from the third party.

A guarantee for £1.2 million supports a short-term contingent
financial exposure of a partnership company. This guarantes




rapresents 50 per cent of the total contingent financial exposure.
Negotiations to reduce the value of this contingent financial
exposure are continuing and it is expected that any liability arising
may be met from resources within the partnership company. This
would mean that the guarantee would not be called.

In certain circumstances, the group has issued guarantess and
performance bonds 1o support its contribution 1o the performance
of parinership companies. In some instances, the partnership
company is respensible for arranging the issue of the guarantee
and the partners are reguired 1o provide an indemnity to the issuing
financial institution for a share of that guarantee, usually in proportion
to the respective shareheldings in the partnership company, Where
this is the case, recovery of any amounts paid under the guarantee
will be in proportion to the indemnities provided. Therefore, the full
value of the guarantee arranged by the group would only become
payable if the total project guarantee were to be payable in full.

Alternatively, the partners may be required to arrange the issue of
separate guarantees directly 1o the client, normally contributing to
the total guarantee requirement in proportion to the sharehelding
in the partnership company. In most cases, these arrangements
are supported by cross-indemnities from the partners so that the
partners must pay a proportionate share of any claim under any
of the individual guarantees issued. Thersfore, the full value of the
guarantee arranged by the group will only become payable if the
total project guarantee ig called in full.

Guarantess issuied by the group directly to the client, supporiing
the performance of partnership companies, totalled £53.8 miiion
at 31 March 2008. This includes a guarantee of £24.3 miflion,
which is supported by cash held in escrow to secure the ¢ross-
indemnity from partners.

The vaiue of indemnities issued to financial institutions by the group,
in order 1o support the issue of a guarantee by the financial institution
on behalf of the partnership company, totalled £12.0 million at

31 March 2005.

Guarantees totaling £17.1 milion relate 10 the disposal of certain
operations, and reflect the capped value of indemnities issued to
the purchaser for pre-completion events. It is anticipated that, In
the event of a claim, the group may be able to recover funds frem
its insurers, although this will depend on the circumstances of the
incident giving rise to the claim under the indemnity.

The carrying value of the guarantees discussed above has been
£nit for the past three fiscal years.

Inflation

Inflation affects revenues, operating expenses and interest charges.
However, the impact of inflation has not had a material effect on the
group's operating results during the year.

Summary

Management has reviewed the business plan and considers that
the group has sufficient ifquidity to mest the anticipated financial
commitments for the next twelve months. In total, at 31 March
2005, commitied faclities of £773.4 millon expiting in more than
one year, together with cash and short-term investments of £861.3
rilion and undrawn funding from EIB of £200 million, provide
substantial pre-funding for the group.

ACCOUNTING ISSUES

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Frarm 1 Aprii 2005, the group will be required 1o comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) endorsed for use
in the European Union. The first financial information to be reperted
by the group in accordance with IFRS will be for the six months
ending 30 September 2005.

The most significant areas of impact of IFRS for the group's
reported results are detaiied below, However, this is not intended
to represent an exhaustive list of differenices. Any new standards
or interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) will be assessed and considered by the group on an
individual basis.

« Fixed asset accounting — the moat significant impact of 1AS 16
for the group relates to the accounting for infrastructure assets
within United Utilities Water. The paragraphs within FRS 15 that
specifically permit renewals accounting arg not present within
IAS 18. Therefore, it will be nscessary 10 assess the number of
segments within the water infrastructure network and, for each,
determine a useful life and residual value so as to depreciate the
segments individually. Furthermore, the classification between
operating expenditure and capitalised costs of amounts spent
to maintain the network wil also be reassessed under the
new standard.

Since the net book value of the infrastructure network was
determmined using an accounting pelicy not compliant with IFRS,
it will be necessary to establish a deemed cost for the opening
balance sheet valus of the infrastructure netwark by reference
10 the fair value at the date of transition (in accordance with
IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption of International Financial

Reporting Standards').

Pensions - under SSAP 24, any pension scheme surplus

or deficit identified at the most recent actuarial valuation s
recognised gradually through the profit and ioss account over the
average expected future working lifetime of current employees.
Under IAS 19, any legai and constructive obligation for post
ernployment benefit plans must be immediately recognised

ag an asset or liability on the baiance shest.

*

Financial instruments — all derivative instruments, which under

UK GAAP represent off balance sheet instruments, are 1o be
carried at fair value within the balance sheet under IAS 39, Each
year, the movement in fair value of the derivatives is recognised in
the income statement. An election is provided within IAS 39 such
that, where an ‘effective’ hedge relationship can be demonstrated
between a derivative instrument and an underlying item of debt,
the carrying value of the debt itern will be adjusted to reflect the
risks being hedged. When presented in this way, the movement
in debt should theoretically affset the movement in derivatives;
reducing the volatility within the income statément. However, any
ineffective porticns of such hedges are recognised immediately
within the income statement. In the absence of any hedge
relationships, debt is held at amortised cost, with any movements
in the fair value of derivatives therefore potentially introducing
significant volatility to the income statement.

The group has elected 10 appiy 1AS 39 in relation to financial
instruments from 1 April 2005, thereby taking advantage of the
exemption aficrded by the standard from its application t¢ 2005
results when presented in accordance with IFRS.

¢ Deferred tax — unlike UK GAAR, IAS 12 does not permit discounting
of the deferred tax provision,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The group prepares its consolidated financial statements in
accerdance with accounting principles generally accepied

in the United Kingdom and reconciles its net income, shareholders’
equity and financial position to US GAAR, as shown in the summary
of differences between UK and US GAAR in note 37 of the
consolidated financial statements. As such, the group is required
to make certain estimates, judgements and assumptions that it
believes are reasonable based upon the information avaitable. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financia! statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented.

On an ongoing basis, the group evaluates its estimates using
historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods
considered reascnable in the particutar circumstances. Actual
results ray differ significantly from the estimates, the effect of
which is recognised in the period in which the facts that give rise
to the revision become known,

The group’s accounting policies are detailed in note 1 of the
consolidated financial statements. The following paragraphs detail
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Operating and financial review

Operating and financial performance review continued

the policies the group believes to have the most significant irmpact
on the annual resuits under UK and US GAAR,

Carrying value of long-lived assets

The group's accounting pelicy for tangible fixed assets is detailed

in note 1(g) of the consolidated financial statements. The carrying
valug of tangible fixed assets under UK GAAP as at 31 March 2005
was £8,234.9 milion. Additions 1o tangible fixed asssts totalled
£894.3 million and the depreciation charge was £365.9 million in
the year ended 31 March 2005. The estimated useful econcmic
lives of fixed assets are based on management’s judgement and
experience. When management identifies that actual useful lives
differ materially from the estimates used to calculate depreciation,
that charge is adjusted prospectively. Due to the significance of
fixed asset investment 1o the group, variations betwsen aciual and
estimated useful lives could impact operating results both positively
and negatively, altthough historically, few changes t¢ estimated
useful lives have been required.

In accordance with UK and US GAAP, the group is required

to evajuaie the carrying values of fixed assets for impairment
whenever circumstances indicate, In management’s judgement,
that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.

An impafrment revigw requires management to make subjective
judgements concerning the cash flows, growth rates and discount
rates of the income generating units under review. In the year
ended 31 March 2003, the group reviewed the carrying value

of it telecommunications assets, in accordance with FRS 11,
'Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill’, under UK GAAP. Based
on an assumed pre-tax nominal weighted average cost of capital of
16 per cent, and a long-term real growth rate of 2.25 per cent, an
adjusiment to value of £25.5 million was made representing £14.68
miilion tangible assets, £8.6 milion definite-lived intangible assets
and £2.3 mytiion goodwill. Under US GAAR, there was no indication
of impairment of tangible or definite-lived intangible assets in the
telecommunications busingss on an undiscounted cash flow basis
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
{'SFAS") 144, ‘Accounting for impairment or disposal of long-lived
assets’. Furthermore, under SFAS 142, 'Goodwil and other
intangible assets’, there was no impairment for geodwill. Therafore
a reconciling item is recorded as discussed in note 37(g) of the
summary of differences between UK and US GAAP.

Renewals accounting

Under UK GAAP, the depreciation charge for infrastructure assets

is the estimated fevel of annual expenditure required to maintzin the
operating capability of the network which is based on the group’s
asset management plan, which has been certified by Halcrow
Management Sciences Limited, an independent infrastructure
management consultarnt approved by Ofwat, Variations between actual
infrastructure spend and estimated spend are included in the balance
sheet, with the principle being to 'equalise’ the effect of annual spend
vanations on the charge to the profit and loss account. Therefore,
the independently certified asset management plan nas an impact
on the group’s operating profit and changas in the plan assumptions
could give rise to a different operating profit. These assumptions
include judgements relating to the condition and performance of
infrastructure assets. Under US GAAR, the depreciation charge
refiects actual expenditure in the year and therefore, as discussed in
note 37{b) in the summary of differences betwesn UK and US GAAR,
a reconciling item is recorded.

Deferred tax

The group accounts for deferred tax on a discounted basis, as
permitted by UK GAAR The deferred tax provision under UK GAAP
as at 31 March 2005 is £395.2 million. The balance sheet provision
is discounted using the rate of interest at the balance sheet date on
UK gilts with similar maturity dates and currencies o those of the
deferred tax assets and iiabilities. Therefore, the group uses 15+
years’ UK gilt rate to reflect the long-life nature of infrastructure and
operational asssts. An increase or decraase in applicable discount
rates of 0.1 per cent would change the balance sheet provision at
31 March 2005 by approximatety £9 million and the tax charge, for
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the year then ended, by the same amount. Discounting is not
permitted under US GAAP and therefore, as discussed in note
37{m) in the summary of differences between UK and US GAAP, a
reconciling item is recorded for the discounting impact. A deferred
tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised cnly
when, on the basis of available evidence, it is regarded as more
likely than not that there will be suitabie taxable profits from which
the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be
deducted. Changes to management’s view of the recoverability

of deferred tax assets couid give rise to different tax charges.

Revenue recognition

Under UK GAAF, the group recognises revenue generally at

the time of delivery and when coliection of the resulting debt is
reasonably assured. Should management consider that the criteria
for revenue recognition are not met for a transaction, revenue
recognition would be delayed untit such time as the transaction
becomes fully earned. Payments received in advance of revenue
recognition are recorded as deferred revenue.

For licensed multi-utility cperations, the group raises bills and
rscognises revenus in accordance with its entitlernent to receive
revenue in line with the limits estabiished by the periodic regulatory
price review processes. For water and wastewater customers with
water meters, the receivable billed is dependent upon the volume
supplied including an estimate of the sales value of units supplied
between the date of the last meter reading and the year end.
Meters are read on a cyclical basis and the group recognises
revenue for unbilled amounts based on estimated usage from the
last biling through to the end of the financiai year. The estimated
usage is based on historic data, judgement and assumptions;
actual results could differ from thess estimates, which would result
in operating revenues being adjusied in the period that the revision
to the estimates is determined. For customers who do not have a
meter, the receivable billed is dependent upon the rateabls value
of the property, as asséssed by an independent raiing officer.

The custorners of the eleciricity distribution business are the electricity
supply companies that utilise United Utilties Electricity’s distribution
network to distribute electricity from generators to the end consumer.
The receivable billed is dependent upen the volume of electricity
distributed, including estimates of the units distributed to customers.
The estimated usage is based on historic data, judgement and
assumptions. Cperating revenugs are gradually adjusted to reflect
actual usage in the period aver which the meters are read.

For the group’s other businesses (nfrastructure management,
business process cutsourcing and telecommunications), revenue

is recogniged in fine with activity and performance, normally using
armounts specified in contractual chligations and when collectability
is reagsonably assured. in general:

» \ariable revenues, for example, revenues dependent upon
customer volumes in the period, are recognised only when those
variable activities are performed;

* Parformance Incentives are recognised in revenue only 1o the extent
that incentives are reasonably considered to have been earmned;

* Revenue received in advance of performance is recognised
as deferred income. When performance occurs, the deferred
incorme is released and simultaneously reported as revenue;

* Set-up fees received from clients as contributions to costs are
credited to deferred income when received and recognised in
revenue () as costs are Incurred for fees identified as being
against transition costs, or (i) over the expected life of fixed
assets if the fees are received as a contribution to assets or (i)
over the period of the contract in line with activity or performance
levels for fees not contractually identified against defivered
senvices; and

* Capacity sales pursuant to indefeasible Rights of Use ('1RUSs')
agreements are treated as operating ieases with profit being
recognised over the term of the agreement,




Under US GAAP, the group recognises revenue when (i) persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists; {i) delivery has occurred or
senvices have been rendered; () the sales price is fixed or
determinable; and (v} collectability is reasonably assured. This
difference in approach restilts in reconciing items for revenue and
profit recognition, as further discussed in note 37(k) in the summary
of differences between UK and US GAAR in the consolidated
financial statements. Under both UK and US GAAP, performance-
hased revenues are recognised only 1o the extent that the revenues
are prudently considered to have been earned at the reporting date.

A breakdown of revenues by activity and geographic region is
contained in note 2 fo the consolidated financial statements.

Provision for doubtful debts

Al each balance sheet date, United Utiliies and gach of its
subsidiaries evaluate the coflectability of trade debtors and

record provisions for doubtful debts based on experience. These
provisions are based on, amongst other things, comparisons of the

relative age of accounts and consideration of actual write off history.

The actual level of debt collected may differ from the estimated
levels of recovery, which could impact cperating results positively
or negatively. As at 31 March 2005, the group's gross trade
debtors were £320.4 million and the provision for doubtiul

debis was £127.2 million.

Accounting for pravisions and contingencies

The group is subject to a number of claims incidental 1o the normmal
conduct of fis business, relating to and including commercial,
centractual and employment matters, which are handled and
defended in the ordinary course of business. The group routinely
assesses the fikelihood of any adverse judgements or outcomes

to these matters as well as ranges of probable and reasenably
estimated losses. Reasonable estimates involve judgements

made by management after considering information including
notifications, settlements, estimates performed by independent
parties and outside counsel, availabie facts, identification of other
potentially responsitie parties and their ability to contribute, and
prior experience. In accordance with UK GAAR, a provision is
recognised when it is probable that an obligation exists for which a
refiable estimate can be made of the obligation after careful analysis
of the individual matter. The required provision may change in the
future due 10 new developments and as additional information
hecormes aveliable. Matters that either are possible obligations or
do not meet the recognition criteria for a provision are disclosed,
unless the possibility of transferring economic benefits is remote.

Goodwill

The group records all assets and liabiities acquired in purchase
acquisitions, including goodwill, at fair value as required by UK and
US GAAP. Under UK GAAR, gocdwil is amortised to nil by equal
annual instaliments over the estimated usedul life, generally not
exceeding 20 years. Goodwill s assessed for impaimment whenever
events or circumstances might indicate that it may be impaired. As at
31 March 2005, the net book value of goodwill under UK GAAR was
£124.5 milion fncluding goodwill related 1o joint ventures within fixed
asset investments) and the amortisation charge for the year then
ended was £16.2 million. Under US GAAP, goodwill is not amortised
but is subject, at @ minimum, to annual tests for impairment. The
initial goodwiii recarded and subsequent impairment analyses reguire
management to make subjective judgements concerning the fair
vaiue of reporting units, Estimates of fair value are consistent with
market information and the group’s plans and forecasts, Under

US GAAR, the carrying value of goodwill as at 31 March 2005 was
£1,029.2 million. This is substantially higher than that reported under
UK GAAP due to a significant amount of goodwill written off directly
to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the adoption of FRS 10.

Pensions

The group operates two defined benefit schemes, one of which
has a defined contribution section, which are independent of the
group’s finances. Actuarial valuations of the schemes are carried
out as determined by the trustees at intervals of not more than
three years. Under UK GAAP, the pension cost under SSAP 24 js

[

assessed in accerdance with the advice of a firm of actuaries

based on the latest actuarial valuation and assumptions determined

by the actuary and consists of a regular cost and variations. The
assumptions are based on information supplied 10 the actuary by
the company, supplemented by discussions betwesn the actuary
and management. The assumptions are disclosed in note 26 of
the consclidated financial statements. Under US GAAR actuarial
determinations are required on an annual basis. Additionally &
difierent methed of calculating the pension cost is required and
therefore a recongciling item is recorded as discussed in note 37{a)
in the summary of differences betwesan UK and US GAAP in the
consolidated financial staterments. Bath UK and US GAAP
cperating results are affected by the actuarial assumptions used.
These assumptions include investrnent returns on the schemes’
assets, discount rates, pay growth and increases to pensions in
payment and deferred pensions and may differ from actual results
due to changing market and economic condifions and fonger or
shorter lives of participants. Under UK GAAR, changes to these
assumptions de not necessarily give rise to different operating
results until the next actuarial review is performed as the regular
cost rapresents a reasonably stable percentage of pensionable
payroll and variations are generally spread over the expected
remaining service fives of current employees in the scheme.
Changes to these assumptions under US GAAP couild give

rise to different operating results.

RECENTLY {SSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

From 1 April 2005, the group will be required to comply with
IFRS endorsed for use in the European Union. Further detalls
are provided on page 25.

Recent US accounting pronouhcements

FASB Statement No. 151 ("SFAS 1517, 'Inventory costs', issued

in November 2004, provides guidance for accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle faciiity expense, freight handling costs and spoilage
and allocation of fixed production overhead. This accounting
standard is applicable for gccounting periods beginning after 15 June
2005 and will be adoptad by the group from 1 April 2006, Adoption
of SFAS 151 is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash fiows.

FASB Statement No. 152 {{SFAS 152", ‘Accounting for real estate
time-sharing transactions’, issued in December 2004, amends
existing standards SFAS 66 ‘Accounting for sales of real estate’
and SFAS 67 ‘Accounting for costs and initial rental operations

of real estate projects’ to make them consistent with AICPA
Statement of Pasition 04-2, 'Accounting for real estate time-sharing
fransactions’. This accounting standard is applicable for accounting
periods keginning after 15 June 2005 and will e adopted by the
group from 1 April 2006, Adoption of SFAS 152 is not expected 1o
have a material impact on the consolidated financial position,
results of operatfions or cash flows,

FASB Statement No. 153 ('SFAS 153", ‘Exchange of nonmonetary
assets', issued in December 2004, is part of the {FRS convergence
project. SFAS 153 edils the list of exceptions to entities required 10
prepare accounts on a non-going concern basis, This accounting
standard is applicable for accounting pericds beginning after

15 June 2005 and will be adopted by the group from 1 April 2008.
Adoption of SFAS 153 is not expected to have a material impact
on the consolidated financigl position, results of operations or

cash flows.

FASB Statement No. 123 Revised ('SFAS 123R', ‘Share-based
payment’, issued in December 2004, requires compensation costs
related to share-based payment transactions to be recognised in
the financial statements. Previously, a choice existed unger US
GAAP to account for these transactions either under APB 25,
‘Accounting for stock issued to employees’ or SFAS 123, ‘Share-
based payment'. This accounting standard will be adopted by the
group from 1 April 2006. The group has not determined the effect,
if any, of SFAS 123R, on the group's financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
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Operating and financial performance review continued

FASE interpretation Na. 47 {'FIN 477}, "Accounting for conditional
asset retirement obligations’, issued in March 2005, clarifies the
term ‘conditional asset retirement obligation’ as used in FASB
Staternent No. 143 ('SFAS 143, ‘Accounting for asset retirement
obligations’ and when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation.
This interpretation will be effective as of 1 April 2005. The group
has not determined the effect, if any, of FIN 47, on the group’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

United Utiiities undertakes research primatily 1o provide improved
standards of service 1o qustomers, together with continuing
improverments in business efficiency. The group’s intention is t¢
strengthen its understanding of science and technology in relation
to its range of wastewater and waier freatment processes, in orcer
to ensure that treatment plants are able to meet the required
current and future standards. It also aims to develop new solutions
for areas of its business (for example, looking at new processes

to render waste materials inert and to turn them into saleabie
products). New methods are being investigated to determing the
condition of assets, and ways in which t¢ improve maintenance
methodalegies to ensure the delivery of consistent satisfactory
performance and the maximisation of asset life. Work to support
the growth in connection of distributed efectricity generation plant
to the group’s electricity distribution network is being pursued
through a number of collaborative partnerships. Research is also
undertaken into current practices, for example, in relation to health
concerns relating to drinking water standards.

United Utliities is a member of a number of coliaborative research
programmes including UK Water Industry Research and Water
Research Centre, both of which address common issues that face
the UK water industry. EA Technology Limited provides a similar
service 1o the UK electricity distribution industry. The group also
undertakes company specific projects with these and other
research and development providers and with universities.

Research and development expenditure by the group was
£0.8 million in the year ended 31 March 2005 {2004: £0.8 million,
2003: £0.8 rillion).

Patent portfolic management

The company acquires patents in order 1o protect those ideas and
inventicns which it intends to exploit commercially. Patents are
maintained for up to 20 years.

There are currently 20 inventions that have patents awarded in
several jurisdictions. During the year ended 31 March 2005, these
20 active patents generated 28 patent renewals in 11 countries.

The cost of maintaining patents was less than £50,000 per annum
in each of the last three years.

Licences

United Utlities grants licences to third parties for the cormmercial
exploitation of its patent rights and inteffectual property. There are
currently seven active licence agreements, United Utilities may, as
part of the licence, provide support to licensees fcr the purposss
of marketing the product or senvice.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
Management is not aware of any significant changes in the financial
position of the company since 31 March 2008.
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Risk management

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains certain forward-looking statements with
respect to the financial condition, results of operations and
business of the cormpany.

Statements that are not historical facts, including statements
about the company's beliefs and sxpectations, are forward-looking
statements. Words such as ‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, "intends’,
'‘plang’, ‘believes’, ‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, ‘potential’, ‘reasonably
possible’, “targets’ and variations of these woras and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act 1995, These staterments are based on current plans, estimates
and projections, and therefore investors should not rely on them.
Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are
mace, and the company undertakes no obligation to update
publicly any of them in light of new information or future events.

The company may also make written and/or oral forward-locking
statemenits in its periodic reports to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 6-K, in the annual report to sharehoiders, in
proxy statements, in offering circulars and prospectuses, in press
releases and other writien materials and in oral staterents made
by cfficers, directors or smployees o third parties, including
financial analysts.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties.
The company cautions invesiors that a number of important factors
caould cause actual results to differ materially frorn those anticipated
or implied in any forward-looking statements. These factors include:
() the effect of, and changes in, regulation and gevernment policy;
(i) the effects of competition and price pressures; (i} the ability of
the company t¢ achieve cost savings and aperational synergies;

(v} the ability of the company 1o service its future operations and
capital requirements; {vj the timely develcpment and acceptance

of new products and services by the company; (v) the effect

of technological changes; and (vl the company’s success in
managing the risks of the foregoing. The company cautions that
the foregoing list of important factors does not address all the
factors that could cause resuits to differ materially.

RISK FACTORS

Inn addition to the risks identified in other infermation included in this
raport, investors should consider the risks detalled in this section.
There may be additional risks that the group does not currently
know of, or that are currently deemed immaterial based on
information currently avaitable. The group's business, financial
condition ar results of operations could be materially affected by
any of these risks, resulting in a decline in the trading price of the
group’s ordinary and A shares or ADSs. The groupb operates an
internal control systerm fo evaluate and manage risks as described
in the section ‘Internal control’ on page 51.

Turnover of the group’s regulated businesses is substantially influenced
by regulators, which could adversely affect profitabifity

The turnover and profitability of the group’s water, wastewater

and electricity distribution businesses (the regulated businesses} are
substantially influenced by price limits established every five years by
the respective reguiators. Price reviews for the regulated businesses
covering the five-year period commencing on 1 April 2005 were:
determined by the electricity reguiator in November 2004 and by the
water regulator in December 2004. The group has accepted both of
these determinations and not exercised its right to appeal adverse
price determinations to the Competition Commission.

An adverse price determination may occur as a result of a number of
factors, including an inadequate allowed cast of capital or regulatary
assurnplions concerning operating expenses, required capital
expenditure and revenue forecasts proving not to be realistic.

Scope to re-open these price controls within the charging period is
limited. in the case of the water and wastewater business, thete are
provisions for Interim Determinations of K {1DoK”) and the gpplication
of the 'shipwreck clause’. There is no equivalent provision that allows

L.

for the re-opening of electricity distribution price fimits, although
specific re-opening provisions have been made, with effect from

1 April 2005, in relation to uncertain costs associated with specified
provisions of the Electricity Safety, Quality and Continuity Reguiations
2002 {or amending/replacement regulations), the New Roads and
Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic Management Act 2004,

Failure to deliver the capital investment programmes could adversely
affect profitability

United Utllities’ regulated businesses require significant capital
expenditure for additions 1o, or replacement of, plant and
equipment for their wastewater, water and efectricity distribution
facilities and networks. The price Jimits set by the respective
reguiators take into account the leve!l of capital expenditure
expected 1o be incurred during the relevant five-year price review
period and the assodiated funding costs. Historically, the group
has financed the expenditures from cash fiows from operations
and from debt financing. During the year ended 31 March 2004,
the group announced a two-stage rights issue which raised
£501.2 million {net of costs) from the first stage. The second
stage, due in June 2005, is expected to raise a further £510 million
{aross). However, there can be no assurance that cash flows from
operations will not decline, or that the second stage of the rights
issue will give rise to the expected cash inflow, or that additicnal
debt financing or other sources of capital will be available to meet
these requirements.

If the group is unable to deliver the capital programme at expectad
expenditure levels or is unabie o secure the expected capital
efficiencies associated with the capital programme or the
programme falls behind scheduls for other reasans, the group's
profitability may suffer. The regulators may factor such failure

into fuiure price reviews. In addition, the group's ability to meet
reguiatory and environmental performance standards couid be
acdiversely affected by such failure, which may result in fines or
other sanctions.

The group is currently in dialogue with Cfwat and the Environment
Agency in relation to the scope of works required in order to
complete that part of its capital programme for the last charging
pericd (j.e. 2000-05} which reiated to limiting pollution from

storm water overflows (referred to by the Erwironment Agency as
‘Unsatigfactory Intermittent Discharges’ {'UIDs’). This means that
some of these works are being delayed until the required scope

is determined. Once the cost of the scope of works is finally
determined, it may be more than the amounts that have been
allowed for by Ofwat in the 1999 and 2004 price reviews. In such
cases the company will segk to process the resulting changes
through Ofwat's pratecel for dealing with changes to the regulatory
contract {the 'change protacol’). In respect of those UIDs which
were the subject of the company’s 2003 interim determination,
Ofwat has stated that additional costs of completing these works
will be recoverable through future price reviews provided that they
meet Giwat's conditicns for recovery under the change protocol. In
respect of the UIDs which were not dealt with in the 2003 interim
determination, Ofwat has given a similar confirmation in refation to
those which the company considers present the greatest risk of
significantly exceeding the costs assumed in the 1999 price review.
The group cannot be certain, however, that ali these additional
costs will be recoverable on this basis and will not adverssly affect
its profitability or financiai position.

Failure 1o deliver operational performance or cost savings implicit in the
regulatory reviews could adversely affect profitability

Operating cost savings to be achieved during the current five-year
regulatory period are implicit in the regulatory reviews. To assist the
achievernent of these operating cost savings a business change
programme is underway, if the operating cost savings are not
achieved, or the business change programme is not delivered,
then the group’s profitability would suffer. Similarly, if cperational
performance were to deteriorate, this may be reflacted by less
favourable outcomes from future price reviews and the group’s
profitability would suffer.
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Risk management continued

Environmental reguiations could increase the group's costs and
adversely affect profitabitity

Various government environmental pratection and health and
safety laws and regulations govern United Utilities” wastewater,
water and electricity distribution businesses. These laws and
reguiations estatilish, amongst other things, standards for drinking
water, discharges into the erwironment and quality of electricity
supply, which affect the group’s operations. In addition, the group
is required 1o obiain varicus environmental perrmissions from
regulatory agencies for its operations. The group endeavours to
comply with all regulatory standards. However, historically the
group has not been in total compliance and cannot guarantee in
the future that it will be in total compliance at all times with these
laws and regulations. On some of the occasicns that the group
has failed to comply, it has been fined or otherwise sanctioned
by the regulators.

Environmental laws and regulations are complex and change
frequently. These laws, and their enforcement, have tended to
become more stringent over time, While management believes

it has taken into account the future capital and operating
expenditures necessary to achieve and maintain compliance
with current and known future changes in laws and regulations,
it is possible that new or stricter standards could be imposed,

or current interpretation of existing legislation amended, which
will increase the group's operating costs by requiring changes

or modifications to the asssts in order to comply with any new
environmental laws and regulations. Although these costs may
be recoverable in part through the regulatory process of setting
appropriate future price limits, there can be no assurance of this.
Therefore, the group cannot guarantee that the costs of complying
with, or discharging its liabilities under, current and future
environmental and health and safety laws will not adversely
affect its profitability or financial pasition.

Service interruptions or contamination to water supplies could
adversely affect profitability

In addition to the capital investment programmes, United Utilitiss’
regulated businesses control and operate water, wastewater and
electricity networks and undertake maintenance of the associated
assets with the objaective of providing a continucus service.,
Histarically, there have been interruptions to the supply of services
such as the incident in January 2005 affecting Cumbria and
Lancashire in north west England, when a storm severely damaged
the electricity netwark supply to 250,000 customers, but the
majarity of interruptions relate to minor issues that are rectified
promptly. However, the failure of a key asset could cause a more
significant interruption to the supply of services {in terms of duraticn
or number of customers affected), which may have an adverse
effect on the group’s operating results or financial position.

Water supplies may be subject to contamination, including
contamination from the development of naturally occurring
compounds and pollution from man-made sources. In the event
that United Utilities” water supply is contaminated and it is unable
1o substitute water supply from an uncontaminated water source,
or to treat adequately the contaminated water source in a cost-
effective manner, there may be an adverse effect on its operating
results or financial positicn. The group could also be held liable for
human exposure to hazardous substances in its water supplies or
other environmental damage.

It is pogsible that some of the costs associated with service
interruptions or contaminations may be partly recoverable through
the shipwreck clause ar future price reviews, The group maintaing
insurance policies in refation to legal liabilities likely to be associated
with these risks, although there can be no assurance that all costs
of any such claims would be covered or that coverage will continue
1o be available in the future.

Non-recovery of customer debt could adversely affect profitability
United Utilities Narth West manages the biling, cash collection and
debt management activities for 3.1 milllon domestic and business
wastewater and water customers, The Water Industry Act 1991

{as amended by the Water Indusiry Act 1999) prohibits the
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disconnsction of a water supply for non-payment and the fimiting of
a supply with the intention of enforcing payment for certain premises
including domestic dwellings. Non-recovery of debt is therefore a
risk to the group and may cause the group's profitability to suffer,
afthough aflowance is made by the water regulator in the price limits
at each price review for a proportion of debt deemed to be
irecoverable. In addition, the group can also regquest a re-setting

of its price limits through an 100K during a review pericd when costs
or savings arising from changes in certain regulatory assumptions
(including as 1o the level of non-recoverable debt) are material,
afthough there can be no guarantee that an IDoK application will
be successiul. Althcugh new and existing strategies continue to

be implemented to reduce cash coliection risks, including targeted
summonsing, there can be no assurance that the group will not
suffer losses from the group’s inability to recover its debts fully.

Rapid growth in the business process outsourcing and infrastructure
maragement sectors exposes the group to execution risk, which could
adversely affect profitability

Through Vertex, the group’s activities in business process
outsourcing are expanding into new markets and territories and
achieving increased segmental operating profits (2005: £26.4 million;
2004; £25.1 miiiicn: 2003; £18.8 mifiion) and increased sales
external to the group (2005 £308 millicn; 2004: £281 million; 2003:
£220 milion). The infrastructure management business, United
Utilities Contract Solutions, is alse expanding into new markets.
The delivery of contracts, both existing and future, will be achieved
by exploiting the group's core infrastructure management and
business process cutsourcing skills. In addition, Vertex has
significantly expanded its operations inte financial services with
the recent acquisition of Marlborough Stirling pic. This rapid growth
exposes these businesses o new busingss and transaction risks
and, potentially, the risk of overtrading, whereby the businesses are
unable 1o operate all thelr contracts to the standard required by their
clients due to a lack of resources and suitably qualified personnel.
Qvertrading could lead to a foss of custarners which, in turn, may
cause profitability to suffer.

Deficits in pension schemes may require the group to make additional
contributions to the scheme which would reduce prefitability

The group participates in a number of pension schemes, principally
in the UK. The principal schemes are funded defined benefit
schemes and the assets of the schemes are held in trust funas
independent of group finances. As a consequence of improved life
expectancy, together with the downturn in the equity markets and
iower interest rates, the schemes weare estimated to have a
combined post-tax deficit of £55.7 millicn as at 31 Mareh 2005,
compared to a post-tax deficit of £264.4 miflon at 31 March 2004
and of £298,1 mifion at 31 March 2003. The group increased
pension contribution rates to the United Utilities Pension Scheme and
the United Utilities Group of the Blectricity Supply Pension Scherne in
2003/04 and the resulis of the full actuarial valuation resufted in
further increases being required to the United Utllities Pension
Scheme and the United Uitilities Group of the Elecinicity Supply
Pension Scheme from 1 April 2005, A one-off lurp sum contribution
of £320 million was made on 31 March 2005. This contribution

was calculated to equal the capitalised value of the group's funding
obligations to the schemes for the next five years (based on the
actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2004} and represents advance
payment of certain employer contributions which would have been
made to the schemes during that pericd. The group, however,
continues to monitor the funding of the schemes and cannot
guarantes that during the next five years further contributions will not
be required fo eliminate continuing shartfafis in the schemes. This
may adversely affect the financial position of the group. Should long-
term investment returns remain lower than the rate assumed by the
actuaries in their pension scheme valuations, or interest rates reduce
further leading to an increased deficit, the profitability of the group
may be further adversely affected and the group required to increase
jts contributions to eliminate this under-funding. Currently, anticipated
future pensions contributions and a proportion of existing pension
scheme deficits are recoverable through the price limits established
by the regulators.




Weak conditions in the telecommunications industry could continue
and cause further losses in the group’s telecommunications business

Your Communications continues to incur iosses on an annual basis.

Thers is a risk that the over-capacity in the telecommunications
market may continue to impose price pressures for some time,
leading to operating losses being incurred in the medium term.

LITIGATION

NOSS Consortium 'NOSS?), of which Norih West Water
International Lirnited (NWWIL), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
company, is a member and the sole remaining active participant, is
party to arbitration proceedings in Thailand in relation to a design
and construction contract dated 1 November 1993 between NOSS
and the Banglkok Metropalitan Administration ('BMA’} tg build a
wastewater treatment plant and network in central Banghkok.
Following disagresments with the engineer and a dispute with
BMA, NOSS rescinded the contract and in November 1997 served
a notice under Section 387 of the Thai Civil and Commercial Code
on the BMA. In March 1988, NOSS terminated the contract and
sarved notice of arbitration. NOSS has total claims against the
BMA of approximately 6 bilion Baht {approximately £83 miliion).
The BMA has counter-ciaimed for approximately 3.2 bilicn Baht
(approximately £44 milicn). Arbitrators have been appointed by
each party, but the arbitration process has stalled following the
arbitrators' faiiure 1o agree on the appointment of a third arbitrator.
NOSS will continue 1o monitor the situation but, presently no
hearings are scheduled.

Save as stated above, neither the company nar any member

of its group is, or has been, involved in any legat or arbitration
proceedings nor, as far as the Directors are aware, are any such
proceedings pending or threatenad by or against any member
of the group which may have, or have had within the previous
12 months, a significant effect on the group’s financiai position.

The company is engaged in litigation in the ordinary course

of its operaticns, such as contract disputes, disputes over
gasemarnts/wayleaves and other similar praperty matters, bitl
collections, personal injury claims and workers' compensation
claims. The company does not believe that such litigation, either
individually or in aggregate, is material. The company maintaing
insurance and, 1o the &xtent that the amounts in dispute may not
be covered by such insurance, maintains provisions in those
situations where management deems it appropriate in accordance
with UK GAAP.
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Operating and financial review
Corporate responsibility

The group believes that being responsitle in the way it conducts its
operations makes sound business sense. Active management of its
key environmental, social and economic impacts helps the group
work in a way that is ethical and balances the needs of all of its
stakehoiders. it enables the group to reduce risk, identify business
gpportunities, provide stability in its markets, protect resources, make
savings, improve performance and bulid trust and understanding.

CODE OF ETHICS

The company has adopted a set of business principles which
comply with the SEC’s definition of a code of ethics, The company
will continue to develop them in line with best praciice. A free copy
of the Business Principles tocklet is available upon request from
the company secretary, United Utilities PLC, Dawson House, Great
Sankey, Warrington, Cheshire, England, WAS 3LW or may

be viewed on the group’s web site at www.unitedutilities.com.

QUR APPROACH

The Business Principles guide the way the group manages

its activities and its relaticnships with stakeholders and set the
context for the group’s approach to corporate responsibility,

Two complementary strands of this approach — corporate social
responsibility (CSR) and sustainable development (SD) - are now
integrated within the businesses and managed together. The group’s
comorate responsibility policies are considered as part of the business
planning process and environmental performance is a personai
objective for each member of the Executive Leadership Team,

The focus of the group’s programmes is determined by identifying
and pricritising its impacts and opportunities. An important part

of the approach is stakeholder consultation. This provides
understanding of the interests and priorities of the different groups
of pecple who are affected by the group’s activities. Engagement
with such groups, through various means, provides an appreciation
of the areas of the group’s business that are material to them. This
helps the group to target where it should place most emphasis in
its internal programmes and, in turn, drives the reporting process.

Formal management systems cover many of the group's impact
areas, including environment, health and safety, and quality. Whers
appropriate, formal certification of these systems is sought. This
year, United Utilities North West's business management system
gained 1SO 14001 accreditation. The magjority of the group’s
infrastructure management operations are now accredited fo

the ISC 14001 standard.

Benchmark exercises help to track performance, drive continual
improvemert and seek out best practice.

KEY IMPACT AREAS

Envirpnment

The group continues to manage its impact on the emvironment
and, where possible, enhance it through the implementation of its
sustainable development plans and other environmental objectives.

The group's most significant environmental impact in recent years
has been the contribution made to cleaning up the rivers and
coastal waters of north west England through sustained investment
in the wastewater network. 36 of the region's 37 bathing waters
now meet strict EU standards. The region’s rivers are ¢leaner than
at any time {n the last century.

Key areas of environmental interest for stakeholders are:

drinking water quality; climaie change and sustainable energy;
compliance with legislation; and waste minimisation/recycling.
Although the group’s major capital investment programmes bring
big environmental benefits, projects siill have to be managed
sensitively to limit any adverse environmental impact during
construction. The group also (oks for opportunities t© make
investments more sustainable. For example, in upgrading the
treatrent works at Franklaw, Lancashire, we were able 1o install
a 1MW hydroelectric scheme which offsets carbon ernissions.
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Community

The group has identified three focus areas for community activity -
environment, scclal inclusion, and education and training ~ and has
developed sfrategic partnerships with organisations active in these
areas — Groundwork, the Prince’s Trust and Young Enterprise
respectively. Key topics of community interest for stakeholders

are environmental education, job creation and unermployment,
consideration for neighbours and access and recreation. During
the vear, a three-year partnership was announced with Liverpool
Capital of Culture 2008.

Marketplace

Customers and suppliers/contractors are twg of our key stakeholder
groups. The group has 3.1 million customers in notth west England
and well over 30,000 suppliers. Key areas of interest for these
stakeholders are standards of senvice, charging policy, the capita)
investment programme and business ethics, Enviranmental criteria
are taken into consideration when appointing suppliers, and payments
for some major contractars are now linked to environmental and
heatth and safety performance.

Vertex’s partnership with Wastminster City Council has helped it win
the Council of the Year accolade in the national Local Government
Chronicle awards in March 2005, The parinership was also highly
commended in the category of Public/Private Partnership of the Year.

The group’s regulated businesses fiaise with local authorities
and residents’ groups to ensure that any disruption to loca!
communities during capital improvement works is minimised.

Workplace

United Utilities values its employees. They are a key asset. Areas
of interest for employees are work/life balance, health and safety,
skills and job training and pensions,

The group’s health and safety strategy continues 10 develop.
External recognition was achieved for both performance and the
quality of reporting. During the year, the group secured a RoSPA
Gold Award for its approach to heafth and safety, and its faciiities
management and telecommunications companies gained certification
to OSHAS 18001, Days lost through accidents at work fel! again
during the year from 2,137 in the previous year to 1,931 in 2004/05.

More information on the group’s stakeholder approach, identification
of key impact areas and detailed information, performance data and
discussion can be found within the stakeholder report, ar on the
group's web site at www.unitedutilities.com.

Performance highlights

Buring the year, United Utilities has made progress in both

the Business in the Community Corperate Responsibility and
Business in the Environment indices. It was ranked equal ninth
in the Comperate Respensibility Index and remains in the Premier
League of the Environment index.

The group’s approach is also recagnised through its inclusion
in the STOXX Sustainability Indices, the FTSE4Good index
(at global, Eurcpean and UK leveis) and by its 82 rating in
Marley's Sustainability Matrix.




Governance
Directors and senior managers

The business of the company is managed by the board of
directors. There are no family relationships between any of the
directors or senior managers. There are nc arrangements or
understandings with major shareholders, customers, suppliers
or others pursuant to which any of the persons referred o below
was selected as a director or member of senior management.

Reappointment of directors

The company'’s constitution {the ‘articles of association’) provides
that a director appointed by the board miust retire at the annual
general meeting of the company next following such appointment.
Davig Jones and Nick Salmon were appointed as additional non-
executive directors by the board on 27 January 2005 and 4 Aprii
2005 respectively and Tom Drury was appointed as an additional
executive director on @ May 2005. All three are therefore retiring
and offering themselves for reappointment at the 2005 annual
general meeting.

(n addition, the articles of association provide that if, at the start of
business on the date of the notice convening that annual general
meeting, a director has served for a continuous period of nine years
he must retire and may offer himself for reappointment. Sir Peter
Middleton will have completed over nine years service at the dats
of notice and is therefore retiing and offering himself for
reappaointment at the 2005 annual general meeting.

The articles of association also state that 2 director must

retire at the third annual general mesting following his or her last
appointment. Andrew Binder and Norman Breadnurst were last
appointed at the annual general meeting held in 2002 and are
therefore retiring and are offering themselves for reappointment
at the 2005 annual general meeting.

John Seed, having completed nine years of service, will stand
down at the annual general meeting in 2005 and will not
seek reappointment.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

John Roberts CBE (age 59) - Chief executive

John Roberts joined the board as chief executive on 1 September
1999. He is a non-executive director of Volex Pic and chairman of
1he Merseyside Private Sector Group, MIDAS (Manchester Inward
Developrment Agency Services) and the North West Business
Leadership Tearn. He is also on the board of the Mersey Partership
and is a member of the University of Liverpool's Council. John joined
Manweb in 1967 upon graduation from Liverpool University. He was
appointed finance director in 1984 and became chief executive in
1992, He left Marweb in 1995, following the company’s takeover
by Scottish Power, and spent some time as a freelance consultant in
the sector. He ioined Hyder plc in 1996, initially as chief executive of
South Wales Electricity and then as chief executive of Hyder Utilities
from 1997. He has been president of the Electricity Association,
chairman of the Electricity Pensions Trustee Limited, a member

of the CBI Wales Coungil and a merber of the Royal Commissicn
on Environmenital Pollution.

Simon Batey (age 51} - Group finance director

Simon Batey joined the board as group finance director on

1 April 2000. He had previousty been group finance director of
AMEG PLC from 1992 and prior to that deputy finance director.
He was closely involved in the reshaping of that group through a
number of major investments and disposals and the development
of its policy towards private finance initiatives. He also served on
the boards of Fairclough Homes Group Lirnited and the major
Erench electrical contractor SPIE SA. He is also a non-executive
director of Arriva plc. After graduating from Oxford University,
Simon joined Armitage & Norton {(now part of KPMG) where he
trained and qualified as a chartered accountant, and worked

in a number of management posts.

Charlie Cornish (age 45) - Managing directot,

United Wtilities North West

Charlie Cornish is responsible for the group’s regulated asset
ranagement business. He joined the group in January 2004 and
was formally appointed to the board on 27 January 2004. After
graduating from Strathelyde University, he worked for British
Aerospace, Plessey Telecommunications and Associated British
Coods and also served as an executive dirsctor of NHS trusts. In
1998, e joined the West of Scotland Water Autherity as HR director
and was involved with major change programmes. He went on to
hecome ite customer services directaor and later chief executive.
He joined Thames Water in 2002 as global business performance
director, working across Europe, Asia/Pacific and the Americas,
eventually becorning chief operating officer with Thames Water
UK and ireland with responsibility for service delivery, inciuding
operations and capital programmes. He is chairman of Young
Enterprise North West and a director of Young Enterprise UK.

Tom Drury (age 43) - Managing director, Vertex

Torn Drury joined the board as an executive director on 9 May 2005,
He began his career with PricewaterhouseCoopers and became
a management consultant, specialising in financial management,
activity based costing and business planning. He joined Urited
Utifities Water in 1991 and became finance director in 1992. He
moved 1o Veriex as managing director when it was set up in 1996
and has successfully guided the company from being essentially
an in-house provider of customer management services 10 its
current position as one of the UK's largest providers of business
process outsourcing.

Gordon Waters (age 57) - Managing director,

United Utilities Contract Solutions

Gordon Waters is responsible for the group's infrastructure
management business. He joined the group in 1998, and was
appointed to the board on 1 June 1997. A qualified civil engineer
and structural engineer, he graduated from the City University
London in 1969. He joined a major UK consutting engineering
practice before working for a numnber of major UK construction
companies. From 1987 to 1996, ne worked for Tarmac Construction
Limited, becoming managing director of the civil englineering divisicn
in 1992, and joining the board of Tarmac Construction Limited in
1983. He was responsible for all their major projects and regional
civil engineering companies and specialist companies both in the UK
and overseas. He is a non-execuiive director of The Carbon Trust.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Sir Richard Evans (age 62) - Chairman

Sir Richard Evang was appointed a non-executive dirgctor on

1 September 1997 and chairman in January 2001. Born in the
nortk west of England, he joined the Ministry of Transport and

Civil Aviation in 1960 and, shortly afterwards, moved into the then
newly-formed Ministry of Technology. in 1989, he joined the Military
Aircraft Division of British Alrcrat Carporation (BAC). In 1978, he
was promoted 0 commercial director of what had then become
the Warton Divigion of British Aerospace (BAe). In January 1983, he
was appointed deputy managing director for BAe Warton and was
appointed deputy managing direcior of the newty formed British
Aerospace Military Arcraft Division in 1986. In January 1887, he
was appointed to the board of British Aerospace plc as marketing
director and became chief executive in 1980, He was a director

of the programme management companies for the Anglo/French
Jaguar aircraft and for the Anglo/German/Halian Tornado aircraft
and a director of the Airbus cormpany. He was appcinied chairman
of British Aerospace plc (now BAE Systems plo) in May 1998, a
post from which he retired In July 2004, after more than 30 years
with the company (and its predecessors). He was also a non-
executive directer of NatWest plc frorm 1998 to 2000,
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Governance
Directors and senior managers continued

Norman Broadhurst {age 63) - Chairman of the audit committee
Norman Broadhurst was appointed as a non-executive director on
1 April 1999 and is ¢hairman of the audit committee. He is currently
chairman of Chloride Group plc and Freightliner Ltd. He is also a
non-executive director of Cattles ple, Old Mutua! pic and Tomkins
plc. He was group finance director of Railtrack pic from 1934

to 2000.

David Jones CBE {age 63) - Non-executive director

David Jones CBE was appeinted as a non-executive director on

3 January 2005. He is currently chairman of UK Coal PLC and

is also chairman of Teesside Power Ltd. He was the group chief
executive of The National Grid Company plc from 1894 10 2001
taking National Grid to the stock market and leading it successfully
through an extensive business transformation programme. Prior

1o that, he was chief executive of South Wales Electricity, having
previously held senior engineering, commercial and management
posts on the South Western and Midlands Blectricity Boards.

Sir Peter Middleton {age 71) — Deputy chairman and

senjor independent non-executive director

Sir Peter Middleton joined the board as a nen-executive director in
January 1994. He is chairman of Camelot Group plc, the operator
of the National Lottery, president of the British Bankers® Associaticn,
chairman of the Barclays Group Asia Pacific Advisory Committee,
chairman of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resclution, chancellor
of the University of Sheffield, a member of the International Advisory
Pane! of the Monetary Autherity of Singapore, on the board of the
Naticnal Institute of Economic and Social Research and a member
of the Adviscry Boards of Marsh McLennan companies, Finangial
Dynamics and Sistema. After National Service, he jcined HM
Treasury where he had a long and distinguished career spanning
30 years, ultimately ascending to bacome permanent secretary
from 1983 to 1991. Sir Peter joined Barclays in 1981 ag group
deputy chairman and as executive chairman of BZW, became
chairman of Barclays Capital following the recrganisation of BZW in
Qctober 1997 and was group chief executive from November 1998
until October 1999, He became group chairman of Barclays Bank
PLC in Aprit 1999 and retired in August 2004,

Jane Newell OBE (age 61) - Non-executive director

Jane Newaell joined the board as a non-executive director on

1 September 1996. After 10 years as an internaticnal civil servant,
she joined the Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, and became
chairman of its Council from 1985 to 1997, In 1892, she was
appointed founder trustee and subsecuentiy chairman of the
Maxwell Pensioners Trust and in 1997 received the OBE for this
work. She is chairman of Dixons Group Pension Scheme, an
external assessor for the Horme Office for promotions in the police,
orison and fire services, pro-chancellor and chairman of the board
of governors of London Scuth Bank University and a Justice of the
Peace. In March 2005, she stood down as chairman of the trustee
companies responsible for the United Utlities' pension schemes
fallowing her appeintment as chairman of the trustee company to
the Royal Mail Pension Fund, cne of the largest funds in the UK.

Andrew Pinder CBE (age 58) ~ Non-executive director

Andrew Pinder was appointed a hon-executive director on

1 September 2001. As the e-Envoy to the UK government from
2001 to 2004, he was responsible to the Prime Minister for the
delivery of internet access 1o all British citizens and businesses.
He has since joined the board of Entrust, a US-based security
specialist in Novernber 2004 and he became an independent
non-executive director of Spring Group plc in March 2005. Before
his appointment as e-Envoy, he was a partner in a verture capital
firm and carried out a number of management consultancy
assignments for the British government. Previous executive
leadership roles also include positions as the head of European
cperations and technelogy at Citibank, director of operations

and technology at Prudential Corporation, and as director

of information technalegy at the Cffice of Iniand Revenue.
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Nick Salmon (age 52) - Non-executive director

Nick Salmon was appointed as a non-executive director on

4 April 2005. He has been the chief executive of Cookson

Group plc since 2004. From 2001 to 2004, he was executive

vice president of Alstom S.A., the global energy and transport
infrastructure group. As a member of the thres-person executive
central management tearn, his responsibilities included strategy,
mergers and acquisitions, communications and the woridwide
marketing and sales network, From 1997 to 2001 he was sxecutive
vice president of ABB Alstom Power. In his post as chief executive
of Babecock International Group PLC from 1993 to 1997, he led

a major restructiring exercise, resulting in the repositioning of
Babcock as a focused support services company. Prior to joining
Babcock, he held senicr management positions at GEC and GEC
Alsthom in the UK and France, and previously spent eleven years
with China Light & Power Company Limited in Hong Kong.

John Seed (age 66) — Chairman of the remuneration committee

John Seed joined the board as a non-executive director in

March 1996, He was formerly chief executive of South Wastern
Electricity plc. A chartered engineer, he spent 28 years in a number
of engineering and general management posts with Eastern
Electricity. He was appointed deputy chairman of South Western
Electricity in 1988, becoming managing director at privatisation and
then chief executive in 1992, He was chairman of Great Western
Assured Growth plc from 1891 to 1997, of Windelectric Limited
from 1896 to 1998 and of Warren Associates Limited from 1998 to
2001, He has held a number of other non-executive directorships
in the public and private sectors, including Prism Rail plc, Rebus
Group plc and British Smaller Companies VCT plc.

SENIOR MANAGERS
The foilowing are the senior managers of the company who are not
board directors, but are members of the executive leadership team:

Linda Booth (age 52) — Group human rescurces director

Linda Booth joined the group as human resources director of Your
Cemmunications Limited on 4 October 1998, She was appointed
as group human resources director on 1 January 2003. She holds
an external directorship and is chair of a charity in Liverpool called
Create Liverpool Trading Limited which helps the long-term
unemplayed back into work. She is alse a member of the

regional council of The Prince’s Trust.

Hugh Logan {age 55) — Managing director, Your Communications

Hugh Logan joined Your Communications as its managing director
in July 2000. He was previcusly director of sales and services at
8T Celinet where he ovarsaw the acquisition of Martin Dawes and
managed a customer base of 3.4 million pecple. During a ten-year
career at BT, he held a variety of senior management roles including
managing director of BT Mobille, director of BT Celinet, and
managing director of BTC Lumina and DX Communications.

Earlier in his career he worked at Plessey, STC and Mercury.

lan Priestner (age 48) - Group communications director

fan Priestner joined the company as group communications director
on 16 Cciober 2000, having previcusly been head of public policy
and government relations at British Gas PLC.

Tim Rayner (age 44) - Gompany secretary

A solicitor and previously a partner with a predecessor law firm of
Addleshaw Goddard, Tim Rayner joined the group as group legal

manager in 1995. He was appointed as group company secretary
on 1 April 1938.




Governance
Directors’ report

Principal activities

The company is the holding company of a group which manages
and operates electricity distribution; water and wastewater assets,
manages infrastructure and business processes for its own and
other businesses; and provides voice, basic and advanced
communication services to the business customer market.

A fuller description of business activities is contained within

the operating and financial review on page 4. The principal
subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures of the company

are shown in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

The chairman’s statement on page 2 and the operating and
financial review on pages 3 to 32 report on the group’s activities
during the vear and on likely future developments.

The dividend for shareholders

The directors are recommending a final dividend of 30.63 pence

for each ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2005 (15.315
pence for each A sharg), making a total for the year of 45.42 pence
for each ordinary share {22.71 pence for each A share). Subject to
shareholders approving this recommendation at the annual general
meeting, the dividend will be paid on 26 August 2005 to shareholders
on the register at the close of business on 10 June 2005.

The business for the annual general meeting

Detaiis of the resolutions to be proposed at the 2005 annual
general meeting are set out in the notice calling the meeting.
There is also a full explanation of the resolutions in the leaflet
containing the notice, enclesed with this report.

Employees

The company’s policies on employment of disabled persons and
on employee involvement are centained within the operating and
financial review on pages 12 to 13. The policy to encourage
employee involvement through provision of share schemes is
discussed within the directors’ remuneration report on page 37.

Directors and senior management

The names of the present directors and their biographical details
are given o pages 33 and 34, together with details of the senior
managers who form part of the executive leadership team but
are not full board members.

Directors’ and senior managers' interests in shares

The directors and their immediate families had the following
interests in shares as at the financial year ended 31 March 2005
and as at 1 June 2005, all of which were beneficial interests, in
the company's ordinary and A shares and opticns 1o subscribe for
shares. None of the directors or senior managers hold more than
one per cent of either the ordinary or the A share capital of the
company. Excapt as described below, nene of the directors had
any interest in any share capital of any other group cormpany

or in any debenture of any group company.

1. Interests in ordinary shares

As at 1 Jung 2005, the directors and senior managers (17 persons)
of United Utifities held a total of 330,486 ordinary shares in the
company, representing ¢.053 per cent of the issued ordinary share
capital. The indiviclual interests of the directors in ordinary shares
are shown table 12.

Table 12:
At 1 April 2004
or dale of At 31 March At 1 Juna
appoimment if later 2005 2005
John Roberts 92,054 110,173 110,245
Simon Batey 16,696 82,401 82,447

Chay 93
Tor Drury 20,123
SirRicherd Evans 245 245 248
SiPeterMiddeton 4574 4574 4,574
e 4,355“ .......................... 4,3564,355
And;ewpmder 4‘000 4’000 4]000
Nick Salmon o _Mn-:';;w - Min}ai T
J(;hnS%d- 5,550 5550 5,550
Notes:

= Amounts shaown as at 1 April 2004 for executive directors include ordinary shares neld within
the deferred share plan which matured during the year. Further details are available in the
directors’ remuneration report on pages 37 to 48,

* Sach executive director is a member of the class of discretionary beneficiaries of the United
Utilities Employee Shars Trust and is therefore treated as having an interest in the 52,500
ordinary shares held by United Utilities Employes Share Trust Limited as trustes of the
United Utifities Employee Share Trust al 31 March 2005. As at 1 Junae 2005, United Utilities
Emplayee Share Trust Limited continued to hold 52,500 ordinary shares,

2. Interests in A shares

As at 1 June 2005, the directors and senior managers (17 persans)
of United Utilities held a total of 116,999 A shares in the compary,
representing 0.038 per cent of the issued A share capital. The
individual interests of the directors in A shares are shown in table 13.

Table 13:
At 1 April 2004

or date of At 31 March At 1 June
appointment if later 2005 2005
Jonn Roberts 40,222 40,222 40,222
Sirman Batey 151,190 44,127
Charlie Cornish - -
Tom Drury nfa 5,323

Norman rBroadhurst 189

Dadeoneg e
SrPeter Migdiston 2541 2581 2,541
Jane Newel 2419 2419 2419
Andrew Pinder 2,222 2,222 2,222
l:ﬂcifs%o;__ﬂi __nfa n;a e
John Seed T 3082 3,082 3,082

3. Interests in share options

As at 1 June 20085, the directors and senior managers {17 persons)
of United Utilities held options t¢ purchase 15,900 ordinary shares

in the company, representing 0.003 per cent of the issued ordinary
share capital, all of which were issued pursuant to the United Utilities
all-employee ShareSave scheme, the company share option scheme
1999 or its predecessor, the executive share option scheme. The
individual interests of the directors in share options are shown in
table 14.
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Table 14:
At 1 Apnil 2004

or date of At 31 March At 1 June
appointment if kater 2005 2005
John Roberts 4,139 - -
Chaﬁte&cr;gh o e
Tom Drury ma  na 3772
GordonWate's 3,080 3,030 3,030

Note:
» Non-gxecutive direclors do not pasticipate in fhe companys share option pfans.

Purchase of own shares

At the annual general meeting held on 30 July 2004, the company
was authorised by the shareholders to purchase, in the market, up
to 55,721,369 of its own ordinary shares of £1 each. No shares
were purchased pursuant 1o this authority during the year. This
authority is normally renewable annually and approval will be sought
from shareholders at the 2005 annual general meeting to renew the
authority for one year.

Fulfiiling sogial and environmental responsibilities

As described in the corporate responsibiiity review on page 32, the
group seeks to manage its total impact on society as a regponsible
corporate citizen, Full details are set out in the company’s separate
stakeholder report, which is an imporiant part of the company’s
integrated approach to reperting on the group’s overall performance,
together with the annual report and the web site.

Political and charitable donations

Charitable donations by the group in the year amounted to
£1,312,774 {2004 - £1,335,758). The group’s pelicy is not to make
any donations for political purposes. However, the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000 requires certain types of
expenditure on paolitical events to be pre-approved by shareholders.
At the 2002 annual general meeting an authority was taken to
cover such expenditure. Pursuant to that authority, in the vear, the
company incurred costs of £12,845 (2003 - £6,217) as part of the
process of talking to government at all levels. Resolutions 1o renew
this authority for the company and its principal subsidiaries will be
put to the 2005 annual general meeting.

Approach to technology development

Tre group is committed to using innovative, cost-effective

and practical solutions for providing high quality services. It also
continues to make full use of the wide-ranging expertise, abilities
and facilities within the group. it recognises the importance of
ensuring that it properly focuses its investment in the developrment
of technology, that it has the right skills to apply technclogy to
achieve sustainabie competitive advantage and ihat it continues
to be alert 1o emerging technological opporiunities.

Substantial shareholders and related party transactions

The company is not directly or indirectly owned or contralled by
another corparation or by an individual or government and there
are no arrangements the operation of which rmay, at a subseguent
date, result in a change in control of the company.

At 1 June 2005, the directors were aware of the following notifiable
beneficial interests of greater than three per cent in the company’s
issued cordinary share capital:

Table 15:

Company Date notified No. of shares %

Barclays PLC 12/04/2005 16,835,297 3.0

. |nveétment A

Management Ltd 07/07/2003 17,980,003 3.02
36 United Utilities Annual Report & Accounts 2005
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At 1 June 2005, the directors were also aware of the following
notifiable beneficial interests of greater than three per cent in
the company’s issued A share capital:

Table 16:
Cormpany Date notified No. of shares %
Barclays PLC 05/04/2005 18,195,774 5.88

J. P. Morgan & Chase Co. 20
Sprucegrove Investment
Ma

Holders of all ordinary shares, including those held through ADSs,
have the same voting rights. Holders of A shares have the same
voting rights as ordinary shareholders, save that, on a pol,

each hoider of A shares shall have only cne vote for every

two A shares held,

As of 20 May 2005, there were 116 registered holders of 47,874
ordinary shares with addrasses in the US, constituting less than
one per cent of the ordinary shares in issue at that date and ten
registered holders of 3,497 A shares with addresses in the US,
constituting less than one per cent of the A shares in issue at that
date. In addition, at 18 May 2005 there were 61 registered holders
of 15,275,461 United Utilities PLC ADSs (representing 30,550,822
ordinary shares) with an address in the U3, constituting less than
one per cent of the ordinary shares in issue at that date,

Other than with respect to smployment agreemsnts and
compengation arrangements, there is no material indebiedness
owed to, or by, and there have been no material transactions
between, the company and managernent during the company’s
three most recent financial years, nor are there presently proposed
10 be any such indebtedness or any material transactions, or any
transactions that are unusuai in their nature or conditions to which
the company or any of its subsidiaries was or is a party and in
which any director or exectiive officer, or five per cent shareholder,
or any relative or spouse thereof or any associate of the company
or any enterprise that direcily or indirectly controls, is contrclled by
or is under common control with the company, had or is to have a
direct or indirect material interest.

For details of related party transactions see note 36 o the
consoclidated financial statements on page 84.

Creditor payment policy and practice

The group does not fofiow any specific external code or standard
on payment practice. its policy is normally to pay suppliers
according to terms of business agreed with them on entering into
hinding contracts and to keep to the payment terms providing the
relevant goods or services have been supplied in accerdance with
the contracts. The group and the company had 54 days (2004 -
60 days) and 34 days (2004 — 29 days) respectively of purchases
outstanding at the end of the financial year.

Indemnities

Trroughout the year and as at the date of this report, the articles of
association contained provisions for the benefit of directors, officers
and employees of the group and its subgidiary and associated
companies indemnifying them out of the assets of the company
1o the full extent allowed by law against liabilities incurrad by
them iri the course of carrying out their duties.

Independent auditor
The board is proposing tc reappoint Deloitte & Touche LLP
as auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Approved by/the poard on 1 June 2005 and signed on its behalf by
JinrRaynes
Segretary |

k/\\ L/L o A
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Approach to reward

The group must ensure that its remuneration arrangements attract
and keep people of the right calibre in order to ensure corporate
success and to enhance shareholder valus. Its overall approach is
to atftract, develop, motivate and keep talented people at all levels,
pay competitive salaries and benefits to all its staff and encourage
its staff {0 hold shares in the company.

When pay ievels are set, account is taken of the woark that an
employee does and what is paid in other companies for that
work. The company seeks to reward its pecple fairly and give
them the opportunity to increase earmings by linking pay to
achieving business and individual performance targets.

The hoard believes that share awnership is an effective way
of strengthening employeas’ involvement in the development
of the business and bringing together their interests and those
of sharehciders. {f offers employess the opportunity to build
up a shareholding in the group.

The main all-employee scheme is the Inland Revenue approved
share incentive plan, ‘ShareBuy’. This is a flexible way for
employses to acquirg shares in the company by buying
‘partnership’ shares up to the lower of £1,500 or ten per cent of
taxable pay each year. The funds are deducted from pre-tax pay
and passed to an independent trustes who makes a monthly
purchase of shares at full market price. Emplovess can reinvest the

tn 2004, the company introduced ‘matching’ shares. It gives one
free share for every five partnership shares bought. The shares
need to be held in trust for a five-year term in order 1o retain the
maximum tax advantages.

Grants have alsc been made 1o employees through the SAYE
share option savings scheme, ‘ShareSave’, whereby an employes
is granted an option o buy shares at the end of & three or five-year
term during which they can save up to £250 each month from their
net pay, The option price is fixed at a price not lower than 20 per
cent below the market price at the date of grant. The number of
shares that can be bought is deiermined by the amount saved

by the employee over the term.,

Senior executives also have the opportunity to acquire shares by
participating in the group's performance share plan. This plan has
replaced the grant of executive share options. Further inforration
on the operation of the group's share schemes can be found in
note 25 to the accounts.

Remuneration

Buring the year, the aggregate amounts of remuneration paid to

all directors was £3,351,365 {2004 — £2,877,839). This includes
annual bonuses earned and accrued in the year to 31 March 2005
but paid after the year end and the value of iong-term incentives
earned for the period ended 31 March 2004 paid during the year
for executive directors. Details of amounis paid {0 each individual
director are shown in tables 19 (non-executive directors) and 20

Table 18: Non-executive directors’ terms of appointment

dividends on partnership shares to buy more shares under the plan.

{executive directors). Table 20 also shows the values of annual
beonuses earned by the executive directors in the previous year
and paid in this year.

During the year, the aggregate amount of remuneration

(as defined above) paid to senicr managers was £2,507,136

(2004 - £2,373,342). Details of amounts paid 1o each individual
officer are not required 1o be disclosed. However, their emoluments
for the year are included, on a banded basis, in table 17.

Table 47: Senior managers’' emoluments

Total emolurmants
No. of managers £000
1 ] ] 450.0+
1 350.0 - 4499

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING THE CHAIRMAN)

A committee of the beard decides the remuneration of the non-
executive directors {other than the chairman). its members are the
chairman (Sir Richard Evans) and the executive directors, John
Roberts, Simon Batey, Charlie Gornigti, Tom Orury (from 9 May
2005) and Gordon Waters. The committes may take independent
advice. it is also advised by the group's human rescurces director
(Linda Booth). The committee met once during the year 1o review
the fees paid 10 non-executive directors. The remuneration
committee decides the remuneration of the chairman. The
chairman’s remuneration was reviewed during the year.

Terms of appointment

Non-execurive directors’ appointments are for an initial period of
three years. They are subject to reappointment at the first annual
general meeting after their initial appointment and at an annual
general meeting at least every three years thereatter if they are 1o
be renewed. After nine years in office a non-executive director is
reguired 10 seek reappointment each vear at the annual general
meeting. They do not have contracts of service. in the event of
early termination, for whatever reason, they are not entitled to
compensation. Their letters of appointment ¢an be inspected at
the company’s registered office. They set out the expected time
commitment and non-executives agree to devote sufficient time
to meet what is expected of them.

Policy statement on non-executive directors’ remuneration

The company's policy is to pay annuai fees that reflect the
respensibiiities ptaced upon the non-executive directors. Fees
are reviewed periodically, when account is taken of the level of
fees paid in companies of simiiar size and complexity. There are
separate arnual fees for the chaimnan, deputy chairman and the
ather non-executive directors. Additional fees are paid to the
chairmen of the audit and remuneration cornmittees (Norman
Broaghurst and John Seed respectively]. Jane Newell’s fee

Date first Date of lasl Reappeint no Compansation
appointed 1o appointment later than upon early
board AGM in AGM in Nolice pericd termination
Sir Richard Evans G1.08.1887 2004 2007 rone nong
St Pater Middleton © 7 Tototiges 2004 2005 none ‘none
Nomman Broadhurst T T o1.0s.1999 05 rnone  none
D s 03.01.2005
JaneNewel 777 orogagee
Andrew Pinder Col0e2001
Nick Saimon 04.04.2005
John_Seed T 01.03.1996 N

Nota:
» John Seed will not be seeking reappointment al the AGM in July 2005,

_»—
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includes an amount to reflect additiona! responsibilities as chairman
of the trustees of the company’s major pension schemes from
which she retired as chairman on 31 March 2005.

Non-executive directors do not participate in any annual bonus
or incentive plan, the pension scheme, healthcare arrangements,
the company’s iong-term incentive plans, ShareSave scheme or
ShareBuy. The company repays the reasonable expenses they
incur in carrying out their duties as directors.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

Non-executive directors’ fees (other than the chairman’s) were
increased on 1 May 2004. This was the first increase since May
2002, The base fee is £45,000 & year. The annua! fee paid to Sir
Peter Middleton, deputy chairman, is £80,000. The additicnal fees
paid 10 the chairmen of the audit and remunerafion committees
are £10,000 and £7,500 a year respectively. On 1 July 2004, the
chairman’s feg increased to £198,000 a year. This was the first
increase since his appointment in January 2001, The next review
of non-executive directors' fees will be in September 2005 and
annually thereafier. Non-executive directors’ remuneration for the
year to 31 March 2005 is set out in table 19.

Table 19: Non-executive directors’ fees (audited information)

Total fees

2005 2004

£'000 £'000

Sir Richard Evans 193.5 180.0

Norman Broadhurst 53.8 200

Dawddones e e

Sit Peter Middieton : 13 00

Jane Newell 733 55.0

Andrew Pinder 89.2 350

JohBSe;d_n et e e _____51_3 I 4_(;0

Total 5506 410.0
Notes:

+ David Jones was appointed to the board on 3 January 2006. His yearly fes is £45,000.

*» Nick Salmon was appointed o the board on 4 April 2005. His yearty fee is £45,000.

* Since August 2004, Andrew Pinder received an additiona! fee in his capacity as a non-
exedutive director of Vertex Data Science Limited. During the year fees of £45 000 were paid.
Thess are includad in 1he figurs abova.

+ Jane Newell's Jee inchudes an additional amount of £30,000 paid 16 her in hgr capacity as
chairman of the company’s pension schemes’ lrustee.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee

The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the
beard on the group's framework of executive remuneration andg

its cost. It approves, on the board’s behalf, the general recruittnent
terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions and severance
terms for executive management, it decides the specific rectuitment
terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions, pension rights,
compensation payments and severance terms for the executive
directors and managing directors of subsidiary businesses and
functional directors at the group's corporate centre who form the
executive leadership team.

The committee’s members are John Seed {Chairmany},

Norman Broadhurst, David Jones (from 24 January 2005),

Sir Peter Middieton, Jane Newell, Andrew Pinder and Nick Salmaon
{from 4 April 20053, all non-executive directors. The committee’s
terms of reference arg availabie to shareholders on request and
are on the company’s web site at www.unitedutilities.com.

The committee has retained New Bridge Street Consultants LLP to
advise it on executive remuneration. They glso advise the company
on the remuneration of a limited number of senior executive
management whose specific terms do not fall within the remit of
the remuneration committee. This is 10 ensure consistency in the
application of the board’s policies on executive remuneration and
the general terms of employment approved by the remuneration

Unitec: Utilties Arriual Report & Accounts 2005

committes. Mercer Humarn Resource Consulting advise the
committee on pensions matters. They are also the actuaries to
one of the company's pension schemes {United Utliities Pension
Scheme) and advise the company on matters relating to its
aperation, Addleshaw Goddard and Eversheds LLP provids
legal advice on the operation of the group’s share incentive and
share option plans, including drafting the rules and advising on
their interpretation and may advise on individual termination
arrangements. They also pravide general legal advice to

the company and other companies in the group.

The cormmittee is assisted by the chief executive (John Roberis),
who is consulted on propasals relating to the remuneration of
the other executive directors and senior executives and by Linda
Booth, the group human resources director. The chief executive
and group humarn resources director attend meetings except
when the committee discusses matters relating to thelr own
remuneration. The committee can and does also seek advice
directly from other specialist staff within the group.

The commitiee considers fully the principles of good governance
and the code of best practice. it met six times in the year to

31 March 2005. Individual attendance at the mestings is stated
in the corporate governance report on page 49.

During the year, maiters considered by the commitiee included:

» the 2004 salary review for executive directors and other
senior executives;

» awards payabie under the 2003/04 annual bonus plan and the
measures and targets for the 2004/05 and 2005/06 plans;

« the cperation of the performance share plan, including
implementing rule revisions agreed by shareholders at the
2004 annual generai meeting, the size of and performance
conditions to apply to the 2004/05 grant of awards, the
introduction of a cash based international plan to replace the
performance share plan for a limited number of senior executives
in overseas jurisdictions {in accordance with authority given by
shareholders in 2000}, and monitoring engoing performance
against the conditions applying to previcus grants and the vesting
of the 2001/02 awards;

* the Implications of tax simplification legislation on pension policy
and provision for executives;

* monitoring of executive sharehcldings against target; and

* the form and content of the remuneration report in light of
developmenis in stakeholder views and evolving best practice
on disclosure.

The hoard accepted the committee’s recommendations without
amendment. The chairman of the board ensures the company
talks to its major shareholders, when appropriate, about matters
relating 1o remuneration.

Policy statement on executive directors’ remuneration
Tne board's policy for executive directors’ and senior executives’
remuneration is to:

* pay a basic salary which compares with other companies
of about the same size and complexity;

* use short and long-term incentives to encourage executives
to outperform key targets, thereby linking their rewards to the
interests of sharehoiders and other stakehoiders and giving
them the opportunity to increase thelr earnings;

* enicourage executives ta hold shares in the company; and

» overail, reward executives fairly and responsibly for thelr
contribution 1o the group’s short and long-term performance and
avoid paying more than is necessary for achieving this chijective.

In deciding the executive directors’ total remuneration package
and individual elerments of it, the remuneration committee assesses
where the company should be positioned relative to other companies.




it makes appropriate comparisons but treats them with caution.
The company aims fo pay about the market median but may pay
more for an outstanding performer or 1o attract executives of the
right calibre. Earnings may be increased through the operation of
annual and iong-term incentive plans.

The committee aims 1o achisve an appropriate balance between
fixed and variable rewards consistent with and reflecting the group’s
profile. it recognises that the group operates in both a regulated
and non-regulated environment and therefore needs to ensure

that the structure of executive remuneration reflects the practices
of the markets in which its executives operate and stakeholder
expectations of how the group should be run.

Chart 1 sets out the forward policy for an executive director's
annual totai reward opportunity.

Chart 1: Executive directors’ annual total reward opportunity

M Base pay

& Pension (DC)

8| Cther

B Annual bonus opportunity

M Long term incentive opportunity

Notes:

* The figures are the percentage of 1ofal reward opporiunity that each element represents.

* Pgnsion refers to defined conlripution scherme with the highest mat¢hed reguiar company
contribution of 14 per cent of basic pay.

* The proportions for annua bonus and long-term incantive arg based on raximum award
opportuniiles of 60 per cert and 80 per cent of salary respectively; aclual values will depend
on performance,

Fixed rewards include basic salary, a car allowance or company
car and fusl for private mileage, medical insurance and pension
benefits, Variable rewards take the form of an annual bonus and
a leng-term incentive (the performance share plan). The plans are
designed to establish a clear link between pay and performance
by encouraging and rewarding out-performance in bath the

Table 20: Executive directors' remuneration (audited information)

short and long term. They are based on business and individual
performance, linking executives’ rewards directly 1o the interests of
sharehclders and other stakeholders. Awards are non-pensionable
and provide the opportunity to earn up to a further 80 per cent and
80 per cent of basic saiary (annual bonus and long-term incentive
respectively) each year. Varable rewards account for over 50 per
cent of total annual reward opportunity for executive directors.

The company requires executive directors and other senior
executives 1o acquire and hold shares at least to the value of
their basic salary within five years of appointment. To assist them
in satisfying this minimum share ownership target, it may pay
incentive awards partly or wholly in shares.

Detailed policy in relation to each element of executive directars'
remuneration ig set cut below. The beard continually reviews its
policy in the light of emerging best practice. Changes have been
rnade to the structure of the 2005/06 annual banus for executive
directors and ather managing directors with responsibility for
specific businesses. Amendments hgve alse been made to
pension policy to be effective from the introduction of tax
simpiification legislation in 2006. These are reported below.

During 2005/06, the committee intends to review the operation

of the group’s incentive arrangements in the fight of evolving
stakeholder interest and market practice and to ensure that
rewards remain aligned to shareholder interests, It is the board’s
policy that shareholders will be invited specifically to approve

all new long-term incentive schemes (as defined in the Listing
Rules} and significant changes 1o existing schemes, save in the
circumstances permitted by the Listing Rules. Any significant
proposed changes will be submitted to the annual general mesting
in 2006 for sharehoider approval.

Executive directors’ remuneration 2004/05
Executive directors’ emcluments and the value of the long-term
incentive vesting during 2004/05 are set out in table 20.

A Salary

The remuneration committeg reviews salaries each year taling
account of group and personal performance. Any changes are
effective from 1 September. It commissions indepencent
assessments of market rates based on the practice of other utility
campanies and companies of a simifar size and complexity and

Long-tenm incentive

vesting during the

year ended

Gross salary Anngal bonus Gther benefifs Total emoluments 31 March

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

John Roberts 494.0 467.5 281.6 280.5 38.4 35.6 814.0 7838 200.8 227.7

Simon Batey 3175 193.6 1905 18.6 18.0 551.8 526.0 163.3 186.1

Charlie Cormish 42.3 138.9 254 107.7 80.8 490.3 148.5 - -

Les Dawson - - - - ) ) - = - - = “— 115.0

Gordon Waters 288.2 259.2 164.3 186.5 13.3 26.7 465.8 441.4 114.9 130.2

Total 1,365.5 1,086.5 778.4 651.9 178.0 161.1 2,321.9 1,899.5 479.0 662.0
Notes:

= John Roberts was 1he highest paid dirsctor in the year ended 31 March 2005.

+ The value of the lang-term incentive vesting during the year ended 31 March 2005 i3 based on the share price when the oplions were gxercised. The awards refale to the three-year performance

pericd which ended on 31 March 2004.

= ‘Other banefits' includs 1he taxsble value of the car or car allowance, private fusl, medical insurance and lfe insurance element of pension benefils.
* Charlie Comish was appointed to the board on 27 January 2004, His cther penefits during the year ended 31 March 2005 include a nen-pensicnable salary supptement of £18,500 a year to
compensate him for lost pengion benefits from his previous employment (2004: £3,332) and relocafion costs of £72,458 (2004: £74,043).
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takes account of the levels of pay awards elsewhere i the group.
in this way it aims 10 establish whether and what ievel of increase
shouid apply and whether there should be any departures from this,
for exampie, to ensure that salaries are competitive but consistent
with the application of board policy on executive remuneration.
Following its annuat review in 2004, the following changes were
madg to the anniual safaries of executive directors:

Table 21: Executive directors’ salary review

1 September 1 September
2004 2063
£000 000
John Reberts 504.0 480.0
Simon Batey 346.5 330.0
Charlie Comish 250.0 -
Gordon Waters 294.0 280.0
Nole:
s Chariie Comish was appointed to the board on 27 January 2004 at a yearly salary of £235,000,
B Annual bonus

The annual bonus is designed to motivate executive directors and
other senior executives to achieve the group's key operational and
strategic objectives. The maximum award is 80 per cent of yearly
basic earnings. Directors are rewarded according 1o the company’s
financial and non-financial performance for the year and the
achievernent of individual targets. Targets are set each year. The
non-financial and individual targets may inciude personal objectives
and performance against other key stakeholder measures. Annual
bonus awards are normally paid in cash. However, the commitiee
may pay themn partly or wholly in shares.

{a} 2005/06

The remuneration committee has decided that, for the 2005/06
annual benus plan, financial measures will account for bonus
payments worth up 1o 48 per ¢ent of salary. The financial measures
will be group profit before exceptional ttems, interest and tax
(PBEIT) and group profit before exceptional items and tax (PBET).
Business managing directors will also have targets based on the
PBEIT and PBET performance of their business.

Financial measures have siiding scaies of vesting. One quarter of
the maximum award becomes payable when the threshold target
is metl. Awards increase in vaiue on a straight-line basis until half
of the maximum award is payable for achieving an intermediate
target midway between the threshold and stretch targets. Awards
continue to increase in value on a straight-line basis between the
intermediate and stretch targets, at which point the maximum
award is payable. The stretch targets are demanding and
achievernent represents results which exceed expectations.

Cne fifth of the annual bonus, accounting for 12 per cent of salary,
will depend on perfarmance in cther areas of the group's activities
and the achievemnent of individual objectives. it has been decided
1o replace performance in the Business in the Environment’s

(BIE) Index with performance in the Business in the Community’s
Corporate Respoensibility index (CRI). The CRI is an authoritative
and broader external benchmark of responsible business practice

Table 22; Executive directors’ annual bonus plan measures 2005/06

Financial mavximum award

in relation o the environment and society. Achieving the targst of
94 per cant for the group’s score in the CRI will result in a three per
cant bonus being paid. A further three per cent is allccated for
achieving improvements in employee satisfaction measured by
responses to questions in an externally conducted and verified
employee opinion survey. Individual objectives account for a

further six per cent bonus,

The executive directors” annual bonus plan for 2005/06 is
surnmarised in table 22,

(b} 2004/05

The financial measures to determine annual bonuses for 2004/05
were group PBEIT and PBET. The maximum konus oppartunity
allocated to each of these targets was 24 per cent. Non-financial
targets accounted for up to 12 per cent of salary of which three per
cent was based on the group score in the BIE index, three per cent
an scores in the 2004/05 employee opinion survey and six per cent
on the achievement of individual objectives.

The stretch PBET and PBEIT targets were achieved. The total
payable for performance against financial targets was, therefore,
48 per cent. The environmental target of 98 per cent was achieved
{performance = 96.47 per cent). The employese-related targets
(based on the results of the emplovee opinion survey) were not
achieved. Each director achieved their individual objectives,
Therefore, a nine per cent bonus was payable, bringing the

overall bonus payable to a total of 57 per cent of salary.

The outcome of the 2004/05 annual bonus plan for executive
directors is shown in table 23.

(c} Prior year annual bonuses paid in deferred shares

Haif of the value of the 2000/01 annual bonus awards for executive
directors was satisfied by the grant in June 2001 of centingent rights
o receive shares in the company to be purchased in the market by
the company's employee share trust. The right to these shares may
have been forfeited in certain circumstances if an executive was not
in the company’s employment when the shares were due to be
transferred to him from the trust in June 2004,

The company did not match the number of deferred shares and
there were no additional performance measures associated with
the relpase of these shares. The shares were released in June 2004
as shown in table 24,

C Other benefits

Directors are paid a car allowance of £14,000 a year (or have the
use of a company car of broadly equivalent cost where business
use warrants i), are reimbursed fue! for business and private use,
and are provided with medical and life insurance. Charlie Cornish
is paid a non-pensionable salary supplement of £18,500 a year 1o
compensate him for the reduction in employer contribution rate
to his pension scheme relative to his previous employment,

D Long-term incentives

Executive directors and other senior executives participate in the
performance share plan. Participation is ai the discretion of the
plan’s trustee {United WHilities Employee Share Trust Limited) on

the recommendation of the remuneration cormmittee. Each year,
participants may be awarded a right 10 acquire a maximum number

MNon-financial maximum award

Group Group Business Business Comorats Employee Pergonal

PBET % PBET % PEEIT % PBET % rasponsibiity % satistaction % ahjectives % Total %
John Roberts 24 24 - - 3 3 6 &0
é}mon By . 24 24 e - . 37 . . e
Chame CQmISh [ 18 15 . . 3 3
TDmDmry B - . - 5 3 3
Gordon Waters 18 8 6 3 3
Note:

+ Figures are maximum awards expressed as a perceniage of salary,

United Utilities Anmual Report & Accounts 2005

D —




Table 23: Executive directors’ annual bonus plan outcome 2004/05

Financial maxirmum award

Non-financial maximum award

Group Group Envirgnmmental Empioyes Personai

PBET POET performance salisfaction oObjectives Total
Actual award: 24% 24% 3% 3% 6% B60%
John Roberts 24 24 3 - [ &7
S,monBatgy e e oo 2!;,#” 21 e __m,,,,,s e - 5 - 57
Cham@ Com|sh e i i ,244 R 2,4, ,,,#3, o . 6 . 57
Gordonwaters 24243 - . o
Note:

» Figures ara percentage of salary.

of shares (or, at the discretion of the frustee, the cash eguivalent)
worth up to a percentage of their annual salary at the date of the
award, at no cost to them. The number of shares awarded is based
on the market price of a share at that time. The plan’s rules provide
for a maximum award of 100 per cent of annua! salary. However,
annual awards made to date o directors have been limited to 80
per cent of salary. Awards to cther executives range between 10
per cent and 60 per cent of salary. Grants are normally made within
42 days of the publication of results. The main grant occurs after
the publication of the preliminary results. A subsequent grant may
be made after the publication of the interim rasults for executives
who have become eligible after the main grant has been made.

The proportion of the award that will vest depends on the group's
performance against specified targets over a performance period.
This period is not less than three years, beginning at the start

of the financial year during which the award is made. There is

no re-testing If the perforrance criteria are not met.

To daie the performance criteria have been [a) the company’s fotal
shareholder return (TSR) performance when compared with the
TSR periormance of a group of other companies and (b} underlying
business performance.

TSR is widaly accepted as an easily understood and externally
verifiable measure of a sharehoider's return. Relating awards to the
company's refative TSR performance supporis the poiicy objectives
of linking executives' rewards directly 1o the group’s performance
and sharehclders' interests and gives executives the opportunity
to increase their earnings by meeting and out-performing key
long-term measures.

The inclusion of appropriate companies in the comparator group is
critical for relative performance to be meaningful. However, it is also
important that the group should be of a reasonable size to avoid
the performance of a few companies having a disproportionate
impact on the outcame of the plan, to be &ble to accommedate
changes in the comparater group and to aveid too high a leverage
between the company’s relative position and the proporticn of the
award that vests. The remuneration committee determings tha
cornposition of the comparator group when awards are granted

each year. [t has the discretion to make subsequent adjustments fo
the group or the period over which relative TSR is measured during
the performance period, for example, following a takeover bid or
merger/dernerger announcemént, to maintain the integrity of the
plan. During the year, the remuneration committee considered the
treatment of changes affecting companies in the comparator
groups for awards made in 2002/03 and 2003/04. These are
reported below.

No award wilf vest if the company’s TSR performance is below the
median for the comparator group. If performance is between median
and upper quartile, the proportion of the maximum number of shares
in the award which will vest will be calculated on a straight-ine basis
between 33 per cent and 100 per cent. External advisers regularly
assess and report to the committee on the companys TSR
performance and ranking in the comparator group. Their report at the
end of the performance period enables the commitiee 1o determine
the extent to which this performance condition has been met.

The vesting of awards is also subject to the remuneration
committee being satisfied that the company's recorded TSR
performange is consisient with underlying business performance.
it may, therefore, materially change the level of award vesting. The
committee tests whether this condition has been satisfied aftar the
end of each performance pericd in accordance with the terms of
each award. Reference may be made 1o actual against planned
performance in key corporate financial measures. The committee
will be adopting principles in due course to deal with the impact
of the transition to International Financial Reporting Standards
when assessing underlying business performance against the
performance measures.

There is no autamatic waiving of performance conditions if there

is a change of control, capital reconstruction or winding up of the
company. The extent (if any} to which awards will vest and any
modifications of perforrance conditions are af the trustee’s
discretion, with the consent of the remuneration committes. When

a participant's employment is terminated during a performance
period and the reason falls within the 'good leaver’ provisions

of the plan, the vesting of an award is at the trustee’s discretion.
The maximum number of shares in an award is pro-rated to service

Table 24: Executive directors’ contingent interests in deferred shares relating to past bonus awards (audited information)

Gontingent interest Contingent interest

Contingent interest Shares transfered Contingent interest

Award in in ghares al date in shares at in shares added 10 executive during in shares at
respect of of award 1 April 2004 during the year the year 31 March 2005
Valle Value Value Value Value
No. £'eon No. 000 Ng. 000 No. £'000 No. £'000
2001 12,806 84.2
10,766 702 16,218 84.6
7484 48.8 11,273 58.8 - - 14,273 61.6 - -

MNotes:

* The awards wera made on 3 Juna 2001 under the terms of the deferrsd sharg plan whareby 50 per cent of the value of the 2000/01 annual bonus was paid as contingent shares 1o D& held in
trust for three years, based on a share price of 652.0 pence. This was the average of the mid-market price of a share for the three business days immediately prior to 1 June 2001.

* The increase in the contingent interest in shares between ihe date of the award and 1 April 2004 results from a netional reinvestment of dividends that would have baen paid on these shares in
that period and an adjusirment to take account of the rights issue (based on the ratio of tha last quoted cum-rights share price of 531.5 pence ta the theoretical ex-rights price of 453,54 pence).

« Tha valus of the contingent interest in shares on 1 April 2004 is based on the mid-market price of a share on that day of 521.5 pence.

* The value of the shares transterred 10 execuitives turing the year is basad on the markst price of a share at the dale and ime of transfer.

—7—
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in the performance period and vesting is subject to satisfying the
performance conditions {modified if appropriate). Except in the
case of the death of a participant, there is narmally no earty
vesting of awards. Awards lapse where terminations during the
performance period do net satisfy the good leaver provisions,

Participants normally have three months from the date the award
vests in which 1o exercise their right to acquire the number of
shares that have vested. Awards are normally satisfied by the
transfer of shares from the trustee to pariicipants. The trustee
periodically buys shares in the market to ensure that it can satisfy
its liabilities when an award vests, These purchases are normaily
financed by the company making a loan to the trustee. The
company takes account of the vesting timetable and likely scale
of vesting in determining the financiai assistance it provides for the
trustee. The company reviews this arrangement from time to time
to ensure its cost-effectivengss. Awards may aisc be satisfied by
aftotting shares. Detalls of the number of shares held by the trust
at 1 June 2008 are given on page 35.

{a) 2005/06 grant

The proposed 2005/06 awards 1o each director will be an option
to acquire shares worth up t¢ a potential value of 80 per cent of
their annuai salary at grant. It is expected that the TSR comparator
group will comprise the following 16 companies in addition 1o
United Utiliies: AMEC, AWG, BAA, Balfour Beatty, BG Group, BT
Group, Centrica, International Power, Kelda Group, National Grid
Transco, Northumbrian Water, Pennon Group, Scottish & Southern
Energy, Scottish Power, Severn Trent, and Viridian. The performance
period will be 1 Aprii 2005 to 31 March 2008. Awards wiii vest after
the end of the performance pericd provided that the remuneration
committee is satisfied that the company’s recorded TSR performance
is consistent with the company’s underlying business performance.
The proposed scale of vesting is set out in table 25.

Table 25: 2005/06 grant proposed vesting scale

2005-06 plan

Comparator group size (No. of companies) i7
% of max

Ranking awarg vesting % of salary
1to 4 100 80
5 ettt e P - —
6 78 | 62.4
7 50.4
9 33 26.4
100rbe e . G 0

Linited! Utititias Annual Report & Acoounts 2005

(b} 2004/05 grant

During the year, awards 1o a maximum value of 80 per cent of
annual salary were made to directors in respect of the 2004/05
performance share plan. The extent fo which awards vest will

be based on the company’s TSR performance relative to the
comparator group of companies over the period 1 April 2004 to
31 March 2007. The comparator group comprises the foflowing
16 companies in addition to United Utilities: AMEC, AWG, BAA,
Baifour Beatty, BG Group, BY Group, Centrica, Internatichal Power,
Kelda Group, National Grid Transco, Northumbrian Water, Penncn
Group, Scottish & Southern Energy, Scottish Power, Severn Trent,
and Viridian. In addition, three smalier companies, Bristol Water,
East Surrey Holdings and International Energy Group, were
included as a national combined 17th compary made up in
proportion to their market capltalisations at the start of the
performance period. There have been no changes during the
year. Awards will vest after 31 March 2007 provided that the
remuneration committee is satisfied that the company’s recorded
TSR perfermance Is consistent with the company’s underlying
business performance.

{c} 2003/04 grant

The extent to which awards vest is based In part on the company’s
TSR performance relative to the comparator group of companies
over the period 1 April 2003 to 31 March 2006. The comparator
group comprises 15 companies in addition to United Utilities.
During 2004/05, British Energy delisted. 1t has been retained in the
comparator group and United Utilities' TSR performance relative to
it will be compared fram the beginning of the perfaormance period
until the delisting. The test against measures of underlying business
performance will take account of performance against the earmings
per share, dividend cover and interest cover targsts for 2005/06 set
out in the group’s five-year business pian to 2007/08.

{d) 2002/03 grant

The extent to which awards vest is based in part on the company’s
TSR performance relative to the comparator group of companies
over the period 1 April 2002 1o 31 March 2006. At the beginning
of the perfarmance period the comparator group comprised

18 companies in addition to United Utilities. Lattice Group was
subsequently excluded from the group fallowing its merger with
National Grid Group. During 2004/05, British Energy delisted. it
has been retained in the comparator group and United Utilities'
TSR performance relative to it will be compared from the beginning
of the performance period until the delisting.

Details of directors’ continuing scherne interests in the performance
share plan, including those awarded during the year, are set out
in table 26.




Table 26: Executive directors’ continuing scheme interests in the performance share plan (audited information)

LContingent Conlingent Contingent
scheme scheme scheme
Interest at Intarest swarded intevest at
Award details 1 Agpril 2004 during the year 31 March 2005
. Markel
Maximunm price of
vl al g g Max. Max. Hax. tax. Max. Max. Max.
Peromance avard date 4 sward ro. of 0. of value no. of value no, of value
Award date period % of saiary £000 penca shares shares 000 shares £°000 shares £000
John Roberts
2002/03 1.10.02 1.4.02 10 31.3.05 80 3600 5875 61,276 70872 3696 - - 70,872 4472
2003/04  Ordinary 29.9.03 1.4.03 10 31.3.06 80 3600 4600 57843 57843 3.7 - - 57,843 365.0
A shares 276.0 32135 32,135 1036 - - 32135 1448
2004/05  Ordinary 18.8.04 1.4.04 to 31.3.07 80 3840 5270 51885 - - 51,885 2838 51,885 3274
A shares 34125 28,825 - - 28,825 1002 28,825 1299
7749 384.0 1,414.3
02003 11002 14021031805 80 2400 5875 40851 47248 2464 - - 47208 2981
2003/04  Ordinary 28903 1.4.0310 31.3.06 80 2400 4630 885856 38,556  201.1 - - 38,556
A shares 2760 21,420 21,420 69.0 - ~ 21,420
2004/05  Ordinary 30.6.04 1.4.04 to 31.3.07 80 2640 5470 35658 - - 35658 195.% 35,658
A shares 34775 18810 - - 19,810 68.9 19,810
Totat 516.5 264.0
Charlie Cornish o o ] ]
2003/04  Ordinary 7.3.04 1.4.03 10 31.3.06 80 18BO 4800 28,710 28,710 1497 - ~ 28,710
A shares 297.0 15860 15980 51.4 - ~ 15,950
2004/05  Ordinary 30.6.04 1.4.04 10 31.3.07 80 188.0 547.0 25407 - - 25407 139.0 25,407
A shares 34775 14,115 - - 14,115 49.0 14,115
Total 2011 188.0

Gordon Waters

200

02 t0 51.3.05

1840

2003/04 Ordnary 20903  1.4.03to 31,3.06 4600 20565 29565 154.2 - - 20565 1866
A shares 5760 16425 16,425 529 - - 16425 740
200405 Ordinary 30604  1.4.04 t031.3.07 80 2240 5470 30258 B -~ 30258 1655 30,258 1909
A shares 347.75 16,810 - -~ 16,810 585 16,810 75.7
Total 396.0 2240 756.8
Notes:

+ The maximum values shown for 1 April 2004 and 31 March 2005 have been calculated using the mid-market price of a share at close of business on the relevant date (1.4.04 = 521.5 pance
{ordinary share) and 322.25 pence {'A share); 31.3.05 = 631.0 pence (crdinary share) and 450.5 pence ['A" share).

» The maximum number of shares comprising the conlingent schems interest at 31 March 2004 for the 2002/03 awards incorporates an adjustment 10 1ake accoun| of the rights issue. The values
of the shares comprising awards based on the tast qucted cum-ights share price of 531.5 pence was divided by the thecretical ex+ights price of 459.54 pence o determine tha revised numbers

of shares shown above.

s The market price of a share at award is ihe mid-market price of an ordinary or ‘A’ share at cloge of business on the last trading day immediately prior 1o the award date (2002-03 awards
unadiusted for tha rights issug). This is used to caloulate the maximum numbser of shares comprised in the award.
» John Roberts' 2004/05 awart was part of a speciai grant 1o five executives whose awards could not be made until a nile change relating to retirement had been approved at the 2004 annual
general meeating. The market prices of an ordinary and "A’ share af the date of their awards were 527.0 pence and 341.25 pence respectivaly. However, as disciosed in {he nofe accompanying
the resolution 1o the annual general meeting, to snsure that the beneficianies of the rute change were treated neither more ner less favourably than participants in the main grant, the maxinum
number of shares in their awards was calcuated using the market prices of 547.0 pence (ordfinary share) and 347.75 pence (‘A" share] applicable (o the main grant.
+ Details of the criteria used for grants under the performance share plan are on pages 42 10 44.
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Table 27: Performance share plan vesting scales

2002/03 plan 2003/04 plan 2004/05 plan
Comparator group size
{No. of companies) 18 16 18
% of max % of max % of max
Rarnking In comparatcr group award vesting % of salary award vesting % of salary award vesting % of salary
ito4d 100 80 100 80 100 80
5 97 776 88 70.4 97 77.6
3] 82 65.8 72 57.6 82 65.8
7 54.4 57 48.6 88 Ed.4
8 43.2 41 328 54 43.2
9 32 0 ¢ 40 32
10 or below ¢ 0 G G 0 Q
Table 28: Performance share plan TSR performance
2002/03 plan 2003/04 plan 2004/05 plan
Performance period 1.4.021031.3.05 1.403 10 31.3.06 1.4.04 10 31.3.07
Comparator group size
{No. of companies) 18 16 18
Date Period TSR % Ranking % vesting Period TSR % Ranking % vesling Period TSR % Ranking % vesting
31.3.05 39.8 5 97 304 8 41 427 7 68
Notes:
« Pariad TSR is the cumlative tatdl sharsholder retur from the baginting of the respective perdomance period untl 31 March 2005,
« Percentagae vesting for the 2002/63 plan at 31 March 2005 indicates the proportion of the maximum award which wilt vest if the TSR performance is considered 1 be consislent with undarlying
financial performanca.
+ Percentage vesting for the 2003/04 and 2004/05 plans are notional indications of 1he proportion of the maximum award which would vast if the specified ranking was Lhe company's position at

Table 27 above sets out the vesting scales for each of the
performance share plans in operation at 31 March 2005,

The TSR performance at 31 March 2005 for each of the current
plans is set out in table 28. The performance pericds for the
2003/04 and 2004/05 plans do not end until 31 March 2006
and 31 Margh 2007 respectively.

fe) 2001702 grant
During the year, awards granted under the 2001/02 plan vested.

The extent to which awards vested was based on the company's
TSR performance relative to the comparator group of companies
over the pericd 1 April 2001 to 31 March 2004. At the beginning
of the performance period the comparator group comprised the
following 24 companies in addition to United Utilities: AWG, BAA,
BG Group, Boots Company, British Energy, Capita Group, Centrica,
Daily Mail & General Trust, Dixcns Group, Imperial Tobacco Group,
International Fower, J Sainsbury, Keida Group, Lattice Group,
National Grid Group, Powergen, Railtrack, Safeway, Scottish &
Newcastie, Scotlish & Southern Energy, Scottish Power, S8evern
Trent, Viridian and Whithiread. Powergen was subsequently
exciuded from the comparator group as a result of the takeover
bid announcernent occurring within the first three months of the
parformance period. The annouricements of the merger of National
Gridg Group and Lattice Group, the takeover bid for Safeway,
takeover activity for AWG and the suspension of dealings in
Railtrack shares occurred after the first three months of the
performance period. All were retained in the comparator group.
National Grid Group continued as National Grid Transco. United
Lhilities' TSR performance relative to the other companies was
compared from the beginning of the performance period until

the day before the merger (Lattice Group) or takeover activity
announcements (Safeway and AWG) and the date of Railirack’s
share suspension.

United Utilities Annual Repart & Accounts 2005
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1he end of the respective perfomiance parod and was consistent with underlying business performanca.

United Utilities’ TSR for the performance period was 15.5 per cent
which placed it eighth out of 24, resuliing In 81 per cent of the
maximurm award vesting and 19 per cent lapsing. The remuneration
committee was satisfied that the TSR performance was consistent
with the company’s underlying business performance. In parficular,
performance exceeded the eanings per share, dividend cover and
interest cover targets for 2003/04 set out in the group’s five-year
business plan to 2005/08. The awards, therefore, vested in
accordance with the company's relative TSR performance.

Further details of directors’ scheme interests in the performance
share pian, vested during the year, are set out in table 29.




Table 2%; Executive directors' scheme interests in the performance share plan vested during the year (audited information)

Contingent
scheme
interest Contingent
Contingent lapsad schermne veslad Value of
scheme interast during interest during award at
Awarg defalls at 1 Apri) 2004 the year the ysar exercise
Maximum Market Market
value al price of price of a
award a share Max. Max. Max. shara at
Award Performance % of date at award no. of no. of value No. of No. of Valug axercise Valua
date pariod  salary £'000 pence shares shares £'000 shares shares £'000 pance £'000
John Roberts
2001/02 9.7.01 1.4.011t031.3.04 80 256.0 652.0 39,263 45412 2368 8628 36,783 199.5 546.0 2008
Simon Batey
2001/02 9.7.01 1.4.01 to 31.3.04 80 208.0 652.0 31,801 36897 1924 7,011 29,886 1621 5485 1833
Gordon Waters
2001/02 9,7.01 1.4.01 t0 31.3.04 80 146.4 652.0 22453 25970 1354 4,935 21,035 1144 5460 1148
Notes:

» The market prica of  share at award is the mig-market price of & share {unadjustad for the rights issug) at close of business on tha last trading day immediately prior 1o the award date. This s

used 1o calculate the maximum number of shares comprised in the award.

» The maximum values shown for 1 &pril 2004 have been calculated using the mid-market price of a share of 521.5 pence at close of business on that date.

» Awards vesied on T Juna 2004 in respect of 87 per cent of the maximum number of shares under oplion and lapsed in respect of 139 par cent. The values for scheme interests vesting guring
the year have been calculated using the mid-market price of a share of 542.5 pence on close of business on that date.

» The above awards were granted as "option awards', whereby the participant is granted an oplion to acquire the number of shares which vests under the plan. The options are exercisable over a
perind of ihrea months from the vesting date. No consideration was payable by lhe executives either upon grant of the option award or upon the subsequent exercise of the oplion. Simon Batey
exercised his oplion on 14 June, John Roberts on 9 June, and Gordon Walers on 4 Juna 2004 over all of the shares thal vested.

Performance graph

Chart 2 compares the company's annual total shareholder return
(TSR) performance for the past five years against the FTSE 100
Index. This index was chosen as it is the most appropriate broad
equity market index. This comparison also supplements the
information on the group’s TSR performance relative to the
comparator groups in the performance share plan. The TSR indices
used in the chart have been calculated in accordance with the
Directors' Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 relative to a
base date of 31 March 2000.

Chart 2: Total shareholder return
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This graph shows the value, by 31 March 2005, of £100 invested in
United WHilities on 31 March 2000 comparad with the value of £100
invested in the FTSE 100 Index. The other points plotted are the
values at intervening financial year ends.

Share options

Grants of executive share options were made under the company
share coption plan 1999 up to and including 2002, except for
executive directors and a limited number of other executives who
were granted awards under the performance share plan. There has
been no grant of executive share options since 2002. From 2003,
awards under the performance share plan have replaced further
grants of executive share cptions.

Executive directors are eligible to participate in the all-empioyee
SAYE scheme (ShareSavs). Neither the award nor the exercise

of ShareSave options is dependent upcn the satisfaction of
performance conditions. The last grant of options was ShareSave
2004. Details of their interest in ShareSave options are shown

in table 30.
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Table 30: Directors’ ShareSave options {audited information)

Granted/{lapsed) Exercised Exercise price
At 1 April during during At 31 March per share Firs date Last date
2004 the ysar the year 2005 pence exercisablg exercisable
ShaeSave 2000 418 - 418 - 407.66p 01032005 31082005
Total 4,139 - 4,139 -
Simon Batey
ShareSave 2001 2,012 - 2,012 - 481.16p 01.03.2004 31.08.2004
ShereSave 2004 1751 ~ =4 s asm0p 01032007 31082007
Total 3,763 - 2,012 1,751
Gordoh Waters )
ShareSave 2002 2,648 2648 a32.3p
é-t;areSave 2003 7 385 ) - - - 382 423.66;)-“
Total 3,080 - - 3,030
Nates:

+ The mid-market price of a share on 31 March 2008 was 631.0 pence and the range In the year was 505.0 pence 1o 662.5 pence.
+ No amount is payable by a participant for the grant of a ShareSave option.
* Except for ShareSave 2004, the number of shares under option at 1 April 2004 and 31 March 2005 and the exercise prices reflect adjustrnents to take account of the rights issue.

+ Tre aggregate notional gain made by directors on the exercise of options during the year (based on the difference between the mid-market price of a share on ihe day on which options were
sxercised and the exercise price) was £9,525 (2004 - £nil).

Executive directors’ shareholdings

Executive directors are reguired to build up and retain a target sharehclding equal to 1x yearly salary, normally within five years of appointment.
Performance share plan awards are delivered in shares and executives can retain all the shares that vest if they make a cash payment to
meet their PAYE statutory fiabilities. The company prefers a flexible approach to the accumulation of a sharehelding, which takes account
of individual circumstances, and has decided not to reguire executives to retain a proportion of shares which vest under its incentive plans.
Howsver, it has retained the option to pay the annual bonus in shares if it considers this to be appropriate. Executive directors’ interests in
shares, as at 31 March 2005, are listed in tables 12, 13 and 14 of the directors’ report on pages 35 and 38, The value of these interests
relative to their yearly salaries are shown in table 31 below.

Table 31: Executive directors’ shareholdings

Valug of
Value of shareholdling
Yearly salary at shareholding at relative ta
31 March 2005 31 March 2005 yearly salary Target to be
£000 £'00C % achieved by
John Roberts 504.0 876.5 173.9 1 Septamber 2004
Simon Batey 1 April 2006
Charlie Cornish
Gordon Waters
Note:

« The value of the shareholding is based on share prices of 631.34 perice {ordinary share) and 44991 pence (‘A" share). These are the share prices averaged over the final three months of the
financial year,
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Pension arrangements

The main pension scheme is the United Utilities Pension Scheme
{UUPS). It provides pensions and cther benefits 1o members within
Intand Revenue limits.

The remuneration committee raccgnises that pension is

an important but potentially costly element of remuneration.
Decisions have previously been made 10 close the defined benefit
section of the scheme fo newly-recruited directors and other senior
execuiives from 1 July 2003, and to stop entry to the defined
benefit executive section (which provides enhanced benefits) for
existing scheme members with effect from 1 April 2004, It was
further agreed not to extend the use cf unfunded arrangements

10 provide pension benefits above the inland Revenue limits
imposed on the pension scheme.

Newly-recruited executive directors may join the defined
contribution section of the scheme. They may make a regular
contriution of up to seven per cent of basic pay and additional
voluntary contributions provided tatal contributions do not exceed
the Inland Revenue's maximum, (i.e. 15 per cent} of the earnings
cap. The company contributes at twice the member's regular
contribution rate, the maximum being 14 per cent of basic pay
{but not limited by the earnings cap). The normal pension age

is 85. Chariie Cornish is a mernber of this section. He pays seven
per cent of his pensionable pay subject to a maximum yearly
contribution of 15 per cent of the eamnings cap. The accrual

of his pension benefits is currently limited by the eamings cap.

John Roberts, Simon Batey, Tom Drury and Gordon Waters ara
members of the defined benefit section. it provides a pensicn for
them on normal retirement at age 80 based on a maximum accrual
rate of 1/30th of pensionable earnings for each completed year
of service. The maximurm pension is two thirds of pensionable
earnings. Early retirament is possitle from age 50 if the company
agrees. in the svent of early retirement, pension benefits are
actuanally reduced. John Roberts and Simon Batey contribute five
per cent and Tom Drury and Gordon Waters six per cent of their
pensicnable pay to the pension scheme subject to a maximum
yearly contribution of 15 per cent of the eamings cap.

The Finance Act 1889 restricts the pension bengfits that can

be paid by the scheme as the garnings cap limits pensionable
earnings for calcuiating benefits. Arising from previous policy,

the company has put in place separate arrangements for John
Roberts, Simon Batey, Tom Drury and Gordon Waters {and a limited
number of other senior executives), the effect of which is to provide
pension benefits calculated on the same basis as for exscutives
whose pensionable earnings are not limited by the cap. These
arrangements are unfunded. At 31 March 2005, there were 26
such arrangements in place. Ten related to current executives,

five 10 deferred pensioners and 11 to pension benefits in payment,
Further information on payments made during the year and the
total cost of the unfunded arrangements is given in note 26 to

the accounts.

During the financiaf year ended 31 March 2005, the total amounts
set aside or accrued by the company or its subsidiaries to provide
pension, retirement or similar benefits for all directors and members
of the executive leadership team as a group was £1,804,042.
Nen-executive directors do not pariicipate in any of the

company’s pension schemes.

Pension benefits are calculated on basic salary only. Tom Drury
and Gordon Waters previously had a contractual entitlement to

a pensionabie bonus. Their bonus is no fonger pensicnable. To

partially offset the reduction in their pensionable pay calculation,
their pension benefits are based on notional pensionable pay of
1.225 and 1.3 times their basic pay respectively.

The pension benefits earned by directors during the year are shown
in table 32.

During the year, the remuneration committee considered the
potential impact of legisiative changes on pensions’ policy. From
April 2006, current Inland Revenue limits will cease 10 apply to
benefits provided by the pension scheme under either the defined
benefit or defined contribution sections. The trustees of the
company's various pension schemes will be examining the rule
changes necessary 1o ensure that the schemes qualify as registered
pension schemes under the new regime. 1t is expected that there
will be no change to the existing LUPS benefit limit of two thirds of
pensionable pay for members of the defined benefit section. If a
member’s accrued fund exceeds the new lifetime allowance, the
benefits payable by the scheme from that excess wil be subject
to a higher rate of income tax. There will be no arrangements to
compensate members for any change in their personal tax fability.

Executives with unfunded arrangements are all members of the
defined benefit section of UUPS. They will be given three months
from the date on which the legislative changes take effect to decide
whether to transfer the value of their unfunded benefit into the
registered pension scheme. They may also chocse whether all
future fund accrual should be within the registered scheme or
whether any benefit in excess of those generated within the flifefime
allowance should accrue under the unfunded arrangement. There
will be na arrangerments to cormpensate for any change in personal
tax liability on benefits payabie by the registered pension scheme
from any excess over the lifetime allowance.

The committee wili further consider pension policy over the
next year, particularly in relation to alfernative arrangements
to pension accrual,

Table 32: Executive directors’ pension benefits (defined benefit scheme) {audited information}

Increase in accrued pension during the year

Accumulated total accrued

Accumulated total acerued

. . Transfer value Total change .
panision at 1 Apri 2004 of increase in transfer value pension at 31 March 2005
Increase net Member (net of member {net of member Transt 1

Transfer value of inflation contributions contributions) contributions) ranster value

£000p.a. £'000 £'000 pal £'000 £'000= £0008 £'000 p.a. £000

John Reberts 71.4 1,219.9 18.0 5.3 314.5 447.2 91.9 1,682.4

Simon Batey 423 526.6 2.8 15.3 161.3 239.6 56.6 781.5

Gordon Waters 88.6 1,464.0 19.5 153 331.0 498.5 111.2 1,977.8
Notes:

= Pension accruals shown are the amaunts that wouid be paid annually on retiement based on senvica to the end of the year, or date of leaving employment or retirement it earlier.
» Transfer values have been calculated in actordance with version 8.7 of guidance note GM11 issued by the actuanal profession,

» The Iransfar value of the ret ingrease in pension {2) represents the incremental valua to the director of his service during the year, calculated on the assumption that servics terminated
at the year end, or at dale of leaving employment or retirement if sarfier, It is based on the accruad pension increase (1} and s caloufaled after deducting the divector’s contribution.
» The changa in the transfer value (3) includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyend the control of the company and directors, stich as stock marksl movements.

1t is calculaled aftar deducling 1he director's contribution,
» Voluntary contributions paid by directors and resulting benefits are not shown,

» The transfer value represents a fability of the compary to make pension payments in he fulure bul not a sum paid to ihe individual,
* During the year ended 31 March 2005, the company paid contributions for Charlie Cornish totalling £34,125 {2004 - £7,187) to the defined coniribulion section of the pension scheme,

United! Utilities Annwat Report & Accounts 2005

47




Governance
Directors’ remuneration report continued

Contracts of service and compensation for termination

The company's policy is that the executive directors and executive
officers normally have cne-year nctice periods. The company may
coffer a longer notice period if it considers that necessary to recruit a
new director or executive officer. If it offers an initial notice period of
more than one year, it will usually reduce that to a rolling one-year
notice period after the initial pericd has expired. All the current
executive directors have one-year notice periods.

Contracts terminate automatically upon the director reaching age
80 (Charlie Cornish: 65) unless the company agrees that a director
may continue to work after attaining age 60 (Charlie Cornish: 65).
No special arrangements apply if there is a change of centroi.

Service contracts do not provide expiicitly for termination payments
(other than for holidays due but not taken), liquidated damages or
payments in lieu of notice, if a contract is 1o be terminated, the
remuneration committee will, in each circumstance, determing the
compensation that may be paid, normally by reference to fixed
elements of rernuneration and the notice period. There is no
automatic entitlement to payments under the annuat bonus or

Table 33: Executive directors’ and senior managers’ setvice contracts

Unexpired term

performance share plan. Any annual bonus payment is at the
discretion of the cormpany; performance share plan vesting is at
the discretion of the trustees based on a recommendation from
the remuneration committee. A payment will not normally be
made unless the termination is for a ‘good leaver’ reason such
as retirement or because of ill health, or there are other special
cirgumstances. Payments are then pro-rated and subject to the
performance conditions on which awards were granted (modified
if appropriate) being satisfled.

The committee will apply such mitigation it considers is fair and
reasonable, Tt will take intc account the best practice provisions of
the Combined Code and will take legal advice on the company’s
hability to pay compensation and the amount of the compensation
in each case. Its policy is to take a robust line on reducing
compensation. [t may phase payments to reflect a departing
employee’s obligation to mitigate loss. The commitiee reviews

this policy each year. No changes were made during the year.
Details of directors’ and senior managers’ confracts are set out

in table 33,

Date of contract {to 60th birthday+) Notice period Centractual compensalion upon eady temmination

John Roberts 01.09.99 02.03.06 12 months {rolling) No explict provision

(other than payment for outstanding hofidaysj
Simon Batey 01.04.00 04.09.13 12 months {roling) No explicit provision

{other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Gordon Waters 01.03.98 06.08.07 12 months (rolfing) No explicit provision

{other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Charlie Comish 05.01.04 30,11.244 12 months (roling) No explicit provision

(other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Torn Drury 09.05.05 14.09.21 12 months (roling) No explicit provision

{other than payment for outstanding holidays}
Linda Booth 01.01.03 09.10,12 12 months {rolling) No explict provision

(other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Hugh Logan 17.07.00 11.11.09 12 months (rolling} Ne explicit provision

{other than payment for outstanding holidays)
lan Priestner 16.10.00 20.05.47 12 months {rolling) No explicit provision

{other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Tim Rayner 01.04,98 04.08.20 12 moriths (roling) No explicit provision

(other than payment for outstanding holidays)
Note:

* The unexpired tarm for Charlie Cornish is to his B5th birthday.

Approved by the board of directors on 1 June 2005 and signed on its behalf by

John Seed
Remuneration committee chairman

Unitad Utiittes Annua! Report & Accounts 2005

| ..




Governance
Corporate governance report

The Combined Code

In July 2003, the Financial Reporting Council in the UK issued

a revised Combined Code on Corporate Governance which
superseded the Combined Code published in 1998 (the ‘Combined
Code’}. Throughout the year, the board has complied fully with

the revised Combined Code and this report, together with the
remuneration report on pages 37 to 48, give details of how these
principles have been appiied.

The Board of Directors

“Every company should be headed by an effective beard, which
is collectively responsible for the success of the company.”
{Cormbined Code principle A1}

The board is scheduled 1o mest ten times each year with additional
meetings called if required. The board has a formal schedule of
matters reserved to it, which ensures that it takes all major strategy,
policy and investment decisions affecting the group. In addition, it is
respensible for business planning and risk managament and for the
development of group poiicies including such areas as health and
safety, directors’ and senior managers’ remuneration and for social,
environmental and ethical issues. Attendance by individual directors
at meetings of the hoard and its committees during the year ended
31 March 2005 is shown in table 34 and fuli biographical details of
the directors can be found on pages 33 and 34.

The chairman holds meetings with the non-executive directors
without the executive directors present. Led by the senior
independent director, the non-executive directors meet without

the chairman present at least annuatly to appraise the chairman’s
performance. Directors have a right to ensure that any concerns
they have, which cannot be resolved about the running of the
company or & proposed action, are recorded in the board minutes.
In addition, upon resignation a non-executive director is asked

to provide a written statement addressed to the chairman,

for circulation to the board, if they have any such concerns.

The group's governance structure ensures that all decisions

are made by the mest appropriate people in such a way that

the decision-making process itself does not unnecessarily

delay progress. The board has formally delegated specific
responsibiities to beard committees, including the audit (see page
52), remuneration {see page 38), nomination {see ‘Appointments
to the board’ on page 50), approvals and treasury committees,
All board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
undertake their duties.

The approvals committee considers and approves expenditure
and investment proposals within limits delegated by the board.
lts members are the executive directors, the managing director
of Your Communications and the company secretary.

The treasury committee considers and approves borrowing,
leasing, bonding and other banking facilities within imits set by
the board. s members are the chairman and the executive

directors together with, for more significant or complex
transactions, one other non-executive director,

The directors of subsidiary companies are iegally responsible for
those business entities. They are tasked with the dslivery of the
targets set within the budgets approved by the group board and
for the implementation of group strategy and policy acress their
businesses. United Utilities Water PLC, for example, is a substantial
business in its own right and its board includes two independent
non-executive directors (Philida Entwistle and Deborah Morton).

The company maintaing an appropriate level of directors’ and
officers’ insurance in respect of legal action againat the directors.

Chairman and chief executive

“There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of
the company between the running of the board and the executive
responsibility for the running of the company’s business. No

one individual should have unfettered powers of decision.”
{Combined Code principle A.2)

Separate individuals have been appointed to the pesitions of
chairman and of chief executive. The board has agreed clearly
defined responsibilities for the roles and has adopted a set of
guiding principles to govern the relationship between them. The
chairman is primarily responsible for the working of the beard. The
chief executive is responsibie for running the group's business and
for implementing board strategy and policy.

Board balance and independence

“The board should include a balance cof executive and non-executive
directors (and in particular independent non-executive directors)
such that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate
the board's decision taking.” (Combined Code principie A3}

The boeard aims to maintain a balance of executive and non-
executive directors and, at the date of adoption of this statement,
comprises the chairman, five executive directors and seven non-
executive directors determined by the board to be indapendent,
The directors have a wide and diverse range of business and other
experience and expertise.

The Combined Code does not regard the chairman as being
independent in view of his unique rele in corporate governance
although, were he not chairman, Sir Richard would satisfy the
independence criteria laid down by the Combined Code. Taking
into account the provisions of the Combined Code, the board nas
determined that all of the non-executive directors are independent
and free from any business or other relationship which could
compromise their independent judgement. In particular, the board
has determined that Sir Peter Middieton remaing independient,
notwithstanding that he has served on the board for more than
nine vears. Andrew Pinder remains independent, notwithstanding
that he receives additicnal remuneration as a non-executive direcior
of Vertex. In making these determinations, the board took into

Table 34; Attendance by individual directors at meetings of the board and its committees

Board Audit Nomination Remuneration

Possibie Actual Possible Actual Possible Actuai Possibie Actual

John Reberts 17 16 n'a n/a 3 3 nfa rn/a

smonBatey 1 7 " - - . n/a vt Na n/a

Charlie Cornish 17 nfa nfa n/a n{'fc_z
Gordon Waters

Sir Richard Evans

&orfﬁaﬂ Broadhurst

David Jores

S

,‘,J

Andrew Pinder i

John Seed
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account their breadth of experience, their financial independence
and their other business interests.

Sir Peter Middleton has been appointed as senior independent
director. The senior independent director would be available to
shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the
normal channels has failed to resolve or for which such contact is
inapprapriate. The full terms of reference for the senior independent
director are available on the company's web site but include: the
authority to call a meeting of the non-executive directors i, in his
opinicn, it s necessary; to lead a meeting of the non-executive
directors without the chairman present at least anrually to appraise
the chairman's performance; and 1o attend sufficient meetings with
a range of major shareholders to listen to thelr views in order to help
develop a balanced understanding of their issues and concerns.

Appointments to the board

“There should be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new directors to the board.” (Combined
Code principle A.4)

The board has ¢onstituted a nomination committee which meets

at least once each year and otherwise as required. The committee
congiders and makeas recommendations {0 the board on the
compositicn, balance and membership of the board. The committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepares a description of
the roles and capabilities required for & particular appointment. Its
members are the non-executive directors, including the chairman
(who is chairman of the committes, although the chaimman will

not chair the commitiee when the commitiee deals with the
appointment of a successor to the chaimanship), together with

the chief executive. As such, the majority of the members of the
committee are independent non-executive directors. The nomination
committtee’s terms of reference are available to shargholders

on request and are also available on the company's web site.

The committee met three times in the year to 31 March 2005.

The nomination committee leads the process for board
appointments and makes recommendations to the board about
filing vacancies on the board, appointing additional parsons to the
board and the re-election by shareholders of any director under
the retirement by rotation provisions in the company’s articles of
association. During the year, the committee prepared a description
of the roles and capabilities required for the appointment of a non-
executive director, engaged the services of Whitehead Mann and
made recommendations 1o the board as part of the final selection
process which led to the appointment of David Jones and Nick
Saimen as non-executive directors.

The letters of appointment of non-executive directors are made
available on the company's web site. They set out the expected
time commitment and non-executive directors undertake that they
will have sufficient time to mest what is expected of them. Non-
executive directors' other significant commitments are disclosed
to the board before appoiniment, with the beard being notified

of any subsequent changes.

The company recegnises that its executive directors may be
frvited to become non-executive directors of companies outside
the group and exposure to such nen-executive duties can brgaden
experignce and knowledge, which will be to the benefit of the
company. Subject to board approval (which will not be given if

the proposed appointment is with a competing company, would
otherwise lead to a conflict of interest or couid have a detrimental
effect cn a director’s performance), executive directors are aflowed
to accept che non-executive directorship and to retain the fees.
However, the board's policy is that no full-time executive director
should fake on more thah one non-executive directorship of a
FTSE 100 company or the chairmanship of such a company. John
Robens is a non-executive director of Volex Group plc, for which he
earned and retained a fee of £26,000 during the year to 31 March
2005 and Simon Batey is a non-executive director of Arriva plc,

for which he earned and retained a fee of £32,458 during the

year to 31 March 2005.
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Information and professional development

“The board should be supplied in a fimely manner with information
in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it o discharge
its duties. All directors should receive induction on joining the
board and should regularly update and refresh their skills and
knowledge.” (Combined Code principle A.5j

The quality of the contribution that directors, particularly non-
executives, can make is directly dependent upen the quality

of the information they receive. Accordingly, all directors receive
comprehensive information on a regular basis, Board papers are
normally distributed five days in advance of the relevant meeting

to allow sufficient time for directors to be fully briefed. The papers
are sufficiently detafled to enable the directors to obtain a thorough
grasp of the management and financial performance of the company
and the operating businesses. Minutes of committee mestings are
circulated to all board members.

The board has estabiished a governance framewcrk which
encourages all directors to bring an independent judgement to
bear on issues of strategy, performance and resources, including
key appointments and standards of conduct. New directors receive
appropriate induction on joining the board. As part of this, the
company has coffered major shareholders the opportunity to mest
David Jones and Nick Salmon ag new non-executive directors,

All directors have access to the advice and senvices of the
comparty secretary, who is responsible to the board for ensuring
that board procedures are complied with. Both the appointment
and remeval of the company secretary are a matter for the board
as a whole.

The board has adopted a protocal under which directors

have access, through the company secretary, to independent
professional advice at the company's expense where they judge
it necessary to discharge their responsibiiities as directors.

Performance evaluation

“The board should undertake a formaj and rigorous annual
evaluation of its own performance and that of its committess
and individual directors.” (Combined Code principle A.6)

Curing the year, the board conducted an evaluation of its own
performance and that of its committees and individual directors.

The process invoived the completion by each director of a
confidential questionnaire. The questicnnaire was modelled on the
Chairmen’s Guide to the Board Performance Review pubiished by
the Chairmen's Forum and was consistent with guidance published
by the Chartered Institute of Secretaries and Administrators, and
required each director to score the beard's performance on 84
issues, such as contribution 1o strategy, risk management, financial
and operational reporting, board committees, matters reserved for
the board, communication, company and board advisers, relations
with the group’s regulators and board procedures and invited
additionai comments.

In addition, the members of the audit, group approvals, nomination,
remuneration and {reasury committees completed additional
confidential questionnaires about the functioning of those
committees, as did those managers and advisers who frequently
deal with those commitiees. For example, in the case of the audit
committee, the auditor and the group audit manager each
completed confidential questionnaires about the audit committee.

The company secretary analysed the completed beard and
committee questionnaires and summarised the findings in a report
for the chairman, which highlighted and prioritised the key areas
of feedback. The chairman subseguently conducted one-to-one
discussions with each of the board members based on the
summary report, after which the chairman reported back fo the
whole board on the evaluation process and its key findings. The
board developed a plan to make changes in a number of areas,
including updating skiils, succession planning and creating more
time for discussions on strategic issues, which either have already
been implemented or will be implemented during the course of the
current financial year.




The responses to the questionnaires demonstrated a high degree
of consistency and the evaluation process affirmed the board's
confidence in the group’s system of corparate governance.

Reappointment of directors

“All girectors should be submitted for re-election at regular intervals,
subject to continued satisfactory performance. The board should
ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the board.”
(Combined Code principle A7)

The board nitially appoints all hew directors, on the recommendation
of the nomination committee and following an appropriate
recruitment process. Following the appointment of a new director,
he or she is required 10 retire and seek reappcintment at the next
annual general mesting. The company’s articles of association
include provisions requiring one-third of all directors 10 retire and seek
reappeintment at each annual general meeting, and ensuring that
no director serves for more than three years withouwt refiring and
being proposed for reappointment at an annual general meeting.

Biographical details of directors being submitted for reappointment
are set out in the notes accompanying the relevant notice of meeting.

Non-executive directors are appointed for specified terms subject
1o reappointment under the company's articles of association and
subject to Companies Acts’ provisions relating 1o the removal

of a director. The board explains 1o shareholders in the papers
accompanying & resolution to reappoint & non-executive director
why they believe that a non-executive director shouid be appainted.
The chairman will confirm to shareholders when proposing
reappointrment that, following formal performance evaluation,

that individual's performance continues o be effective and to
demonstrate commitment to the role. Any term beyond six years
for a non-executive director will be subject to particularly rigorous
review, and will take info account the need for progressive
refreshing of the board. Any non-executive director serving longer
than nine years will be subject ta annual reappointment.

Financial reporting

“The board should present a balanced and understandable
asgessment of the company’s position and prospects.”
(Combined Code principle C.1)

In presenting the annual and interim financial statements and similar
significant publications, the directors aim to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the group’s position and prospscts.
In particular, the board has recognised the fact that the UK
government has introduced legislation concerning the contents

of a company's operating and financial review, which will take effect
in 2006, and has endeavoured to conform with the Accounting
Standards Board’s statement of best practice conceming such
reporting in advance of the requirements becoming mandatory.

The considerable overlap between the new operating and financiai
review requirements and the format of the US annual report on
Form 20-F has prompted the board to produce, for the first time, a
singie consolidated UK and US compliant annual repart and 20-F
which it hopes will provide a single source of information about the
company. The board recognises that the majority of shareholders
elect not 1o receive the full annual report and 1o receive in its place
a summary financial staiement. Accordingly, it has taken steps to
ensure that such shareholders aiso receive a stakeholder report
which summarises the most important features of the company's
activity during the vear.

The directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing
these finangial statements. This is based upon a review of the
group's budget for 2005/08, the five-year business plan and
investrnent programme, together with the cash and committed
borrowing facilities available to the group. The board also took into
account potential contingent liabilities and other risk factors as
interpreted by the 'Guidance on Going Concern and Financial
Reporting for Directors of Listed Companies registered in the
United Kingdom', published in November 1994,

As at 31 March 2005, an evaluation was carried out under the
supervision, and with the paticipation of senior management,
including the chief executive and group finance director, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s
disclosure controls and procedures. There are inherent limitations
to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure centrols and
procedures, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures.
Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their contral
cbjectives. Based on, and as of the date of the company's
evajuation, the chief executive and group finance director
concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective
to provide reasonable assurance that information required o be
disclosed in the reports that the company files and submits under
UK and US legislation is recarded, pracessed, summarised

and reported as and when required.

In addition, there has been no change in the company’s internal
centrols or in other factars, during the period covered by this
annual report, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the disclosure controls.

Statement of directors’ respansibilities

In accordance with statutory requirements, the directors are
responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the company’s and the group's
state of affaits as at the end of the financial year, and of the profit
or loss and cash flows for the financlal year.

The directors consider that, in preparing the financial statemernits,
the group has used appropriate accounting policies, consistently
applied and supperted by reascnable and prudent judgements and
estimates. Al applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any departure and explanation described in the notes

to the consolidated financial staternents.

The directors have a legal responsibility for ensuring that

the company keeps accounting records which disclose, with
reasonatie accuracy at any time, the company’s and the group's
financial position and which enable them o ensure the financiai
staternents comply with the Companies Act 1985. The directors
alzo have a general legai responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the company’s and
the group’s assets and to prevent and detect fraud and other
iregularities. The external auditor’s statement about its reporting
responsipilities is set out on page 55.

Internal control

“The board should maintain a sound system of internal controf to
safeguard shareholders' investment and the company’s assets.”
{Combined Code principle C.2)

The board is responsible for the group's system of internal controls
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Throughout the year under review
and up to the date of this report, the board has operated proceduras
meeting the requirements of the Combined Code relating to internal
control as set out in the Septemnber 1999 guidance ‘Intermal Control
Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’ published by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Each year
the board reviews all controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management procedures. The internal
control system is designed to manage, rather than to eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve the company’s business objectives and can
only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against
material misstaterment of loss.

In addition, the board is making preparations for compliance with
5404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This includes ensuring
that key financial controls are adequately documented and that they
have been specifically tested.

The key features of the internal control system are:

« a control environment with clearly defined crganisation structures
cperating within a framework of policies and procedures covering
every aspect of the business;
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« comprehensive business planning, risk assessment and financial
reporting procedures; including the annual preparation of detailed
operational budgets for the year ahead and projections for
subsequent years;

a monthly board review of financial and non-financial key
performance indicators 1o assess progress towards objectives;

*

maonthly meetings prior to each board meeting of the executive
leadership team, a forum in which the executive directors,

the managing directors of the group's businesses, the group
functional directors and the company secrstary exchange
information and discuss strategic and operational issues

which are of group-wide importance;

regular monitoring of risks and control systems throughout the
year by the cperating businesses, supported by the use of risks
and issues databases;

a self-certification process, subject to internal audit, whereby the
operating businesses are required to confirm that the system of
internal control is operating effectively;

an internal audit function to provide independent scrutiny of internal
control systems and risk management procedures,

a bi-monthiy risk management forum chaired by the group finance
director, and comprising the company secretary, the group audit
manager, the group health and safety manager and senior
representatives from each of the operating businesses, o
scrutinise key risks;

L

a quarterly sustainable development panel chaired by the chief
executive, and comprising the managing directors of United Utilities
North Wast and United Utilities Coniract Selutions, the head of
ervironment and the community and three external professional
specialists: Walter Menzies, Clive Jeanes and Dr Mark Everard.
The role of the panel is to advise on environmental policy and, in
particuiar, to identify risks to the enviranment, recommend targets
and monitor perfermance against those targets;

an annual risk assessment exercise involving self-assessment

by management of all business risks in terms of impact, fketfhood
and control strength and an objective challenge of that assessment
by the internal audit team;

health and safety performance reviews carried out by our in-house
safety professionals in addition to the normal health and safety risk
assessment and management processes carfied out within each
of the operating businssses;

centralised treasury operations operating within defined limits
and subject to regular reporting requirements and Internal audit
reviews; and

established procedures, set out in a group internal contro! manual,
for planning, approving and moenitoring major capital expenditure,
major projects and the development of new business which
includes short and long-term budgets, risk evaluation, detailed
appraisal and review proceduras, defined authority levels and
post-investiment performance reviews.

The audit committee and the auditor

“The board should establish formal and fransparent arrangements
for considering how they should apply the financial reporting ang
internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate
relationship with the company’s auditors.” (Combined Code
principte C.3)

The audit committee’s members are the non-executive directors
who are determined in accordance with UK and US corporate
governance rules to be independent. Norman Broadhurst is its
chairman and the board is satisfied that he has recent and relevant
financial experience as required by the Combined Code and is

an audit committee financial expert as defined by item 16A of
Form 20-F. The committee met seven times in the year to

31 March 2005.
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Tre committee has primary respensibility for making a
recommendation an the appointment, reappointment and

removal of the external auditor to the board, to put 1o
sharehclders for their approval in general meeting. If keeps under
review the scope and resutis of the audit and its cost-effectiveness
and the independence and objectivity of the auditor. The commitiee
has established policies and procedures to pre-approve the
provision of any audit or non-audit services and keeps the nature
and extent of non-audit services under review, seeking to balance
the maintenance of objectivity and valua for money. it reviews the
half-year and annual financial statements before submission to the
board, reviews pericdically the scope, remit and effectiveness of the
internal audit function and the effectiveness of the group's internal
control system. It also reviews annually arrangerments by which staff
of the company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters cf financial reporting or otner matters. The
terrns of reference of the audit commitiee are available to shareholders
on request and are also available on the company's web site.

During the vear, the board, on the recommendation of the audit
committes, adopted a revised disclosure policy and have implemented
a confidential voice maltbox for employees who want to report any
concemns which they may have. The committeg’s objective is to
engure that arrangements are in place for the proportionate and
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate
follow-up action.

Audit and audit-related services are pre-approved annually by
the audit committee. Audit-related services generally are highly
correlated with the role of an independent auditor. Such services
include assurance on nen-statutory information, assurance work
carried out in connection with reporting 10 & statutory regulatar,
analysis and interpretation of accounting principles and their
application, support for debt issues and similar transactions,
and other services that have a bearing on the group’s financial
statements on which the external auditor provides their opinion.

Non-audit services are allowsd under the procurement of audit
and non-audit senvices’ policy and do not affect the independence
of the external auditor, but do require the pre-approval of the audit
committee prior to the engagement. Specific approval may be
delegated to a designated member of the audit committes, with
such approvals 1o be reported to the next audit committee meeting.
In granting such approval, the designated member of the audit
committee is required to censider the cumulative proportion of fees
paid for such work compared with the statutory audit fees. In the
financial year 2004/05, all services were pre-approved by the audit
committee and none was undertaken without such pre-approval
pursuant to paragraph (©)(7X)(C) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X.

The group alsa maintains a list of prohibited services that cannot be
provided by the group's auditers as they are considered by statute
or, in the group's opinion, to be incompatible with the role of the
independent auditor.

Tre fees paid or payabie 10 the auditor in the year under review are
set out in table 35.




Table 35: Fees to Deloitte & Touche LLP

2008 2004

£000 £000
Audit fees 590.0 563.1
Total 1,715.0 1,780.1
Notes:

{1) Audit-retated fees ara fees billed for work on regulatory returns and assurance wark
reasonably related (o the statuiory audd, including due difgence and assurance wark, work
associated with raising debl and equity finance and securities fiing work.

(2} Tax fees are fees incurred for tax complianca, fax advice and ralated tax work.

{3) In addition 1o the above, fees ralating to joint ventures of the group were paid to
Deloitte & Touche LLP in 2Q05 totaling £15,000 (2004 - £66,800).

Diglogue with institutional shareholders

“There should be a dialogue with institutional shareholders based
on the mutual understanding of objectives. The board as a whole
has responsibifity for ensuring that a satisfactory dialogue with
shareholders takes place.” (Combined Code principle D.1)

There is a programmeg of investor meetings and presentations
which take place throughout the year, both in the UK and overseas.
During the year, the board met or offered to meet with 116 different
funds, representing 43 per cent of the company's issued ordinary
share capital. This, together with regular announcements of
significant events affecting the group and frequent updates on
current trading, emphasises the board's commitment to keeping
the company’s equity and debt investors informed of developments
affecting the group. The board regards this programme as
important to improve investors’ awarensss of the business and

for the board to gain an understanding of investors’ pricrities.

The board has taken steps to ensure that members of the

board, and in particular the non-executive directors, develop

an understanding of the visws of major sharehclders about their
company through an annual survey of shareholder opinion produced
for the company by Makinson Cowell. Non-executive directors are
offered the opportunity to attend meetings with major shareholders
and would attend them if requested by major shareholders,

Constructive use of the annual general meeting

“The board should use the annual genaral meeting to communicate
with investors and te encourage their participation.” (Combined
Code principie D.2)

The board encourages sharehoiders to exercise their right tc vote
at the annual general meeting. The notice calling the meeting and
refated papers are sent to shareholders at least 20 werking days
before the meeting and separate resolutions are proposed on each
substantially separate issue.

At annual general meetings, voting on &ll resolutions takes place by
means of a poll which ensures that all shareholders' votes are taken
into account, whether lodged in person at the meeting of by proxy.

The poll vote is scrutinised by Lioyds TSB Registrars.

Presentations are made on the progress and performance of the
business prior to the formal business of the meeting.

Sharsholders are encouraged to participate through a question

and answer session in which individua! directors or, where appropriate,
the chairman of the relevant committee, respond to those questions
directly. Normally, the chairmen of the audit, nomination and
remuneration committees will be available at the annual general
meeting to answer questions relevant {o the work of those
committees. Al directors normally attend the annual general meeting.

The interim report, the annual report, the stakeholder report and
summary financial statement remain the primary means the board
has of communicating during the year with all of the company’s
shareholders. However, the board recognises the importance of
the internet as a means of communicating widely, quickly and cost-
effectively. A library of information about the company is available

24 hours a day, worldwide, at www.unitedutilities.com. Financial
news releases are made available on the site contemporaneously
with release through other news channels and anyone with an email
address can register free of charge to receive an email alert upon
the posting of each naw release.

DIFFERENCES IN UK/NYSE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Under the New York Stock Exchange ('NYSE'} corporate
governance rules for listed companies, as a NYSE-listed foreign
private issuer, United Wtilities PLC must disclose any significant
ways in which its corporate governance practices differ frorn those
followed by US companies under NYSE listing standards. United
Utilities PLC believes the following. to be the significant differences
between its corporate governance practices and NYSE corporate
governance rules applicable to US companies.

US companies listed on the NYSE are required to adopt and
disclose corporaie governance guidelines. The Listing Rules of

the UK Financial Services Authority reguire each listed company,
incorporated in the United Kingdom, to include in its annual report
and accounts a narrative staternent of how it has applied the
principles of the Combined Code and a statement as to whether

or not it has cormplied with the best practice provisions of the
Combined Code thraughout the accounting pericd covered by the
annual report and accounts. A company that has not complied with
the Combined Gode provisions, or compiied with only some of the
Combined Code provisions or (in the case of provisions whose
requirements are of a continuing nature} complied for only part of an
accounting period covered by the report, must specify the Combined
Code provisions with which it has not complied, and, where relevant,
for what part of the reporting period such non-compliance continued,
and give reasons for ary non-compliance. United Utilities PLC has
complied throughout its 2004/05 financial year with the best practice
provisions of the Cembined Code. The Combined Code does not
require United Utilities PLC to disciose the full range of comporate
governance guidelines with which it complies.

Under NYSE standards, companies are required 1o have a
nominating/corperate governance committee, composed entirely of
independent directors. In addition to identifying individuals qualified
to become beoard members, this committee must develop and
recommend to the beoard a set of corporate governance principles.
The Unitedd Utiiities’ nomination cormmittee, which foliows the
reguirements of the Combined Code, includes seven members who
are independent under Combined Code rules (six being desmed
independent under NYSE rules), together with the non-executive
chairman and the chief executive. The committee’s terms of reference
do not require the committee to develop and recomimend corporate
governance principles for United Utilities PLC.

Pursuant to NYSE listing standards, non-management directors
must meet on a regular basis without management present and
independent directors must mest separately at least once per year.
During the 2004/05 financial year, United Utilities’ non-executive
directors met once as a group with the non-executive chairman,
but with no executive directors present and once as a group
without the chairman or the executive directors present.

in accordance with the reguirements of the Combined Code,
United Utilities reports on how its committees and its directors are
evaluated and on the results of such evaluations and it provides
extensive information regarding directors' compengation in the
directors’ remuneration report on pages 37 to 48. The terms of
reference of United Utiliies' audit, nomination and remuneration
committees are available on the company's web site.

NYSE fisting standards require US companies to adopt a code of
business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employess,
and to disclose promptly any waivers of the code for directors

or executive officers, The group has adopted a set of busingss
principles, which applies to the employees of all United Utilities
companies, including the chief executive, the group finance director
and the group financial controfier which comply with the NYSE
requirements. United Utiiities' Business Principles are available

ot the company’s web site.
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Governance
Corporate governance report continued

Undar NYSE fisting rules applicable to US cormpanies, independent
diractors must comprise a majority of the board of directors.

The NYSE rules include detalled tests for determining director
independence whike the Combinad Code, which is followed by
United Utilities, prescribes a more general standard for determining
director independence. Currently, six of United Utilities' directors
satisty the tests for independence set out in the NYSE nules.

The Combined Code requires a comparny's board to assess
directer independence by affirmativety concluding that the director
is independent of management and free from any business or
other relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise
of independent judgement.

Finally, a chief executive officer of a US company listed on the
NYSE must annually certify that he or she is not aware of any
violation by the company of NYSE corporate governance standards.
In accardance with NYSE listing rules applicable to foreign private
issuers, United Utilities' chief executive is not required to provide
the NYSE with this annual compliance certification, However, in
accordance with rules applicable to both US companies and foreign
private issuers, the chief executive Wi be reguired to notify the
NYSE promptly in writing i any executive officer becomes aware of
any material non-compliance with the NYSE corporate governance
standards applicable to United Utilities.
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Independent auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of United Utilities PLC
We have audited the financial statements of United Utifities PLC for
the year ended 31 March 2005, which comprise the consolidated
orofit and less account, the balance sheets, the consclidated cash
fiow statement, the reconcifiation of net cash flow to movement in
net debt, the statement of total recognised gains and iosses, the
reconciliations of movements in equity shareholders’ funds and the
related notes 1 1o 36, together with the reconciliation of net cash
flow to movement in net debt. These financial stafements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have
also audited the information in the part of the directors’ remuneration
report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1885, Qur audit
work has been undertaken sa that we might state ta the company’s
members those matters we are reguired 1o state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibifity to anyone other
than the company, and the company’s members as a body, for

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the
company's directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and accounting standards. They are aiso responsible for the
preparation of the other information contained in the annual report,
including the directors’ remuneration report, Qur responsibility is to audt
the financial staterments, and the part of the directors’ remuneration
repert described as having been audited, in accerdance with
relevant United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements and
auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements, and
the part of the directors' remuneration report described as having
been audited, have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985, We also report to you if, in our opinion, the
directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if
the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we tequire for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors'
remuneration and fransactions with the company and other
members of the group is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the July 2003
FRC Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority and we report if it does not.

We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal cantrol cover al risks and controls, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group's corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures,

We read the directors’ report and the other information contained in
the annual report for the above year as described in the contents
section, including the unaudited part of the directors' remuneraticn
report, and consider the implications for cur report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies
with the financial statements,

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Unifted Kingdom
auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclesures in the financial statements and the part
of the directors’ remuneration report described as having been
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directers in the preparation of the
financial statements and of whether the accounting poficies are
appropriate 1o the circumstances of the company and the group,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations that we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements, and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report described as having been audited,
are free from material misstaterment, whether caused by fraud or
cther irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we aiso evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration
report described as having baen audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

* the financial statements give a irue and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and the group as at 31 March 2005 and
of the profit of the group for the year then ended; and

* the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration
repart described as having been audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Deloke & Touels L7

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Manchester

1 June 2005

The above opinion is provided in compliance with UK requirements.
An opinion in accordance with auditing standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board in the US will be included in
the Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the US Securities ang
Exchange Commission.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the UK vary in certain
significant respects from accounting principles generally accepted in
the US. Information relating to the nature and effect of such differences
is presented on pages 85 to 92,
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Financial statements
Consolidated profit and loss account

Before  Goodwill Before  Goodwill Betora  Goodwil
goodwill and and goodwill and angl goodwill and and

exceptional exceptional 2005 exceplional exceptional 2004 exceplional exceptional 2003

items items Total items ilems Total iterns tterns Total

For the year ended 31 March Note £m £m fm £m £m £m £m em £m
Turnover: group and share of joint ventures 2 2368.2 - 23682 21155 - 2 115 5 1,920.5 - 1,9205
Less: share of joint venture umover 2 {1143) - {114.3) {85.5) - (55 5) (41 ) - 41.7)
Group turnover 2,253 9 - 2 253 9 2 060 0 - 2 060 0 1 B?B 8 - ‘n 878 B
Net operat ng costs 3 {1,585. 5)" - (45.2) (1 630, 7) (1 477, 2) - d{i‘ét}) (1 489. 9) (1 332, 7)""' '(3‘%.5') 51 366, 8)
Group operahng proflt 668.4 45.2] 623.2 582.8 {127y 5701 546.1 (36.1) 5100
Share of operating profit of joint vertures 2,14 234  (07) 227 143 (7 186 156  ©7) 149
Total operating profit 2 6918 {45.9} 6458  597.1 {13.4) 583 7 561 7 36.8) 524.9
Profit on sale ar termma'tbﬁ ot operatlons 4 - 45 4.5 o 43 4 3 S 34.0 34,0
Proﬁt/{loss} on disposal of fixed assets 4 ) - 4.1 4.1 - - 2.4 24 - Tl
Prof'r( on ordmary activities before interest 691.8 @r.3) 6545 597.1 {11.5) 585.6 561.7 =.8] 558.9
Net xnterest payable anci similar charges: -
Group T 70 9] (235’.__) ------ - (237.9) 1 ——(220—1)
Jointventures T e pszy - ga® (08 - (05 M3 - (13
7 {284.1) - (284.1) (248.1) - {2481y [231.4) - {231.4)

Proflt on ordlnary achwtles before taxation 407.7 (37.3) 370.4 349.0 (11.5) 337 5 330.3 2.8 3275
Current taxation crednt on proﬁt o;c;d};{ar;wach;h;s Wgag S 31 7 - 20 9 S égw1
Defened taxat\on (charge]/'credﬂ on ordinary activmes 8 B (75 3] 3 4 1’85 9)
Taxat:on cred it on excepiional items WMWB-—” T o 8.1 R 0.8 B 9.4
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 8 {35.5) 251 (47.4)
Profit on 0rd|nary aclwmes aﬂer taxatlon 334 8 362.6 2801
Equﬁy mmorﬁy mterest T (1 B,\ T (1—6) o ngé)
Profit for the flnanclal year 25 333.1 361 0 277 8
[j.wdehds e e o a7 e 3) (264 8)
Retlained profit tor the financial year 8.4 45.7 13.0
Basm eammgs et share 10 46.8p 54.5p 45.8p
Dlluted eammga per sharem R 10 42 2p 52 10 45 7p
Aﬁgusied basic eamings pef share (revised)# 11 o R 61 4b T 54 2p T 55 5p

See accompanying notes to the accounts.

Thers were no difierences between reported profits and historical cost profits on ordinary activities before taxation in any of the abgve financial years,

All activities ralate to continuing operations.

#) Disclosures related to adjusted eamings per share have baen excluded from our Form 20-F filing with the Securifies and Exchange Comimission.
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Financial statements
Balance sheets

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
At 31 March Note £m £m £m £m

leed assets

1161

Intang|b|e assets
7 769 4 .

5.738.4

e ot aross lesiites T T T ol - -
14 70.5 - -
Other investments 14 9.7 3.0 - -

8,432.0 7.958.5 4,833.9 5,739.3

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors

493 9

Investments

CaSh - bank and - hand e ——————————— T 490 421 e e
16763 1 5609 17616

iitore amants falling due within one year e T e (10748 (:3879)

Net current (liabilities)/assets {80.3) 186.1 373.7
8,144.6 5,207.6 6,800.2

914.9) 120,

Total assets less curent liabilities 8,351.7
Cfed' : arnounts failmg due aﬂer more than one year 19 (4 820 5) (4,702.0)

Prowslons -f-_or Ilabllmes and charges 21 (412 5) (339.7} 0.4 -
3,118.7 3,102.8 4,202.3 5479.6

Net assels

Capltal and reserves
Called up: share C&OLT&H

Share premlum accoum

Proflt and Ioss account

Other reserves
Equity shareholders' funds

Equity minority interest

Capital employed 3,118.7 3,1028 4,292.3 5,479.6

See accompanying notes 1o the accounts.

Approved by th ard of directors on 1 June 2005 and signed on its behaif by

STTE

Sir Richard Evans Simon Batey
Chairman Group finance director
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Financial statements
Consolidated cash flow statement

2005 2004 2003
For the year ended 31 March Note £m £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 29 724.9 9235 851.5
Income from joint ventures 3.1 1.2 28
Returns on investments and servicing of finance 30 (263.1) {151.8) 218.9)
Taxation 0.9 (2.6 -
Capital expenditure and financial investment 3 {883.8) {1,018.0) (697.9)
Acquls:taons and dlsposals
Acqws;t jons T 32 4{*1_4.’:—.727)4“__”7w -_---&gO) T (4_ é}
Deposais 52 - 7.9

17.0 {46.0) 3.0
Equity dividends paid . {317.5) (281.2) (262.0)
Cash outflow before use of liquid resources and financing {718.5) (574.9) {321.5)
Management of liquid resources a3 176.9 (338.4) (282.0)

Fmancmg

Issues of shares 7 200 5041 33
Increase - debt 34 - 5233 4188 6105
543.3 922.9 613.8
increase in cash 1.7 9.6 10.3
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2005 2004 2003
For the year ended 31 March Note £m £m £m
Increase in cash 1.7 9 6

ebt and Eease ﬂnancmg

Cash inflow 1ro

Cema_wwo

Cash (mﬂow)fou’t ow from rnaﬂagement of hqmd resources {176.9) 338.4
e in net deht resulting from cash ﬂows 35 (698 5) TO B] {318.2)
chang-e.énd othar e adjustments [ — 35 “ i 6 ; L 51
Movement m net debt {702.7} (64 5) (313 *l)
Open - net debt [ — B (3 3?3 o ..‘..‘.(3 vy 8)
Met debt at 31 March 35 4,141.1) (3,438.4) (3,373.9)
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Financial statements
Statement of total recognised gains and losses

Group
2005 2004 2003
For the year ended 31 March Note £m Em Em
Proft for the f nancna! year
eroup S o 8214 as03 2759
© Joint ventures S ) i4 11.7 0.7 - 19
25 361.0 277.8
Currency trans At A ment if;--ﬁurg-;-ent'\na 425 - - 6.8)
Other exchange adjusiments ' 7 25 3.7 2.2 40
Total recognised gains and losses since last annuatl report 336.8 363.2 275.0
Reconciliations of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
Group Company
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
For the year ended 31 March Note £m £m £m £m tm
Proﬁt \‘or the t" nanc'al year 25 333.1 361 RY) 277.8 3164 269 6
Dl\ndends - - é. 5;5 o (52:7)4 o 31 5 3) o (264.8} {324.7) 315 3)
F!e‘ﬁained orofit/(loss) for the ﬁnancial year 8.4 457 13.0 {8.9) {45.7)
Newsharecaptalissued 25 20,0 504.1 33 20.0 504.1
Gooowl on business dispasals s - = oo - -
Currency translation adjustment on equlty mvestment in Argentlna 25 - - o (68)
Own shares reieased fromyiheld in) employes share trust 25 20 2.3) o
Revaluatlon ad]ustment o 2AF;H L - - (1,201.0) -
Other exchange ad;ustments s T s a2 4.0 - -
Net mcrease/{decrease} in equfty sharehorders funds for the year 34.1 549.7 14.4 {1,187.3} 4561
Opening equity shareholders' funds I 30833 2,533.6 25192 54196 5023.5
Equity shareholders’ funds at the end of the year 3,117.4 3,083.3 2,53386 4,292.3 5,479.6
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Financial statements
Notes to the accounts

1  ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in deaiing with
tems that are considerad material in relation to the group's financia statements.

{a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The consolidated finansial statermnents of Unitea Utilities PLC and its
subsidiaries {the group) set out on pages 56 o 84 have been prepared
under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom accounting standards and the Companies Act 1985,
except as noted below under item (h).

Unless otherwise stated, the acquisition method aof accounting has been
agdopted. Under this method, the results of subsidiary undertakings acquired
or disposed of in the year are included in the consclidated profit and loss
account from the date of acguisition or up 1o the date of disposal.

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom, reqlires
maragement to make estimates ang assumptions that affect the:

- reported amounts of assets and liabilities;

- disclosure of contingent agsets and liabilities at the date of the financlal
staternents; and

- reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporiing period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(b} Cash

In the consclidated cash fiow statement and related notes, cash includes
cash at bank, deposits repayable on derand, and overdrafts. Deposits are
repayable on demand if they are, in practice, available within 24 hours
without penaity.

{c} Turnover

Turnover represents the income receivable in the ordinary course of business
for goads or services provided, Where relevant, this inchudes an estimate of the

sales value of units supplied to customers between the date of the fast meter

reading and the year end, exclusive of value added tax and foreign sales tax.

(d} Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is expensed as incurred.

{e) Pre-contract costs

Costs incurred i the development of activities are treated in accordance
with Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) Abstract 34 'Pre-contract costs', which
requires that pre-contract costs should only be recognised as an asset after
the point where it is virually certain that a contract wili be entered into with
net cash inflows that will recover the costs capitalised. Such capitalised
costs are amortised over the expected contract period.

N Goodwill

Purchased goodwill {hoth positive and negative) ansing on congolidation

in respact of acquisitions before 1 April 1898, when Financial Reporting
Standard (FRS) 10 ‘Goodwill and intangible assets’ was adopted, was
written off to reserves in the year of acquisition. When a subsequent disposal
occurs, any related goodwill previously written off to reserves is written back
through the profit and loss acoount as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Purchased goodwill (representing the excess of the fair value of the
consideration and associated costs over the fair value of the separable

net assets acquirsd) arising on consofidation in respect of acquisitions post
1 Aoril 1998 is capitalised. Positive gooawill is amoartised to nit by equat annual
instalments over its estimated useful e, generally not excesding 20 years.

On the subsequent disposal or termination of a business acquired post
1 April 1998, the profit or loss on disposal or termination is calculated
after charging/(crediting] the unamortised amount of any ralated
goodwil/inegative goodwill).

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings
and joint ventures are stated at cost less provision for any impairment,
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(g} Tangible fixed assets

Tengible fixag assels compnise infrastructure assels (Mmains, sewers,
impounding and pumped raw water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge
pipelines and sea outlalls} and other assets (including properties,
overground plant and equipment and electricity operational assets).

Infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets comprise a netwark of water and wastewater systems,
Expenditurg on infrastructure assets relating 10 increases in capacity or
anhancements of the network and on maintaining the operating capability
of the netwerk in accordance with defined standards of service is treated
as an addition, which is included at cost after deducting related grants

and contributions.

The depreclation charge for infrastructure assets is the estimated level
of annual expenditure required 1¢ maintain the operating capability of
the network, which is based on the group's independently certified asset
management plan.

Employee costs incurred in implementing the capital schemes of the group
are capitalised within fixed assets.

Other assets

Additions are included at cost. Freehold land is not depreciated. Other
assets are depreciated by writing off thelr cost less thelr estimated residual
value evenly over iheir estimated econcrnic lives, based on management's
judgement and experience, which are principally as follows:

Buildings 30-60 vears
Operational assets 5-80 years
Fixturas, fitings, tools and equipment 3-40 years
Computer software 3-10 years

Carrying value of tangible fixed assets

The carmying values of fixed assets are raviewed for impairment wherever
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not
be recoverable,

(h} Grants and contributions

Capital contributions towards infrastructure assets are deducted from

the cost of those assets. This is not in accordance with Schedule 4 to

the Companies Act 1985, under which the infrastructure assets should

be stated at their purchase price or production cost and the capital
contributions treated as deferred income and released to the profit and loss
account over the useful life of the cormesponding assets. The directors are of the
opinion that, atthough provision is made for depreciation of infrastructure assets
(see tem (g) above), these assets have no finite economic lives and the capital
contributions would therefore remain in the balance sheet in perpetuity, The
treatment otherwise required by the Companies Act 1985 would not present

a frue and fair view of the group’s effective investment in Infrastructure assets.
The financial effect of this accounting policy is Set out in note 13.

Grants receivable in respect of other tangible fixed assets are treated as
deferred income, which is credited to the profit and loss account over the
estimated economic lives of the related assets.

{i) leased assets

Assets financed by leasing arrangements, which transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee (finance leases), are capitalised
in the consclidated balance sheet and the corresponding capital cost is
shown as an obligation to the lessor. Leasing repayments comprise both

a capital and a finance element. Where the lease is of a fixed interest rate
naturg, the finance element is written off to the profit and loss account so
as o produce an approximately constant pericdic rate of charge on the
outstanding obligation. Where the lease is of a floating interest rate nature,
the finance element written off to the profit and loss account reflects the
ficating interest rate charge incurred during the period on the outstanding
obligation. Such assets are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives and the period of the lease.




Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and 16ss account
on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

it Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset invesiments, except for investments in joint ventures, are
stated at the lower of cost and recoverable amount. The consolidated
arofit and loss account includes the group's share of the profits less losses,
interest and taxation of joint ventures. The group balance sheet iIncludes
the investment in joint ventures at the group’s share of their net assets

in accordance with FRS 9 ‘Associates and joint ventures’,

(k] Current asset investments
Currart asset investments are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

M Stocks
Stocks are stated at cost less any provision necessary o racognise
damage and obsolescence,

Finisned goods and goods for resale are stated at the lower of cost,
including appropriate production overheads, and net realisable value.

{m) Pensions

The group operates a number of defined benefit schemes, which

are independent of the group's finances, for the substantial majority

of its employees. Actuarial valuations of the schemes are carried out as
determined by the trustees at intervals of not maore than three years, the
rates of contribution payable and the pension cost being determined on
the advice of the actuaries, having regard to the resuiis of these valuations.
in any intervening years, the actuares review the continuing appropriateness
of the contribution rates.

The cost of providing pensicns is expensed over employees’ working

fives. Variations from regular cost are allocated over the average remaining
sewvice lves of cument employees, Any difference between the charge to
the profit and loss account in respect of funded plans and the contributions
payable to each plan is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as a
prepayment or provision.

In addition, the group also operates a defined contrlbution scheme, for
which the amount charged to the proft and loss account in respect of
pension costs is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between
contributions payable in the year and contributions paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

The group has included the disclosure requirements of FRS 17
‘Retirement benefits’ in note 26, together with details of pension
and funding arrangements.

{n) Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates
ruling on the dates of the transactions, adjusted for the effects of any
hedging arrangements. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
curmencies are translated into sterling at the relevant rates of exchange
naing at the consolidated balance sheet date.

On consolidation, the balance sheets of overseas subsidiaries and joint
vertures are translated into sterling at exchange rates applicable at the year
end. The profit and loss accounts are translated into sterfing using the average
rate. Exchange difierences resulting from the transiation of such balance
sheets at rates nuling at the beginning and end of the year, together with the
differences between proft and loss accounts tranglated at average rates and
rates ruling at 31 March, are deall with as moverments ¢n group reserves.

Where net investments in overseas subsidiaries are matched in whole or

in part by foreign currency borrowings, the exchange differences arising on
the re-transiation of such borrowings are also recorded as movemsants on
group reserves 1o the extent allowed by Statement of Standard Accounting
Practice {SSAP) 20 'foreign currency translation’. Any excass is taken

1o the profit and loss account.

_»—

{0} Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided
at amounts expected to be paid {or recovered) using the tax rates and
laws that have been enacied or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Daferred tax is recognised in respact of al timing differences that have
originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions
or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or 2
right to pay less tax in the future have occcurred. Timing differences are
differences between the group’s taxable profits and its results as stated

in the financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses
in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to
apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse,
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a
discounted basis to reflect the time vaiue of money over the period
between the balance sheet date and the dates on which it is estimated
that the underlying timing ditferences will reverse. The discount rates
used reflect the posi-tax yields to maturity that can be obtained on
government bonds with similar maturity dates and currencies to those

of the deferred tax assets or liablities.

{p) Joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities in which the group holds an interest on a long-
term basis and which are jointly controlled with one or more other parties
under a contractual arrangement, The group's share of profits, less losses
of joint ventures, is included in the consolidated profit and loss account on
the gross equity accounting basis.

() Financial instruments

Debt instruments

New borrowings are stated at net proceeds received after deduction
of issue costs. The issue costs of debt instruments are amortised

at a gonstant rate over the life of the instrument.

Interest rate swaps and financial futures

Interest rate swap agreements and financial futures are used to
manags interest rate exposure. Instruments that are deslgned as a
hedge of a debt are accounted for on an accruals basis, with amounts
payable or recgivable in respect of these Instruments being recognised
as adjustments to interest expense of the designated liability.

Realised gains and iosses that occcur from the garly termination of such
instruments designated as a hedge are deferred and are amortised to
interest expense over the period of the hedged position, to the extent
that the originally designated liability remains outstanding.

In order to qualily for hedge accounting, the notional amount of the group’s
interest rate swaps and financial futures must not exceed the amount of its
existing variable rate debt, and must change the interest rage characteristics
of the underlying debt, while the contractual maturities cannot exgeed the
maturities of the debt.

Currency swaps

The group enters info currancy swaps to manage its exposure to luctuations
in currency rates, Principal amounts are revalued at exchange rates ruling
at the date of the group balance sheet and included in the sterling value of
debt. In order for such swaps to qualify for hedge accounting, the forward
contract/currency Swap must relate to an existing asset, fability or firm
comritment, be in the same currency as the hedged tem, and reduce the
risk of foreign currency exchange movernents to the group’s operations,
Where they do, exchange gains and 105ses are taken directly to reserves
and are Included in the staternent of total recognised gains and losses

in accordance with SSAP 20 ‘Foreign currency translation’.
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() Share-based compensation arrangements

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options granted in accordance
with the rules ¢f the schemes {see note 25) are recorded in share capital
and share prernium at their exercise price at the date the option Is exercised.
A compensation expense is recorded in respect of the executive share
option schemes for the difference, if any, between the exercise price

and the share price at the date of grant.

The costs of shori-term and long-term incentive awards are expensed

on a straight-line basis over the period in which performance is measured.
The amount to be expensed is based upen management's estimate of the
probability that the performance criteria will be met.

In respect of the group’s ShareSave schemes, no compensation expense is
recorded for the difference between the exercise price and the share price
at the date of grart or exercise, as the group is taking advantage of the
exemption permitted by UITF 17 ‘Employee share schemes’ in respect

of Inland Revenue approved SAYE schemes.

{s} Environmental remediation

Environmental expenditure that relates 1o current or future revenues is
expensed or capitalised as appropriate. Expenditure that relates to an
existing condition caused by past operations and does not contribute
o current or fuiure eamings Is expensed.

Liabilities for environmental costs are recognised when there is a legal

or constructive obfigation, environmenital assessments or clean-ups are
probabie, and the associated costs can be reasonably estimated. Generally,
the timing of thess provisions coincides with the commitment t¢ a formal
plan of action or, if earfier, on divestment or on ciosure of inactive sites.

{t) Recent UK accounting pronouncements

The accounts for the year ended 31 March 2005 have been prepared under
UK GAAP. These policies will be replaced by Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) with effect from 1 April 2005 and the group will publish
its interim financial statements and 2008 Annual Report and Accounts in
accordance with IFRS.
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2 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Turnover, total operating profit and net operating assets for each class of business and by geodgraphical onigin are set cut below:

Turnover 26 Total cperating proft 20 Net operaling assels 219
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
c:ontmumg buslneSSes
Licensed muti-utity operations qmeay 13007 12301 5879 5196 5028 78384 71077 65537
mfrastructure management 5431 4469 3971 782 678 588 1276 1326 828
Business process outsourcing 3964 3685 8076 26.4 25.1 168 1555 (117 1216
Telecommunications 2306 1856 1617 (1) (16 (195 2368 2272 197
S R I 78 o T T
o T S T
25678 23017 20065 6918 5071 5617  B3M0 7534 69083
Goodwm amomsa‘tlon ST : : e em o o ol e
Inter-business elminations 206} (189.8) (3862 (7600 -~ - - - - -
Continuing operatians, before
exceptional charge 23682 21155 1,9205 6756 5883 5547 B30 75024 69083
oot S R T R R
T 23682 21155 19205 6458 5837 5248 83110 75324 69083
By geographical origin: 20
United Kingdom 2@ 20515 18683 6287 5692 5153  B2417 74850 68621
Europe 29 188 125 72 34 21 414 L7 320
Rest of the world 512 451 397 100 11.1 75 27.9 267 142
2,3682 27155 19205 6450 5837 5249 83110 75324 69083

The accounting policies for each segment are the same as those appearing on pages 60 to 62,

(a) Turnover includes the group's share of joint venture turnover of £114.3 milion (2004 - £55.5 milion; 2003 - £41.7 milion) primarily relating

to infrastructure management.

{b) Total operating profit comprises group operating profit amounting to £623.2 million {2004 - £570.1 milion; 2003 ~ £510.0 milion) and share of operating

profits of joint ventures of £22.7 million (2004 — £13.6 milion; 2003 ~ £14.8 million).

For 2005, the above segmental analysis Is combined with the non-operating exceptional credit of £8.6 million {2004 - £1.9 million; 2033 — £34.0 million)
as discussed in note 4 of the accounts, and net interest payable of £284.1 million {2004 - £248,1 miflion; 2003 — £231.4 milion) as shown in note 7

of the accounts, o give profit on ordinary activities before taxation of £370.4 milion (2004 - £337.5 milion; 2003 - £327.5 million).

{c} Net operating assets comprise fixed assets and net current (liabilities)/assets excluding net debt, corporation taxation and dividends.

) Goodwill amortisation for 2005 consists of £9.9 million relating to telecommunications (2004 — £4.0 millon; 2003 — £3.4 million), £5.4 million relating
10 business process outsourcing (2004 —~ £3.8 milion; 2003 — £2.8 milion), and £0.9 million refating to infrastructure management (2004 - £1.0 milion;

2003 - £1.3 million),

{&) The inter-business eliminations are principally from business process outsourcing and infrastructure management, primarily to the licensed multi-utility

operations, substantially within the United Kingdom.

) Business restruciiiing costs in 2005 of £29.7 million relate to severance costs of £22.9 million in licensed multi-utiity operations, £4.9 milion in business
process outsourcing, £1.5 million in infrastructure management and £0.4 million of corporate costs. Business restructuring costs in 2004 of £4.6 million
related to costs arising from the Eurccall acquisition. In 2003, severance costs of £3.8 million related {o telecormnmunications.

In 2003, in accordance with FRS 11 ‘impairment of fixed assets and goodwill’, the group carried out a review to determine whether there had been an
impairment of its tangible and intangible fixed assets within its telecommunications business, Your Communications, The carrying values of tangible and
intangible fixed assets of each of Your Communications' income generating units were compared to their recoverable amounts, being their values In use
10 the group. The vaiues in use of the income generating units were calculated using discounted cash flow projections and a discount rate of 16 per cent
on a pre-tax basis. The review resulted in an exceptional charge to operating profit in 2003 of £25.5 million (of which £10.9 million refated to infangible

fixed assets and £14.8 million related 1o tangible fixad assets) and an exceptional tax credit of £5.6 million.

{g) The geographical destination of tumover does not differ materially from the geographical origin analysis above.
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3 NET OPERATING COSTS
2005 2004 2003
Note £m €m em

Employee costs:
3626
Gapitar sehemes and charges against oo T g 698
425.8 3531 282.8

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs

Depreciation:
381.4 376.1 356.9

Owned fixed asse{s o
Fixed assets held

Amortisation of intangible assets

costs:

Other operating

Audito uﬁeration for audit senvices ' ' 6.6 - Oé

rch and deveiopment

e of plant and machinery R

e D
S T
S
w4 163.8
7.7 704.7
TTase | 049)
756.4 689.8

1,485.3 1,339.5

—"!and and buldings
Cost of sales
Rents and rates

General, administration and other costs

Other income

Net operating costs re exceptional tems

Exceptional |

3@ 207 46 38
— agjustment to the carrying value of telecommurnications assets 3b) - - 255
Total net operating costs 1,630.7 1,489.9 1,368.8

- busine:

ring

Fees paid or payable to Deloitte & Touche LLP and s associates for non-audit services during the year were £1.1 milion (2004 - £1.2 million), primarily
relating to regulatory returmns, work associated with raising debt and equity finance, due diigence and tax work. Further analysis of non-audit fees is included
within the Comorate Governance section of this report. The audit fee for 2005 in relation to the company amounted to £80,000 (2004 -~ £81 ,000).

Information relating to the ermoluments, long-term incentives, share options and pensicn entitlernents of the directars is contained in the report
on remuneration.

(a) Employee costs are included above on & gross basis before removing those companents capitalised in connection with the group's capital schemes. The
adjustments made in the above table for ‘Capitai schemes’ are capitalised during the relevant period and included within tangible fixed asset additions.

Employee costs including business restructuring sxceptional iterns amount 1o £455.5 milion {2004 - £357.7 million; 2003 — £286.6 milion).

{b) Total depreciation and amortisation {including for 2003, the exceptional adiustrnent to the carnying value of telecommunications assets) amounts
1o £381.4 million (2004 ~ £378.1 million; 2003 - £382.4 millon).
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4 NON-OPERATING EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2005 2004 2003

£m £m tm

Profit on sale or termination of operations 45 4.3 34.0
Profiviloss) on gisposal of fixed assets ' 4 Y -
8.6 1.9 34.0

In 2005, the group’s shareholding in Manila Water Company Inc recuced from 17.86 per cent 10 11.68 per cent following iis successful listing on the Philipping
Stock Exchange during which the group placed part of its shareholding. The Green Energy business was also seld and a further credit was recognisad relating
to the withdrawal from infrastructure management in the Americas. Together the transactions gave rise to an exceptional credit of £4.5 million.

i 2004, a credit of £4.3 milion was recognised rélating to the withdrawal from infrastructure managernent in the Americas.

IEBA, the Argentine eliectricity utility for which United Utilities has been technical operator and, in which the group had a minority interest, defaulted on its
repayments to bondhokders in Septernber 2002. There was no reccurse 1o United Utilities in respect of those debts and the group has no further balance
sheet exposure to [EBA. Following the Argentine government’s dissofution of the Peso/US Dollar fink, the subsequent devaluation of the Argentine Peso and
the restrictions placed on the utility's pricing policies, there was no expectation of a financiat restructuring of the utility in which United Utilities would choose
to participate. United Utilities notified 'EBA and its majority shargholder, Gruppo Camuzzi, that it would nelther inject any additional equity into the company
nor, with the exception of mesting the group’s obligations under the technical support contract, participate in the future management of JEBA ano its
operating subsidiary, EDEA. United Utilities therefore concluded that i no longer had a participating interest in \EBA. The accounting provision that existed
at 31 March 2002 in respect of the investment in Argentina was taken to the profit and loss account in 2003 which, along with the disposal of US Water
and costs associated with withdrawing from infrastruciure management in the Americas, gave rise to an exceptional credit of £34.0 milion. The group

s0ld its minonity interest in 1EBA on 28 April 2008,

5 OTHER INCOME

2005 2004 2003
£m £m tm
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 4.5
Net rents receivable - 7a
oter 05
118 15.6 14.9

& EMPLOYEES
2005 2004 2003
Licensed multi-utility operations 4,889 4,684 4,269
ié}rastmcture ——— O 2510 2381 2763
Busunessprocessoutsourcmg S - 7—,993 175 6,540

Telecommunicati
Other activities

Average number of persons employed by the group during the year 15,935 15,674 13,802

7  NET INTEREST PAYABLE AND OTHER SIMILAR CHARGES

2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m
Interest payable:
éroup: - -
—onbankloans overdrafts and other loans ' ' i 3061 273.8
S 132 105
Total interest payable 3225 287.2
Interest receivable and simitar income (38.4) (39.1) 25.9)
Net Interest payable and other similar charges 2841 248.1 231.4
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8 TAXATION ON PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
2005 2004 2003

01
2 4 1.7

UK coporaton tax at 90 per cont o

Overseas tax

Share of |omt ventures tax

-Pnor years' tax adjustments T e T (31 .2) R (26 5) . {419)
Total ordinary current tax 31.7 20.9) 29.1)
Deferfed tax

(65.6) (1 19 3)

(Increase)/decrease i

S ves o aejusiments . e 11.3
Total ordinary deferred tax 753 {3.4)
Total ordinary tax 43.6 {24.3)

Tax on exceptional items:

tonai tax on restructunng of busmesses 6.3)
Deferred tax

Ong\nanon and rever531 of ‘ummg dlfferences o ] ) - o “-{47;5)
,,,Decrease - d|5c;ount - e ————————————— S e 14
Total tax on exceptional items 8.1) {0.8) 9.4)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 355 25.1) 47.4
The £8.1 million exceptional deferred tax credit is in relation to the £29.7 milion exceptional restructuring charges.
The table below reconciles the notional tax charge at the UK corporation tax rate for the year to the actual current rate for taxation.
2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 370.4 3375 327.5
%
UK corporat on | 1ax rate 30 G
pntat allowances 1n excess of depreglat]en T o - T (24 2)
Other nmmg dsﬂerences h . 0.4
W|thdrawal from tﬂfrastm;ture management in t ) l4 O)
Pnor years tax adlustments T B (12 B)
Net (mcome)/costs not deduc;{lgie for tax puUrposes BT
Actual current tax rate (10.8)
9 DIVIDENDS
2006 2004 2003
£m £m em

Ordmary shares

dIVldend Of M:h?g pence per ordmary share (2004 80 3 E— 86 2
166 5 173 s

A shares

4 - ? 215 -pence) T 223 ”
48.2

324.7 315.3 264.8

Intenm dNIdeﬂd of ? 395 pence per A s- are
Flnal dmdend 01 15 315 pence per A share proposed (2004 -14.94 pence)

The first dividend for which the initial A shares ranked was the 2003/04 interim dividend. The arount of this dividend is 50 per cent of that paid on
an ordinary share.
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10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2005 2004 2003
Profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders £333.1m £361.0m £277.8m
2005 2004 2003
Basic eamings per share 46.8p 54.5p 45.8p
Diluted eamings per share 42.2p 52.1p 45.7p

Basic earnings per share has been caiculated by dividing profit for the financial year attributable to sharehalders by 712.5 million, being the weighted average
number of shares in issue during the year {2004 — 862.8 million; 2003 - 608.0 millicn).

Fer the purposes of calculating the weighted average number of shares used in the earnings per share calculations, the A shares have been treated as
part-paid ordinary shares, two A shares being equivalent 1o one ardinary share.

Dikuted eamings per share has been calculated by dividing profit for the financiai vear attributable to shareholders by 789.2 million, being the weighted
average number of shares in issue durling the year including cifutive shares (2004 - 693.5 million; 2003 - 607.7 milion).

The waighted average number of shares can be reconciied to the weighted average number of shares including diutive shares as follows:

2005 2004 2003
million milion miliion
Average number of ordmary shares it issug — bach ?12.5 662 8 606.0
Average number cf potentrauy dilutive ordinary shares under opteon I 13 4 S 10 .‘3 T 10 5
Number of ondmary sharss that woufd have beegn issued at %rrva!ueﬁ S (8 0) . (8 8)m o (8 8}
Number ofA shares to be rssued m 2005 (ordrnaty share equl vaient) 7 T 154 6 . 82 8 T
Number of A shares that would have been issued at fawr vaiue {ordinary share equivalent] ' (83.3) (53.6)
Average number of ordinary shares in issue — diluted 789.2 893.5 6a7.7

The basic and diluted weighted average number of shares were restated for all periods prior 1o the rights issue to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue
as required by FRS 14. The adjustmenit factor, based on the consideration received from the first stage of the rights issue, is 0.9178, calculated using
531.8 pence per ardinary share, being the closing price on 26 August 2003, the data of approval of the rights issue at the EGM.

11 ADJUSTED BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE!)

2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m
Profrt for 1he flnanmal year aﬁnbutable tc ordlnary shareholders 3331 361.0 277.8
Ad;ustmants 7
E;éébtlonai dems
- busmess restructunng ' 29.7 4.8 38
— non-operating exceptional items (rote 4) - ' (8.6) (1.9} (34 O)
- adjus'tment ot Oarrymg oo p telecorﬁmunlcatuons e L e 255
Tax - excepnonal |terns (81) N (08) S [g 4)
Amortisation of goodwil 162 8.8 75
362 3 377 271.2
Deferred tax Eﬁé%ge/(credm on ordinary activities ' T T s By s
Adjusted proifit for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders 437.6 368.3 3571
Adjusted baslc gamings per share {revised) 61.4p 54.2p 55.5p
Adiusted basic eamings per share — post deferred tax, as reported in previous years 50.8p 54.7p 42.2p

Adjusted earnings per share has been calculated by dividing adjusted prafit for the financial year attributable to sharehoiders by 712.5 milion, béing the
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year (2004 — §80.1 milion; 2003 - 643.2 million).

The adiusted weighted average number of shares was restated for all pericds prior t¢ the rights issue using an adjustment factor based on the consideration
received from the first stage of the rights issue and assurned procseds from the second stage, which ars dus to be received in June 2005. The adjustment
factor is 0.8848, calculated using 531.5 pence per ordinary share, being the closing price on 26 August 2003, the date of approval of the rights issue at the
EGM. This reflects the full bonus element of the rights issue which arose at the first stage, as demonstrated by the movement in the share price following the
approval of the rights issue at the EGM.

The calculation of agjusted earnings per share has been revised to exclude deferred tax to provide a better understanding of the trading position of the group
and to clarify trends in trading performance as Ofwat, the regutator of the group's water and wasiowater licensed mutti-utility operation, sets price Iimits by
referente 1o tax payments rather than the tolal tax charge.

{#) Disclosures related to adjusted earnings per share have been excluded from our Form 20-F filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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12 |NTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group

Gther
intangiles
£m

Total
£m

Cost:

Additions

Moz o T T T a0
Dlsposals (note32) [ (1 ; 0)
Reva;uanons e - . - . 120)
At 31 March 2005 168.4
Amortisation:

A1 Aprl 2004
Charge for the period

Disposals (note 32)

et
15.5
(1.9)

At 31 March 2005

51.5

Net book value:
At 31 March 2005

At 31 March 2004

116.1

The group purchased the 14.6 per cent equity stake held by Capgemini UK PLC in its subsidiary,

the group’s shareholding to 100 per cent. The minority interest acquired and cashflows are detailedt in note 32.

13 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Land and
buildings
Group £m

Infrastructure Operational
assets assets
£m £m

Fixtures,
fittings, todis
and equipment
£m

Assels in
coursa of
construction
em

Viertex Data Science Limited, on 5 Novemicer 2004, taking

Total
£m

Cost:

Po 1 April 2004 T T T asi3
Additions 30

Dis%)osa!s

ases

87133
566.6

48.4

50)

11,1145

(1845)

At 31 March 2005

1,245.0

11,812.9

Depreciation:
Chargefor theyear

- Teze

471

T ames

365.9
(133.0

At 21 March 2005

1,276.7

532.7

3,578.0

Net book value:
At 31 March 2005

2424

26016

Tagz0

T8,234.9

At 31 March 2004 248.1%

2,4031 3,5038

363.9

1,158.4

7,769.4

Grants and contributions received relating 1o infrastructure assets have been deducted from the cost of fixed a
(accounting policy note 1{h). As a consequence. the cost of fixed assets, as adjusted for any amortisation in the year,

£108.2 milion) lower than it would have been had this treatment not been adopted.
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ssets in order 1o show a true and fair view
is £120.6 milion (March 2004 -




Within tangible fixed assets are assets held under finance leases at the following amounts:

2005 2004
£m £m
Cost
Operational assets o R T 810 1522
letures fittings, toc.lvs and equment o ] i T B - B 09
At 31 March 81.0 1331
Accumulated depreciat n:
Operanonal assets T o T T 114
Fixtures, fittings, toojs and equapmentr -
At 31 March 11.4 81.7
thtures ﬁ‘ttlngs.- tools and equmént T - T T - 61
At 31 March 69.6 714
2005 2004
€m £m
Capltal commltments
Contracted but not prowdeci 1or o 3320 o 5264

Fixtures, fittings,
1ools and equipment

Company o
Cost

At 1 Aprﬂ 2004 and 31 March 2005 - 48
Deprema

Charge for the year 01
At 31 March 2005 w0
Net book value

i 31 March 2905 [ 08
At 31 March 2004 Py

The company had no capital commitments at 31 March 2005 and 31 March 2004.

14 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Other unlisted
Joint veniures invesiments

-

Unlisted Loans Total
£m £m £m

S are of prof ts
DISDOSE

D stnbutlons and loan repayments

Transfers 7 7 . 7 ] - 8.9

Exchange adlustments
At 31 March 2005

0.8

Otiver listed
investmenls

£m

80.2

inciuded within uniisted joint ventures is total goodwil of £7.6 million, net of amortisation of £2.8 million (2004 —£8.2 million, net of amortisation of £2.1 million},

principally in respect of the group s investrnent in AS Taiinna Vesi.

Share of profits comprises share of operating profits of £22.7 million, interest charge £13.2 million, and taxation credit £2.2 milion.
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Shares in
subsidiary
undeniakirgs
Company £m
Cost-
At 1 Apni 2004
Addltrons

Hevaiuatlon adtustment (note 25)

At 31 March 2005

Details of principal operating subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures, al of which are unfisted, are set out pelow. These undertakings are included within

the consolidated group financial statements.

Class of share Proportion of share capital
capital held owned/voting rights

Nature of
business

Subsidiary undertakings:

Great Brlta|
Un:ted Utt!mes Water PLC
Unrted UtIIItLGS Electncrty PLC

' Ordinary 100%*
Your Communrcatlons Lumlted
Vertex Data Sclence hmrted

" Ordinary o0
\.'ertex Customer Management ijrted o
Uruted Ut es Internatronat Lirm ed

Unwted Utrtrtles FaC|l|tLes 'Management errted

) Ordrnary 100%
Unlted Utrlmes Waste Management lelted N
Park Envrronmentai Lirnited

Unrted Utwlrtnes Industnal errted
United Utiities Property Solutrons 'umrted
Unsted Utilities Operattonal Services lerte“o-lw Crdlnary o 100%

) Orchnary 100%

Untted Ut| mes Ope | Serwces (Hrghland) lelted Ordinary

! Sennoes (I'ay erlted Ordlnary

ervrces (Moray) errted Ordtnary 7 :

Umted Utilmes'Ope
Unnted Utilities Networks Limited Ordtnary

. Ordlnary o 1'60%'. S ———
Ofdlr‘nary 100% T ——

- Ordlnary 100%‘ S
Ordinary ‘| 00%

Operatron and malntenance of wastewater

Water and tewater serw:es and network management

Electricity trlbutlon and related ser\nces
‘cat ons.
Busines cess outsourcmg

oes and prolect management

. Ordmary 100%
Ordmary 100%

Ordmary 100% [ ———

Operatnon and malntenance ot water and
wastewater assets ot Dwr Cymru

Operatnon and marntenance of wastewater

Operatron and marntenance of waetewater

Multi-utility metenng and network operatrons

Australla

Unnted Utalmes Austra ia Pty lelted Ordinary 100%"*

Water treaiment operations, technical and

Unrted Ut es | Macarthur Operat ons Pty err ) Ordlnary 100%'

Yabulu Water Pty anrted ) Ordnary o 100% S o
Untted Utmtles Victer Harbor Pty lerted R Ordrnary T 100%‘ N Water treatment operatrons

Canada ) _ ) R - i

Vertex Customer Management (Canada) errted T Ordrnary 100%”
Unlted States

First Reverue pssurance LiG : T Ordinary Tooms ’
lndaa
Vertex Customer Serwces |nd|a anate errted Crdinary 75%"

Business process outsourcmg

Debt collection agency ' '

Busrness process outsourcmg
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Class of share Proportion of share capital Nature of
capital hetd ownedivoting rights business
Joint ventures:
Great Britain:
Ordinary 50%* Contract operations and maintenance services
Gatchrnent ay} L\mtted T VOrolnary 33% o W’Eootr—;c'to;ot;oo’suatrt;maintenance semaéé';"
Catchment (Moray) umlted Ordinary 33% Contract operations and maintenance services
Ordmaw 50%! e L T s
Todnay SO%° T \etering sevices. . ’
UUGML\mtted Ordinary 80%” Consuliting services and project management
Australla
Vo ean Water Pty Limted T ordnay | 50% " Water treatment operaions
Macarthur Water Pty Lmted Ordmary 50%" Water treatment operattons
Rwenandwater Limited Ordmary . 50%...._,,, R
Campaspe Asset Management Servu:es Pty Umeted Ordinary 509’:_ o I-As;éet rrtanagement and wator treatment R
Estoma
AS Talinna Vesi “ordray . a7ew | Contract operations and maintenance services
Bulgarla
Sof jska Voda A.D. Crdinary 59.6%* Contract cperations and maintenance services
Poland:
.Z\oua SA Crdinary 33.2%" Contract operations and maintenance senvices

* Shares are held directly by United Utilities PLC except where marked with an asterisk where they are held by subsidiary undertakings.
A full list of the company's subsidiary undertakings is included within the company's annual returm.

15 STOCKS
Group
2005 2004
£m £m
Raw materials and finished goods 9.2 9.1
Work in progress 9.9 80
19.1 171
16 DEBTORS
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m fm £m
Amounts falhng due w;thm one  year:
Trade debtors 320 4 317.4 - -
Provnsms for doubtfut debts {1 27 2) (107.8) - -
193.2 200.6 -
Amounts owed by SUbSIdtaW undertakmgs - - 1 ,363.1
Other debtors 5 4 14 7 O 2
Prepayments and accrued mcome 576 3 269 6 8.8 0 3
774.9 493.9 1,442.3 1,363.6
Within prepayments and accrued income is £402.4 million, which falls due after maore than one year {2004 — £98.2 million).
17 CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
£m €m £m £m
ds and short term mvestments 812.3 989 2 319.3 637.5
Other ourrent asset mvestments 21.0 18.6 - -
833.3 1,007.8 319.3 6837.5
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Financial staterments
Notes to the accounts continued

18 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m
467.3 49.7 2121 -
371 326 - 7.4
0.8 - - -
54,7 726 - -
Armounts owed G subsidiary underiakings - - 598.0 R59.6
Dl\ndends 221.0 213.8
Corporahon taxahon - -
Other taxatron and socta! secuniy 0.4 10. 5
Accruals and deferred income 56.4 48 9
1,756.6 1,3748 1,387.9 1,140.2
18 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR
Groug Company
2008 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m £m
Loans 4,417.0 4,306.3 914.9 1,120.6
Obi«gat;ons under ﬁnance feases 80.2 811 - -
Other credltors 21 3 16 5 - -
Defarred grants and contnbunons (note 2G) 302 0 298 1 - -
4,820.5 4702.0 9149 112086
20 DEFERRED GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS
Group
£m
At 1 Apni 2004 298 1
Hecewed m the year 14 4
Credlt 0 proﬂt and IOSS account for the year (10.5)
AL 31 March 2005 302.0
21 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Group Company
Defarred tax
{note 22} Restructuring Other Total Restruciuring
£m m £m £m £m
Ai 1 Apnl 2004 3314 59 2.4 339 7 ~
Arrsmg o drsgosaf of busmess 3.9 - - 3 4) ~
Utifised ) ~ {20.4} 0.3} (20 7’) -
Profit and loss account 87.2 29.7 - 96 9 0.4
At 31 March 2005 395.2 15.2 241 4125 0.4

to be utlised within the following 12 months.

22 DEFERRED TAX

The majority of restructuring provisions are for casts of restructuring in licensed multi-utility operations and business process outsourcing, which are expected

Group

2005 2004

Em Em

Acoelerated capitai a%lowances ] 1 456 5 1 333 9
Short-term tirming differences (100.3) (1 18.)
Undlscounted prowsmn for deferred tax 1 347 2 1,217.8
D:sc;ount (952 0) (886.4)
Discounted provision for deferred tax 385.2 331.4
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23 BORROWINGS
Below is an anaiysis of gross debt which, after taking into account cash and short-term investments of £861.3 million, reduces to net debt of £4,141.1 miflion.

2005 2004

£m £m

Bank overdrafts and temporary borrowwngs 37 1 32 S
Term Ioans o I 7 S 4,884 3 S “74 356 O
mee !eas;s A S At A B A o 0 am
5,002.4 4,469.7

2005 2004

Repayments fall due as follows: Vear £m Year £m
After ﬂve years 2011+ 2,594.7 2010+ 2 214 4
From four to ﬂ\.'P: years T 2010 169.2 7““2009 o 733 4
me three to four yearé e e e e e e 2008 S ..907 i
From one 1o two years 2007 65.2 2006 468.7
A F 4,497.2 4,387.4
Wum{n one year - 2006 o 5052 2005 82.3
5,002.4 4,469.7

Bank overdrafts and temporary borrowings

The bark overdrafts and temporary barrewings are repayabla in less than one year. The weighted average rate of interest on bank overdrafts ana temporary
borrowings was 5.18 per cent (2004 - 3.87 per cent). The group had avallable committed bank facilities of £875.0 milion {2004 ~ £775.0 milicn) of which
£873.4 milion was unutilised at 31 March 2005 (2004 — £773.1 million). Of the amaunts unutiised, £100.0 milion expires within one year, £323.4 milion
expires affer one year but in fess than two years, and the remaining £450.0 mifion expires in mare than two years.

Term loans
Amounts renayable after more than five years comprise loans repayable between 2011 and 2053. Interest rates range from 1,135 per cent to 14.83 per cent
on £2,252.1 miilion {2004 - £1,852.9 milfon} and ane at fioating rates on £342.6 milion (2004 — £361.5 miltion.

Finance L eases
An analysis of finance lease repayments is given in note 27.

On total borrowings, interest rates range from 0.705 per cent to 14.83 per cent on £4,455.7 milion and are at floating rates on £5486.7 milion.

The analysis of net debt prior to the effect of derivative instruments is as follows:
Bomowings et 31 March

2005 2004
£m £m
leed rate borrowings:

sterhng e e s e e e 1 772 5 1 589 ?
Uﬂlted Stéltes doﬂars I ,091 9 T 1 091 9
Eums e e e e e Ao o e e e e e 14706 1 0932
Japané;e yen ) e 120-7 1‘;5,1
4,455,7 3,892.9

Floata'ng rate borrowings:
Staine 510 0 532 1
\Japanese;;;en O _ e e e e e e e e ﬁv#m rif,, 123 .. 12 3
Unlted States doi - - 11 9 19 9
Hong Kong dollars e 5 A s -
546.7 576.8

Floatmg rate investrents:
Sterfing (including cash) T {861.3} {1.031.9)
Net debt at 31 March 4,341.1 3,438.4

* Curency items are recorded in the balance sheet at the hedged rate.
Included in the above table is a loan with Japanese yen principal paying a United States dollar coupen, Included in fixed rate borrowings is a loan
of £50.0 miillion for which the principal and interest are linked 1o the Retall Price Index.

The fair values of the group's financial instruments are shown on page 75.
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Taking into account derivative instrurnents, net debt can be analysed as follows:

Weightad average Waighted average
inlerest rate at which penod for which
Bommowings at 31 March bormowings are fixed irterest is fxad
2008 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
m £m % % Yaars Years
Fixed rate borrowings:
Sterling 4,435.8 3,190.0 6.2 7.3 52 3.5
Floating rate borrowings:
Steriing 566.6 1,279.7
Floating rate investments:
Sterling (including cash) (861.3) (1,031.3)
Net debt at 31 March 41411 3,438.4

Floating interest rates are based on LIBOR.

Company

Excluding amounts owed 10 subsigiary undertekings, the company has borrowings totalling £1,127.0 million (2004 - £1,128.0 milion), of which
£212.1 million falls due within one year, repayable in August 2005 with interest charged at 6.25 per cent. The remaining loans totalling £814.8 millien
have maturities and intersst rates as follows:

£18.5 milion maturing in February 2008 has interest charged at 0.705 per cent; £311.6 milion maturing in the year ending 2009 has interest charged at
B.45 per cent on £288.5 milion, at 4.21 per cent on £6.9 milion and at floating rates on the remaining £6.2 millon; £5.7 million maturing in the year ending
2010 has interest charged at 3.875 per cent; £338.7 milion maturing in the year ending 2018 has interest rates of 5,375 per cent on £189.9 million and
4.55 per cent on £148.8 milion; £242,4 million is repayable in the year ending 2029 with interest charged ai 6.875 per cent.

24 FINANGIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The prirnary financial risks faced by the group are interest rate risk and exchange rate risk,

The board has reviewed and agreed policies for managing each of these risks, as summarised befow. The board has aiso approved all of the classes
of financial instruments used by the group. The group’s treasury function, which is authorised to conduct the day-to-day treasury activities of the
group, reports at least annually to the board.

The group uses a variety of financlal instruments, including derivatives, to raige finance for its operations and to manage the risks arising from those operations.

The group borrows in the major global debt markets in a range of curencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest, using derivatives, where appropriate,
to generate the desired eflective cumency profile and interest basis. The eflect of the use of derivatives is llustrated in note 23.

Under an interest rate swap, the group agrees with another party to exchange at specific intervals the difference between fixed rate and floating rate interest
amounts caiculated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount. The notional principal of these instruments reflects the extent of the group’s
involverment in the instruments, but does not represent its exposure to credit risk, which is assessed by reference to the fair value.

Under a cumrency swap, the group agrees with another party to exchange the principal amount of two currencies, together with interest amounts in the two
currencies agreed by referance to a specific interest rate basis and the principal amount, The principal of these instruments reflects the extent of the group's
involvement in the instruments, but does not represent its exposure to credit risk, which is assessed by reference to the fair value,

All transactions are undertaken to manage the risks anising from underying business activities and no specuiative trading fs undertaken. The counterparties to
these instruments generally consist of financial institutions and ather bodies with good ¢redit ratings. Atthough the group is patentially exposed to credit loss
in the event of non-performance by counterparties, such cregit visk is controlled through credit rating reviews of the counterparties and by lirmiting the total
amount of exposure {6 any ane party. The group does not believe it Is exposed fo any material concentrations of credit sk,

As noted abeve, the group uses derivatives 10 manage its exposure to currency risk on its borrowings. Subsidiary undertakings make no significant sales or
purchases in currencies other than that of the country in which they cperate. Accordingfy, the group has no material unhedged foreign currency exposures.

Financial instruments utllised by the group can be summarised as follows:

Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps are used solely to manage floating rate borrowings in order to reduce the financial risk to the group from potential future changes
in medium-term interest rates.

Firranicial futures
Financlal futures are used o manage the group’s exposure to possible future changes in short-term interest rates.

Forward contracts
The group generaliy hedges foreign exchiange transaction exposuras up to one year forward. Hedges are put in place using forward contracts at the time
that the forecast exposure biecomes reasonably certain.

Currency swaps
The group uses currency swaps to hedge currency exposure where debt is raised in one currency to fund in a different currency.
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Fair values of finangial instruments

Fair vajue estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on refevant market information and information abeout the financial instrument. These estimates
are subjective in nature and involve uncertaintles and matters of sigrificant iidgement and therefore cannct be determined pregisely. Changes in assumptions
could significantly affect the estimates.

2005 2004

Book Fair Book fFair

value vafue value valua

At 31 March £m £m £m £m
Short-term debt and current partion of long-term debt 505.2 505.2 82.3 823
Long-term debt 4,497.2 4,615.0 4,387.4 4,590.8
5,002.4 5120.2 4,469.7 4,6821

Interest rate swaps - 47.3 - 43.7
Foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps - 8.2 - {89.8}
Total borrowings 5,002.4 5175.7 4,489.7 4,626.0

Fair values have Deen estimated using the following methods and assumptions:

Long-term investments
The fair value of investments for which there are no quoted market prices, aporoximate to their carrying value of £71.3 million. The fair value of the group’s
listed investment in Manila Water Company Inc is £8.9 million based upon its closing shara price at 31 March 2005,

Current assets and labiiities
Financial instruments included within current assets and liabiiities (excluding cash and borrowings) are generally short-term in nature and accordingly their fair
values approximate to their beok values,

Long-term receivables and liabifities
The fair values of financial instruments included within long-term receivables and liabiities (excluding barrowings} are based on discourted cash flows using
appropriate market interest rates.

Net borrowings and non-equity interests (excluding foreign exchange coniracts)

The carrying values of cash and shert-term berrowings and current asset investments approximate to their fair values because of the short-term maturity
of these instruments. The fair value of quoted long-term borowings and guaranteed preferred securities is based on year-end mid-market quoted prices.
The fair value of other long-term borrowings is estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using appropriate market interest rates
prevailing at the year end.

Currency and interest rate swaps
The group enters into currency and interest rate swaps in order to manage #s foreign currency and interest rate exposures.

The parrying valug of Gebt is shown in the balance sheet at the hedged rate. The impact of the hedged currency rates as opposed fo translation at year end
exchange rates is £(68.1) milion (2004: £(25.4} million).

The fair value of these financial instruments is estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present values using appropriate market interest rates
prevailing at the year end. The fair values of currency and interest rate swaps exclude the related accrued interest receivables and payables.

Hedges
Unrecognised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities for which hedge accounting has been used at the balance shest date were £152.4 milion
and £207.9 million respectively (2004 - £192.0 milion and £135.9 million).

The group anticipates that £83.5 milfion of these gains and £72.2 milion of these losses will be realised in the forthceming financial year. Of the unrecognised
gains and losses on hedges as at 1 April 2004 the net gain recognised in the profit and ioss account for the year ended 31 March 2005 was £40.2 mifiion.
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25 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
The movements in shareholders’ equity are as follows:

Group and company Group Company
Called up Share Profit Profit
share pramium and loss and loss Other
capital account account Tetal account reserves Total
£m £m £m £m £m m £m
At 31 March 2002 555.9 6716 7 291 7 2 519 2 S10.8 2,544.8 4 683 2
ane. fmanmal year T 277 s 277 B 601 a - 501 3
Dmdends on ordmary shares - I (264 8) o (264 8) 264 8) I (264 8)
Shares lssued net of costs T dae T 27 T - 33 - 33
Currency translanon adlustment on equ\ty e e e e e e et
investment in Argentina - - 6.8) {6 8] - ~ -
e aci:ustments e 40 g e - o
At 31 March 2003 556.5 8743 1,302.8 25336 1,247.9 2,544.8 5,023.5
Pmﬂt for f nanmal year - - 381.0 361.0 ' 269 6 I 2696
Owidends on ordinary shares - - (315.3; @153 @53y - @sg)
Shares tssued net of costs I 156.3 348.8 o - 504 1 - 5{)41
Own shares held in employee share trust - - (23) o (2 3] o (23] T (23)
Exchange ad;ustments . - e 5 5 5 e
At 31 Marc 711.8 1,023.1 3,083.3 1,199.8 2,5644.8
Proﬁt for ﬂnancaa year - - 333 1 3164 -
ledenﬁs or Ordmary Shares e e (32 47) ‘324 7) (3247) o
Shares sssued net of costs T “44 T ?56 S T 20.0 I
Own shares released from employee T
share trust - - 2.0 2.0 2.0 - 2.0

Revaluatxon adjustment (1 ,2010) o {1,2010]
Exchange agjustments - - 3.7 37 - - -
At 31 March 2005 716.2 1,038.7 1,362.5 3,1174 1,193.6 1,343.8 4,292.3

As allowed by section 230(4} of the Companies Act 1985, the company has not presented its own profit and loss account. The amount of group profit
for the financlal vear dealt with in the company’s profit and less account is £316.4 milion (2004 - £269.6 milion; 2003 - £601.8 million) afier accounting
for dividends receivable from subsidiary undertakings of £323.2 milion {2004 — £282.0 milion; 2003 - £958.6 million).

The cumulative amount of goodwill included in reserves resulting from acquisitions, before FRS 10 became effective, net of goodwill attributable to
subsidiaries or businesses demerged or disposed of prior to 31 March 2005, amounts to £1,023.0 million (2004 - £1,023.0 milion; 2003 - £1,023.0 milion).
Consolidated retained eamings at 31 March 2005 include retained losses of joint ventures and associated undertakings of £0.1 milion (2004 - £11.8 million;
2003 ~ £12.5 milion). The cumulative armaount of exchange adjustrments included within consclidated retained earrings is £{1.4) million {2004 - £{5.1} milion;
2003 ~ £{7.3) million).

On 31 March 2005 the directors revalued the company’s investment in one of its subsidiaries and made an adiustrment in valug of £1,201.0 milion against
the value of that asset. The direstors have considered the value of the company’s other fixed assets at the same time and are satisfied that the aggregate
value of those fixed assets was not fess than the aggregate amount at which they are stated in the company % accounts. Consequently, in acsordance with
section 275 of the Companies Act 1985, the adiustment in carrying value is not ciassified as a realised loss. Accordingly the non-distributable other reserve
of the company is adjusted 1o reflect this valuation and is stated in the accounts on the basis that the revaluation of the company's fixed assets 0ok place
at that time.

Apart from dividends from United Utilities Water PLC and United Utiities Electricity PLC, which are subject to certain regulatory restrictions, there are no
significant statutory or contractual restrictions on the distrbution of current profits of subsidiary or joint venture undertakings; undistributed profits of prior
vears are, in the main, permanentiy employed in the businesses of these undertakings. The undistributed profits of group undertakings overseas may be
liable to overseas taxes and/or UK, taxation (after allowing for double taxation relief) if they were to be distributed as dividends. No provision has been made
in respect of patential taxation liabilities on realisation of assets at restated or revalued amounts or on realisation of joint venture undertakings at equity
accounted value.

The authorised ordinary share capital of the company was 800,000,000 ordinary shares of €1 each at 31 March 2005 (2004 - 800,000,000; 2003 -
800,000,000}, The allotted and fully paid crdinary share capital of the company at 31 March 2005 was 561,572,377 ordinary shares (2004 - 557,125,006,
2003 - 556,526,651). 4,447,371 ordinary shares were afiotted during the year ended 31 March 2005 (2004 ~ 548,353; 2003 ~ 584,313 for the exercise of
options In accordance with the ndes of the employee ShareSave schemes and the executive share option scheme for a total consideration of £20.0 milion
(2004 — £2.9 million; 2003 ~ £3.3 miltien).
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The five-for-nine rights issue, structured so that the proceeds are received in two stages, was approved at the extracrdinary general mesting (EGM) of
shareholders on 26 August 2003. The authorised A share capital of the company was 638,000,000 A shares of 50 pence each. The allotted and fully paid
A share capital of the company at 31 March 2005 was 309,286,897 A shares (2004 — 309,286,897, 2003 - nil). The first tranche of the proceeds, received
during September 2003, raisad £501.2 milion (Net of costs) from the issuing of those shares. The second tranche of proceeds is dus 1o be received in
June 2008, reflecting the subscription for further A shares. All A shares will then be consolidated and reclassified as ordinary shares on the basis of one
ordinary share for two A ghangs.

Since 31 March 2005, 423,583 ordinary shares have been allotted on the exercise of options and at 1 June 2005 the company’s issued ordinary share
capital, cradited as fully paid, was 561,995,970 and A share capital, credited as fully paid, was 309,266,897,

The employee ShareSave scheme is avaiiable to al eligible employees and the company share option scheme 1889 is for senior executives (excluding, with
effiect from the introduction of the group's long-term incentive plan, execufive directors and other executives participating in that plan and its successor, the
performance share plan). The ShareSave scheme i3 based on SAYE savings contracts with ogtions exercisable within a six-manth pericd from the canclusion
of a three or fve-year period as appropriate from the date of grant. Under the terms and conditions of this scheme, for every month (ug 10 no more than

six months) an employee fails to contribute the agreed menthiy amount determined under the rules of the scheme, the last date exercisable will be delayed
by one month. Opticns under the company share option scheme 1999 are exercisable in a period beginning no eatlier than three years (five years for
discounted options under the former executive share option s¢heme, which are no longer granted) and ending no later than ten years from the date of grant.
Qptions outstanding under the share aption schemes at 31 March, together with their exercise prices and dates, were:

Exetcise Norma! dates

2005 2004

Employee ShareSave scheme

220,027 2,505,354

730,638 1,259,381 481200 2004 or 2008

1,132,775 1,865,490 432 3p 3005 or 2007

) T 464708 2001625 42370 2006 of 2008
e 2

Executive share option scheme - 44 002 458. 4p(3) 1997 to 2004
S el R o
o 16,781 414,900 1997 to 2004

- 19985 353.00@ 1999 to 2004

T o - - h10s0 487609 199810 2005

- 16,878 “414.90® 2000 to 2005

R 55,791 148,977 505.4p® 1998 to 2005
S 68,361 160,549 470800 1939 to 2006
145,412 266,691 543.0p9 2000 to 2007

90,496 132,126

233,309

1284 TE6.0pI 2001 to 2008

180365 o0t 5'51 """"""""""" 750,509 2001 10 2008

) T T Tessa0 800331 6B40pd 2002 to 2009

Company share option scherne 1999 162,863 308 935 532 29t3) 2002 to 2{}09
T e e e e o
T T T 303,33 521,770 575.80) 2003 10 2010

682,259 1073 907 56379 2004 10 2011

""""""""" ssa7az 617802 508.3pF 2005 to 2012

e o Mu-fsné;éi?_w_ 1452 552  528.3p0 20@5 to 2012
7E5027 821,016 544.7p@ 2006 0 2012

12,156,128 18,635,042

{1} The exercise price mpresents 80 par cent of the market price at the date the option was granted.
{2) The exercise price represents 85 per cent of tha market price at ihe date the option was granted.
{3) Tha exercise price equalled the market price at the date the oplion was granted.
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An opportunity 16 join the employee ShareSave scheme was offered duning the years ended 31 March 2004 and 31 March 2003, and options werg also granted
under the company share option scheme 1989, In the year ended 31 March 2005, options were granted under the option schemeas In respect of a iotal of
nil ordinary shares (2004 — 2,311,435 ordinary shares; 2003 ~ 4,016,642 ordinary shares), options for 4,361,127 ordinary shares (2004 — 521,504 ordinary
shares; 2003 - 1,447,851 orginary shares) were exercised and options for 1,267,467 ordinary shares (2004 - 2,486,866 ordinary shares; 2003 - 348,451
ordinary shares) lapsed or were cancelled.

United Utilites established a Quaiifying Employee Share Ownershin Trust (QUEST) in 1988, an employae benefit trust complying with requirements of the
Finance Act 1989. The QUEST irusiee assumed the obligation 1o satisfy options granted under the exlsting United Utilifies ShareSave scheme. As a result
of changes in the tax regime, shares have been allotted direcily to ShareSave participants since 1 April 2003 and arangements are now being made to
wind up the QUEST. There were no sharas held in the QUEST at 31 March 2005.

The United Utilites Employee Share Trust was estabiished by a trust dead executed on 21 August 1896, The Trustess hold the trust fund for the benefit
of the beneficiaries (being employees or former employees of the group's cornpanies and their relatives) 1 the extent determined by the nules of the share
schemes. As at 31 March 2005, the Trust held 52,500 shares on trust and these shares will be used to satisfy awards payable under the group'’s
performance share plan, All dividends payable on the shares during the year were waived.

The main all-employee schems is the inland Revenue approved share incentive plan, ‘ShareBuy’. This is & flaxible way for employses to acquire shares in
the company by buying ‘partnership’ shares up to the lower of £1,500 or ten per cent of taxable pay each year. The funds are deducted from pre-tax pay
and passed to an independent trustee who makes a monthly purchase of shares at full market price. Employees can reinvest the dividends on partnership
shares to buy more shares under the plan. In 2004, the company introduced ‘matching” shares. It gives one free share for every five partnership shares
bought. The shares neesd to be held in trust for a five-year term in order to retain the maximum tax advantages.

26 PENSIONS

The group participates in a number of pension schemes principally In the UK. The major schernes are funded defined benefit schemes — the United Wiilities
Pansion Scheme (JUPS} and the United Utilities Group of the Electricity Supply Pension Scheme {ESPS} (the ‘Schemas’), of which the ESPS is closed to
new employees. UUPS also includes a defined coniribution section which constitutes less than 0.5 per cent of the total asset value. The assets of these
Schemes are held in trust funds independent of group finances.

For UUPS and ESPS, the pension cost and asset under the accounting standard SSAP 24 have been assessed in accordance with the advice of a firm

of actuaries, Mercer Human Rescurce Consutiing, using the projected unit method, For this purpose, the actuarial assumptions adopted are based upon
investment growth of 7.6 per cent per annum pre retirement and 5.6 per cent per annum past retirement; pay growth of 4.1 per cent per annum for UURS
ard 4.3 per cent per annum for ESPS and increases to pensions in payment and deferrad pensions of 2.8 per cent per annum. The achuarial value of the
assets was taken as the market value of the assets.

The last actuarial valuations of the Schemes were carfied out as at 31 March 2004, The combined market value of the groun’s share of the assets of the
Schemes at the valuation date was £1,839.9 milion. Using the assumgptions adopted for SSAP 24, the compined actuarial value of the assets represented
97 per cent of the value of the accrued benefits, after allowing for expected future eamings increases. In deriving the pension cost under SSAP 24, the
deficit in the Schemes [s being spread over the future working fifetime of the existing members.

For UUPS, the emplayer's contributions have been assessed in accordance with the advice of Mercer Human Resource Consufting using different
assumptions to those described above. For ESPS, the employer's cortributions have been assessed in accordance with the advice of a firm of actuaries,
Hewitt Bacon and Woodrow, using different assumptions and methods to those described above.

During the year ended 31 March 2005, the group contributed to UUPS at rates which ranged from 16.1 per cent to 30.3 per cant of pensionable salaries
dependent upon benefit category. In addition, further contributions were made te cover the cost of additional severance benefits granted. During the year
ended 31 March 2005, the group contributed to ESPS at a rate of 19.0 per cent of pensionable salaries.

On 31 March 2005, the group made lump sum paymenis of £216.0 milion and £103.5 miliion to UUPS and ESPS respectively. The payments were in lieu
of the estimated cornpany contributions that would have been payable for defined benefit members over the five yaars from 1 April 2005, Subject to the
resuits of the actuanal vaiuations at 31 March 2007, comparny contributions wili resume from 1 Aprii 2010, in the meantime, the group will continue to pay
contributions in respect of the defined contribution members and insurance premiums. Other payments will be made by the group in accordance with the
funding agreement between the Trustee and the group,

The group also operates a senes of unfunded, unapproved retirement benefit schemes. The cost of the unfunded, unapproved retirement benefit schemes
is includad in the total pension cost, on a basis consistent with SSAP 24 and the assumptions set out above. In accardance with these unfunded
arangements, the group has made payments to former directors, including lump sum payments, of £370,61C in total in the year ended 31 March 2005
{2004 - £298,556; 2003 - £207,367).

The total pension cost for the period was £69.4 miliion, of which £14.9 milfion is included within the business restructuring exceptional item,
{2004 - £11.2 million; 2003 — £8.2 million). A prepayment of £401.2 milion is Included in the balance sheet at 31 March 2005 (2004 - £87.0 million;
2003 - £58.5 milion}). Information abeut the pension arrangements for executive directors is contained in the report on remuneration,

FRS 17 Transitional disclosures

Group

The pension cost figures used in these accounts comply with the current pensicn cost accounting standard SSAP 24, Under transitional arrangements of
FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’, the group is required to disciose the foliowing information about its pensien arrangements and the figures that would have
baen shown under adoption of FRS 17 in the financlal statements.

The latest forrmal valuations of the Schemes ware carried out as at 31 March 2004. The valuation of liabilities detailed below has been derived by praiecting
forward the position at 31 March 2004 and has been perdormed by an independent actuary, Mercer Human Resaurce Consultng. FRS 17 gives the present
value of pensicn liabifities by discounting pension commitments {ncluding an allowance for salary growth), at an AA corporate bond yield, The major
difference arising between these two methadalogies is in the valuation of the Schemes” liabilities, which under FRS 17 are higher. Deferred pensions are
rgvaluad to retierment age i lire with the Schemes” rules and statutory requirements. The major financial assumptions used by the actuary were as fallows:
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At 31 March At 31 March At 31 March

2005 2004 2003

Duscount rate 5.40% 5.50% 5. 50%
P onable salary growth - UUPS 4.10% 430% 4.00%
Pensionable salary growth — ESPS 4.30% 4.30% 4.00%
b s o o 2.80% 2.80% 2.50%
Price infiaion 2.80% 2.80% 2.50%

The assets and liabiities of the Schemes, along with the expacted rates of return on the Schemes' assets as at 31 March 2005, 31 March 2004 and

31 March 2003 were as follows:
At 31 March 2005

At 31 March 2004

Al 31 March 2003

Expected Expectad Expected

rate of Total rate of Total rale of Tolad

return £m return £m rgtum £m
Equities 60% 1,468.0 7.60% 1,268.8 7.80% 1,008.0
Pmpenym ) u TTre0% 13 7s0v o 7% T s
Bonds 5.40% 3438 5.50% 217.4
ews T T e 4282 N 450%'""“""'"""""’31225
omer Tason | 614 Cason | 242
Market value of assets 2,302.7 1 849 3 1 557 4
Present vaiue of Schemes: labilies T W_W_(z:';zé)_ T T oot o - 993
Imphed deficit in the Schemes {79.6} 377.7) (425.8)
Related deferred tax asset 23.9 113.3 1277
Net pension liabllity under FRS 17 {56.7) (264.4) (298.1)

if the above amounts had been recognised in the financial statements, the group's net assets and

2004 and 31 March 2003 would be as follows:

profit and loss reserve as at 31 March 2005, 31 March

2005 2004 2003
fm £m £m
Net assets excluding pension liability 3,118.7 31029 2,551.3
SSAP 24 prepayment net cf deferred tax {280.8) (67 9) (41 .O]
Accruals for unfunded scheme o T T o ) 85 T 7.2 T 6 2
Pensnon L\abnhty B T e (557) T t264.4) o (298 1)
Net assets inchuding pension liability 2,790.7 2,777.8 2,218.4
Profit and loss reserve exc!udlng penswon hab\!xty ‘l 362 5 1 348 4 1 302 8
SSAP 24 prepayment net of deferred tax - T R B 7 (280 B) o (67 9) (41 O)
Accruas for unfunded scheme ) 85 7.2 6.2
Pension liability T T Ty T ey 98
Profit and loss reserve including pension liability 1,034.5 1,023.3 969.9
The amounts which, on full implementation of FRS 17, will be required in the financial statements are as follows:
Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit 2005 2004
£m £m
Current serv‘wce cost 55.5 45 1
Past ice ccst - 0.6 1 B
Sememem o e ——————— A S T — (78} s
Total cperating charge 433 46.9
Analysis of other finance costs 2005 2004
£m £m
Expected retum on pension schems assets 124.3 108.4
interest on pension scheme“ Ilebilltles e e T T T { 228) o (1 155)
Net return/(cost) 1.5 (8.6}
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Analysis of amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses

2005
£m

Actuat return Iess expected return on

ion scheme assets

632

penence galns and Iosses ansmg eﬁeme habllst\es W(31 D) -
Changes in assumptlons underlymg the presen{ va!ue of t‘ne‘ schemehabnhtxes (LAl )] (1. 22.9)
Actuarial foss)gain 8.9} 53.5
Movement on pension scheme deficit during the year 2005 2004
£Em £m
Deficit at 1 ApriL (264.4) (298.1)
Movement n year [ B
Current semce cos{ T - {5_5_ 5} o (4571‘ )
Contnbuuons ; 368 -
Past ser\nce cost T {15 5} - (18)
Settlement gam T T
Net |nterest returh/(cost) on assets l6 6)
Actuanal (Ioss)/ga\n R ) (8 9) 53 5
Wovement in deferred tax assot @ow (144
Deficit in scheme at 31 March (55.7) 264.4)
History of experience of gains and losses

2005 2004

anference between the expected an refurn on scheme assets:
Amoum (E‘_m) 632 176 4
.27%,. g 5%

‘ Percemage of echeme asse'f;

Exp—enence ge ne and Iosses on eehe
Amoum (Em)

) Percentage ef the Wpresent value of the

Tota amount “r-ec-:ognwsed in statement oft

Amount lEm)

ame hablht oS

i recognnsed gawns and Iosses

Percentage of 'the present value of the scheme habm'tles

R

. 3%)

(ﬁ 9)

: (o o

55

2.4%

in addition, £14.9 miliion {2004 — enil; 2003 —

restnucturing exceptional item.
During the year, the group made £3.3 milion

Company

27 LEASE COMMITMENTS

Subsidiary undertakings are committed to making the following payments under operating leases during the next 12 months:

£4.5 miliion) of the past service cost is included for pension severance nenefits, within the business

{2004 - £0.3 milion; 2003 - £0.1 milion) of contributions 10 defined contribution schemes.

31 March 2005

Land and Plant and
buildings machinery
£m £m

The company's assets and liabilities are inciuded in the 8chemes but its share of underlying assets and liabiities has not been separately identified.

31 March 2004

Land and Plant and
buildings machinery
£m £m

Leases thc‘n expire:

W th n one year

Af'ter flve years

B meen two aﬂd ﬁveyears [ 33 22 - 1 5 — 21
10.6 3.2 7.3 35
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Minimum future lease payments under finance leases and minimum rental commitments under non-cancallable operating leases of property, plant and
equipment at 31 March 2005 were as follows:

Finance Operating

leases leases

£m £m

2006 0.8 138
Thereaﬂer e ————————————— T S I ﬁ_w__szr; S _20“3,4
Total 81.0 254.3

23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company guaranteed loans of group undertakings up 1o a maximum amount of £654.4 rilion {2004 - £695.3 milion), including £564.4 milion
{2004 — £595.3 million) re tating to United Utiities Water PLC's loans from European Investment Bank, £90.0 million (2004 — £30.0 miflion) relating o
United Utliities Electricity PLC's loans from European investment Bank and Enil (2004 — £10.0 milion) relating to United Utilities Green Energy Limited's
loan from European Investment Bank.

The company has entered into performance bends in the ordinary course of business.

29 RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO OPERATING CASHFLOWS

Note

ExceptnonaW charges wrthln group operatmg prof 't ' ' '

Grou

rating profit before exceptional charges

“omsat:on of goodwm and ntangable assets e
Prow" t on d|sposat of tangsble ﬂxed assets 5
Stocks (lncrease)/decrease

Debtors increase

Cred\tors {decreaséiflnc;;éé; T o
Outﬂow related o exceptional |tems o
30 RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
2005 2004 2003
£m £m Em
1nterest recelved 47 3 36.0 26 B
Interest paid on  cank loans, a;érd@ﬁ;'aaa" other loans. e T T ey 2643 (2382)
Interest paLd on ﬁnance Leases A (6.1)“‘“"'” (12 1)
Termlnanon oi mteres‘t ra‘te swa;; oontracts T T o - B B 830 T -
v|dends pald to m:nonty equ;ty mterest T e - T (04) R (04)
(263.1) (151.9) 218.9)
41 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANGIAL INVESTMENT
2005 2004 2003
fm £m £m
F'urchase of tangrble ﬂxed assets net of grants and contributions (901.2) {1,010.5) (718.2)
o of tang\ble ﬂxed assms e e i = [ e 7 2
Purcnése of ﬁxed asset mves"(rnents ) {0 4)
Fmanmaﬂ restructunng of jomt ven‘ture; I 5 7
Sa1e of ﬁxed asset anestments other the;nu;mnf ;en;ures T B T 7 T 8
{883.8) (1,018.0) (697.9)
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32 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Acquisitions Qisposals

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m £m tm

Fixed assets - 8.8 3.1) 49.0 - -
Net current fiabilities - 15 2.1 - 10.0
Provisions for liabllities and charges - 0.4 30 {3.4) - —
Minority interest {20.3 - - - - -

Fair value of net assets acquired/book value of

net assets gisposed {20.3) 6.9 2.0 49.0

Costof disposal T 5.4

Goodwill acquirechwritten back on disposal ' T 27.4) (55.0 I 91

Congideration for undertakings acquired (47.7) 61.9) 5.2

P;oﬁ;ond:s;)o;l; A e - B —
@17 61.9) 5.2} 65.2 - 7.9

Less e e A o e e £ et e e

;»Cashilnctlwudgewd-:n undertakings aoquired/disposed - 0.3 0.3 o - o """":""""'““" '*“"""‘“"""'”';

—Deferredcons:derahon : o5 e . e

Cash consideration (48.2) (46.0} 4.8) 65.2 - 7.8

Comprising:
- {Outflow)inflow arising on:

- current year acruisifons/dsposals @17 @8 0 (4nm €2 - 79
— previous year acquisitions/disposals {0.5) - 0.2 - - -
(48.2) (48.0) 4.9 65,2 - 7.9

The group purchased the 14.6 per cent squity stale held by Capgemini UK PLG in its subsidiary, Vertex Data Science Limited, on & November 2004, taking
the group's sharehelding to 100 per cent, The group alse sold United Utilities Green Energy Limited on 17 December 2004 and reduced its shareholding

in Manila Water Company Inc from 17.96 per cent to 11.68 per cent by placing shares during its successful isting ¢n the Philippine Stock Exchange.

The cashflows in respect of these acquisitions and disposals are included above.

The group acquired First Revenue Assurance LLC on 31 March 2004, Eurocall Limited on 29 February 2004, Park Environmental Limited on 22 Decernber 2003,
Octel Waste Management Limited on 26 June 2003 and Connections Pius on 15 April 2003. The cashflows in respect of those acquisitions are shown above,

On 2 Decerber 2002, Vertex Data Science Limited acquired the business and asssts of the LK contact centre operator, 7C, and its 75 per cent sharshoiding
in 7C India Uimited. The cashilows in respect of that acquisition are shown above, On 31 July 2002, the group sold its joint venture shareholding in US Water,
effectively completing the group’s withdrawal from infrastructure management in the Americas. The cashfiows in respect of that sale are included above.

33 MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID RESOURCES

2005 2004 2003
£m £m €m
Decrease/(increase) in managed funds and short-term investments 176.9 (338.4) (282.0)
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34 FINANCING

Financing — shares

Financing - debt

Total

Share
capital
£m

Shares issued
by company
Shars
premiurm

£m

Total
e

Loans
£m

Short-term

bomowings

other than Finance
overdrafts leases

£ £m

Total
L£m

£m

At 31 March 2002 (555.9)

671.6)

(1,227.5)

(3,083.0)

fesd RS

Exchange and other
non-cash adjustrments -

(;3,419.0)

(4,646.5}

- 4.9

4.9

48

Financing:

- New finance 0.8)

- F"wﬁance repaidm -
Cash flow 0.6
At 31 March 2003 {556.5)

oez)

2.7

71.3

185 59

93.7

o7,
93.7

3.3

(832.9)

(674.3)

(3.230.8)

(3.715.9)

16.5 59

{610.5;

613.8)

(118.9) (189.8)

{4,024.8)

Exchange and other
non-cash adjustments -

6.3

. (5.2554)

6.3

Financing:
- New finance (155.3}

(348.8)

604.1) N

- Finance repaid -

357

118.9 102.4

257.0

11799
257.0

Cash flow (155.3)

(348.8)

{504.1)

(640.1}

1189 102.4

(478.8)

(922.9)

At 31 March 2004 {711.8)

1,023.9)

(1.734.9)

(4.356.0

Exéhaﬁge and 6{her o
non-cash adjustments -

4.9

U L0 S

_@a.a37.0)

6,172.0)

(2.9)

- Finance repaid -

ks

188

60.2

©es6)

T

60.8

| 6038)
60.3

Cash flow 4.4)

(15.6)

523.4)

- 01

(523.3)

{643.3)

At 31 March 2005 (716.2)

(1,038.7)

(4,884.3)

- {81.0)

(4,965.3)

{6,720,2}

Repayment

dates Curency

Rate
%

Amount
£m

Loan notes

Debt securities

US$20 million due 2005

Eurcpean Investment Bank

various sterling

various

40.9

25 March, 25 Septemier sterling

8.875

44

Local authority

14 March 2005

15 September 2004

various

fleating

floatingr

various

138
05
06

80.2
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35 ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

Gurrent asset
Cash Financing - debt invesimenis Net debt
Loans Short-term
borrawings
Due after Dug within ofher than Finance
ona year one year overdrafts leases Total
£m €m £m €m £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 {10.6} (3,012.0) (71.0) (1 {3.419.0§ 363.8 (3,060.8)
Exchange and other ‘
ron-cash adjustments 0.2 - - - 4.9 49 - 5.1
Cash flow 103 {668.0) 381 16.5 5.9 610.5) 282.0 318.2)
A ©n (3,880.0) 35.9 (118.9) {189.8) (4,024.8)
Exchange and other
non-cash adiustments - - - - 6.3 8.3
Cash flow 2.6 626.3} {13.8) 118.9 102.4 {4188
At 31 March 2004 a5 4,306.3 {49.7) - {81.1} (4,437.1}
£xchange and other
non-cash adiustments 0.7 (4.9 - - - (4.9 -~ 4.2)
Cash flow 1.7 (105.8) 417.9) - SN 523.3) {176.9) (698.5)
At 31 March 2005 11.9 4,417.0} (467.3) - {81.0) {4,965.3) B12.3 (4,141.1)
Cash
(at bank and
Cash and short-term borrowings Cash af bank Short-terrn bortowings Nt Total ovardrafts}
Overdrafts Ciher Total
£m £m €m €m £m £m
At 31 March 2002 182 (29.5) (135.4} {164.9) {148.00 (10.6)
Exchange adjustments - - 0.2 0.2
Cash flow 19.4 @.1) 16.5 7.4 26.8 10.3
Al 31 March 2003 38.5 (38.6) (118.8} (157 .5 (116.0) @.n
Cash flow 3.6 8.0 118.8 124.9 1285 9.6
At 31 March 2004 421 32.6) - (32.6) 95 9.5
Exchange adjustments 0.7 - - - 0.7 0.7
Cash flow 6.2 4.5) - 4.5 1.7 1.7
At 33 March 2005 49.0 (37.1) - {37.1) 11.9 119

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Sales and recharges to joint ventures on normal trading terms during the year ended 31 March 2005 were £71.1 milion {31 March 2004 ~ £40.3 million).
Of these amounts £14.6 million was outstanding at the year end (2004 — £41.1 million).

Movements on vans and investments with joint vertures are included in note 14 of the accounts.

There were ne other matenal related party transactions during the year.
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37 SUMMARY OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED KINGDOM AND IN THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

The group's consolidated financial statements are preparad in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom UK GAAPY,
which differ in certain respects from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ['US GAAPY. Reconciliations of profit after
taxation {or net income) and equity shareholders’ funds (or shareholders' equity} and the company's financial positicn under UK GAAP and those under US

GAAP are set out below.

During the year ended 31 March 2004, the group announced a five-for-nine rights issue, structured so that the proceeds are received in two stages. The first
tranche was received during September 2003. Basic and diluted eamings per share have been restated for all periods prior t¢ the rights issue to reflect the
bonus element of the rights issue as required by Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 14 ‘Eamings per share’. Further detalls of the adustment are given in

note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The same restaternents are required under US GAAP.

Effect on net income of differences between UK and US GAAP

2005 2004 2003
For the year ended 31 March Note £m £&m £m
Net income in accordance with UK GAAP 333.1 361.0 277.8
us GAAP ad]uslments e Syttt ot g
- Pensions I @  en  po9 s
Infrastructure renewals R (b} 15 1756 39 5
- Depremahon o;’]ﬁfmféstmcture ﬂSSGtS. S T (!;} (26.7) B (24 g"""""'" o (23 8]
-Prov;s;ons e e e e e e . . (51) BT R — (38 9
" Capisaion o ot e e - 4 o8 58 .
-Arnomsatlon of capatallsed mterest S e © {13 5) i (11 4]%" o (10 5)
-~ Amomsahon of goodwﬂ S T ‘—(1} T 14.8 T 8.8 T ?,5
Rmpawrment of Iong !wed assets e e o s {2.3) (3 3] R 23 8
~ Derivatives and hedgmg actn\ntnes o T _(h}_— {62 5 55 a 167 1
) Currency s ad]ustments S {T} — - e (6 8
- Share compansanon costs o o i (6.6) (0.9 ;O)
—7 Revenue and related Ip-rD'f it ;ecognltlon (3] 6.8) (13.9) [3—1 4)
- Business comblnahons 7 T 7 [} {9.0} {0.6) -
- Deferred taxes m) ©8) (180 9
“Tax effect of US GAAP adustments m 107 p8s  9)
Net income in accordance with US GAAP 257.9 293.8 3939
Net income per £1 Grdingry share in accordance
with US GAAP basic method {pence} 36.2 44.3 658.0
f\let income per £1 ordinary share In accordance
with US GAAP diluted method {pence) (a) 32.7 42.2 64.8

Net income and shareholders' equity under US GAAP have been restated to reflect the transiation of loans at spot rates instead of the contract rates in the
hedging derivatives, with a consequential impact on taxes. Net income under US GAAP is different from that previously reported by £97.8 million in 2004 and
£{21.8) miliion in 2003 respectively, and shargholders' equity under US GAAP is differant from that previously reported by £17.8 million at 31 March 2004,
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Financial statements
Notes to the accounts continued

Cumulative effect on shareholders’ equity of differences between UK and US GAAP

2005 2004
At 31 March Note £m om
Shereholders' aquity in aocordanca with UK GAAP 31174 3,083.3
us GAAP ad}ustments e ottt 3 A 1 B e . DR At
- Pensnons e e e - “ ) (222 5) !349 o
infrasmcmre renewals (b) o e 149 5
- DepreCIatnon of mfrastructure assets B © 39 (246.5)
- Provisions o (d} 01 T2 2
--Cap|ta|lsatiorw of " o e - . ) . ,._.‘.;573.1 587 E
- Amort satlon of capﬂahsed :nterest T - &) ] (B? 9} (74 4)
- GoodwnH U SO S a S 9024 886 ;
Impalrment of 1ong hved assets - - - - {a) - 182 20 5
- Denvatwes and hedging actwmes; T ‘ - _ o B [h] - 22.5 67 7
- Share compensauom costs ST m 112 - 70
- Revenue and related prof it reeogn|t|on ' (k) 51.7) (44.8)
- Business combinations 0 289 365
o os O R (m) — (1,0141) R (g; 8 8)
- Dmdends . | - oy 4 212?
S Tax effect of US GAAP ad;ustments S o {m) o {77. 1) (404)
Shareholders’ equity in accordance with LIS GAAP 3,424.4 3,348.1

(@ Pensions

Under UK and US GAAP, pension costs are dstermined on a systematic basis over the length of service of employees. The group accounts for the costs

of pensions under the rules set out in UK GAAP. US GAAPR is more prescriptive in respect of the actuarial assumptions that must be used and the allocation
of costs to accounting periods. Furthermore, the actuarial valuation under US GAAP must be camied out on an annual basis.

Under UK GAAP, the pension cost is calculated based upon the actuary's best estimate of the assumptions taken as a whole. The annual cost charged

fo the profit and loss account comprises the regular cost and variations. The regufar cost is calcuiated so that it represents a reasonably stable percentage
of pensionable payroll. Varations from the regular cost of providing penstons are generally spread over the expected remaining service lives of current
employees in the schems.

US GAAP requires each significant assumption to determine annual pension cost to be a best estimate with respect to that individuai assumption. For
example, the discount rate used should be that for *AA rated bonds with a simifar maturity {0 the pension obligations, and the value of the scheme assets
should be based vpon market values at each balance sheet date. Whilst US GAAP also adopts a spreading approach 1o allocating variations, it is more
restrictive. As a result, certain variations, for example, refunds from the scheme, would be recognised immediately rather than being spread forward. US
GAAP treats increasss in pensions as a prior service cost and accordingly amortises its effects over the working lives of the members after the increase

is awarded. UK GAAP encourages expscied increases to be provided for in advance by being bullt into the actuarlal assumptions.

US GAAP requines & kiability, the minimunt pension fability, 1o be recognised that is at least equal 1o the unfunded accumuiated benefit obligation. The
corresponding entries are to intangible assets to the extent of unrecognised prior service cost and other comprehensive income, a component of
shareholders' equity.

Under UK GAAR, the group has recognrised a prepaid pension cost of £401.2 milion as at 31 March 2005 (£97.0 milion as at 31 March 2004). Under US
GAAP, the group has recognised a pension prepayment of £178.7 milton as at 31 March 2005 (liability of £254.3 million, net of prepayment of £49.2 miliion,
as at 31 March 2004), of which £172.0 million has been recorded within accumulaied other comprehansive income as at 31 March 2005 (£302.0 million as
at 31 March 2004). £nil has been recorded as an intangible asset at 31 March 2005 (£1.5 million as at 31 March 2004).

(b} Infrastructure renewals
Under UK GAAP, the charge to the profit and loss account for depreciation reflects the planned level of expenditure for infrastructure renawals, The charge
is adiusted under US GAAP io reflect actual expenditure in the year.

Under UK GAAP, snhancement expenditure classified as infrastructure renewals expenditure is capitalised and depreciated in line with the policy on
infrastructure renewals accounting. Under US GAAP, enhancement expenditure is capitalised and depreciated over its estimated useful life.

(¢} Depreciation of infrastructure assets

Under UK GAAP, the depreciation charge for infrastructure assets is the estimated level of annual expenditure required to maintain the operating capability
of the network, which is based on the group’s independently certified asset managemeant plan. Under US GAAF, depreciation is charged ot infrastructure
assets using the straight-line method over a period of 100 years, being the estimated economic life.

{d) Provisions
Provision accounting under UK GAAP is the same as under LS GAAP, except as follows:

Under UK GAAP, an investor is required to account for its proporticnate share of net fiabilities in a loss-making joint venture, even when there is no obligation
to fund those liabilities. Where this is the case, an investor’s share of net liabilities of an investment is shown as a provision rather than a negaftive fixed asset.
The group heid within provigions £38.3 million at 31 March 2002 to reflect its proportionate share of net liabilities in IEBA, the Argentine electricity utility. In the
year ended 31 March 2003, the group concluded it no longer had a participating interest in IEBA and therefore ceased to account for the investment as a
joint venture. This conclusion gave rise to a release of the share of net liablities of IEBA held at 1 August 2002.
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Under US GAAP an investor should discontinue recording losses of an investment when the investrment has been reduced ta zero, urless the investor has
an cbligation or commitment to fung those liabilities. As the group was not pbligated or committed to funding the net liabilities of this investment, no

such provision was recorged under US GAAP as at 31 March 2002. Consequenitly, the exceptional credit 1o the profit and lgss accourt in the year ended
31 March 2003 resulting from the withdrawal from |EBA did not arise under US GAAP since the provision was not recorded under US GAAP,

Under UK GAAP, restructuring charges ara provided in full from the date of the announcement of the plan, including employee termination benefits, property
exit costs, equipment wiite downs and ather restructuring related costs. Under US GAAR, different requirements apply such that certain restructuring charges
are recognised In different accounting periods compared with UK GAAR

(e} Capitalisation of interest

Under UK GAAP, the capitalisation of interast is not required and the group expenses interast charges to the profit and 1oss account in the year in which they
are incurred. Undar US GAAP, interest charges on funds invested in the construction of qualifying assets during the time required to prepare them for their
intended use are capitalised and amortised over the life of the respective assets.

i Goodwill

Under UK GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions after T Aprit 1998 is accounted for in accordance with FRS 16 ‘Goodiwill and intangibfe assets’, and
capitalised and amortised. Frior to that date, gooawill arising on acquisitions was, and remaing, written off against sharehoidars’ equity in the year of the
acquisition. On disposal or ¢losure of all or part of a previously acquired business, any goodwill previpusly written off te reserves is included in calculating
the profit or loss on disposal. Where capitalised goodwill is regarded as having a limited useful economic life, FRS 10 requires the cost to be amortised
on a straight-line basis over that life, which generally does not exceed 20 years.

Goodwill previousty written off to reserves in the years endad 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003, of £nil, £nil and £0.8 milion respectively, was released from
rgsarves in relation to disposals under UK GAAR

Under US GAAR, prior to 1 April 2002, all goodwill was recognised in the balance sheet and amortised to the profit and loss account over its estimated
useful life not exceeding 40 years, With effect from 1 April 2002, the group adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 142 “Goodwill and
other intangible assets’. Under SFAS 142, the group is no fonger required to amortise gooawil, incluging that refated to investments in joint ventures and
other intangible assets with indefinite lives, but will be required ta subject these assets to pericdic testing for impairment.

SFAS 142 establishes a method of testing goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circurnstances change
that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit to a value below its carrying value. The goodwill test for impairment consists of a two-step process that
begins with an estimation of the fair value of a reporting unit, which is defined as an operating segment or cne fevel below an operating segment. The first
step is a screen for potential impaiment ang the second step measures the amount of impaimment, if any, by detemining the impilied fair vaiug of goodwill.
The evaluation of impairment of axisting goodwill in April 2004 indicated no impairment under US GAAP at that time. The group, in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 142, condugts impairment testing in April of each year or more Trequently if there is an indication of impairment, Any impairments wil
pe charged to the profit and ioss account.

Under UK GAAR in the year ended 31 March 2005, the profit on sale or termination of operations reflects the write off of goodwill met of accumufated
amortisation, Under US GAAR, the profit on sale or termination of operations reflects the write of of goodwill net of accumulated amoartisation, charged
prior to the adoption of SFAS 142. Therefore the profit on sale or termination of operations is £1.4 milion lower under US GAAP,

Under US GAAP the gross goodwili adjustment as at 31 March 2005 was £1,042.8 million {£1,041.2 milfion as at 31 March 2004). The accumulated
amortisation adjustrment undar US GAAP as at 31 March 2005 was £140.4 miflion {£155.2 million as at 31 March 2004),

Goodwill amortisation including that related to investments in joint ventures under UK GAAP in the years ended 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003 was
£16.2 million, £8.8 million ang £7.5 milllon respectively. Under US GAAP, gagdwill amortisaticn was €nil in the years ended 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003,

{g) Impairment of long-lived assets

Under UK GAAPR, long-lived assets are assessed for impairment under FRS 11 'Impairment of fixed assets and goodwil’, whenaver events or Creumstances
indicate that an asset may be impaired. Any impairment is determined by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its recoverable amaunt, which is
determined by reference to the estimated discounted cash flows to be generated from its use. The recoverable amount should be estimated, for an individual
asset where reasonably practicable, otherwise at the level of an income generating unit. Dividing the total income of an entity into as many largely independent
income streams as Is reasonably practicable identifies income generating units. Generally, income generating units are smaller and at fower leveis within the
management structure than reporting units under SFAS 142. If the events or circumstances that triggered the impaimment no onger exist, the impairment may
be reversed in subseguent periods.

Under US GAAP, long-lived assets, other than goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life, are assessed for Impairment under SFAS 144 “Accounting
for the impairment or dispesal of long-ived assets'. Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are assessed for impairment under SFAS 142 as
discussed in note () above. Under SFAS 144, assets are assessed for impalrment whenever events or circumstances indicate that an asset may not be
recoverabie by comparing the carrying value of the asset with the estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the asset. If this test indicates a
deficit, any impalrrnent is caiculated by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its fair value, which is usually determined by referance to estimated
discounted cash flows. Uncer US GAAP, the restoration of a previously recognised impairment loss is not pernitted.

In accordance with FRS 11, the group performed an impairment review on gertain long-lived assets within its infrastructure management Susiness in the year
encied 31 March 2005. This resulted in an adjustment to value of tangible assets of £1.6 miffion. Under US GAAP, there was no indication of impairment of
the tangible assets on an undiscaunted cash fiow basis in accordance with SFAS 144, Under UK GAAR, a praviously recognised impairment of £0.7 miliion
was reversed in the year snded 31 March 2005. Under US GAAR, this impaiment may not be reversed.

The group also performed an impairnent review within its telecommunications business in the year ended 31 March 2003, This resulted in an exceptional
adjustment to value of £25.5 million representing fangible assets of £14.6 milion, definite-fved intangible assets of £8.6 milion, and goodwill of £2.3 miffion.
Under US GAAF, there was no indication of impainment of tangible or definite-fived intangible assets in the telecormmunications business an an undigcountad
cash flow basis in accordance with SFAS 144. in gadition, no impaiment of telecommunications goodwill under SFAS 142 was required, as stated in note {)
above due to the difference in asset groupings under UK GAAP (income generating units) and US GAAP {reporiing units).

The tangible and definite-lived intangibie assets continue fo be depreciated under US GAAP resulting in a charge to the profit and ioss account of £3.2 million
and £3.3 million in the years ending 31 March 2005 and 2004 respectively. Thare was no impairment of goodwill in 2005 or 2004 under UK or US GAAR
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Notes to the accounts continued

{h) Derivatives and hedging activities

Under UK GAAP, the group does not recognise derivatives at fair value on the balance sheet nor are mark-to-market amounts recorded In net income.
Interest differentials on derivative instruments are charged to the profit and loss account as interest costs in the period in which they are realised. Changes
in the market value of futures trading contracts are reflected in the profit and loss account in the period in which the change occurs. Monetary assets and
fiahilities denominated in Toreign currencies that are hedged by a foreign curency derivative are translated using the contract rate in the hedging derivative.

Under US GAAP, the group adapted SFAS 133 ‘Accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities’ {'SFAS 133" on 1 April 2002, SFAS 133
requires that all derivative instruments are recognised as assets or fiabllities on the balance sheet and measured at fair value, regardless of the purpose

or intent in halding them. Changes in the fair vaiue of dervative instrurments are racognised periodically either i earnings or shareholders’ equity (as a
component of other comprehensive income), depending on whether the derivative is designated as a hedge of changes in fair value or cash flows. For
derivatives designated as fair value hedges, changes in falir value of the hedged item and the derivative are recognised currently in eamings. For cerivatives
designated as cash flow hedges, fair value changes of the effective portion of the hedging instrument are recognised in accumulated other comprehensive
income on the balance sheet until the hedged item is recognised in earnings. The ineffective portion of the fair value changes are recognised in eamings
immediately. Changes in the fair valus of the underlying debt instruments are not recognisad in net income or shareholders’ equity.

In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 133, the group recorded, at 1 Aprl 2001, a net-of-tax cumulative-effect reducticn of £88.1 million in
accumulated other comprehensiva income within shareholders” equity to recognise at far value all derivatives that were previously designated as cash flow
type hedging instruments. Of the transition adjustment of £88.1 milion in accumulated comprehensive income, £79.2 milion has been re-classified into
earnings at 31 March 2005 (£67.1 million at 31 March 2004},

Additionally, a fair vaiue adjustment recognised in accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 133 increased dabt by £163.0 million, which was offset
by a corresponding amount to record derivatives previously designated as fair value type hedging instruments. The fair value adjustment to debt is being
amortised over the penod of the debt in accordance with the transitional nules.

The group currently does not designate any of i{s derivative instruments as hedges under SFAS 133. As a result, aif derivative contracts have been
recorded in the balance shest at market value at the year end {with changes in fair value recorded in earnings) and all mongtary assets and liabilities
have been re-translated at spot rates. The group'’s eamings under US GAAP will be more volatile because of the effect of derivative instruments.

At 31 March 2005 and 2004, the balance sheet includes current derivative assets of £152.4 million and £192.0 million, current derivative liabilities of
£17.7 milicn and £23.2 milion, and non-current Gervative liabilities of £192.4 milion and £180,8 million respectively.

Under UK GAAR, the group defers gains and (osses on interest rate swaps that have been terminated over the period of the underlying debt that was
originally hedged. Under LS GAAPR, all Interest rate swaps are marked-to-markst through earnings. Therefore the settlement of an Interest rate swap has
n¢ further impact on reportad earnings.

(i} Currency translation adjustmenits
Under UK GAAP, currency transiation adjustments on net borrowings used 1o finance foreign investments are taken to the statement of total recognised
gains and losses 1o offset the foreign exchange axposure on foreign investments,

Under US GAAP, this offset s not available since the group slected not to designate any instruments as hedges In the year enced 31 March 2002, In the
years endad 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003, there was no currency translation adgjustment resulting from the investment in IEBA since the investment had
been reduced to zero.

{i) Share compensation costs

Under UK GAAPR, the group’s UK ShareSave scheme is exempt from the requirement to recognise any compensation expense and is therefore accounted for
as a non-compensatory plan. Compensation expense is recorded in respect of the executive share option schemes for the difference, if any, between the
exercise price and the share price at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded for the performance share plan on a straight-ling basis over the
period in which perfonmance is measured.

Under US GAAP, the group accounts for stock issued to employees in accordance with Accounting Principies Board Opinion No. 25 (APB 25Y ‘Accounting for
stock issued to employees’. Under APB 25, options granted under the UK ShareSave scheme are freated as compensatory. Aflso, under APB 25, the executive
share aption schemes and the perfarmance share plan have been treated as variable plans due to performance canditions attached ta the plans. Accardingly,
compensation expense has been recognised under US GAAP for the ShareSave scheme, the executive share option scheme and the performance share plan.
For all options that include performance-related criteria the cost is calculated as the difference between the option price and the market price at the end of the
reporting pericd. In respact of the ShareSave scheme, the cost is calculated as the difference between the option price and the market price at date of grant,
The cost is armortised over the penod from the date the options are granted to the date they are first exercisable, that is, the vesting date.

Estimated compensation expense under UK GAAP for the performance share plan is recorded as a liability. Under US GAAP, compensation expense is
recorded as a credit to shareholders’ equity.

(k) Revenue and related profit recognition

Under UK GAAP, non-refundable set up fees received from clients as a contribution to transition costs incured at the commencement of a contract are offset
against transition costs incurred, with any excess recognised as revenues cver the period of the contract in line with farecast activity levels. Under US GAAP,
non-refundable set up Tees received at the commencement of a contract are deferred and recognised on a straight-iine basis over the lenger of the expected
clent relationship or contractua term.

Under UK GAAR, fixed fee elements within contractually defined revenues are recognised in the period in which services are billed in accordance with the
aricing terms. Under US GAAR, the fixed fee elements ara recognised ont a straight-iine basis over the period of the contract, unlass evidence suggests that
the revenue is earned or that obligations are fulfiled in a different pattern.

The reduction in revenue under US GAAR is £4.5 miillion in the year ended 31 March 2005 (£8.6 miflion and £4G.9 mition in the years ended 31 March 2004
and 2003 respectively).

Under UK GAAR, a provision is required to be recognised for a contract where the unavoicable costs of meeting the obiigations under the contract exceed
the benelits expected to be received. The provision Is measured at the value of the net obligations and is recarded within operating expenses. Under US
GAAP, such a provision may not be necessary due to the different revenue recognition policies.
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(i} Business combinations
For business combinations, the purchase method of accounting is used for UK GAAP whereby the acquinng entity allocates consideration for the transaction to
the assels acquired and fiabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition with the difference treated as goodwil. The group accounts
for these business combinations on a consistent basis under US GAAR with the following exceptions:

Under UK GAAP, the group recognises intangible assets separately in a business combination only when they can be disposed of separately without
disposing of the business of the entity and their value can be measured reliably on initial measurement. Under US GAAP, the group recognises acquired
intangible assets apart from goodwill if (} they arise from contracted or other legal rights even if the assets are not transferable or separable from the acquired
entity or from other rights and obligations; or (i) they are capable of being separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged. In connection with the business combination occurring in the year ended 31 March 2005, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
have been recorded based on the preliminary estimate of fair valug on acquisition. Arty change in the prefimirary allocation will be reflected as an adjustrment
to goodwill. in connecticn with business combinations cccurring in the year ended 31 March 2004, the group recognised intangible assets of £32.8 million
under US GAAP, comprising customer relationships and customer lists which are amortised over their estimated usefu! lives. As at 31 March 2005, the net
bock vaiue of intangible assets under US GAAP was £23.8 million, net of £9.0 milion of accumulated amortisation (2004: £32.2 milion, net of £0.6 milion
accumulated amortisation).

Under UK GAAP, the fair value of the consideration payable includes an estimate of amounts that are deferred or that are contingent upon the future
reverues of the acquired entity. Under US GAAP, the contractual tenms refating to the determination and payment of deferred and contingent consideration
may cause slerments of the total expected consideration to be treated as compensation cost for post acquisition services. This element is accrued over
the relevant service peried. In connection with business combinaticns oceurring in the year ended 31 March 2004, the group recogrised £4.3 million of
contingent consideration as part of the purchase price of the acguired companies under U GAAP. This was reduced to £2.7 milion in the year ended

31 March 2005, reflecting the revision made to goodwill following reassessment of the likelihcod of contingent consideration targets being achieved,
Under US GAAR, this contingent consideration will be recognised as compensation expense in future pericds. I the year endad 31 March 2005,

£0.6 million {2004: £nil) was recognised as compsensation expense under US GAAP

{m) Deferred taxes

Under UK GAAP, the group provides for deferred tax on a discounted basis in respect of timing differences that have orginated but not reversed at the
baianca shiest ¢ate, wherg transactions or events that resuit in an obligation ta pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have cccumed
at the balance sheet date. A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverabie and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of available evidence, it

is regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carned forward tax losses and from which the future
reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducied.

Under US GAAP, deferred faxation s provided for all temporary differences (differences between the carmryving value of assets and liabilities and their
corresponding tax bases) on & full liability basis. Certain items that are treated as permanent differences under UK GAAP are treated as temparary
differences under US GAAP. Deferred tax assets are also recognised (net of a valuation afiowance] to the extent that it is more likely than not that the
penefit will be realised. Under US GAAP, discounting of deferred taxes is not permitted.

{n} Dividends

Under UK GAAPR, the proposed dividends on ordinary and A shares, a$ recommended by the directors, are deducted from shareholders’ equity and shown
as a liablity in the balance sheet at the end of the periad to which they relate. Under US GAAP such dividends are only deducted from shareholders' equity
at the date of formal declaration of the dividend by the board of directors. Consequently dividends under US GAAP for the year ended 31 March 2005 are
£318.¢ million (2004; £281.2 million, 2003: £262.4 million).

(o} Earnings per shara (EPS}

Under UK GAAP, basic EPS is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. EPS is the profit in pence attributable to
each equity ordinary share, based on the profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shargs in issue during the year and ranking for dividend in respect of the period. This method s also used for basic EPS under US GAAR Under UK GAAR,
FRS 14 expressly permits the disclosurg of an additional eamings per share measure provided that the unadjusted earnings per share is given at least equal
prominence and it is calculated on a consistent basis over time.

The weighted average number of shares has been restated for periods prior to the rights issus, using an adjustment factor of 0.8176, based on the
consideration received from the first stage of the rights issue. Further details are provided in note 10 of the consaligated financial statements. The same
restatements are required under UK and US GAAP.

Under UK and US GAAP, diluted EPS must be disclosed. This is based on net income and computed using the weighied average number of shares In issue
during the year and tha dilutive effect of all share opticns and ordinary share equivalents. This method is similar to the treasury stock methed used to calculate
diluted EPS for US GAAP purposes.

Farnings per share computed in agcordance with US GAAP has been based on the following number of shares:

2006 2004 2003
million miflion miflion
Weighted average number of ordinary shares under US GAAP - basic EPS 7125 662.8 606.0
Gommon stock squivalents - ditve share options 54  ag 23
Number of A shares to be Issued in 2005 (ordinary share equivaler) 828
Number of A shares that would have been issued at fair value {ordinary share equivalent) ' 83.3) 63.8)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares under US GAAP - diluted EPS 789.2 6959 608.3

(P) New US accounting standards and pronouncements hot yet effective

Financial Actounting Standards Board {FASB) Statement No. 151 ('SFAS 151') ‘inventory costs', issued in November 2004, provides guidance for
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle faclity expense, freight handling cosis and spoitage and allocation of fixed production overhead. This accounting
standand is applicable for accounting periods beginming aiter 15 Jure 20035 and will ba adoptad by the group fram 1 Aprit 2006. Adogtion of SFAS 151

is not expected to have a material impact on the group’s finandcial pasition, results of cperations or cash flows.
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Notes to the accounts continued

FASE Statement No. 152 ['SFAS 152') ‘Accounting for real estate time-sharing transactions’, issued in December 2004, amends existing standards SFAS 66
‘Accounting for sales of real estate’, and SFAS 87 'Accounting for costs and initial rental operations of real estate projects’, to rake them consistent with AICPA
Staternent of Position 04-2 ‘Accounting for real estate time sharing transactions’. This accounting standard is applicable for accounting periods beginning after
15 June 2005 and will be adopted by the group from 1 April 2006, Adontion of SFAS 152 is not expected to have a materia! impact on the group’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

FASB Staternent Ne. 153 ['SFAS 183"} ‘Exchange of nonmonetary assets’, issued in December 2004, is part of the IFRS convergence project. SFAS 153
edits the list of exceptions 1o entities reguired to grepare accounts on a non-going concern basis. This accounting standard is applicable for accounting
periods beginning after 15 June 2005 and will be adopted by the group from 1 April 2006. Adoption of SFAS 153 is not expected to have a material impatt
on the group's financial position, resuits of operations or cash flows.

FASE Statement No. 123 Revised {'SFAS 123R') ‘Share based payment', issued in December 2004, requires compensation costs related o share-based
payment transactions o be recognised in the financial staterments, Previously, a choice existed under US GAAP to account for these transactions either under
APB 25 “Accounting for stock issued to employees’, or SFAS 123 'Share based payment'. This accounting standard is applicable for accounting periods
beginning after 15 Decermnber 2005 and will bs adopted by the group from 1 Agril 2006. The group has not determined the effect, if any, of SFAS 123R on
the group's financia! position, results of operations or cash flows.

FASE Interpretation No. 47 {'FIN 47") "Accounting for conditiona! aasset retirernent obligations’, issued in March 2005, clarifies the term ‘conditions!
asset retirement obligation’ as used in FASB Statement No. 143 ['SFAS 143') *Accounting for asset retirement obligations’, and when an entity would
have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an assat retirement obligation. This interpretation will be effective as of 1 April 2005.
The group has not determined the effect, if any, of FIN 47 on the group's financial position, resuits of operations or cash flows.

{&y Classification differences between UK and US GAAP

In addition to the differences between LK and US GAAP related to the recognition and measurement of transactions by the group, there are also
a number of differences in the manner in which items are classified in the consclidated profit and loss account and consolidated balance sheet.
These classification differences have no impact on net income or shareholders' squity.

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges under UK GAAP include £17.3 million [2004: £8.3 million) that is due within one year and which would be reclassified
to current liabilities under US GAAP.

Grants

Under UK GAAR, grarts (othsr than capital contributions towards infrastructure assets) are disclosed within deferred grants and contributions as creditors
in the balance sheet. Under US GAAP, these amounts are classified differently and would be set against the assets to which they relate. Cansequently
£302.0 million {2004: £298.1 milion) would be classified within tangible fixed assets under US GAAR, rather than as a long-term liability under UK GAAP.

Exceptional items

Under UK GAAR, exceptional terns are material items that derive from events or transactions that fal within the ordinary activities of a raporting entity and
which individually, or f of a similar type in aggregate, are required or expressly permitted to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence if the financial
statements are to give a fnue and fair view. Exceptional items under UK GAAP in the year ended 31 March 2005, amount to a net charge of £21.1 milion
and comprise £29.7 milion business restructuring charges offset by £4.1 million profit on disposal of fixed assets and £4.5 million profit on sale or termination
of operations. Exceptional items are discussed further on page 17. In the years ended 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003, the profit on sale or termination

of operations was disclosed as an exceptional itemn, after operating profit. In the years ended 31 March 2005 and 2004, the profitloss on disposal of fixed
assels was disclosed as an exceptional itern, afier operating profit.

Under US GAAP, all exceptional iterns would have been reflected within operating profit.

Equity method investments

Under UK GAAP, the share of joint ventures’ operating rasults excludes share of joint ventures' interest and share of joirtt ventures' tax, These amounts are
included within ‘Interest payable and similar charges’ and Taxation charge’ respectively. Under US GAAR, all of these amounts are included within ‘Equity
in earnings/llosses) of affliaies’.

Under UK GAAP, investments in joint ventures are classified under the heading investments within fixed assets. Under US GAAP, investments in joint ventures
are ciassified as investrnents in equity afiilates.

{ry Cash flows

Under UK GAAP, the group complies with FRS 1 (Revised) ‘Cash flow statements', the objective and principles of which are similar to those set out in SFAS
95 “Statement of cash flows’, The principal difference between the two standards is in respect of classification. Under FRS 1 (Revised), the group presents
its cash flows for {a) operating activities; (b) returns on investrnents and servicing of finance; (c) taxation; () capital expenditure and financial investment;

{e) acquisitions and disposals; (f} equity dividends paid; (g) managemeant of liquid resources; and () financing activities. SFAS 95 is less prescriptive and
recognises only three categories of cash flow activity {a) operating; (b) investing; and {¢) financing.

Cash flows arising from taxation and retums on investments and senvicing of finance under FRS 1 {Revised) would be included as operating activities under SFAS
95, dividend payments would be included as a financing activity under SFAS 95 and cash fiows from capital expenditure, iong-ferm investrments, acquisitions and
disposals would be included as investing activities under SFAS 85, in addition, under FRS 1 (Revised), cash represents cash at bank and in hand, fess bank
averdrafts; cash equivalerts (l.e. liquid resources) are not included with cash. Movements of liquid reésources arg included under a saparate heading. Under
US GAAR cash is not offset by bank ovardrafts repayable within 24 heurs from the date of the advance, Such overdrafis are classified within financing
activities under US GAAP. Set out below is a summary consolidated statement of cash fiows under US GAAP:
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2005 2004
For the year ended 31 March £m £m £m
Net cash provided by operating activities 465.8 770.3 B635.4
Net cash used in Investing activities (866.8) (1,064.0) (694.9)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4072 2073 78.9
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 07 - 0.2
Net increase in cash 8.2 36 19.6
Cash at beginning of vear 421 385 18.9
Cash at end of year 490 421 385
Non-cash items ¢t £(4.9) million, £6.3 milion and £4.9 million arose in the years ended 31 March 2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively, in relation to
financing activities.
(s) Provision for doubtful debts
Balance Balknce
at baginning Additions Utilisations at end
of periad notefdl notel of period
For the year ended 31 March 2005 £m £m m £m
Bravision for doubtful debts 1078 40.8 (21.4} 127.2
For the year ended 31 March 2004
Provision for doubtiul debts 93.9 52.8 (38.9) 107.8
For the year ended 31 March 2003
Provision for doubtful debits 70.6 52.1 (28.8) 839

Notes:

{a) Amounts charged to cosls and gxpenses.
{b} Bad dett write offs and charges to allowances, net of other adjustiments, re-classifications and exchange rate changes.

() Presentation of financial information

In accordance with UK GAAP, the group uses a three-calumn format for its consolidated profit and loss account that separates exceptional items that
meet the definition of exceptional items under FBRS 3 'Reporting financial performance’, and amortisation of gooawili from other costs. This presentation is
permitted under UK GAAP and provides certain additional information in order to provide readers with an Increased insight into the underlying performance
ot the busingss, in line with management’s own view. The presentation of such subtotals is not permitted on the face of the financial statements under US
GAAP. An explanation of thase presentations is giver below.

Total operating profit before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items and profit before tax before goodwill amontisation and exceptional items
Total operating profit before goodwill amortization and exceptional iterns is directly derived from the consolidated profit and loss account of the consolidated
financia! statements. Management befieves this financlal measure orovides useful information to investors as it represents the total of the operating
profits/losses for each segment, which is the measure that managemeant uses to evaluate segmental trading periormance.

it therefore aligns the performance measure reported 1o investors with that used by management to moenitor performance and allocate resources within the
business, Management uses tofal segmental operating profits/iosses to evaluate the trading performance of each segment, because management believes
that the exclusion of goodwil amortisation (a non-cash itemy) and exceptional items {which, by virtue of their size or incidence, have been disclosed separately
and may vary significantly each yearn) provides a more accurate comparison of annual segmental resuits, which in tum allows a better understanding of actual
segmental trading performance.

in assessing the financial position and results of operations, management believes that providing additional measures under UK GAAR, which remove the
positive and/or negative impact of exceptiona items and the non-cash impact of goodwil amortisation, gives a clearer understanding of the group's core
trading activities, is of relevance in assessing the future direction of the group, and clarifies the trends in trading performance. The inclusions of total gperating
profit and total operating profit before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items and profit before tax and profit before tax betore goodwill amortisation and
exceptional tems allows a complete analysis of the core tragiing performance as well as the impact of these exceptional and non-cash items,

Under UK GAAR, exceptional items are material items that derive from events or transactions that fall within the ardinary activities of a reparting entity and
which, individually, or if of a similar type in aggregate, are required or expressly permitted to be disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence if the financial
statements are to give a true and fair view.

Exceptionat items, which are disclosed separately under UK GAAP in acoordance with FRS 3 'Reporting financial performance’, are as folflows:

2005 2004 2003
For the year anded 31 March £m £m £m
Qperating exceptional items:
Business restruciuring (29.7) (4.6) (3.8
FRS 11 adjusiment o canying valde of telecoms assets ' o - - sy
Non—operatlng excepticnal items: 7
Profit an sale or terminaticrs of operations e 45 -~ 4.3 34.0
Profit/oss) on disposal of fixed assets ) T Ty 2.4) -
{21.1) 2.7 4.7
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Financial statements
Notes to the accounts continued

Business restructuring costs in 2005 of £29.7 million mainly relate to the restructuring programmes in licensed muti-utility operations in preparation for mesting
fts 2005-10 efficiency challenges, in infrastructure management relating to the restructuring of the business units inta market-facing business streams, focusing
on their specific risks, and in business process outsourcing, a restructuring to form a divisionalised structure which better refiects the markets in which the
business operates. Business restructuring costs in 2004 of £4.8 milion related to costs arising from the integration of the Burocall business acquired by Your
Communications. In 2003, severance costs of £3.8 million related to telecommunications. Business restructuring costs are considered to be excegtional items
under UK GAAP as they are significant programmes for the businesses concermed. FRS 3 therefore expressly permits disciosure of these costs as exceptional
items within the income or expense heading to which they relate.

Under UK GAAR, the group performed an impairment review within its telecommunications business in accordance with FRS 11 in the year ended
31 March 2003. This resulted in an adjustment to value of £25.5 miilion, which was considered to be an exceptional item by virtue of its size and
nature. FRS 3 therefore expressly permits disclosure of this adjustment as an exceptional item within the income or expense heading to which it rlates.

The profit on sale or termination of operations relates to the group's withdrawat from various infrastructure management businesses. In the year ended

31 March 2003, the group concluded it 1o longer had a participating interest in IEBA, the Argentine utifity for which United Utilities had been technical
operator, and in which the group had a minority interest. it therefore ceased to actount for the investment as a joint venture. The accounting provision that
existed at 31 March 2002 in respect of the investment in Argentina was taken to the profit and loss account in 2003 which, along with the disposal of US
Water and costs associated with withdrawing from infrastructure management in the Americas, gave rise to an excepticnal credit of £34.0 milion. In 2004
and 2005, further credits were recognised refating 16 the withdrawal from infrastruciure management in the Americas. In 2005, the group disposed of its
Green Energy business and reduced its shareholding in Manila Water Company through an initial public offering. FRS 3 requires that profits or losses on
the sale or termination of an gperation be shown separately on the face of the profit and loss account after operating profit and befors interest,

The profit and loss on disposal of fixed assets in the years ended 31 March 2005 and 2004 respectively, relate to the disposal of fixed asset investments.
FRS 3 requires that profits or losses on the disposal of fixed assets be shown separately on the face of the profit and loss account after operating profit
and before interest.

Although management uses these financial measures and the segmental analysis as shown in nate 2 of the consalidated financial staternents to analyse
trading performance, tatal operating profit and profit before tax should also be considered. Due to the prasentation of these additional measures the
caondensed income statement in accordance with Article 10 of Reguiation S-X based an UK GAAP amounts is presented below.

2005 2004 2003
For the year ended 31 March £m £m om
Net sales and gross revenues - - e ) 2,253.9 2,060.0 18788
Costs and expenses applicable to sales and reverues T sy B340 (83D
Deprecuauonandamomsauon e e e o oo srn e . . i 41 e e
Other operating costs - I 11362) i (107.4) (875)
Seliing, general and administrative expenses 7 a] 478) (1308) S [119 5)
Provision for doubtful acoounts and notes 408 (528 @m0
Operating income 615.8 558.8 528.1
Nono peraﬂr\g“iﬁéome . . e e e 1 60 e 32 e e 149
interest and amortisation of debt discount and expense 2709 @88 (220.0)
Income before income tax expense, mincrity interests and equity investees - 360.9 334.4 3239
Fncome tax expense - {37.7} 27.5 {45 7)
Minority Mteésts in inacﬁwe of conso!uatedenhtfes - - ﬁ 3} - {1.6) o (23}
Equity In earmings of unconsolidated entities and 50 per cent o less owned persans 1.7 07 18
Net incame 333.1 361.0 277.8
Basic eamings per share 46.8p 54.5p 45.8p
Dikted eamings per share 42.2p 52.1p 45.7p
Net debt

Net debt is a UK GAAP measure that is required to be disclosed in accordance with FRS 1 *Cash flow statements (revised 1998)". Net debt is defined as
borrowings {comprising debt, together with derivatives and obligations under finance leases) less cash and liquid resources. Management uses net debt,
which is reconclled to gross debt in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements, to assess the group's liquidity position by reference to the group's
committed fevef of funding. The group seeks to ensure that sufficient funding s available to meet foresseable raguirements plus headroom for contingencies.

38 RESTATEMENTS TO EARNINGS PER SHARE
As described in note 10 of the consolidated financial statements and note 37(0}, earmings per share has been restated for all periogs pripr {0 the rights
issue to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue, as required by FRS 14 under UK GAAP. The same adjustments are required under US GAAP
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Information for shareholders
Selected consolidated financial data

The selected finarcial data set out below were extracted or derived from the consalidated financial statements. The selected financial data should be read
in conjunction with, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, such consolidated financial statements and their accompanying notes. The selected
financial data for the years ended 31 March 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and as of 31 March 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 as well as other
information includad elsewhers in this document are exiracted from the group’s 2005 and historical consciidated financial statements and related notes,

Unitect Uitiities prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with U GAAP, which differs in certain respects from US GAAR Ingluded in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements are recanciliations of profit after taxation (or net income) and equity shareholders' funds (or sharsholders’ equity)
and the company's financial position under UK GAAP and those under US GAAP.

During the year ended 31 March 2004, the group announced a five-for-nine rights issue to raise a fotal of £1 biilion, structured so that the proceeds are
received in two stages. On 28 August 2003, the rights issue was approved by shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of United Utilities PLC, and
authority was given for the issuance of up o 838,000,000 A shares of 50 pence each. Tha first tranche of the proceeds, received during September 2003,
raised €£501.2 milion {net of costs) from the issuing of 309,286,937 A shares. The second tranche of proceeds is expected to be received in June 2005,
reflecting the subscription for further A shares. All A shares will then be consolidated and reclassified as ordinary shares on the basis of one ordinary share
for twa A sharas.

Basic and dituted eamings per share have been restated for all periods prior to the rights issug to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue as required
ty FRS 14 ‘Eamings per share'. The same adjustments are required under US GAAP.

The discontinued operations within the selected financial data relate to the sale of the energy supply business in August 2000.
Amounts in accordance with UK GAAP

20051 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

$ £ £ ¢ £ T

Financial year ended 31 March {in milions, except for infomation given per share and per ADS)
Consolidated income statement data:

Grcup tumover from confmu ing operahoas 4,259.6 2,253.9 2,060.0 1,878.8 1,786.2 1,480.8

Group tumov'er from drsocmrnuad operations - - - - - 201.5

Total group turncver 2,060.0 1,878.8 1,786.2 1,692.4

Ner Operatmg costs (before exoeptsonal itemns) (1 485 3} (TSBETS}W

Operating exceptional tems [4.6) 29.3)

Group operatmg proflt 570.1 510.0

Share 01 operatlng prof& of J,omt ver;tu-re; S o 17376“ o 7“{4.9

Non operatlng exceptional items® 19 " 340

Net interest payeble and similar charges ) @84.1) @48.1) (@314 (2308 (2203
Profit before tax 700.1 370 4 3375 327.5 302.8 4777
Tax (charge}/credn on prof t on ordwnary actlvmes (82.4) (43 6) 243 7 (56.8) 7 (39.4) 7 (67.4)
Exceptlonal tax credlt.v'(charge] S 153 S 8.1 - 0.8 9.4 - (690)
Proﬁt after tax 633.0 334 9 362.6 280.1 263.4 341.3
Mmonty mterest S S (34] (1 B) 7 1.6) 2.3 7 (16) B
Prcﬁt aﬁer tax and mnnor ty mterests 620.6 33341 361.0 277.8 261.8 341 3
Dividends S ewsn @ad (316.3) (2648 @809 (2549
Retained profit for the financial year 15.9 8.4 45.7 13.0 0.8 86.4

Basic eamings per sharalé $0.88 48.5p

eamings per sharets) $0.80 42.2p

led nd per ordinary share $0.86 45.42p
Dmdend | per AD 61 $1.72 90.84p
Di\ndend per A sharem $0.43 22.71p 22.155p INAA N/A
Re Qresented dwtdend per ordinary

share (post rights issue)® $0.86 45.42p 44.31p 43.18p 42.84p 41.82p
Average number of ordinary shargs

ln rssue basrc (mﬂilon}l5? ¥i2.5 662.8 806.0 603.2 800.6
Average number of ordfnary shares

in iasue - diuted (millicr)s 789.2 693.8 607.7 605.1 603.4
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Information for shareholders
Sealected consolidated financial data continued

20087 2005 2004 2003 2002 20m
As at 31 March $m £m £m £m £m £m
Consolidated balance sheet data:
leed assels 15 936 5 B, 432.0 7,858.5 7 216 1 6 833.7 6,686.0
- assets e s e e e a 168 2 e 6?,,6 3,, ..... — 1_5"659 N 1 1?4 g 831. 8._ — 5997
Total assets 19 104 7 10 108 3 9,519.4 8,391.0 7,665.5 7 485 7
Gurrent fabilies @es27) (7139 (1383.1) 1,4335) (,358.6) (1,553.6)
Long-term obhgatacns T ) (9,857.7] (5,215.7)7-"_ - (5,033.;)” (4.406.2)"“ N —(3,7725)_ .‘.-“"(3.335.5)
Net assets 5,894.3 3,118.7 3,102.9 2,551.3 2,534.4 2,596.6
Share capital and share premiunt 3,316.8 1,754.9 1,734.9 1,230.8 1,227.5 1,208.5
Reserves and retained profits T T as181 13625 | 13484 1,302.8 12917 13735
Equwty shareholders funds 5,891.9 3,117.4 3 083 3 2 533 6 2,518.2 25830
Minority interest S 2.4 ' 1.3 196 77 182 13,6
Capital employed 5,894.3 3,118.7 3,1029 2.551.3 2,634.4 2,596.6
Financial year 20050 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Other financial data:
Ad]USth basm: earnlngs per shareﬁ 4)(*) $1.16 61.4p 54.2p 55.6p 47.6p 43.6p
Adjustad average number of ordlnary T T T T I
shares in LSSUQ basm: (mﬂhon)(ﬂl("} 7128 680.1 643.2 640 2 637 4
ﬁatlo of earnings to flxed charges“m S - 2—11— - —_22—;_ o é—Bx B o 2 C;x 2 Sx
Net Ieverage(“) o 5% 53% w57’9;:» o 55% o 52%
Amounts in accordance with US GAAP
20050 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
$ £ £ i £ £
Financial year ended 31 March (in millions, axcept for information given per share and per ADS)
Consolidated incotme statement data:
Group turnoveﬁwi 4,251.4 2,249.4
Net operaing costs (3117.4) (1,640.4)
Cperating profit from contimuing operations
before ﬁnterest and taxf“) 1,134.0 £00.0 525.7 498.1 463.1 422.5
bperatmg proﬁt frorn d\scontmued operahons . - T o
before mterest and tax@ - - - - - 20.8
Prcflt on d|spoe.al of busxness - - - - - 167.0
Net interest payabiel'd T e (248.0) (120.4) 53 @o3.45  (164.7)
Proﬁt before tax from conbnumg operationsd 665.3 3520 405.3 503.4 169.7 261.8
Prof it before tax from discontinued operatlons(?l - - - - - 183.8
Tax charge on profit on ordinary activities('d T (GEWS)_V o ﬁ‘(972‘3_]‘ " *(7159 9) o ﬁ(1 07. 2] 7777 o (7761) S -{2.4? 8)
Prc;ﬁt aﬁer tax from continuing cperations(13 490.8 259.7 2954 398.2 93.6 726
Proﬁt af‘ter tax frcm dlSCOﬂtaned operatlonsi2) - - - 7 - - 126.2
Miority interest T e am a8 @y o8 -
Prafit after tax and minority interests from
cortinuing operatlons(13) 487.4 257.9 203.8 39 w20 728
I-3roﬁt after tax and minority lﬁterests from T o . ' : )
discontinued operations - - - - -~ 125.2
Profit after tax and minority interestsitd 487.4 257.9 203.8 393.8 22.0 197.8
Basic eamings per share from continuing operations®is) $0.68 36.2p 44.3p 85.0p 15.3p 12.1p
Basmeammgs oot s o Seoriese aorator e - e e 2 08p
Basm crings s Share $058 S 362p 443D 550;3 15 Sp 32 o
D\Iuted eamlngs per share from continuing operatlons(ﬁl _—3_062_ o 77“(;2757“_ o I’ZZ; h ﬁ64‘8;3 o ””15 2p o 12 p
D:Iuted eammgs per. share from dwscontmued operatlons(ﬁi - ., - N 20 Sp
Dilted earnings per share $062 0 32?p o 42.20 64.ép 15.2;;' - 32 Qp
Avergs nurber of oraary Share;,m.......,,, U ot Sl A VT
in issue — diuted (millign)® 788.2 6395.9 608.3 £05.1 601.9

(#) Disciosures refated o agjusied earnings par share have been exciuded from our Form Z0-F fiing with the US Securitiss ang Exchanga Commission.

United Utflities Annuarl Report & Accounts 2005

D ———————




20051 2005 2004 200G 2002 2001

As at 31 March Sm £m £m £m £m £m
Consolidated balance sheet data:
Fixed assets 18,043.3 9,547.0 9.009.0 8.235.5 77819 7.635.3
Cumentassets 77 7 3gssr 18062 16568 14857 10328 9100
Total assets 210795 11,153.2 10,664.9 9.731.2 88147 58,4453
Curent ebilties™ pe423)  (15039) (13668 (12858 (12005 (1,4508)
Long-term obiigationsi'a T m7e28) (6.2236) (5.920.5) 57028 (47369 (3.895.0)

64746 3,425.7 3.367.7 27925 2,877.1 30915
Capltal stock 1,353.6 7162 711.8 556.5 555 9 552 9
Sheepremumaccount 19631 10987 1,023.1 6743 6716 6566
Reserves and retained profts® T assa 16695 16132 15540 16344 18675
Sharenoiders 64721 3,424.4 3,348.1 27748 28619 30770
Mmonty lnterest T h T 2 5 T "7‘_':‘3 T 16._6_ M_T?'"; T 15 2 T 14 5

6,474.6 3,425.7 33677 27925 2,877.1 30915
Financial year 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Other financial data:
Ratio of earnings to fixed chargesiio 1.8x 2.2x 2.8x 1.6x 2.4x

{n

US dollar amounts have been translated from sterling at the rate of £1.00 = $1.89, the noon buying rate on 31 March 2005. These translations are not

representations that pounds have been, could have been, or can in the future be converted into US dollars at this or any other ratg of exchange and are

solely for the convenience of the reader.

{2) Discontinued operations relate to the saie of the energy supply business in August 2000.
{(3) Exceptional items, which are disclosed separately under UK GAAP in accordance with FRS 3 "Reporting financial performance’, comprise:

200501 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Financial year $m £m &m £m Em £m
UK GAAP:
Busmess restructunng (56.1) (29.7) 4.6) 3.8)

FRS 11 adjustment to cé;;ung ; telecomns asséts
i 340 - -
- - - - - 1912
H‘oﬁt/(loss) on disposal of ﬁxedas;ets B dwudu_?? 4.1 {2.4) T - T
{39.9) {21.1) {2.7) 4.7 {11.9 17486

Further details of exceptional items under UK GAAP are given on page 17.

United Lilities Anpual Report & Actounts 2005




96

Information for shareholders
Selected consolidated financial data continued

(4] Operating profit from continuing operations before interast and tax is statad after the items from continuing operations scheduled below. The following
table sets out the LS GAAP equivalent to UK GAAP exceptional items (i.e. the restructuring charges, the profit on disposal of the energy supply
business, the profit on sale ¢r termination of operations, adjustment to the value of telecommunications assets, and the profit or loss on disposal of fixed
assets) from continuing and discontinued cperations:

2005M 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Financial year Sm £m £m £m tm m
US GAAP
Continuing operations: 7
Business restructuring {60.1) 31.8) (2.4) 38 (11.8) 6.6
Profit on sale or termination of operations 59 31 43 4.3) - -
Curency wanslaton agjustment - - - @8 @y -
Profitfloss) on disposal of fixed assets 7.7 4.1 @.4) - - -
(46.5) [24.6) 0.5 (14.9) 53.2) (16.6)
Discontinued operations: ] - o ) ] o o
O o e
- - - - - 167.0

The amount for profit or loss on disposal of fixed assets is the same under UK and US GAAP, for the years ended 31 Margh 2005 and 2004, as are the
profit on sale or termination of operations for the year ended 31 March 2004 and business restructuring for the years ended 31 March 2003, 2002 and
2001. For business restructuring the increase under US GAAP of £2.1 milllicn in the year ended 31 March 2005 and the reduction of £2.2 million in the
year ended 31 March 2004 relate to costs being recognised in different accounting periods. The profit on sale or termination of operations for the year
ended 31 March 2005 reduced by £1.4 million under US GAAP, as the carrying vaiue of goodwill, included in the profit and loss account as a realisec
cost of disposal, is higher under US GAAP as goodwill has not been amortised singe adoption of SFAS 142 on 1 April 2002.

For the profit on sale or termination of operations in the year ended 31 March 2003, the reduction under US GAAP of £38.3 million refated to the
orovision at 31 March 2002 that reflected the group’s share of net liabilities in IEBA, the Argentine utility, In the year ended 31 March 2003, the group
concluded it no longer had a participating interest and therefore ceased to account for the investment as & joint venture, with the resulting release of the
£38.3 milian share of iiabilities included within provisions under UK GAAFR, Under US GAAR, no share of liabilities was recorded at 31 March 2062, as an
investor should discontinue recording losses of an investment when the investment has been reduced to zero unless the investor has an obligation or
commitment to fund these liabilities.

The currency translation agjustments under US GAAP relate to Argentina. Under UK GAAP, cumency translation adjustments on net borrowings used to
finance foreign investments are taken to the statement of total recognised gains and losses to offset the foreign exchange exposure. Under US GAAP,
this offset is not available since the group elected not to designate derivative instrurnents as hedges. In the year ended 31 March 2003, there was no
currency transtation adjustment resufting from the investment in IEBA, because the investment had been reduced to zero at 31 March 2002.

Under UK GAAR, the group performed an impairment review within its telecommunications business in accordance with FRS 11 in the year ended

31 March 2003. This resulted in an exceptional adjustment to value of £25.5 million representing tangible assets of £14.6 milion, definite-lived intangible
assets of £8.6 million and goodwill of £2.3 million. Under US GAAR, there was no indication of impairment of tangible or definite-lived intangible assets in
the telecommunications business on an undiscounted cash flow basis in accordance with SFAS 144, In addition, no impairment of goodwill under SFAS
142 was required.

The reduction under US GAAP of profit on disposal of the energy supply business in August 2000 of £24.2 million related to a £36.0 million difference
in the onerous contract provisions refeased on disposal due to the appiication of discounting under UK GAAP offset by £11.8 milion due to the fower
carrying value of goodwill under US GAAP which had been amortised. Undar UK GAAP, goodwill had previously been written off to reserves, but on
disposal it is Included in the profit and lass account as a realised cost of disposal.

(5) For the purposes of calculating the weighted average number of shares used in the earnings per share calculations, the A shares have been treated as
part paid ordinary shares, two A shares being equivalent to one ordinary share.

Basic and diuted eamings per share have been restated for all periods prior to the rights issue to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue as required
by FRS 14 ‘Eamings per share’, The same treatment is required under IUS GAAP. The adjustment factor applied to the basic and diluted weighted average
number of shares is based on the consideration received from the first stage of the rights issue. The adjustment factor is §.8176, caloulated using 531.5
pence per ordinary share, being the closing price on 26 August 2003, the date of approval of the rights issue at the extraordinary general meeting.

The adjustment factor of 0.9176 is calculated as follows:
48770 = 0.9176

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share

Falr value per share immediately before exercise of rights 5315
The theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated as fallows:

Fair value of all outstanding shares + Total amount received from exercise of rights

Number of shares outstanding before exercise + Number of shares issued in the exercise

= (556.8 million ordinary shares x 531.8 pence) + (309.3 miflion A shares x 165 pence) () =  4B7.70
556.8 milien ordinary shares + 308.3 milion A shares (*)

) The A shares have been treated as part paid ordinary shares, two A shares being equivalent to one ordinary share.
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Calculated based on a ratio of two ordinary shares to one ADS.

{7} The first dividand for which the initial A shares ranked was the 2003/04 interim dividend; the armount of the A share dividend is 50 per cent of that paid
on an ordinary share.

(8) Dividends per ordinary share for periods prior to the rights issue have been re-presented for comparative purposes to take account of the bonus element
of the first stage of the rights issue. The factor applied to the prior period dividend per share is 0.8072, calculated using 576.0 pence per ordinary share,
the closing price on 25 July 2003, the last business day prior to the announcement of the rights issue.

@) For the purposes of caleufating basic earnings per share, the weighted average numbxr of shares in issue under (S GAAP is the same as under
UK GAAR,

(10) For the purposes of calculating the ratio of 2amings to fixed charges, 'earnings’ consists of profit on ordinary activities from continuing operations before
tax, before adjustment for minority interests in consclidated subsidiaries and profits or losses from joint ventures plus fixed charges, and amortisation
of capitalised interest less capitalised interest ana minarity interests, ‘Fixed charges' consists of interest expensed and capitalised plus amortised
premiums, discounts and capitalised expenses related to indebtedness and the Interest portion in rent expensa.

{17} Net leverage is defined as net debt {loans and related derivatives, finance leases and overdrafts less cash at bank and in hand and managed funds and
short-term investments) as a percentage of net debt plus equity shareholders' funds. Net debt is a UK GAAP measure, required by FRS 1 (Revised)
‘Cash flow statements’, but is considered a non-GAAP measure for the purpose of US GAAP as discussed on page 15.

{12) The difference between group tumover in 2005, 2004 and 2003 under US GAAP of £2,249.4 milllon, £2,051.4 milion and £1,837.8 million respectively,
and group turnover under UK GAAP of £2,253.9 million, £2,060.0 mifion and £1,878.8 million respectively, is dug to the revenue racognition difference
between UK and US GAAP of £4.5 million (2004: £8.6 million, 2003: £40.9 million) as shown in note 37(k) of the surnmary of differences between UK
and US GAAR

{13} Net income and shareholders' equity under 1S GAAR have been restated to reflect the translation of loans at spot rates instead of the gontract rates
in the hedging derivatives, with a consequential impact on taxes. This resuited in the following {increase)/decrease in the amounts previcusly reportad:

2004 2008 2002
Financial year ended 31 March £m £m £m
Net interest payable 139.7 31.2) 83.7)
Tax ¢harge on cordinary activities (41.9) 8.4 249

2004 2003 2002
At 31 March £m £m £m
Long-term obligations 25.4 {114.3) 83.1)
Current liabilities (7.6} 343 249
Shamgholders’ equity {17.8) 80.0 58.2

(14} Adjusted basic garnings per share® has been calculated by dividing adjusted profit for the year by the adjusted weighted average number of shares
In issue.

The adjusted profit for the year excludes deferred tax, exceptional items, discontinued operations and goodwill amortisation. This adjusted measure has
teen presented to provide a better undersianding of the trading position of the group and a better comparison of annual resuits. For additiona!
information on the reasons for these adiustments and a detailed calculation under UK GAAF, see note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
Disclosure of adjusted earnings per share is expressly permitted under UK GAAR.

The adjusted weighted average number of shares has been restated for all pericds prior to the rights issue using an adjustment factor based on the
consideration received from the first stage of the rights issue and assumed proceeds from the second stage, which are due to be received in June 2005,
The adjustment factor is ©.8646 calculated using 531.5 pence per ordinary share, being the closing price on 26 August 2003, the date of approval of the
rights issue at the extracrdinary general meeting. This measure has been Inciuded to reflect the full bonus element of the rights ssue which arose at the
first stage, as demonstrated by the movement in the share price following the approval of the rights issue at the extracrdinary general meeting.

The adjustment factor of 0.8646 is calculated as follows:

H

Thecretical ex-rights fair value per share 45954 = 0.8646

Fair value per share immediately before exercise of rights 531.5

The theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is calculated as follows:

Fair value of all outstanding shares + Total amount received from exercise of rights

Number of shares outstanding before exercise + Number of shares issued in the exercise
= (556.8 million ordinary shares x 531.5 pence) + (309.3 millicn ordinary shares x 330 pence) {™) 459.54

556.8 milien ordinary shares + 309.3 milion ordinary shares (")

N

(") Based on consideration received from the first stage of the rights issue (165 pence per A share) plus anticipated proceeds from the second stage {165
pence for a further A share). All A shares will then be consolidated and reclassified as ordinary shares on the basis of one erdinary share for two A shares.

{#) Disclosures related 1o adjusted earnings per share have besn excluded from our Form 20-F fiing with the US Securities and Exchange Commission.
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DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend in respect of each financiai year is normally declared by United Ltilitias in November/December for payment in the following February.
Since 2003, the final dividend in respect of the financial year has been recommended by directors in May/June and paid in August, following approval by
sharehalders in July. Previously, the final dividend was paid in October. The following table sets out the dividends paid on ordinary and A shares in respect of
the past five financial years, excluding any associated UK tax credit in respect of such dividends.

Yaars ended 31 March

Nate 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Pance per share & [ 2 P e p
Interim dividend per ordinary share 14.79 14.43 15,50 15.30 15.00
Final cividend per ordinarysha'e 3088 28 3210 3170 5110
Total dividend per ordinary share 45.42 44.31 47.60 47,00 48.10
Total dividend per A share 2271 22,155 N/A N/A N/A
LIS § per share ] $ 3 3 $ %
interim dividend per ordinary shate 0.28 027 0.25 0.22 0.22
Fnal dvidend per ordinary sha,e ~~~ 0s8 05 05 045 046
Tota! dividend per ordinary share 0.86 0.80 0.76 0.67 0.68
S dlwdendper AShare e ot s e 043 040 I N/A S N/A e i N/A
Totsl dvidend per ADS®) i, () 172 160 152 134 136

The exchange rates at the dividend payment dates were as follows:

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Exchange rate at interim payment date 1.86 1.86 1.63 1.42 1.45
Exchange rate at {inal payment date (ii)) 1.89 1.79 1.58 .42 1.48

Ouning the year endad 31 March 2004, the group announced a five-for-nine rights issue, structured so that the proceeds are received in two stages. The

first tranche of proceeds, received during September 2003, raised £501.2 milion {net of costs) from the issuing of A shares. The second tranche of proceeds
is expected to be received in June 2005, reflecting the subscription for further A shares. All A shares will then be consolidated and reclassified as ordinary
shares on the basis of one ordinary share for two A shares. The first dividend for which the initial A shares ranked was the 2003/04 interim dividend. The
amount of this dividend is B0 per cent of that paid on an ordinary share,

In the table below, dividends per ordinary share and per ADS for pericds prior 1o the rights issue have been re-presented for comparative purposes 1o take
account of the bonus element of the first stage of the rights issue. The facter applied to dividends for the pericds prior to the rights issue is 0.9072, calculated
using 576.0 pence per ordinary share, this being the closing price on 25 July 2003, the last business day pricr to the announcement of the rights issug.

Years ended 31 March

Note 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Pence per ordinary share 0] 2] P ? P P
Interim {re ed) 14,79 14,43 14.06 13.88 13.61

Final (re-preserted) 30.63 20.88 29.12 98.76 28.21
Total [re-presented) 45,42 44,31 43.18 42.64 41.82
US $ per ordinary share 0] 5 8 g $ §
Interim (re-presented) 0.28 _0.27_ _ 0.23 0.20 0.20
Final {re-presented) 0.58 0.53 0,46 0.41 0.42
Total (re-prosentad) - 0.3§ 0.80 0.69 0.61 (.62
Total dividend per ADS(S) (re-presented) (i), i 1.72 1.60 1.38 1,22 1.24
Notes:

() Dividends per ordinary share, per A share and per ADS exclude any associated UK tax credit avallable to certain nolders of ordinary shares and ADSs. See the ‘Taxation' section on page 101.
iy Calevlated based on a ratio of iwo ordinary shares for one ADS.
{ii} The exchanga rate at the daie tha 2005 final dividend will be paid is assumed to be £1.00 = $1.89.

Future dividends wili depend upon the company's eamings, finahcial condition and other factors. Interim and final dividends pald in the past are not
riecessarily indicative of future interim and final dividends, or the future relationships between themn. A person resident in the UK for tax purposes who
receivas a dividend from United Utllitles is generally entitied to a tax credit, currently at a rate of one-nirth of the net dividend {or ten per cent of the sum
of the net dividend and the associated UK tax crediit), For further infarmation, see the "Taxation' section on page 101,

Cash dividends are paid by United Utilities in pounds sterling. Exchange rate fluctuations will affect the US dollar amounts received by owners of the ADSs
on the conversion by the Depositary of such cash dividends paid. in addition, fluctuations in the exchange rate between pounds sterling and US dollars will
affect the US equivalent of the quoted pound sterling price of ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange, and as a result are likely to affect the market
price of ADSs in the US.
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EXCHANGE CONTROLS
There are currently no UK foreign exchange control restrictions on the export or import of capital which affect the remittance of dividends, interest or other
payments 1o non-UK resident holders of the company's securities except as otherwise detailed in the “Taxatlon' section of this document on page 101,

EXCHANGE RATES

In this report, unless otherwise specified or unless the context requires atharwise, all references to ‘pound’, 'sterling’, ‘pounds stering’, “GBP”", 'L, 0’ and
‘pence’ are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. The company publishes its consoiidated financial statements in stering. In this report, all references
te ‘US dollars’, ‘US$ and '$' are 10 the lawiu! currency of the United States of America ('United States’ or 'US™. Amounts stated in US dollars, unless
otherwise indicated, have been transiated from sterfing at an assumed rate solely for convenience, and should not be construed as representations that
the sterling amounts actually represent such LS dellar amounts or could be converted into the US dollars at the rate indicated or any other rate, Unless
otherwise indicated, such US doflar amounts have been translated from sterling at the rate of £1.00 = $1.88, the nocn buying rate in the City of New York for
cable transfers in pounds sterling as certfied for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York {noon buying rate’) on 31 March 2005. The
noon buying rate on 31 March 2005 differs from the actual rates used in the preparation of the company’s consalidated financial statements, and US dollar
amounts used in this report may differ from the actual US dollar amounts that were translated into sterling in the preparation of such financial statements.

The following tablg sets out, for the financial year indicated, centain information concerning the noon buying rate for pounds sterfing and US dollars per £1.00:

Financial year High Lowr Averagelt Pariod end
2001 $1.60 $1.40 $1.47 $1.42
2005 e e ot e e £ e S16 14 oy o
2005 im0 $195 $175 $135$139

{1} The average of thg noon buying rate on the last day of sash menth during the relevant period.
Month High Low
2004

December o ' $1.95 $1.91
2005

January. - $191  $186
Feoary T ] st siss
Y e T
o : R T
e

Cn 1 June 2005, the noon buying rate was US$1.81 per £1.00.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

United Utitities, through its subsidiary United Utilities Water, holds a licence for the provision of water supply and wastewater services in an area of north
west England comprising 3.1 million homes and businesses. in addition, United Utilities, through its subsidiary United Uitilities Electricity, holds the electricity
distribution licence for an area in north west England comprising 2.2 milllon consumer premises. For more information on these licences see ‘Economic
requlation of wastewater and water’ on pages 6 and 7 and "Economic regulation of electricity distribution’ on pages 8 and 9.

(a) On 13 October 1988, United Utilities, United Utilities Electricity fformerly NORWER pic} and North West Water Finance PLC (which was subsequently
replaced by Linited Utiities Water) established a US$2,000,000,000 Eurcpean Medium Term Note Programme {EMTN'} under a trust deed that was
armended on 3 QOctaber 2003 between United Utilities PLC, United Utilities Eiectricity PLC, United Utilities Water PLC and The Law Debenture Trust
Corporation p.l.c. The maximum aggregate nominal amount of notes which may be outstanding from time to time under the EMTN was increased to
US$3,000,000,000 on 5 October 1899, increased to €4,000,000,000 on 4 Cctober 2001 and further incregsed to €5,000,000,000 on 3 October 2003.
An updated offering circular for the programme was published on § October 2004. As at 31 March 2005, a total of €3,579,241,000 of notes were
outstanding under the EMTN;

(o) In March 1998, Uniteg Utilties, United Utilities Electricity and North West Water Finance PLC (which was subsequently replaced by United Utllities Water)
established an uniisted Euro Commercial Paper Programme (the ‘ECP Programme’). The aggregate principal amount of the notes outstanding at any
ohe time under the ECP Prograrmme may not exceed US$1,500,000,000 or its equivalent in alternative currencies. Any notes issued under the ECP
Programme may only mature after seven but not more than 365 (364 for sterfiing notes) days from issue. The programme amount may be increased
from tims to time. As at 31 March 2005, there were no outstanding notes issued under the ECP Programme;

(c] In August 1995, United Utilities Electricity issued £200,000,000 8.875 per cent fisted bonds dus 2026, The bonds are in bearer form in denominations of
£1,000, £10,000 ang £100,000 each and in registered form in amounts of £1.00 or integral multiples thereof and were constituted under a trust deed
dated 3 August 1995 between United Utilities Electricity and The Law Deberture Trust Corporation p.l.c. as trustee. United Utllities Electricity issued
further bonds on the same terms on 6 July 2001 and 20 December 2001. Cn 15 February 2002, United Utilities Electricity issued further bonds, again
on the same terms, and consolidated the four issues to form a fungible single series of an aggregate ouistanding amount of £450,000,000; and
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i) On 25 March 1998, United Utilities issued US$500,000,000 6.45 per cent notes due 1 April 2008 under an indenture dated 25 March 1898.

On 28 July 1988, United Utilities issued US$350,000,000 6.25 per cent notes due 15 August 2005, and LS5400,000,000 6.875 per cent notes due

15 August 2028 under two indentures dated 28 July 1998. Al of thess bonds are US Securities and Exchange Commission ('SECY) F-1 registered Yankee
bonds. In Aprit 2001, United Utlities filed an £-3 shett registration with the SEC enabling the company 10 issue up to US$2,000,000,000 of debt securities
{the ‘US Programme’) under an indenture dated 17 June 2003 by and between United Utifities PLC and Deutscha Bank Trust Company Americas.
On 19 June 2003, United Utilities issued US$250,000,000 4.55 per cent notes due 19 June 2018 and on 16 January 2004 issued 145$350,000,000
£.375 per cent notes due 1 February 2019 under the US Programme, As at 31 March 2005, a total of US$H1 ,850,000,000 of F-1 and F-3 SEC registerad
dett securities remain outstanding.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES

United Utifiies PLC was incorporated on 1 April 1989 and registered with the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales number 2366616. The
memarandum of association of the company provides that its principal objects are, among other things, to be a holding company and to camy on business
as a general commercial company and to camy on any trade or busingss or activity of any nature which may seem to the directors to be capable of being
conveniently or advantageously carried on.

Directors

A director of the company shall not vote, and shall not be counted in the quorum, in refation to any resolution of the directors or of a committee of the
directors on any resolkution concerning any contract, arrangement, transaction or any proposal whatsoever to which the company is oristobe a party
and in which he nas, directly or indirectly, any material interest other than, inter alia, as a shareholder of the company.

So far as the legisiation allows, the directors may exercise ali the company's powers to borrow mManey; o mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s
undertaking, property {oresent and future), and uncalled capiltal; to issue debentures and other securities; and to give security either outright or as collateral
security for any debt, iabllity or obligation of the company or any third party. Such powers can be amended by the sanction of a special resolution.

A director shali be capable of being appointed or re-elected a director despite having attained the age of 70 or any other age and shall not ba required to
retirs by reason of his having attained any particular age and section 283 of the UK Gompanies Act 1985 ("the Companies Act (relating to the appointmant
and retirement as directors of persons who are aged 70 or over) shall not apply. A director shall not be required to hokd any shares in the company.

‘The articles provide for directors to retire from office and seek re-election by the company's shareholders in various circumstances. A director appointed by
the board must retire at the nexi annual general meeting of the comgpany following bis appointment. A non-executive director who has served as a director
of the company for a continuous period of nine years Or more must retire from office at sach following annual general meeting. Ordinarily each director must
retire at the third annual general meeting following his appointrnent or last reappointment by the shareholders of the company.

In addition, at each annual general meeting one third of the directors {or, if their nurnicer is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not exceeding
one third) must retire from office by ratation. In determining the rumber and the identity of the directors required to retire by rotation, those diractors required to
retire as a result of their initial appointment by the board and non-executive directors retiing under the ‘rine year' provision, are not taken into account. In each
case, the retiing directors may offer themselves for reappoiniment by the company's sharenolders at the meeting at which they are required to retire.

Shares

The holders of shares of the company are entitied to the profits of the company available for distripution and resolved 10 be distributed, In proportion 1o the
number of shares heid by them and the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on such shares. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution of the company.
the directors may offer any holders of shares the right to elect 1o receive further shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respact of the whole or part
of any dividend. All dividends unclaimed for a period of 12 yaars after having been declared shall (if the board s0 resolves) be forfeited and shall cease to be
owed by the company. The holders of the A shares shall be entitled, contemporaneously with any payment of dividend to the holders of ordinary shares, to
be paid rateably with the holders of ordinary shares a dividend for each A share which is equal to one-half of the dividend to be paid to the holder of an
ordinary share.

If the company is wound up, the fiquidator may, with the sanction of a special resclution of the company and any other sanction required by law, divide among
the merbers in specie the whole or any part of the assets of the company and may, for that purpose, value any assets and determine how the division shat!
be camed out as between the members or difierent classes of members. Any such division may be otherwise than in accordance with the existing rights of the
members but, if any division is resolved otherwise than in accordance with such rights, the mermbers shall have the sarme right of dissent and consequential
rights as if such resolution were & special resclution passed pursuant to section 110 of the Insolvency Act 1986. The liquidator may, with the like sanction, vest
the whole or any part of the assets in frusiees on such trusts for the penefit of the members as he, with the like sanction, shall determine, but ne member ghail
be compelled to accept any assets on which there is a liablity. The holders of the A shares shall be entitled to share rateably with the holders of the ordinary
shares in the distribution of profits or assets (i any} to the holders of ordinary shares on the pasis of a distribution with respect to each A share which is equal
to one-half of the distribution to the holder of an ordinary share.

All substantive resolutions put 10 a vote at a general meeting shall be decided on a poll. All other resolutions shail be decided on a show of hands. Every
holder of ordinary shares present in persan shall on a show of hands have one vots, and every holder of ordinary shares present in person or by proxy shall
on a poll have one vote for every ordinary share of which he is the holder. The chairman of a general meeting has absolute discretion in determining whether
a resolution is a substantive resolution or anciher resclution and nis decision shali be final_ If & sharenolder has been given natice in accordance with section
212 of the Companies Act and has failed to provide the necessary information in accordance with the statutory timeframes, the shareholder shall not be
entitled to exercise their right to vote at the meeting; a further restriction exists should a call or any other sum due and payable by the shareholder remain
unpaid. The holders of A shares are entitled to receive netice of any general meeting of the company and to attend, speak or vote at such general meseting
on the same basis as the holder of ordinary shares provided that each holder of A shares on a pol shall have only ene vote for every twa A, shares held.

Saction 80 of the Companies Act provides that, to allot any relevant securities (as defined in the Companies Act and which ingludes, with certain exceptions,
shares and securities convertible into shares), the directors require authorisation which may be given in the articles of association or by ordinary resolution

of shareholdars stating the maximum amount which may be allotted and the date on which the authority wil expire (being not more than five years frem the
date of such authority).

Shareno'ders have rights of pre-empgtion In respect of the allotmeant of equity securities {as defined in the Companies Act and which includes, with certain
exceptions, shares and securities convertible into shares) which are, or are to be, paid up in cash, although these pre-emptive rights can be displaced or
modified by a special resolution of the sharehoiders or under the articles of assoclation. The authority glven by such a special resolution can tast for five
years. In praciice, a company whose shares are publicly traded is unlikely to receive sharghoider consent for the disapplication of pre-emptive nghts in
respect of shares representing more than five per cent of its existing issued ordinary share capital.
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Subject to the exceptions referred to below, if a holding of any class or classes of shares or any Interast in them (other than certain exempt interests)
reaches three per cent of the aggregate nominal value of the issued voting share capital (or, in the case of the company’s share capital being divided intc
different classes, issued voting shares comprised in the relevant class), the shareholder (whether foreign or domestic) must notify the company of the interest
within two business days of the acquisition taking the holding over three per cent and of any subsequent increase or degrease in the extent of that interest.
There are lass stringent requiraments for certain categories of interests in shares {'non-raterial interests’), for example, intarests held by managers of certain
collective investment schemes. Non-material interests need only be disclosed when the aggregate of those interests and other interests {other than exempt
interests) reaches a threshold of ten per cent of the aggregate neminal value of the share capital concerned. The Companies Act gives a public company
power to require persons wham i believes o be, or to have besn within the previous three years, interested in its voling shares, 1o disclose prescribed
particulars of those intergsts, Failure 10 supply the information required is an offence and may lead to disenfranchisement of the relevant shares ang a
prohibition on their transfer and on gividend and other payments in respeact of thern and the issue of additional shares in respect thereof.

Under the ‘Rules Goveming Substantial Acquisitions’ of shares, where a person or company acaquires 15 per cent or more of the voting rights of & Iisted company
or where an acquisition increases their holding of shares or rights over shares which would amount 1o an increase in voting rights by a whole percentage point,
notification must be given to the company and the London Stock Exchange no later than noon on the business day following the date of acquisition.

General meetings

21 clear days' written notice is reguired to be given to shareholders for an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general mesting where a special
resolution is to be propesed. Ordirarlly, enly 14 clear days’ notice is required for an extracrdinary general meeting. An annual general meeting can be held
at shorter notice provided that all the shareholders entitled to attend and vote agree; and, in the case of an extraordinary general meeting, if sharenolders
holding 95 per cent in nominal value entitled to atterd and vots agree. If a sharehelder is unable to aitend the general meeting they are entitled to appoint

a proxy 1o vote on their behalf and a corporate body is entitled to appoint a corporate representative to vole on its behalf. Not more than 15 months shall
slapse between cne annual general meeting and the next. In addition o the directors, a member or members holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital can reguire that a general mesting be convened.

There are no limitations imposed by UK law or the companys memorandum and articles of association which restrict the right of non-UK resident or non-UK
citizen owners, as opposed to UK resident or citizen owners, to hold shares i the company or 1o exercise any veting rights. However, shareholders with

a registered address outside the UK are not entitled to receive notice from the company, including notices of general meetings, unless they have given the
company an address in tha UK fo which such nofices may be sent.

All shares of the same share class rank pari passu.

TAXATION

The following is a summary of the principal US federal and UK tax considerations that are ikely to be material to the ownership and disposition of ordinary
shares or ADSs by a helder that is a resident of the US for the purposes of the income tax convention which was signed on tehalf of the US and the UK on

24 Juiy 2001 and entered into force on 31 March 2003 (the ‘Treaty’) or, inthe circumstances described below, the previous income tax convention batween the
US and the LK (the 'Cld Treaty’) and in either case is fully eligible for benefits thereunder (an ‘eligible US holder’) and satisfies the three conditions set cut below,
The summary does not purport 10 be a comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a holder of ordinary shares or ADSs.
In particutar; the summary deals only with eligible US holders wiich hold ordinary shares or ADSs as capital asssts, and does not address the tax treatment of
irvestors which are subject to special tax rules, such as banks, tax-exempt entities, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, persons that elect
mark-to-market treatment, persens that hold ordinary shares or ADSs as part of an integrated Investment (ncluding a ‘straddle’) comprised of an ordinary share
or ADS and ane or more other pasitions, and persans that own, directly or indirectly, ter per cent ar mare of the voting stock of the company. This summary

is based on the Treaty, the Old Treaty and the tax laws of the US and the UK in effect on the date hereof, which are subject to change.

For taxes withheld at source, the Treaty is effective from 1 May 2003, Holders should however note that any person that is or would have been entitled to
greater benefits under the Old Treaty than under the Treaty may be able to elect to have the provisions of the Old Treaty apply in their entirety for a period of
twelve months from the date on which the Trealy would otherwise have effect. Holders should consult thelr own tax advisars with respect o the implications
in their awn particular circumstances of the election, including the possitle entittement to a special US foreign tax credit desaribed below under ‘Taxation

of dividends — United States’.

This summary applies to eligible US holders if they are:
* the beneficial owner of the ordinary shares or ADSs and of any dividends received;

* an individua citizen or resident of the United States, a US corporation, or otherwise subject to US federal income tax on a net income basls in respact
of their shares or AlDSs; and

* not also a resident of the United Kingdom for UK tax purposes and they do not hold ordinary shares or ADSs in connection with the conduct of a
business through a permanent estaplishment or the performance of persenal services through a fixed bage in the UK.

Special rules, including a firnitation of benefits provision, apply in limited circumstances under the Treaty to shares or ADSs owned by an investment or
nolding companiy. This section does not discuss the treatment of such holders,

Holders should consulf their own advisers regarding the tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of ordinary shares or ADSs in the
light of their particular circurnstances, nciuding the effect of any state, local, or other national iaws.

Beneficial owners of ADSs will be treated as owners of the underiving shares for US federal income tax purposes and deposits and withdrawals of shares
in exchange for ADSs will not result in the realisation of gain or loss for US federal income tax purposes.

Taxation of dividends

United Kingdom

There is no UK withhalding tax on dividends. A shareholder resident for UK tax purposes In the UK who receives a dividend from the company will generalty
be entitled to a tax credit egual to one-ninth of the dividend. The Old Treaty allowed an eligible US holder to claim a similar tax credit from the UK Revenue.
However, it aisc provided for a notional UK withholding tax which, in the case of an eligible US holder that owned, directly or indirectly, less than ten per cent
of the voting stock of the company, was set at 15 per cent of the aggregate of the dividend and the credit. This meant that no amount was actually payable
o such holders by the UK Revenue in respect of their tax credit entitlement.

The Treaty provides neither for the right to claim the credit nor for the notional withholding tax. The result is that no eligitle US holder will be entitled by virlue
of the Treaty to an additiona! payment frorn the UK Ravenue on receipt of a dividend from the company.
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United States

Eligible US holders must include dividends received in ordinary income on the date such a holdar or ADS depositary recelved them. The dividends will be
treated as foreign source income. Eilgible US holders should determine the amount of dividend income by converting pounds sterling into US dollars at
the exchange rate in effect on the date of such holder's {or the depositary's, in the case of ADSs) receipt ¢f the dividend, Subject to certain exceptions
far positions that are hedged or held for lass than 81 days, an individual eligible US nolder generally will be subject to US taxation at a maximur rate of
15 per cent in respect of ‘qualified dividends' received before 2009.

Dividends receivad with respect to the ordinary shares or ADSs will be qualified dividends if United Utilities was not, in the year prior to the year in which the
dividend was paid, and is not, in the year in which the dividend is paid, a passive foreign investment company {'PFIC"). Based on United Uhtilities' audited
Hinancial statements and relevant market data, United Utilities believes that it was not treated as a PRIC for US federal incomne tax purposes with respect to
its 2003 or 2004 taxable year. In addition, based on United Utllities' audited financial statements and its current expectations regarding the value and nature
of its assets, the sources and nature of its income, and relevart market data, United Utllities does not anticipate becoming a PFIC for its 2005 taxable year.

If an efigible US holder qualified for benefits under the Old Treaty, then such holder may be eligible, subiect 10 generally apglicable limitations, to receive a
special US foreign tax credit equal to one-ninth of the amount of certain cash dividends that such holder receives on the ordinary shares or ADSs, s0 long as
such holder makes an eiection to include in income, as an additional notional dividend, an amount equal to the tax credit, This foreign tax credit is generally
only available with respect to dividends paid before 1 May 2003, unless such holder elects to apply the Oid Treaty in its entirety for a period of 12 months
from the effective date of the Treaty.

Taxation of capital gains

United Kingdom

Gain realised by an eligitle US holder on the sale or other disposition of ordinary shares or ADSs will not be subjest to UK taxation, provided that such
shares are not held in connection with a UK branch or agency or (in relation to a corporate holder) a UK permanent establishment.

United States

Gain realised on the sale, exchange or other dispostiion of ordinary shares or ADSs will be included in income for US tax purposes and will be long-term
capital gain if the ordinary shares or ADSs were held for more than one year. The net [ong-term capital gain recognised by an individual eligible US holder
before 1 January 2009 generally is subject to taxation at a maximum rate of 15 per cent.

Backup withholding tax and information reporting

Distributions made on ordinary shares and proceeds from the sale of ordinary shares or ADSs that are paid within the UK or through certain LUS-related
financial infermediaries to US holders are subject to information reporting and may be subject to a ‘backup’ US withholding tax unless, in general, the US
holder complies with certain procedures or is a corporation or other person exempt from such withholding. Holders that are not US persons genrerally are not
subject to information reporting or backug withholding tax, but may be required to comply with applicable certification procedures to establish that they are
not US persons in order to avoid the application of such information reporting requirements or backup withholding tax to payments received within the US
or through certain US-related financial intermediaries.

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax
A transferee of ordinary shares will generally be required to pay UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax at a rate of 0.5 per cent of the consideration paid
for the transfer.

However, no UK stamp duty should be payable an the transfer of an ADS or beneficial ownership of an ADS, provided that any instrument of transfer is
executed and remains at all times outside the UK, and no UK stamp duty reserve tax should in any event be payable on an agrsement to transfer an ADS
or heneficial ownership of an ADS.
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LISTING AND PRICE HISTORY

The principal trading market for the shares of the company is the L.ondon Stock Exchange. The ordinary shares have been listed on the London Stock
Exchange since 12 December 1989. The American depositary shares (ADSs), each representing two ordinary shares, have been listed on the New York
Stock Exchange since 28 January 1898, The ADSs, avidenced by American depositary receipts {ADRs), are issued by the London office of the Bank of New
York (BONY), as Depositary under a Deposit Agreement dated 28 January 1998 between the company, BONY ang the holders from time to time of ADSs.

The tabie below sets out, for the periods indicated, {) the highest and lowest middie-market quotations for the ordinary shares (as derived from the Dally
Official List of the London Stock Exchange); and [il) the reported high and low sale prices of tha United Uitilities ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange.

London Stock Exchange New York Stock Exchange

per ordinary share per ADS

High {p} Low i} High {US$) Low [US$)

Financial year 2001 639.8 489.4 19.62 14.57
Fmanc,myeargoog e A et e R 5323 4997 1595 1432
Ej}{éncim your 2003 e . o 1793 15.35,

Financial year 2004

First quarter

Fburth quaﬁér

Financial year 2005

Frstquater S 518.5 2062 19.07
Sec(;nd anrter e e o A e e et e _558_5_’ S 5650_ S 5035 R 18%9
Thid quater 7 emo 545.0 2516 20.13
Fourth quarter 7 ees e85 2540 229
Decemberzb()zf e e e e A e kmaasoq_k 5715_ 2516_535}
January 2005 651.0 6270 2472 2400
February 2006 7 ees 8190 2543 2399
Marchzoo5 e e e e e
Financial year 2006

May2005 e e e e e b e e 7?5833 S 6100 —— A2530 _ 22’ 16

These share prices have been adjusted for all periods prior to the rights issue using an adjustment factor based on the consideration received from the
first stage of the rights issue and assumed procesds from the second stage, which are due to be received in June 2005, The adiustment factor is 0.8646
calculated using 531.5 pence per ordinary share, being the closing price on 26 August 2003, the date of approval of the rights issue at the extraordinary
general meeting. This adjustrment reflects the full bonus element of the righls issue which arose at the first stage, as demonstrated by the movernent in the
share price following the approval of the rights issue at the extracrdinary general meeting.

DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY IN THE US

Uniteg Utilities is subject to the information requirements of the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended (the ‘Exchange Act’), and is therefore
required 1o file reports, including annual reports on Form 20-F, and other information with the US Securities and Exchange Commission, These materials,
including this annual report and the exhibits to Form 20-F, may be inspected and copied at the Commission's public reference rooms in Washington, DC,
New York, NY and Chicago, . Please call the Commission at +1-800-732-033C for further information on the public reference rooms. Any filings made
electronically will be made available to the pubiic over the intemnet at the Commission’s web site at www.sec.gov,
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Useful information for shareholiders continued

OTHER USEFUL INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOQLDERS

Key events for sharsholders

The company Is holding its 2005 annual general meeting on Friday 29 July 2005 at the Bridgewater Hall, Manchester, England. It will start at 11.00 a.m, The
notice cafiing the meeting and a full explanation of the resolutions to be proposed at the mesting are set out in the leaflet sent to shareholders with this report,

During the next year, the company wil:

* collect subscription monies for the second stage of the rights issue in June 2005;

* reclassify afi A shares as ordinary shares on completion of the rights issue in July 2005;

+ pay the 2005 final dividend on 26 August 2005,

* announce the haif-year results in December 2005;

* pay the 2006 Interim dividend In February 2006;

* announce the preliminary fuil-year results in May/June 2006;

* nublish the combined annual report and accounts and Form 20-F, the staksholder report and summary financial statement In June 2008; and
* hald the annual general mesting in July 2008.

Keeping you in the picture

You can find more infiormation about United Litilities quickly and easily on the United Utilities web site. In addition to the annual repert and accounts,
the stakeholder report and other reports, company anncuncements are also published on the web site, inciuding the interim and preliminary results
announcements and associated presentations. www.unitedutilities.com

In addition to these reports, the group also publishes in printed form a wide range of reports, leaflets and factsheets about aspects of its businesses.
You can get more information about them from lan Priestner, group director of communications, at Dawson House, Great Sankey, Warrington WAS 3LW
{telephone: +44 ) 1925 237000, email: ian.priesther@uuplc.co.uk).

Copies of the separate reguiatory accounts for the year endsd 31 March 2005 for the licensed water and electricity businesses, which are reguired to be
given to the water and energy regulators, are available free of charge. If you would ke copies please contact Julie McGowan in the group secretariat on
+44 {0} 1925 237000, or altematively they are available on the web site,

Enquiring about your shareholding
If you want to ask about your shareholding, or need any information, please contact the company's registrar, Lioyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway,
Worthing, West Sussex BNOS 6DA (telephone: +44 () 870 500 3971 or textphone for shareholders with hearing difficutties: +44 {0) 870 600 3950).

The registrar's web site allows shareholders with intermet access to view details of their shareholdings and dividends, to vote at general meetings and to
register to receive communications electronically, You can use the {oois on the web site to value your portfofio by reference to a recent markst price and,
if you wish, sell your shares online. To register with Shareview go to www.shareview.co.uk, click on 'Create a pertfolio’ and follow the onscreen registration
process using the 8-digit account number on the enclosed proxy form,

If you have received more than one copy of this document, you may have more than one account In your name on the register of members. To merge your
holdings. please write to Lloyds TSB Registrars at the above address, giving detalls of the accounts concerned and how you want them to be merged.

Paying your dividends direct to your account

The registrars pay dividends direct to a shareholder's bank or building society account through the BACS (Bankers' Automated Clearing Service) system.
if you have not already arranged {or your dividends to be paid direct 1o your bank or bullding society account and you want o ¢o so, please contact the
company’s registrar, at the address above.

Dealing in United Utilitles' shares cost effactively
You can now buy or sell our ordinary and A shares using Lloyds TSB Registrars’ low cost share dealing service (telephone: +44 {0) 870 850 0852) or deal
online at www.shareview.co.uk/dealing

Holding your shares tax efficiently
The United Utiities' single company 1SA (a Maxi or Mini shares-only individual savings account), managed by Lioyds TSB Registrars, offers a tax-efficient way
of hoiding United Utiiitles' shares. To get more information, please ring +44 (0) 870 24 24 244 stating that you are a United itilities shargholder.

Donating shares 1o the ShareGift scheme

Mary shareholders can find themselves owning parcels of shares so small that it would cost more o sell them than they are worth. The ShareGift scheme, a
registered charity administered by The Orr Mackintosh Foundation, allows you to donate shares to the Foundation which aggregates them, seils them when
possible and donates the proceeds o a growing list of charities. If you would ke further information, write to The O Mackintosh Foundation, 48 Grosvenor
Street, London, WK 3HN {telephone: +44 (0} 20 7337 0501}, or visit the scheme’s web site at www.sharegift.org.

Enquiring about the American listing

United Utilities' shares are listed on the New York Stack Exchange in the formn of American depositary shares {ADS), evidenced by American depositary
receipts (ADRA), and trade under the symbol UU. Each ADS represents two shares. The Bank of New York is the depositary and its address for enguiries is
The Bank of New York, Sharehcider Relations, PO Box 11258, Church Street Station, New York, NY 10286 —1258 (telephone: 1 (888} BNY-ADRS (US toll
free) or outside the US, 001 610 382 7836) or visit the web site at www.adrbny.com,

American depositary receipt holders can get a copy of the annual report on Form 20-F, which is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the
USA from the Bank of New York, Other sharehoiders can obtain a copy of the annugl report on Form 20-F from Julie McGowan in the group secratariat on
+44 {0)1925 237000, or aiternatively the report is avallable on the web site.

Avoiding unsalicited mal

The company is legally obliged to make its register of members available to other crganisations. Because of this, you may receive mail you have not asked
for, If you want to limit the amount of personally addressed unsclicited mail you recsive, and you have a UK registered address, please write to the Mailing
Preference Service, MPS Freepost LON20771, London WI1E OZT, or register by telephoning +44 {0} 845 703 4589 or online at www.mpsonline org.uk

If you have any further questions about your dividend or shareholding, please cali the helpline on +44 {0) 870 600 3971 or visit the web site.
www.unitedutilities.com
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Cross reference to Form 20-F

The information in this document that is referred to below shall be deemed to be part of the annual report on Form 20-F for 2005 that has been filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. This information is the only information that is intended to be filed or incorporated by reference into any fling

made by the company under appiicable US securities laws.

Pages

item 1 - Identity of directors, senior managetnent and advisers

Not applicable

ltem 2 - Offer statistics and expected timetable
Mot applicable

Item 3 — Key information
Selected financial data

Risk factors

Item 4 - Information on the company
History and development of the company

Business gverview
Crganisational structure
Property, plant and eguipment

item 5 - Operating and financial review and prospects
Executive overview

Operating and financial performance review
Liquidity and capital resources

Research ang development, patents ana ficencas
Off-baiance sheet arrangaments

Contractual obiigations

Safe harbor

ltem 6 - Directors, senior management and employees
Directors and senior managermeant

Compensation

Nor-executive directors' terms of appaintment
Executive directors’ contracts of servica
Remuneration committee

Audit committee

Employees

Directors' share interests

Ermptoyee involvernent and employee share schemes

Item 7 - Major shareowners and related party transactions
Major shargowners

Related party transactions

ttem & - Financial information (see item 17}
Differences in UK/NYSE comporate governance practices

Dividends
Litigaticn
Significant changes

Item 9 - The offer and listing
History of stock price

Markets

13-14

3,15-29
2-3

1622
22-25
28
24
23-24
29

3334
37-48
37-38
48
38
52
35
35-36
37

49-54
98
3
28

ftem 10 — Additional information
Memeorandum and articles of association

Material contracts
Exchange controls
Taxation

Documents on display
Subsidiary information

ftem 11 ~ Quantitative and qualitative disclosure
about market risk

ftem 12 ~ Description of securities other than
equity securities
Not applicable

ftem 13 - Defaulls, dividend arrearages and definguencies
None

ltem 14 — Material modifications to the rights of security
holders and the use of proceeds
None

Item 15 - Controls and procedures

ltem 16 - [Reserved]

ltem 16A — Audit committee financial expert

Iltem 16B — Code of ethics

item 16C — Principal accountant fees and services

item 16D - Exemption from listing standards for audit
committes
Not applicable

Item 18 E — Purchases of equity securities by the issuer
and affiliated purchasers
Nat applicable

item 17 - Financial Statements

Report of iIndependent registered public accounting firm
Filed with SEC on Form 20-F

Consclidated profit and loss account

Balance sheets

Consolidated cash flow statement

Recanciliation of net cash flow to movement in net delbst
Statement of tolal recognised gains and losses
Reconciliations of movements in equity shanehoiders’ funds
Notes to the accounts

Summary of differences between accounting principles
accepted in the United Kingdom and the United States
of America

tem 18 — Financial statements
Not applicable

ftem 19 - Exhibits
Filed with SEC on Form 20-F

Pages

100

9

93
101-102
103

70

22-24

51

52
32
53

56
57
58
58
58
58
60-84

85-92

Urited Lhilities Annual Report & Accounts 2005




106

Glossary

Term used in annual repart on Form 20-F

A shares

Accounls

US equwalent or 'bnei descnptlon

Common stock."share of 50 pence each

Flnanclal statements

ACQUISltlDﬂ method of accounting

Purchase accounting

llotted

lssued

C l!ed p share capltal

Ordlnary and A shares |ssued anci fuiy paxd

Class ol busmess
Credltors

Industry segment
Accounts payablefpayables

Credltc-rs amounts falhng due aﬁer more than one year

Long-term liabiities

Credrlors amounts fallmg due thhln one year

Cument lablhtles

Debtors

Aocounts recewab efrecewables

Deprecrancn

Amomsahon

Frnance lease
Employee share optron

Cep:tal lease
Employee stock optnon

Equity shareholciers funds

FmanClal year

Stockhojders equlty

Flscal year

F|xed aSSEt lnvest ments

Long-term investments

Freehold
Freeholcl land

Gearmg

Greup. or consolldated acccunts

Consohdated F nancral statements

Leverage

Enterest recewable

Interest payable

Nomlnal value

Interest lncome

Interest expense

Par value

Gommon stook."shars of £1 OD each

Pensmn scheme

Pensxon p!an

PrDﬁl

income (or earnlngsj

Proﬁl and loes account (reserve)
Prcﬁt and loss account

Fleoonomatlon ef movemenls rn equ'

Retarned earnmgs

lncome statement

Reserves

Shere cepllaj

Shares, cepnal stcck or commorn stock issued and fully paid

Shere premlum eccounl
Sheres

Shares un |s:sue

Stocks
Tanglble fmed assets

Turncver
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Inventorlesfoperatlng stocks

Prem:ums pald in excess of par va!ue

Unless further def ned, bcth A shares and ordingry shares together

Shares Gutslendlng

Property. plant and equment

Flevenues (or sales)




Notes
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